Nutritional Intake, Body Composition, Plasma Lipids and Fat-Soluble Vitamins, Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid Profile and Behaviour of Omani School Children

A Thesis submitted

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D)

By

Samia Al Ghannami

Lipidomics and Nutrition Research Centre London Metropolitan University



October, 2016

Author's Declaration

I declare that the work presented in this PhD thesis titled "**Nutritional Intake, Body Composition, Plasma Lipids and Fat-Soluble Vitamins, Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid Profile and Behaviour of Omani School Children**" has not been previously submitted for another degree in this or any other educational institution. In addition, I confirm that the recruitment and follow up of the participants, data analyses and interpretation and most of the laboratory work were undertaken by me and the work done by other persons and used in the thesis have been acknowledged.

Name: Samia AL Ghannami

Signed:

Date: 18th February 2017

Acknowledgements

I would like to give my sincere gratitude to Professor Kebreab Ghebremeskel for his guidance and support throughout the course of this study. Without his very close supervision and direction, especially during the fieldwork, sample and data collection phases of the project, this work wouldn't have seen the light of day. I want to express my special thanks to Dr. Yoeju Min for her helpful directions, patience and encouragement during all stages of this work. I would also like to thank Dr. Izzeldin Hussein for his support and close working with me during the field data collection and liaison with the Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries that funded the project, and for his encouragement throughout the course of this study. Special thanks to Professor Sameer al Adawi and his staff from Sultan Qaboos University for their endless support, particularly during the examination of cognitive function.

I would like to thank staff in the nutrition department in the Ministry of Health for their endless support during the intervention, data and sample collection and valuable work during the setup and preparation phases of this research. Special thanks go to the Ministry of Education, as well, to the staff from the Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries.

Additionally, I wish to express my gratitude to all the subjects who participated in this study: particularly "The school children" in the twelve-week intervention who made this study possible, their families and the staff from the participating schools.

Finally, I want to express my warmest thanks to my husband Mr Saif Al Habsi who stood solidly beside me, especially during the hard times I used to face working away from my children and family, and my sweet children for their moral support and endless patience throughout the process of my research.

This study was funded by the ministry of agriculture and fisheries, Sultanate of Oman.

Contents

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
LIST OF TABLES	8
LIST OF FIGURES	10
ABBREVIATIONS	11
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	14
ABSTRACT	16
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION, HYPOTHESIS AND SPECIFIC AIMS	18
1.1 NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES (NCDS) – DEFINITION	19
1.1.1 PREVALENCE OF NCDs WORLDWIDE	20
1.1.2 CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE	21
1.1.3 DIABETES MELLITUS	22
1.1.4 CANCER	23
1.2 RISK FACTORS FOR NCDS	24
1.2.1 Smoking and Tobacco Use	24
1.2.2 Excessive Use of Alcohol	25
1.2.3 Physical Inactivity	26
1.2.4 UNHEALTHY DIET AND NCDS	26
1.2.4.1 Nutritional Problems and Hazards of Western and Intensified Food Patterns	27
1.2.4.2 Glycaemic index	28
1.2.4.3 Refined/Readily Soluble Carbohydrates	29
1.2.4.4 Salt Intake	31
1.2.4.5 Cholesterol	31
1.2.5 OXIDATIVE STRESS AND ANTIOXIDANT NUTRIENTS	33
1.2.5.1 Oxidative stress and NCDs	33
1.2.5.2 Antioxidants and Oxidative Stress	34
1.3 FATTY ACIDS: AN OVERVIEW	35
1.3.1 SATURATED FATTY ACIDS (SFAS)	36
1.3.2 UNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS (USFAS)	36
1.3.3 POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS (PUFAS)	37
1.3.4 ESSENTIAL FATTY ACIDS (EFAS)	37
1.3.5 ENDOGENOUS SYNTHESIS OF LONG-CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS	38
1.3.6 CLINICAL AND BIOCHEMICAL MARKERS OF ESSENTIAL FATTY ACID DEFICIENCY	39
1.3.7 DIETARY REQUIREMENTS OF LONG-CHAIN POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACIDS	40
1.3.8 THE BIOMEDICAL IMPORTANCE OF N-6 AND N-3 LCPUFAS	41
1.4 HEALTH EFFECTS OF OMEGA-3 AND OMEGA-6 FATTY ACIDS	43
1.4.1 THE RATIO OF OMEGA-3 TO OMEGA-6 FATTY ACIDS	43
1.4.2 OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND BRAIN AND RETINAL FUNCTION	45
1.4.3 OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND FOETAL DEVELOPMENT	46
1.4.4 OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND CARDIAC DISEASE	49
1.4.5 OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS AND OTHER DISEASES	51
1.4.5.1 Cancer	51
1.4.5.2 Overweight and Obesity	52

1.4.5.3 Diabetes	52
1.4.0 OMEGA-5 FATTI ACIDS. SOURCES AND DOSAGE	55 EA
1.5 GENESIS AND FREVENTION OF NCDS IN CHILDHOOD	54
1.5.1 CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS ARE HEAVILY IMPACTED BY INCOS 1.5.2 NUTRITIONAL INTERVENTION AT CHILDHOOD AS A METHOD TO TACKLE BEHAVIOURAL ABNORMALITIES	54
1 6 THE SULTANATE OF OMAN NODS RISK FACTORS & EPIDEMIOLOGY	58
1.7 AIM AND OD IECTIVE OF THE STUDY	
1.7 AIM AND OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDT	60
1.7.1 НҮРОТНЕЅЕЅ 1 7 2 Аім об тне study	63
1.7.3 SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES.	65
CHAPTER 2: METHODS	66
2.1 SUBJECTS AND RECRUITMENT	67
2.1.1 SUBJECTS AND SAMPLING STRATEGY	67
2.1.2 SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION	68
2.2 ETHICAL APPROVAL AND CONSENT	69
2.3 INTERVENTION	69
2.3.1 DETERMINATION OF DHA CONTENT IN THE FISH	70
2.3.2 PREPARATION OF THE FISH MEALS	71
2.3.3 OMEGA-3 FISH OIL CAPSULE	72
2.4 ASSESSMENT OF HABITUAL DIET, BLOOD PROFILE, ANTHROPOMETRIC AND E COMPOSITION, AND COGNITIVE FUNCTION	ODY
2.4.1 HABITUAL DIET	72
2.4.2 ANTHROPOMETRIC AND BODY COMPOSITION	72
2.4.3 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	73
2.5 COLLECTION OF BIOLOGICAL SAMPLES	73
2.5.1 BLOOD SAMPLING	73
2.5.2 TRANSPORT AND STORAGE OF SAMPLES	74
2.5.3 THE ROYAL HOSPITAL LABORATORIES	76 דד
2.5.5 Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid	78
2.6 COGNITIVE, EMOTIONAL, AND BEHAVIOURAL ASSESSMENT METHODS	79
2.6.1 THE VANDERBILT TEST	79
2.7 QUALITY ASSURANCE METHODS AND PROCEDURES	80
2.7.1 QUALITY ASSURANCE AND DATA MANAGEMENT AFTER THE DATA ANALYSIS	80
2.8 DATA ANALYSES	80
CHAPTER 3: DIETARY INTAKE AND BODY COMPOSITION OF PREADOLESCENT CHILDREN IN OMAN	82
3.1 INTRODUCTION	83
3.2 THE CURRENT NUTRITIONAL SITUATION IN OMAN	86
3.2.1 NON-COMMUNICABLE DISEASES (NCDS)	87
3.2.2 Physical Activity and Dietary Behaviours	87
	5

3.3 METHODS AND ANALYSIS	89
3.4 RESEARCH FINDINGS	90
3.4.1 BIRTH CHARACTERISTICS OF CHILDREN AND THEIR FAMILIES	90
3.4.2 MACRONUTRIENTS	90
3.4.3 MICRONUTRIENTS	99
3.4.4 ANTHROPOMETRIC, BODY COMPOSITION, BLOOD PRESSURE & BLOOD SUGAR PROFILE	103
3.4.5 BLOOD LIPIDS	105
3.5 SUMMARY AND DISCUSSION	106
3.6 CONCLUSION	110
CHAPTER 4: ADHD AND PARENTAL FACTORS IN OMANI SCHOOL CHILDREN	112
4.1 INTRODUCTION	113
4.2 METHODS	114
4.2.1 PARTICIPANTS	114
4.2.2 SAMPLING	115
4.2.3 SAMPLE SIZE	116
4.2.4 INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA	116
4.2.5 PARTICIPANT CONSENT	116
4.2.6 ETHICAL APPROVAL	116
4.3 STUDY VARIABLES	116
4.3.1 SOCIO-DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS	116
4.3.2 OUTCOME MEASURES	117
4.4 STATISTICAL METHODS	117
4.5 RESULTS	118
4.5.1 Predominantly Inattentive Subtype (PIS)	118
4.5.2 PREDOMINANTLY HYPERACTIVE/IMPULSIVE SUBTYPE (PHIS)	118
4.5.3 ADHD COMBINED INATTENTION/HYPERACTIVITY (ADHDCIH)	119
4.6 DISCUSSION	123
4.6.1 Study Limitations	125
4.7 CONCLUSION	125
CHAPTER 5:	126
VITAMIN D DEFICIENCY IS PREVALENT IN HEALTHY OMANI SCHOOL CHILDRE	ZN:
OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS HAVE A MITIGATING EFFECT	126
5.1 INTRODUCTION	127
5.2 SUBJECTS AND METHODS	129
5.2.1 SUBJECTS AND RECRUITMENT	129
5.2.2 METHODS	129
5.3 RESULTS	130
5.3.1 PRE-INTERVENTION (BASELINE) GENDER COMPARISON	130
5.3.2 POST-INTERVENTION GROUP COMPARISON	130
5.3.3 GENDER-STRATIFIED POST-INTERVENTION GROUP COMPARISON	133
5.3.4 PRE- AND POST-INTERVENTION COMPARISON	135

5.4 DISCUSSION	136
CHAPTER 6: RED BLOOD CELL FATTY ACID PROFILE OF HEALTHY OMANI SCHO CHILDREN BEFORE AND AFTER INTERVENTION WITH OMEGA 3 FISH FATTY ACI	OL IDS
	140
6.1 INTRODUCTION	141
6.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	142
6.2.1 SUBJECTS AND RECRUITMENT	142
6.2.2 ANALYSIS OF RED BLOOD CELL FATTY ACIDS	142
6.3 DATA ANALYSES	143
6.4 RESULTS	143
6.4.1 DEMOGRAPHICS AND BASELINE BLOOD PRESSURE AND LIPIDS	143
6.4.2 BASELINE RED BLOOD CELL FATTY ACIDS	144
6.4.3 POST-INTERVENTION RED BLOOD CELL FATTY ACIDS, BLOOD PRESSURE AND PLASMA LIPI	DS 146
6.5 DISCUSSION	148
CHAPTER 7: OVERVIEW AND FUTURE RESEARCH	157
7.1 OVERVIEW	158
7.2 CONCLUSION	159
7.2.1 STUDY 1 (CHAPTER 3: DIETARY ANALYSIS)	159
7.2.2 STUDY 2 (CHAPTER 4: COGNITIVE ASSESSMENT)	159
7.2.3 STUDY 3 (CHAPTER 5: FAT SOLUBLE VITAMINS)	160
7.2.4 Study 4 (Chapter 6: red blood fatty acids status)	161
7.3 LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY	161
7.4 FUTURE INVESTIGATIONS	162
APPENDIX 1: PUBLISHED ABSTRACTS	164
APPENDIX 2: METHODS MATERIALS	169
APPENDIX 3: CONSENT FORMS & QUESTIONNAIRES	174
APPENDIX 4: ETHICAL APPROVAL	196
APPENDIX 5: OMANI MINISTRY OF HEALTH RECOMMENDED NUTRIENT INTAKE	
TABLES	199
REFERENCES	202

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Cold Chain to ensure the proper transport of human biological products
Table 2-2: Procedure for Blood Sample Processing
Table 3-1: Foetal birth dimension and parental socioeconomic characteristics 92
Table 3-2: Sample Mean (sd) of Macronutrient Intake and Recommended Daily Intake (DRI)93
Table 3-3: Sample Mean of Macronutrient Intake by Gender
Table 3-4: Distribution of Sample Macronutrient intake versus Omani Recommended Daily Intake (DRI) by gender
Table 3-5: Distribution of Energy between Meals by Gender
Table 3-6: Sample Mean of Micronutrient Intake and Recommended Daily Intake (DRI) 100
Table 3-7: Distribution of Micronutrient Intake versus Omani Recommended Daily Intake (DRI) by gender
Table 3-8: Mean (sd) Micronutrient Intake by gender
Table 3-9: Anthropometric, Body composition, Blood Pressure and Blood Sugar Profile by Gender
Table 3-10: Blood Lipids by Gender
Table 4-1: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for Predominantly Inattentive subtype (PIS) with Socio demographic variables
Table 4-2: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for Predominantly Hyperactive Impulsive subtype (PHIS) with Socio demographic variables
Table 4-3: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for ADHD Combined Inattention Hyperactivity with Socio demographic variables
Table 5-1: Baseline weight, height, body mass index and plasma A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of Omani school children
Table 5-2: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of male and female school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks
Table 5-3: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of male and female school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks
Table 5-4: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of the male school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks

Table 5-5: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of the female school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil
formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks
Table 6-1: Baseline characteristics of the children 144
Table 6-2: Baseline percent red blood cell lipid acid composition of Omani preadolescent school children aged 9 and 10 years
Table 6-3: Percent red blood cell lipid acid composition of Omani preadolescent school children aged 9 and 10 years after intervention with oily fish or fish capsule for 12 weeks
Table 6-4: Blood pressure, plasma triglycerides and HDL, LDL and total cholesterol of the children after intervention for 12 weeks with fish oil or oily fish

List of Figures

Figure 1-1: NCSs constitute more that 60% of deaths worldwide2	0
Figure 1-2: Pathway of metabolism and synthesis of n-3, n-6, and n-9 Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (from Le et al. (2009))	9
Figure 2-1: Subjects and Methodological Framework	7
Figure 2-2: Quantity of DHA (mg) in 100 gram of uncooked fish with and without skin	0
Figure 2-3: Quantity of DHA (mg) in 100 gram of grilled fish with and without skin	1
Figure 2-3: Fish used in the study	1
Figure 3-1: Death Rates from NCDs in Arab Countries	4
Figure 3-2: Distribution of Macronutrient Consumption between Meals	7
Figure 3-3: Prevalence of Thinness, Overweight and Obesity among Omani Children	5
Figure 5-1: Plasma vitamin D concentrations before (baseline) and after intervention with fish of and fish meal for 12 weeks	il 5
Figure 5-2: Plasma parathyroid hormone levels before (baseline) and after intervention with fish oil and fish meal for 12 weeks	5
Figure 6-1: Baseline Percent N-3 Fatty Acid Index Distribution	0
Figure 6-2: Post-intervention Relationship between Total Saturated Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish oil group $r = -0.816$, p<0.0001; Fish group $r = -0.439$, p<0.0001)	2
Figure 6-3: Post-intervention Relationship between Total Monounsaturated Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group $r = -0.431$, p<0.0001; Fish Group $r = -0.231$, p<0.05) 15	3
Figure 6-4: Post-intervention Relationship between Total N-6 Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group $r = 0.414$, p<0.0001; Fish Group $r = -0.032$, p>0.05)	5
Figure 6-5: Post-intervention Relationship between Arachidonic Acid and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group $r = 0.394$, p<0.0001; Fish Group $r = 0.213$, p<0.05)	6

Abbreviations

AA	Arachidonic acid
ADD	Attention-Deficit Disorder
ADHD	Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder
ADHDCIS	ADHD Combined Inattention/Hyperactivity
AHA	American Heart Association
AI	Adequate intake
ALA	Alpha linolenic acid
ALP	Alkaline phosphatase
AMDR	Acceptable macronutrient distribution range
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BMI	Body mass index
BSRT	Buschke Selective Reminding Test
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CI	Confidence interval
CNS	Central nervous system
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
COWAT	Controlled Oral Word Association Test
COX	Cyclooxygenase
CPRS	Conners' Parent Rating Scales
CTRS	Conners' Teacher Rating Scales
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DALY	Daily Adjusted Life-Year
DHA	Docosahexaenoivc acid
DLPFC	Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPA	Docosapentaenoic acid
DSM	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
EFAD	Essential fatty acid deficiency
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic acid

EPG	Ethanolamine phosphoglyceride
FA	Fatty acid
FAME	Fatty acid methyl ester
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations
GCC	Gulf Cooperation Council
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GI	Glycaemic index
GL	Glycaemic load
GSHS	Global school-based student health survey
НАССР	Hazard analysis and critical control points
HAD	Docosahexaenoic acid
HbA1	Hemoglobin, subunit alpha 1
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
HPV	Human Papillomavirus
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, 10th revision
IFG	Impaired fasting glucose
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGT	Impaired glucose tolerance
IL	Interleukin
IQ	Intelligence quotient
IU	International unit
IUPAC	International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry
Kcal	Kilocalorie
LCPUFA	Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid
LNRC	Lipidomics and Nutrition Research Centre
MA	Mead acid
MS	Multiple sclerosis
MUFA	Monounsaturated fatty acid
NCD	Non-communicable disease
NIHCQ	National Initiative for Children's Health Quality
OA	Oleic acid

OMR	Omani Rial
PAB	Polycyclic aromatic hydrograms
PCDD/F	Polychlorinated dibenzodioxins and furans
PDAY	Pathobiological determinants of atherosclerosis in youth
PHIS	Predominantly hyperactive/impulsive subtype of ADHD
PIS	Predominantly inattentive subtype of ADHD
РТН	Parathyroid hormone
PUFA	Polyunsaturated fatty acid
RBC	Red blood cell
RCPM	Raven's Coloured Progressive Matrices
RDA	Recommended daily allowance
SCD	Sickle cell disease
SFA	Saturated fatty acid
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
TGs	Triglycerides
TMT	Trial Making Test
TOL	Tower of London test
U5MR	Under Five mortality rate
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNICEF	United National Children's Emergency Fund
USFA	Unsaturated fatty acid
UV/Vis	Ultraviolet-visible spectrophotometry
VLDL	Very low density lipoprotein
WC	Waist circumference
WCST	Wisconsin Card-Sorting Test
WHO	World Health Organization
YLL	Years of life lost

List of Publications

Journal articles

1. **Al-Ghannami SS,** Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y, Al-Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al-Mazroui A and Ghebremeskel K (2016) Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid Profile of Oman Preadolescent School Children Before and After Intervention with Docosahexaenoic Acid Enriched Omega 3 Capsules or Oily Fish. Prostaglandins Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids (Under review)

2. **Al-Ghannami SS**, Ghebremeskel K, Hussein IS, Min Y, Jeyaseelan L, Al-Shammakhi SM; Al-Mamary F, Al-Adawi S (2016) Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder and parental factors in School Children Aged 9-10 Years in Urban Region of Oman. *BMC Pediatrics* (Under review)

3. **Al-Ghannami SS,** Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y, Al- Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al-Mazroui A and Ghebremeskel K (2016) Vitamin D deficiency is prevalent in healthy Omani school children: Omega-3 fatty acids have a mitigating effect. *Nutrition International Journal of Applied and Basic Nutrition 32:73-78*

Conference abstracts

1. Ghebremeskel K, **Al-Ghannami SS**, Hussein IS, Min Y, Delextrat A, Hayes L, Al-Adawi S, Al-Mazroui A, Al-Oufi HS (2014) The effect of fish consumption, fish oil supplementation and physical exercise on body composition, blood biochemistry, cognitive function and fitness of Omani school children. (*Invited Opening Lecture*) International Conference on Seafood Safety, Quality and Traceability Systems, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman, March 5, 2014.

2. Huessein I, **Al-Ghannami SS**, Ghebremeskel K and Min Y (2014). Fish consumption and iodine and vitamin D status of children. *Micronutrient Global Conference, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, June 2 – 7*.

3. Al-Ghannami SS, Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y, Al-Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al-Mazroui A, Ghebremeskel K (2014). The effect of omega 3 fatty acid

supplementation on plasma vitamin D status of school children. 11th Congress of the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, Stockholm, Sweden (June 28/July 2).

4. **Al-Ghannami SS**, Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y¹, Al-Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al Al-Mazroui A, Ghebremeskel K (2014). Low dose omega 3 fatty acids reduce fat mass and systolic blood pressure in school children. *11th Congress of the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, Stockholm, Sweden (June 28/July 2).*

5. **Al-Ghannami SS**, Al-Adawi S, Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y, Al-Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al Al-Mazroui A and Ghebremeskel K (2014) Fish consumption for a short period of time improves cognitive ability of healthy Omani school children. *11th Congress of the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, Stockholm, Sweden (June 28/July 2).*

6. **Al-Ghannami SS**, Sedlak E, Hussein IS, Min Y, Al-Shmmkhi SM, Al-Oufi HS, Al Al-Mazroui A and Ghebremeskel K (2014). Erythrocyte palmitoleic acid correlates positively with fat mass and plasma triglycerides in normal weight school children. *11th Congress of the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, Stockholm, Sweden (June 28/July 2).*

7. Abuknesha N, **Al Ghannami SS**, Min Y, Hussein IS, Al Oufi H, Ibrahim FA and Ghebremeskel K (2016) The effect of oily fish meal and fish oil supplement on plasma phosphatidylcholine fatty acids of Omani children. *12th Congress of the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids, Stellenbosch, South Africa (September 5-9).*

Abstract

Background: The traditional Omani diet of dates, milk, rice, brown bread, fish and vegetables has undergone considerable change, now resembling a Western diet that is high in calories, high glycaemic index carbohydrates, total fat and saturated, trans and omega 6 fatty acids, and low in omega-3 fatty acids and essential micronutrients. The available data on daily food intake and its impact on micro- and macro-nutrients are scanty in the Arab world. Obtaining these data is especially important in light of the growing prevalence of non-communicable diseases (NCDs) – cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer and respiratory diseases – which now account for more than 60% of the global disease burden and mortality, and contribute to more than 50% of annual deaths in Arabian countries, including Oman. Moreover, obesity, an antecedent of NCDs, has reached epidemic proportions in the region. Since NCDs develop gradually during the course of the lifespan, various national and international committees on NCDs have recommended that children and young adults be the primary focus of any action plan that aims to prevent and control non-communicable diseases.

Specific aims: The aims of the study are:

- a) To assess the nutrient intake, body composition, blood lipids, blood pressure, blood glucose and cognitive behaviour of Omani school children;
- b) To assess the level of Vitamin A, D, E, and Beta Carotene among the Omani school children
- c) To assess the level of red blood cell fatty acids of Omani school children
- d) To investigate the effect of fish consumption on red blood cell omega-3 fatty acids and plasma fat-soluble vitamins;
- e) To investigate the impact of omega-3 fatty acids obtained from fish oil capsule on the red blood cell omega-3 fatty acids and plasma fat-soluble vitamins;

Methods: Children ages 9 and 10 years (n = 314) were recruited from three randomly selected schools in the Muscat Governorate. The schools were assigned to a fish, fish oil, or control group and the children were accordingly provided a lightly grilled oily fish, a re-esterified triacylglycerol fish oil capsule, or no fish for 12 weeks. Baseline body

weight, height and body mass index were assessed and a non-fasting blood sample collected at baseline and after 12 weeks of intervention. Data on food intake were gathered using a 24-hour recall questionnaire; also collected were data on weight, height, blood pressure, triglycerides and fasting glucose. In addition, teachers completed the National Initiative for Children's Health Quality Vanderbilt Assessment Scales-Teacher Assessment Scale to assess the prevalence and sub-types of ADHD.

Results: At baseline, a significant number of the children had low levels of vitamin D, and omega-3 fatty acids. The low levels of vitamin D and omega-3 fatty acids were ameliorated significantly by fish consumption and fish oil supplementation. In terms of weight, the prevalence of overweight or obesity for the total sample was 28.2% (10%, 46%) and 22.6% (8%, 38%). That is, about one fourth of the study subjects were overweight or obese. With regards to ADHD, the prevalence rate of PIS, PHIS and ADHDCIH among Omani school children was 7.3%, 3% and 8.8%, respectively.

After 12 weeks intervention, the children who received fish oil $(54.1\pm17.5 \text{ nmol/L}; p<0.001)$ and fish $(49.2\pm17.4 \text{ nmol/L}; p<0.05)$ had elevated levels of vitamin D than those who did not $(42.3\pm17.5 \text{ nmol/L})$. The fish oil $(1.2\pm0.70 \text{ µmol/L})$ and fish $(1.20\pm0.7 \text{ µmol/L})$ groups also had higher concentrations of beta carotene than the placebo group $(0.85\pm0.43 \text{ µmol/L}; p<0.0001)$. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure (p=0.0001) and plasma triglycerides (p<0.05) but not HDL, LDL and total cholesterol (p>0.05) were lower in the fish oil group compared with those who were fed oily fish.

Conclusions: This study provides important and underreported data on nutrient intake levels by school children in Arab world. For the first time, these data will be available as a benchmark for future research and health programs in the region. A large number of boys and girls had diets that failed to provide the recommended levels of daily nutrients. This study also indicates that ADHD is relatively common among Omani school children; additional studies are needed to assess the generalisability of these findings.

Vitamin D deficiency is prevalent in Omani school children, but can be mitigated with omega-3 fatty acid supplementation. This study also provides evidence that Omani preadolescents have a low level n-3 fatty acid index that can be ameliorated by fish oil supplementation or consumption of oily fish. Hence, there is a need for a child-focused program of food fortification, school feeding programmes, targeted intervention with n-3 fatty acid enriched food products, family nutrition education and outdoor activities to alleviate the problem.

CHAPTER 1: Introduction, Hypothesis and Specific Aims

The second half of the 20th century witnessed major health transitions in the world, propelled by socio-economic and technological changes that profoundly altered life expectancy and ways of living. These changes also created an unprecedented human capacity to use science to prolong and enhance life.

In the past, life expectancy was often limited by uncontrolled epidemics. But after the Second World War, due to the development of the vaccine and antibiotics, as well as the improvement of life conditions, NCDs emerged as a major problem in industrialized countries. Heart disease, mental disorders, cancer, diabetes, and chronic pulmonary disease became a burden for health systems unprepared for these developments. For a while, these diseases were associated with economic development and considered diseases of the rich. By the dawn of the third millennium, however, NCDs began to sweep the entire globe, with developing countries suddenly confronted by the double burden of infectious and non-infectious diseases in a poor environment characterized by ill-prepared health systems (World Health Organization, 2003b).

Today, NCDs are the leading worldwide cause of death. They are strongly influenced by four main behavioural risk factors – unhealthy diet, insufficient physical activity, and use of tobacco and alcohol – which lead to elevated blood pressure, raised blood glucose and cholesterol levels, and excess body weight.

1.1 Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs) – Definition

A non-communicable disease is a medical condition or a disease state which, by definition, is non-infectious and non-transmissible : they may be chronic diseases of long duration and slow progression, or they may result in rapid death such as some types of stroke. According to the World Health Organization (2005), NCDs are the major cause of adult mortality and morbidity worldwide, primarily cardiovascular diseases (including heart disease and stroke), diabetes, cancer and chronic respiratory diseases (including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma).

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) impose a large burden on human health worldwide. Currently, more than 60% of all deaths are due to NCDs (Figure 1-1). Moreover, what were once considered "diseases of affluence" have now encroached on developing countries. In 2008, for example, WHO reported that roughly four out of five NCD deaths occurred in low- and middle-income countries (World Health Organization, 2011a), a sharp increased from just under 40% in 1990 (Murray and Lopez, 1997). NCDs are also affecting persons of all ages, with one-quarter of all NCD-related deaths involving persons below the age of 60 (World Health Organization, 2011a). NCDs also account for 48% of the healthy life years lost (Disability Adjusted Life Years–DALYs) worldwide, versus 40% for communicable diseases, maternal and perinatal conditions and nutritional deficiencies, and 1% for injuries (World Health Organization, 2005).

As an umbrella category, NCDs have been a difficult group to define. Even the term "non-communicable diseases" is a misnomer, since NCDs include some diseases – notably, cancers of the liver, stomach, and cervix – that are at least partly caused by infection, and usually exclude mental illnesses, despite their significant contribution to long-term disability.

1.1.1 Prevalence of NCDs Worldwide

According to WHO estimates, NCDs were responsible for 36 million deaths globally in 2008, accounting for 63% of 57 million total deaths (Hunter and Reddy, 2013). The global mortality due to NCDs increased from 57% of total mortality in 1990 to 65% in 2010 (Murray and Lopez, 2013). In 2008, 80% of the world's 36 million NCD-related deaths occurred in low- and middle-income countries, which are home to most of the world's population (World Health Organization, 2011a). NCDs are unequally distributed within populations, as well, often disproportionately affecting the socioeconomically disadvantaged (Leeder et al., 2004).

The World Health Organization reports that NCDs are by far the leading cause of death in the world, representing over 60% of all deaths. Out of the 36 million people who died from NCDs in 2005, half were under age 70 and half were women (Alwan et al., 2010). Risk factors such as a person's background, lifestyle and environment are known



to increase the likelihood of certain NCDs. Hence, each year, at least 5 million people die because of tobacco use and about 2.8 million die from being overweight. In the same way, high cholesterol accounts for roughly 2.6 million deaths and 7.5 million die because of high blood pressure.

1.1.2 Cardiovascular Disease

The six types of cardiovascular disease (CVD) include the heart muscle (coronary heart disease), brain (cerebrovascular disease), arms and legs (peripheral arterial disease) and the associated blood vessels. Deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism is the last type, and involves blood clots which dislodge from veins in the leg and move to the heart or lungs (World Health Organization, 2013c).

The risk factors for developing CVDs (with the exception of congenital and rheumatic heart diseases) involve modifiable behavioural risk factors, metabolic risk factors and non-modifiable risk factors. Non-modifiable risk factors include a person's age, ethnicity, family history and gender. The modifiable behavioural risk factors include the harmful use of alcohol, physical inactivity, unhealthy diets and tobacco use (Alwan, 2008, Alwan, 2011). The metabolic risk factors are caused by these behavioural risk factors and increase the risk of developing CVD, and include increased blood pressure (hypertension), increased blood sugar (diabetes) and increased blood cholesterol, as well as overweight/obesity (Mendis et al., 2011, World Health Organization, 2009).

Coronary Heart Disease (CHD) is the type of CVD with the highest rate of mortality in developed countries (38%) and the highest cause for burden of disease in developing countries (28%) (Wagner and Brath, 2012, Gaziano et al., 2010). However, it is predicted that the rate in developing countries will increase by as much as 137% for men and 120% for women (Leeder et al., 2004).

Overweight/Obesity is an important risk factor to be considered since it is related to other metabolic risk factors, such as raised blood pressure, raised blood sugar, raised blood lipids (cholesterol and triglycerides) and dyslipidaemia for the development of a CVD (National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, 2002, Grundy, 2004). As an individual's BMI increases, so does the risk for coronary heart disease, stroke and diabetes (World Health Organization, 2000).

Raised blood pressure, also known as hypertension, is not only one of the major risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke, but can also cause heart failure, renal impairment, blindness, peripheral vascular disease and the rupture of blood vessels (Mendis et al., 2011, World Health Organization, 2013b, World Health Organization, 2009, World Health Organization and International Society of Hypertension Writing Group, 2003). The prevalence of hypertension was 40% in all adults over 25 years globally, with approximately 1 billion people were suffering from uncontrolled hypertension in 2008 alone (Alwan, 2011). Hypertension causes 12.8% of total deaths and is responsible for 3.7% of global DALYS (Alwan, 2011, World Health Organization, 2009).

Impaired glucose tolerance and impaired fasting glycaemia are two other important risk factors for the development of diabetes and CVD (World Health Organization and UNAIDS, 2007). The risk of developing a CVD or atherosclerotic disease is higher for those with either Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes (Laing et al., 2003, Kannel and McGee, 1979), with 60% of mortality in those with diabetes being attributed to a CVD (Mendis et al., 2011). Research suggests that CVD mortality is directly related to plasma glucose, and the risk increases in those with a CVD and diabetes, as compared to those with just CVD (DECODE Study Group, 2003, Eberly et al., 2003).

Approximately one third of strokes are caused by high cholesterol (World Health Organization, 2009, Mathers et al., 2008), which increases the risk of atherosclerosis, and therefore the risk of heart disease and stroke (World Health Organization and UNAIDS, 2007). Raised blood cholesterol refers to a lipoprotein profile which contains high levels of low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), also known as 'bad' cholesterol, and triglycerides. High levels of LDL cholesterol are deposited into blood vessels, which can then cause atherosclerosis (World Health Organization, 2009, Mendis et al., 2011). In 2008, raised blood cholesterol had a prevalence of 39%, causing 2.6 million deaths and 29.7 million DALYS worldwide (Alwan, 2011, World Health Organization, 2009).

1.1.3 Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes Mellitus is a chronic disease that involves the body's production or utilization of insulin, and is identified as either Type 1 or Type 2. Type 1diabetes has its onset in childhood when the pancreas fails to produce the insulin required to break down glucose in the blood stream. Type 2 (adult onset) diabetes results from the inability of the body to effectively utilize insulin which leaves it unable to break down the glucose in the blood stream (World Health Organization, 2014c). An excess of blood glucose in the

blood stream, known as hyperglycaemia, can cause serious complications including damaging nerves and blood vessels. When left untreated, this can lead to amputation, blindness and cardiovascular disease (Mendis et al., 2011).

It is estimated that 347 million people have Type 2 diabetes, with 1.5 million deaths in 2012 directly attributable to the disease (Danaei et al., 2011, Mathers et al., 2014). Type 2 diabetes accounts for 90% of global diabetes cases (World Health Organization Consultation, 1999), with an estimated 175 million of these cases being undiagnosed (Aguiree et al., 2013).

Type 1 diabetes, also known as childhood-onset diabetes, is found in approximately 497,100 children between 0-14 years globally of which approximately 64,000 are found in the Middle East/North Africa region, with 10,700 new cases being enrolled each year. Because Type 1 diabetes involves the inability of the pancreas to produce insulin, these children need regular insulin-therapy is needed to break down their blood glucose (Aguiree et al., 2013).

1.1.4 Cancer

There are over 100 different types of cancers, each affecting different areas of the body. While each type of cancer is its own disease, there are five main recognized types: (1) cancers that involves the skin or tissues lining internal organs (carcinoma), (2) those that involve the bone, cartilage, fat, muscle, blood vessels and connective or supportive tissue (sarcoma), (3) those that start in bone marrow (leukaemia), (4) in the cells of the immune system (lymphoma and myeloma), and (5) in the brain and spinal cord (central nervous system cancers) (National Cancer Institute, 2014). Each of these cancers occurs when new cells are created without a cause and old or injured cells do not undergo apoptosis when necessary. The accumulation of these extra cells produces a mass of tissue called a tumour.

Tumours can be benign or malignant. Benign tumours are non-cancerous tumours that can be safely removed without the need for further treatment. Malignant tumours are cancerous and grow to other areas of the body, a process known as metastasis, which is the major cause of death from cancer (World Health Organization, 2014b).

While both men and women are affected by cancer, they are susceptible to different forms of the disease: men are vulnerable to lung, prostate, colorectum, stomach and liver cancers; whereas women are prone to breast, colorectum, lung, cervix and stomach cancers (World Health Organization, 2014b). Overall, the most common cancers are lung, liver, stomach, colorectal, breast and oesophageal cancers, with almost 8.2 million cancer-related deaths worldwide (Stewart and Wild, 2014).

1.2 Risk Factors for NCDs

The prevalence of risk factors varies between countries by incomes group, according to specific risk factors, and by sex. High, middle, and low-income countries present differing risk profiles. Some risk factors are high or are becoming higher in middle-income countries, such as tobacco use among men, which is highest among the lower-middle-income countries of the Western Pacific Region and the European Region. The rate of overweight and obesity among adults is highest in upper-middle-income countries, while physical inactivity is highest in high-income countries. The rates of inactivity in middle-income countries are rising among women, and have already reached parity with high-income countries, including: adult per capita alcohol consumption; physical inactivity among women, total fat consumption and elevated total cholesterol.

The WHO objectives from the 2008–2013 Action Plan for the Global Strategy for Prevention and Control of NCDs (World Health Organization, 2008) highlight several interventions for reducing the shared behavioural risk factors implicated in the development of NCDs. Unfortunately, the 2008–2013 Action Plan did not discuss the brain or brain disorders, even though, brain disorders (neurological, neurosurgical and psychiatric diseases together) have risen and overtaken all other burdens of chronic diseases. Numerous epidemiological studies on mental disorders throughout the world have shown that approximately one-third of the adult population suffers from a mental disorder each year (Kessler et al., 2009). According to one estimates, brain disorders account for approximately 13% of global disease, surpassing both cardiovascular diseases and cancer (Collins et al., 2011).

1.2.1 Smoking and Tobacco Use

Smoking increases the risk of developing respiratory diseases, CVD, diabetes and cancer (Patton et al., 2012). Jha and Chaloupka (1999) estimate that, globally, 82,000-99,000 youth below the age of 20 start smoking daily, with the majority of adult smokers having started below the age of 25. According to one study, 10% of children between age 13-15 smoke cigarettes and 10% use other tobacco products (Viner et al., 2012). It has

also been estimated that approximately 40% of all children worldwide are exposed to second hand smoke (Eriksen et al., 2012).

It has been suggested that tobacco smoke, whether direct or through second-hand exposure, is responsible for 10% of all cases of CVD (World Health Organization, 2009). Tobacco increases the risk of dying from CVDs by 2-3 fold and the risk of lung cancer 20-30 fold, and is thus one of the most important risk factors to address in the prevention of NCDs (Boutayeb and Boutayeb, 2005). There is established evidence that quitting smoking results in a decrease in mortality from coronary heart disease (World Health Organization and UNAIDS, 2007), and that those who quit smoking between 35 and 44 years have the same survival rates as non-smokers (Doll et al., 2004).

However, tobacco consumption in developing countries continues to rise by 3.4% each year (Boutayeb and Boutayeb, 2005), while the disease burden attributed to both direct and second-hand tobacco smoke accounted for the deaths of 5.4 million people in 2004. This is expected to increase to 8.3 million by 2030, at which point tobacco-attributed deaths will account for 10% of total global mortality (Mathers et al., 2008) and 6.3% of DALYs in 2010 (Murray and Lopez, 2013).

1.2.2 Excessive Use of Alcohol

The harmful use of alcohol is frequently identified as one of the modifiable risk factors implicated in social and psychological harms, and the development of NCDs. The specific physical harm caused by alcohol has been linked to the formation of toxic acetaldehyde and free radicals (Tuma and Casey, 2003).

Alcohol has been implicated as a risk factor in the development of 8 types of cancer: cancers of the oral cavity, pharynx, larynx, oesophagus, liver, colon, rectum and breast (Baan et al., 2007, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1988, Singletary and Gapstur, 2001, Klatsky et al., 1988). The amount of alcohol consumed on a daily basis and the risk of developing one of these types of cancers is unique to each type of cancer.

Alcohol consumption has also been linked to the risk of developing hypertension or atrial fibrillation in a dose-dependent fashion for both men and women (Taylor et al., 2009, Samokhvalov et al., 2010). With heavy alcohol consumption the risk for stroke increases (Patra et al., 2010). Harmful alcohol use is also associated with liver cirrhosis, pancreatitis and Type 2 diabetes (Kao et al., 2001, Wannamethee et al., 2003, Irving et al., 2009, Rehm et al., 2010).

Harmful use of alcohol is estimated to account for 45% DALYS globally, where "harmful use" is defined by the level and frequency with which alcohol is ingested, where a high level and 'binge' pattern of consumption is identified as most harmful (Mendis et al., 2011).

1.2.3 Physical Inactivity

A sedentary lifestyle is the biggest factor that can lead to becoming overweight and obese, which can then cause metabolic changes implicated in the development of NCDs. In contrast, it has been shown that moderate to high fitness levels substantially reduce the risk of developing a CVD (Habib and Saha, 2010), and is also a protective factor in men with diabetes at all BMI levels (World Health Organization, 2010).

Objective Three in the 2008–2013 WHO Action Plan (2008) endorses the promotion of physical activity in member states in order to reduce the effect of a sedentary lifestyle on the development of NCDs and to assist in the management of existing NCDs. The Action Plan also endorses the implementation of school-based physical activity programs and the creation of a physical environment that is supportive of safe recreational activity (Alwan, 2008). These goals are important for promoting physical activity among youth and for reducing the rise of overweight and obesity.

The global targets identified in the 2013–2020 WHO Action Plan (World Health Organization, 2013a) include a 10% reduction in physical inactivity, a 25% reduction in raised blood pressure, improvements in the physical education available at educational settings, and the creation of opportunities for physical activity before, during, and after the school day.

1.2.4 Unhealthy Diet and NCDs

The consumption of foods high in saturated fats, trans fats, salt and sugar have been found to lead to 14 million (40%) of overall deaths caused by NCDs each year (World Health Organization, 2004). Certain types of cancer are increased by eating preserved foods and consuming large amounts of alcohol, while the risks of certain types of cancer are reduced by increasing fruit and vegetable intake, since aspects of chemoprevention are found in foods with a high fibre content, Vitamin A and Vitamin C (Habib and Saha, 2010).

The changing nature of food itself is a contributory factor for the development of many chronic diseases. In fact, the way food is being grown, harvested, stored and transported plays a significant role in the nutritional quality of food, especially fruits and vegetables. This becomes vital in the context of Oman where the harsh weather conditions and high salinity of soil makes the country unsuitable for farming and, therefore, has to rely on the importation of food from other countries. It is well-known that food grown locally is higher in nutritional quality food that has been packed and shipped over long distances: cooking and storing food in aluminium vessels, cans and foil, may increase its aluminium content, particularly in cases of salty, acidic or alkaline foods (Ribes et al., 2008); aluminium is also implicated in some neurodegenerative disorders (Domingo, 2006). The quality of food has also changed drastically due to commercial farming. Wang et al. (2010) reported that the DHA content of chicken meat, which was about 170mg/100g in 1970, is now only 13 mg/100g; concurrently, the fat content has increased. Hence, to receive the same amount of DHA from a chicken, one now has to consume a larger – and fattier – portion, as compared with chicken produced in 1970.

Dietary habits when paired with a sedentary lifestyle are also major factors that lead to overweight and obesity. Globally, in 2005, 1 billion people were overweight and 300 million were obese (World Health Organization, 2009).

The highest number of DALYs for NCD risk factors are attributed to an unhealthy diet and a high BMI (Rahim et al., 2014b). In 2008, 2.3% of global DALYs were attributed to overweight and obesity (World Health Organization, 2009), while in 2010, an unhealthy diet and a sedentary lifestyle together accounted for 10.2% of the global DALYs. As already noted, dietary habits and obesity that result in an increase in BMI are the main risk factors for the development of Type 2 diabetes, stroke, CVDs, and some types of cancers (World Health Organization, 2009). This is due to the metabolic changes that are implicated in the development of insulin resistance, an increase in blood pressure, an increase in cholesterol and heart failure (Kenchaiah et al., 2002, World Health Organization, 2003b).

1.2.4.1 Nutritional Problems and Hazards of Western and Intensified Food Patterns

As previously mentioned, changing dietary habits are in large part responsible for the increased availability in sugars, animal fats, animal products, and a decrease in the availability of vegetables (Madanat et al., 2008). Globalization and urbanization not only impact the types of food people eat but also increases their level of physical inactivity (Popkin, 2009). This is called a 'nutritional transition' that is a global change in dietary habits that affect the most important risk factors for NCDs. The primary processes through which globalization affects income, lifestyles and food availability are increased mechanization and industrialization, which alter diet patterns and physical activity (Popkin, 2006). The current nutritional transition is often characterized as shift towards a 'Western' diet which contains high energy and high fat intake, added free sugars, salty foods and low levels of dietary fibre, vegetables and fruits (Popkin, 1993, Jacka et al., 2010).

Cordain et al. (2005b) examined the evolution of the Western diet from that of our ancient ancestors and determined that the current Western diet is primarily composed of foods that affect glycaemic load, fatty acid composition, macronutrient composition, micronutrient density, acid-base balance, sodium-potassium ratio and fibre content. The foods that are implicated include "dairy products, cereals, refined cereals, refined sugars, refined vegetable oils, fatty meats, salt and combinations of these foods" (Cordain et al., 2005b).

Simopoulos (2002a) posits that the way the human body metabolizes food has been relatively constant despite nutrition transitions, and is optimized for the types of food more characteristic of the human diet 40,000 years ago. The Agricultural Revolution 10,000 years ago changed the availability and types of foods in ways that are drastically different from the optimal diet for human physiology and metabolism. It is suggested that our bodies are not suited for the current environment characterized by an over-abundance of the kinds of food associated with the "Western" diet.

1.2.4.2 Glycaemic index

Refined grains, sugars and carbohydrate-rich foods have a higher glycaemic index than unprocessed foods such as fruits and vegetables. The impact of these foods on blood glucose can be measured by the Glycaemic Index and the Glycaemic Load. The Glycaemic Index measures the potential of a food or combination of foods to raise blood glucose (Jenkins et al., 1981). It takes into account a number of factors, including the fibre, fat and protein content, the method of preparation or physical form, the nature of the starch (and its interaction with fibre), the particle size and rate of digestion (Thorne et al., 1983, Krezowski et al., 1986). The Glycaemic Load assesses the total glycaemic

effect of the diet and involves both the Glycaemic Index of specific foods and total dietary carbohydrates (Salmerón et al., 1997, Salmeron et al., 1997).

Both of these measures are essential for understanding the effect of diet on the development of disease. When blood glucose is elevated, the pancreas is stimulated to produce insulin, thereby increasing insulin levels in the blood (Cordain et al., 2005b). The long-term consumption of high glycaemic foods can result in chronic hyperglycaemia (high glucose in the bloodstream) and hyperinsulinemia (high insulin in the blood stream). Both conditions are pivotal in the development of insulin resistance, which can lead to obesity, chronic heart disease, Type 2 diabetes, hypertension and dyslipidemia (Ludwig, 2002, Liu and Willett, 2002).

A diet with high GL and with a low intake of cereal dietary fibre was associated with an increased risk of Type 2 Diabetes in both men and women (Salmeron et al., 1997, Salmerón et al., 1997). It has also been found that when glucose is absorbed over a long period of time, there is a prolonged suppression of free fatty acids and lower blood glucose concentrations (Jenkins et al., 2002). In addition, increase in glucose is associated with a decrease in antioxidants in the blood, and it has been found that supplementation with vitamin E improves insulin function (Paolisso et al., 1993).

The risk of colorectal cancer is increased with the intake of high GI and GL foods, although some doubts persist as to whether women are equally susceptible to this risk as are men (Franceschi et al., 2001, Michaud et al., 2005). There has also been a demonstrated relationship between a higher GI and the risk of developing breast and ovarian cancer (Augustin et al., 2001, Augustin et al., 2003). Those who consume a Western diet are also at a significantly higher risk of developing COPD than those with a prudent or traditional diet (Varraso et al., 2007).

In contrast, a low GI diet was associated with high levels of HDL cholesterol, which is important in maintaining cardiovascular health (Jenkins et al., 2002).

1.2.4.3 Refined/Readily Soluble Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates account for up to 80% of the diet (Asp, 1994), of which there are two types. The first is the digestible type, which is primarily composed of monosaccharides that provide glucose to the tissues, found in such foods as white breads, refined and processed foods and sweetened beverages (Harvard School of Public Health, 2015). The second type is the undigestible type, which is fermented in the colon to shortchain fatty acids and include oligosacchardies and dietary fibre (Asp, 1994). Foods that contain undigestible carbohydrates are not or only minimally processed or refined, but include fruits and vegetables, as well as whole-grains and legumes (Harvard School of Public Health, 2015). Mann et al. (2007) indicate that foods containing undigestible carbohydrates are the most appropriate source of carbohydrates in the diet. The WHO suggests that the optimal intake of carbohydrates should come from vegetables and fruits and should make up 55-75%, or 400 g/day of total energy (World Health Organization, 2003a).

Carbohydrates have been studied extensively, particularly concerning their effects on CVD and diabetes. Gross et al. (2004) found a significant correlation between Type 2 diabetes and, when controlled for energy intake, corn syrup, which is a commonly found digestible-type carbohydrate. They also found that a high intake of refined carbohydrates and a low intake of dietary fibres are significantly associated with Type 2 diabetes. An inverse relation between dietary intake of whole-grain foods and the development of coronary heart disease, cardiovascular diseases and Type 2 diabetes have been well documented in the literature (Liu, 2002, Liu et al., 1999, Truswell, 2002, McKeown et al., 2002, Mellen et al., 2008). In one study (Knekt et al., 1994) found lower risk of developing CVD in men and women, had higher dietary intakes of vitamin C and carotenoids (antioxidants). They further suggested that vegetables and fruits contain other factors that conferred the protective effects against CVD. WHO has also suggested that increasing the consumption of fruits and vegetables, as well as whole-grains and legumes, is associated with a decreased risk of developing a CVD (World Health Organization, 2003a).

Consumption of refined sugars, vegetable oil, dairy products and alcohol all of which contain little fibre (Cordain, 2002) and constitute 48.2% of the energy intake of a typical US diet. Refined grains, which are 85% of the grains consumed in the US, contain 400% less fibre than whole grains and are also implicated in the low dietary fibre content of the US diet (Cordain et al., 2005b). Dietary fibre has been found to slow the digestion and absorption of food and regulate metabolic hormones which results in an improved glycaemic response, lower serum insulin concentrations and plasma lipids (Anderson and Akanji, 1991, Vinik and Jenkins, 1988, Chandalia et al., 2000). In particular, insoluble fibre in whole-grains has been found to have an inverse association with the risk of developing diabetes. Therefore, when looking at carbohydrates, it

appears that the fibre content may partially account for the beneficial effects of the nonrefined foods (Pereira et al., 1998, Romieu et al., 2004).

1.2.4.4 Salt Intake

Salt (sodium chloride) is found in many natural foods, but is particularly high in processed foods, such as breads and meats, as well as snack foods, condiments and stock cubes (World Health Organization, 2013b). The World Health Organization recommends that the daily intake of salt should be limited to 5g/day. However, the average salt intake per person in most countries is between 9 and 12 g/day with the highest levels found in China (World Health Organization, 2007, Stamler et al., 2003).

Salt is an important consideration when examining the relationships between diet and NCDs since a high dietary intake of salt can lead to hypertension, and has been associated with a greater risk of a stroke, cardiovascular event, gastric cancer and Type 2 diabetes (Strazzullo et al., 2009, Tsugane, 2005, Shikata et al., 2006).

Morgan et al. (1978) demonstrated that blood pressure can be reduced in those who suffer from hypertension by reducing the dietary intake of salt The World Health Organization, has attributed 62% of strokes and 49% of coronary heart diseases to high blood pressure and hypertension (He and MacGregor, 2010).

Hypertension is also a risk factor in Type 2 diabetes, and can result in the development of a CVD or mortality from a CVD. But high blood pressure can also be reduced in those with Type 2 diabetes by restricting their salt intake. This reduction in blood pressure may also protect organs from the damage that results from diabetes (Ekinci et al., 2011).

Gastric cancer has also been associated with higher intake of salt and salty foods, which may occur in one of two ways. First, salt and salty foods may increase the risk of developing a Helicobacter pylori infection, a known risk factor for the development of gastric cancers. Second, high levels of salt may produce hypertonicity which can result in atrophic gastritis, thereby increasing the risk of stomach cancer (Joossens et al., 1996, Tsugane, 2005). This is also supported by the World Health Organization (2003a).

1.2.4.5 Cholesterol

Cholesterol is a fat-like substance with a waxy consistency that is produced in the liver. Every human cell needs a minute amount of cholesterol in order to function

properly, so a limited supply of cholesterol is obligatory. Due to its waxy consistency, cholesterol can stick to the interior of blood vessel walls. Over time, cholesterol, fat and other substances can accumulate, thereby narrowing the blood vessels. This is the initial stage of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis is responsible for coronary heart diseases, stroke and diseases of peripheral circulatory system. But Okuyama et al. (2007) and Perlmutter and Lober (2013) reject the claim that cholesterol is the main culprit for heart-related diseases, arguing instead that some lipoproteins. such as LDL, have phospholipids that form highly potent inflammatory agents on oxidation, regardless of cholesterol. And death from heart attack is a death from ischemia, which is worsened by arrhythmia, and from thrombosis, brought on by a predisposition to inflammatory plaques in the arteries.

Cholesterol is the chief sterol found in humans, and apart from being the precursor of steroid hormones and bile acids, it has a crucial role in the structure of the cell membranes where it adjusts their fluidity by reducing it in the areas where unsaturated fatty acids predominate and increasing it in the areas where saturated fatty acids prevail.

The daily cholesterol intake of westerners generally varies between 600 and 1,000 mg. The actual cholesterol absorbed is restricted to 50% of the amount ingested up to 500 mg, above which absorption falls to 35%. High cholesterol intake raises plasma cholesterol, although there is a negative feedback mechanism in which the liver reduces its endogenous synthesis of cholesterol when the exogenous cholesterol supply increases and vice-versa (Behrman and Gopalan, 2005).

Plasma cholesterol is, in fact, only partially regulated by dietary intake of cholesterol. However, the type of fatty acids ingested is extremely important since saturated fatty acids raise cholesterol whereas unsaturated fatty acids lower it:

- If the dietary cholesterol is lowered to 100 mg/day, it was found that the serum cholesterol is decreased by 5 mg/dl.
- If the dietary fat is highly saturated fatty acids, a +300 mg cholesterol intake results in an increase in serum cholesterol by 40 mg/dl.
- If the dietary fat is rich in monounsaturated fatty acids such as olive oil, a + 300 mg cholesterol intake leads to a neutral effect, i.e. no effect is observed on serum cholesterol level.

 If the dietary fat is rich in polyunsaturated fatty acids such as cotton seed, corn and soy bean oil, a + 300 mg cholesterol intake leads to a decrease or reduction in serum cholesterol by 35 mg/dl (Hegsted et al., 1965).

Furthermore, it should be noted that the cholesterol absorbed from food is not the only source of blood cholesterol, since cholesterol can be synthesized endogenously by the liver and gastrointestinal tract cells from acetyl-CoA (an intermediate metabolite). Thus hexoses, glycerol, fatty acids and certain deaminated amino acids can contribute a carbon skeleton or atoms for the denovo synthesis of cholesterol if their intake is high (Behrman and Gopalan, 2005).

1.2.5 Oxidative Stress and Antioxidant Nutrients

1.2.5.1 Oxidative stress and NCDs

Oxidative stress is damage to cell structure and cell function by overly reactive oxygen-containing molecules, and occurs when there is an imbalance between free radical production and antioxidant capacity. Actually, the generation of free radicals is a normal and continuous cell process (Shami and Moreira, 2004). In adequate proportions, their presence enables the production of energy through adenosine triphosphate (ATP), phagocytosis, cell growth regulation and defence during the infectious process. However, once formed, the highly reactive free radicals can start a chain reaction producing toxic effects (Barreiros and Jorge, 2006) that damage all vital components of the cell, including proteins, lipids, and DNA (Badid et al., 2010, Halliwell, 2011). In humans, oxidative stress is thought to be involved in the development of cancer (Halliwell, 2007), Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease (Valko et al., 2007, Pohanka, 2013), atherosclerosis, heart failure (Singh et al., 1995), myocardial infarction (Ramond et al., 2013, Dean et al., 2011), fragile X syndrome (de Diego-Otero et al., 2009), Sickle Cell Disease (Amer et al., 2006), lichen planus (Aly and Shahin, 2010), vitiligo (Arican and Kurutas, 2008), autism (James et al., 2004), infection (Pohanka, 2013), and chronic fatigue syndrome (Kennedy et al., 2005). However, reactive oxygen species can be beneficial, as they are used by the immune system to attack and kill pathogens (Segal, 2005).

There is increasing evidence in both experimental and clinical studies that chronic oxidative stress plays a major role in the pathogenesis of both types of diabetes mellitus. Free radicals are formed disproportionately in diabetes by glucose oxidation, nonenzymatic glycation of proteins, and the subsequent oxidative degradation of glycated proteins. (Maritim et al., 2003). Information about the use and benefits of antioxidants in persons with diabetes is also limited. Persons with diabetes may be more prone to oxidative stress because hyperglycemia depletes natural antioxidants and facilitates the production of free radicals. Other factors such as homocysteine, insulin resistance, and aging may also be contributory (Penckofer et al., 2002).

Oxidative stress has also been associated with the development of cardiovascular disease, although the exact role of antioxidants in the primary and secondary prevention of coronary heart disease is still under study. Epidemiologic evidence indicates that antioxidants may decrease cardiovascular risk, but clinical trial data remain inconclusive (Penckofer et al., 2002).

The cellular redox imbalance created by oxidative stress is found to be present in cancerous as opposed to normal noncancerous cells, which has led many researchers to suspect that such imbalances may be pivotal in the development of various forms of cancer. It is thought that DNA mutation plays a crucial role in the process, although the precise mechanism remains unknown (Valko et al., 2006).

1.2.5.2 Antioxidants and Oxidative Stress

As noted above, oxidative stress denotes an imbalance between oxidants and antioxidants in favour of oxidants. Since antioxidants are intimately involved in the prevention of cellular damage – the common pathway for cancer, aging, and a variety of other diseases – this imbalance robs the body of its own capacity to detoxify and repair damaged cells.

An antioxidant is a molecule that inhibits the oxidation of other molecules, it can safely interact with free radicals and terminate the chain reaction before vital molecules are damaged. Antioxidants terminate these chain reactions by being oxidized themselves. So, antioxidants are often reducing agents such as thiols, ascorbic acid, or polyphenols (Sies, 1997). Both plants and animals maintain complex systems of antioxidants, such as glutathione, vitamin C, vitamin A, and vitamin E as well as enzymes such as catalase, superoxide dismutase and various peroxidases.

Although there are several enzyme systems within the human body that scavenge free radicals, the principle micronutrient antioxidants are vitamin E, beta-carotene, and vitamin C. Additionally, selenium, a trace metal that is required for proper function of one of the body's antioxidant enzyme systems, is sometimes included in this category.

Since the body cannot manufacture these micronutrients, they must be supplied in the diet (Greenberg et al., 1994). On the other hand, Poston et al. (2004) did not find any improvements in pregnant women with pre-eclampsia, when supplemented daily with 1000 mg vitamin C and 400 IU vitamin E from the second trimester of pregnancy until delivery. Instead, they found an increase the rate of babies born with low birth weight. In other words, vitamins alone cannot work wonders since they occur in nature with a range of other nutrients and it is likely that their interactions are vitally important.

Vitamin E (d-alpha tocopherol) is a fat soluble vitamin present in nuts, seeds, vegetable and fish oils, whole grains (especially wheat germ), fortified cereals, and apricots. The current recommended daily allowance (RDA) is 15 IU per day for men and 12 IU per day for women.

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is a water soluble vitamin present in citrus fruits and juices, green peppers, cabbage, spinach, broccoli, kale, cantaloupe, kiwi, and strawberries. The RDA is 60 mg per day. Intake above 2000 mg may be associated with adverse side effects in some individuals.

Beta-carotene (a precursor to vitamin A, retinol) is present in liver, egg yolk, milk, butter, spinach, carrots, squash, broccoli, yams, tomato, cantaloupe, peaches, and grains. Because beta-carotene is converted to vitamin A by the body there is no set requirement. Instead, the RDA is expressed as retinol equivalents (Hennekens et al., 1994).

1.3 Fatty Acids: An Overview

Fatty acids are carboxylic acids with a long aliphatic tail (chain) which may vary from 4 to 30 carbon atoms. Most of the fatty acids found in plasma membrane have between 16 and 24 evenly numbered carbon atoms. The predominant fatty acids are straight chain, and can be saturated (SFA) or unsaturated (USFA). Fatty acids are the major lipids, and therefore one the most fundamental categories of biological lipids.

Several systems of nomenclature are used for fatty acids. Trivial or common names are the historical names most frequently used in literature. The International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC) system of nomenclature numbers the carbon atoms in fatty acids sequentially from the end of the chain. The double bond configuration is labelled using Z/E notation (Z for *cis* and E for *trans*). In the *cis* configuration, the two hydrogen atoms are situated on the same side of the double bond, whereas in the *trans* configuration, the two hydrogen atoms lie on each side of the double bond.

Another system of nomenclature in use is the delta system, in which the Greek delta symbol (Δ) is used to indicate the position of double bond. Here, the Greek symbol omega (ω), or the letter *n*, denotes the position of the first double bond from the methyl end. The delta symbol is preceded by a *cis*- or *trans*- prefix indicating the configuration of the double bond.

1.3.1 Saturated Fatty Acids (SFAs)

Saturated fatty acids (SFAs) contain only single carbon-carbon bonds; there are no double bonds within the acyl chain. Most SFAs occurring in nature have an unbranched and even number of carbon atoms, with the general formula: CH3 (CH2) $_{n}$ COOH, where n varies from 7-21 depending on the source. SFAs are extremely stable, being the least reactive of chemical compounds; their melting point increases with chain length. Hence, decanoic and longer chain fatty acids are solid at room temperature.

Saturated fatty acids are further classified into three subgroups: short, medium and long chain fatty acids. Short chain fatty acids contain less than eight carbon atoms. Butyric (4:0), and caproic (6:0) are the most important members of this group, and occur mainly in milk fat. Medium chain fatty acids are fatty acids with 8-14 carbon atoms. Capric (10:0), lauric (12:0) and myristic (14:0) are members of this group. The long chain fatty acids contain more than 14 carbon atoms, of which plamitic (16:0) stearic (18:0) are the most important (plamitic acid is the most widely occurring SFA). Saturated fatty acids longer than stearic (18:0), arachidic (20:0), behenic (22:0) and lingcreic (24:0) are minor dietary components (Ratnayake and Galli, 2009).

1.3.2 Unsaturated Fatty Acids (USFAs)

Unsaturated fatty acids (USFAs) are organic compounds containing one or more double bonds and, hence, are capable of undergoing additional reactions. They are further classified into monounsaturated (MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA).

Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFAs) contain a single carbon-carbon double bond. The presence of a single double bond allows for the two (*cis* and the *trans*) configurations. The *cis* configuration results in a non-straight structure, which confers more fluidity to membranes. The *trans* configuration creates a straight chain, which
increases cell membrane rigidity, with properties similar to saturated fatty acids. The double bond is most frequently located at the $\Delta 9$ position. Oleic acid (cis-9-octadecenoic) is the most common cis-MUFA and is the most widely distributed of all natural lipids. The fatty acids present in animal cell membranes have *cis* configurations (Shantha and Napolitano, 1992).

1.3.3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (PUFAs)

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) have two methylene-interrupted double bonds, i.e., with two or more double bonds of the *cis*-configuration separated by a single methylene group. The presence of several double bonds lowers their melting point and produces extremely flexible molecules. The influence of a fatty acid's structure on its melting-point is such that branched chains and cis double bonds will lower the melting point compared with that of equivalent saturated chains. The melting point of a fatty acid also depends upon whether the chain is even- or odd-numbered; the latter have higher melting points (Rustan and Drevon, 2005). Therefore, the high "liquidity" of cell membranes is usually due to the presence of unsaturated fatty acids. Besides their vital role in cellular membranes, PUFAs are also the major constituents of plasma lipoprotein particles, phospholipids, triglycerides, and cholesterol esters (Le et al., 2009).

The natural PUFA with methylene-interrupted double bonds (with *cis* configuration) can be divided into twelve families, depending upon the location of the double bond (from the n-1 to n-12 position) (Gunstone, 1999). In term of human health and nutrition, the most important families are n-3, n-6 and n-9, all of which are metabolized using the same group of enzymes. The three types of omega-3 fatty acids involved in human physiology are α linolenic acid (ALA), found in plant oils, and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoivc acid (DHA), both commonly found in marine oils; marine algae and phytoplankton are primary sources of omega-3 fatty acids.

1.3.4 Essential Fatty Acids (EFAs)

An 'essential' nutrient is one that is needed for the normal development and function of cells throughout the life cycle (Cunnane, 2003). The phrase "essential fatty acid" was first coined by Burr and Burr in 1929 when these FAs were used to reverse the adverse symptoms in young rodents fed on a fat-free diet. The fat-free diet resulted in dermatitis, kidney lesion, infertility, impaired growth, and premature death. These symptoms were reversed with the introduction of linoleic acid (LA) and α -linoleic acid

(ALA) in their diets (Burr and Burr, 1973). It was discovered, however, that ALA was not as effective as LA in reversing the symptoms.

In humans, the importance of LA was not realized until 1958 when Arild Hansen and his colleagues demonstrated that LA deficient milk was associated with skin symptoms and growth retardation (Hansen et al., 1958, Holman et al., 1982). The essentiality of ALA for humans was established later when it was discovered that ALA deficiency caused neurological and visual impairment and that these lesions were treatable by supplementation with ALA (Holman et al., 1982).

It is increasingly recognized that PUFAs are essential for the human diet, as the body is unable to synthesize LA and ALA, and the de novo synthesis of EPA and DHA do not meet the body's metabolic needs (Gomez Candela et al., 2011). EFA deficiency can occur in both young and old subjects and its effects are both rapid and extreme; on the other hand, after supplementation, the symptoms can disappear (Holman, 1960). It is now accepted that the clinical manifestations related to LA and ALA are due to the deficiency of their longer chain metabolites, such as arachidonic acid (AA), eicosapentaenoic (EPA) and docosahexaenoic (DHA) acids. Hence, AA, EPA, and DHA are considered conditional EFAs since their production may be inadequate under certain conditions, thereby requiring exogenous supplementation (Le et al., 2009).

1.3.5 Endogenous Synthesis of Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFAs) are important components of membrane lipids in all tissues. The most important of these are omega-6 fatty acids, linoleic acid, and the omega-3 fatty acids. Among these three families of PUFAs, only oleic acid (OA), a parent n-9 fatty acid, can be synthesized by mammals from simple carbon precursors. Both the parent n-3 and n-6 fatty acids must be ingested, since mammals cannot insert the double bonds required to produce ALA and LA (Pudelkewicz et al., 1968). Once ingested, ALA and LA can be desaturated and elongated to varying degrees (Innis, 1991, Wang et al., 2005) The pathway leading to the biosynthesis of DHA in mammals from docosapentaenoic acid (DPA) has only recently been deciphered, called the Sprecher pathway (Voss et al., 1991, Sprecher et al., 1995), which is now accepted as a working model for the process, although the exact enzymes and mechanism involved in retro-conversion are not yet fully delineated (Pereira et al., 2003).

1.3.6 Clinical and Biochemical Markers of Essential Fatty Acid Deficiency

Essential fatty acid deficiency (EFAD) typically occurs when less than 1-2% of total calories are provided by EFAs (Holman, 1960). In humans, biochemical changes consistent with EFAD can occur in as little as a few days in infants. In older patients, the symptoms of EFAD may take 4-6 weeks to appear. Clinical signs of EFAD include growth retardation, hair loss, infertility, coagulopathies, dry and scaly skin (Alfin-Slater and Aftergood, 1968). The biochemical indicator of EFAD is increased oleic acid (OA) conversion to mead (MA, 20:3 n-9) and di-homo mead (22:3 n-9) acids (Siguel et al., 1987). Conversion of OA to MA (n-9) only occurs when there are low dietary levels of both ALA and LA. Hence, a mead and arachidonic acid ratio of less than 0.2 is equated with linoleic acid sufficiency (Mascioli et al., 1996).



Figure 1-2: Pathway of metabolism and synthesis of n-3, n-6, and n-9 Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids (from Le et al. (2009))

Likewise, an insufficient intake of DHA, if n-6 fatty acids are not limiting, leads to a decrease in DHA and a simultaneous increase in n-6 docosapentaenoic acid (22:5n-6) synthesized from n-6 docosatetraenoic acid (22:4n-6). Because of this, the ratios of 22:5n- 6/22:4n-6 and DHA/22:5n-6 are regarded as reliable DHA markers of status.

1.3.7 Dietary Requirements of Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids

The minimum intake values for essential fatty acids to prevent deficiency symptoms are estimated to be 2.5%E LA plus 0.5%E ALA. Based on epidemiologic studies and randomized controlled trials of CHD events, the minimum recommended value of total PUFA consumption for lowering LDL and total cholesterol concentrations, increasing HDL cholesterol concentrations and decreasing the risk of CHD events is 6%E. In similar experimental studies, the risk of lipid peroxidation may increase with high (>11%E) PUFA consumption, particularly when tocopherol intake is low. Therefore, the acceptable range for total PUFA (n-6 and n-3 fatty acids) can range between 6 and 11%E. The adequate intake to prevent deficiency is 2.5–3.5%E. Thus, according to the 2008 Joint FAO/WHO Expert Consultation (2009), the recommended range (ADMR) for PUFA is 6–11%E.

Because LA is abundantly available in the human diet, the amount of AA almost always exceeds the level needed to maintain the metabolic needs of n-6 fatty acids, which are abundantly present in liquid vegetable oils. In rodents, AA alone has been shown to be as effective as LA in preventing symptoms of essential fatty acids deficiency (EFAD) (Thomasson, 1962, Hansen et al., 1986) demonstrating that AA can replace LA as the sole source of dietary omega-6 fatty acids (Le et al., 2009).

Unlike n-6 fatty acids, however, n-3 fatty acids do not occur naturally in plants (and the western diet) in amounts necessary to meet metabolic needs. Moreover, the ALA conversion process to EPA and DHA in humans is not efficient, as only 5-10% are converted to EPA, and a mere 2-5% to DHA (Arterburn et al., 2006). However, n-3 fatty acids are abundantly present in fish, shellfish and other seafood; and fish-oil supplements typically contain 30-50% of n-3 fatty acids (Russo, 2009).

The current adequate intake (AI) of ALA is 1.6g/ day for men 19-47 years and 1.1 g/ day for women 19-47 years (Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, 2005). The acceptable macronutrient distribution range (AMDR) for ALA is 0.6-1.2% of energy, approximately 10% of which can be consumed as EPA and/or DHA. The Institute of Medicine's dietary guidelines (2005) also note that consumption of

approximately two servings of fish per week (about 224 g) may reduce the risk of mortality from coronary heart disease. However, since the physiological potency of EPA and DHA is greater than ALA, and in light the growing evidence of the health benefits of omega-3 fatty acids (Mozaffarian and Rimm, 2006), the International Society for the Study of Fatty Acids and Lipids (ISSFAL) recommends a minimum DHA and EPA intake of 500 mg/day (ISSFAL, 2004).

Another important, although controversial, aspect in LCPUFA dietary intake is the appropriate n-6/ n-3 fatty acid ratio for optimal health (Crawford, 2000, Griffin, 2008, Simopoulos, 2009). Nevertheless, it can be stated that an adequate intake of both n-3 and n-6 fatty acids is essential for good health, although it remains unclear whether the ratio between the two is of crucial importance, or not (Willett, 2007).

1.3.8 The Biomedical Importance of n-6 and n-3 LCPUFAs

Polyunsaturated fatty acids play an important role in the composition of cell membranes as they maintain homeostasis for proper membrane protein function and help maintain the membrane fluidity that regulates cell signalling processes, cellular functions and gene expression (Das, 2006).

The n-6 fatty acid <u>Arachidonic Acid</u> (AA) is present in all biological membranes and represents up to 15% of the total fatty acids in phospholipids. Studies have shown that low AA in maternal and cord blood is associated with low birth weight, reduced head circumference (Crawford et al., 1989, Leaf et al., 1992), intrauterine growth retardation (Vilbergsson et al., 1994) and impaired growth in preterm infants (Carlson et al., 1993). AA is a precursor in the production of eicosanoids, particularly prostaglandins, thromboxanes, leukotrienes and lipoxins, which, if formed in large amounts, contribute to the inflammatory state, allergic reactions, and the formation of thrombus. Thus a high n-6/n-3 ration may shift the physiological state to one that is prothrombotic and proaggregatory, with increases in blood viscosity, vasospasm, and vasoconstriction (Ferrucci et al., 2006, Simopoulos, 2009).

<u>Eicosapentaenoic Acid (EPA) and Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA)</u> play important roles in various physiological processes that impact normal health and chronic diseases (Benatti et al., 2004), such as the regulation of gene function and metabolism (Sampath and Ntambi, 2005), cardiovascular and immune function (Cottin et al., 2011), and neuronal and visual development (Haag, 2003, Crawford et al., 1976a). DHA is involved in the expression of several hundred genes in the brain (Kitajka et al., 2004). The genomic evidence suggests that an abundant dietary source of preformed DHA, actually stimulated the evolution of the brain, and that a lack of DHA would have been restrictive (Brenna et al., 2009, Broadhurst et al., 2002, Crawford et al., 1999, Kitajka et al., 2004, Morgan, 1997). Since DHA is a major constituent of the signalling membranes of the brain and visual system, the superabundance of DHA with its irreplaceable role in neural cell signalling, allowed for the synaptic evolution of self-awareness and symbolic thinking and behaviour (Crawford et al., 2013).

Between 50%-60% of the brain's dry weight is lipid, and approximately 35% of these lipids are LCPUFAs, particularly DHA. In the outer segments of photoreceptor cells, DHA constitutes 60% of total fatty acids (Jeffrey et al., 2001). Evidence from animal studies suggests that DHA deficiency can decrease brain DHA levels, increase the n-6/n-3 ratio in nerve membranes and result in poor functioning (Auestad and Innis, 2000). Martinez (2001) has provided compelling evidence about the fundamental role of DHA in the brain by showing that DHA supplements to patients with Zellweger syndrome (generalized peroxisomal disorders) improved myelination, vision, liver function, muscle tone, and social contact. In addition, studies have shown enhanced visual development and cognitive performance due to increased intakes of DHA (Moriguchi et al., 2000, Neuringer, 2000, Helland et al., 2003).

The cardio-protective effects of DHA and EPA supplementation have been studied extensively since their importance was first highlighted by Dyerberg and Bang (1979). It is now widely accepted that DHA and EPA supplementation decreases the risk of cardiovascular diseases (von Schacky and Harris, 2007), such as fatal Coronary heart disease (Hu and Willett, 2002), and stroke (He et al., 2004). These cardio-protective effects of DHA and EPA have been attributed to their anti- inflammatory properties, anti-arrhythmic and anti-aggregatory action, as well as their beneficial effect on vascular and endothelial functions. DHA and EPA supplementation have also been beneficial in atopic diseases (Calder, 2003), chronic inflammatory states such as arthritis (Calder and Zurier, 2001), and inflammatory bowel disease (Calder, 2008).

In addition, both EPA and DHA are precursors of a novel class of lipid mediators involved in the resolution of inflammation (Serhan and Chiang, 2008). Anti-thrombotic properties of fish oils were initially attributed to EPA, however both animal and human studies suggest that DHA is a more potent anti-aggregatory agent than EPA at high doses (Adan et al., 1999, Woodman et al., 2003, Cottin et al., 2011). DHA and EPA supplementation have also been beneficial in atopic diseases (Calder, 2003), chronic inflammatory states such as arthritis (Calder and Zurier, 2001), and inflammatory bowel disease (Calder, 2008).

Although the role of individual fatty acids in (human) cancer risk has been poorly investigated, epidemiological and experimental data have linked a high dietary intake of n-6 PUFA – especially in association with a low intake of n-3 PUFA – to an increased risk for cancers of the breast, colon, and possibly prostate (Benatti et al., 2004).

<u>Eicosanoids</u> are signalling molecules derived from 20-carbon essential fatty acids and which play a variety of roles in human physiology, in both health and disease. Eicosanoids include the prostanoids: prostaglandins, thromboxanes, prostacyclin, leukotrienes and lipoxins (Cook, 2005, Miller, 2006, Wang and Dubois, 2010). The eicosanoides contribute significantly to the regulation of inflammation (Dobrian et al., 2011), renal function (Imig, 2006, Harris, 2008), vascular function (Feletou et al., 2011), insulin secretion (Luo and Wang, 2011), and reproduction (Olson and Ammann, 2007, Roldan and Shi, 2007).

1.4 Health Effects of Omega-3 and Omega-6 Fatty Acids

1.4.1 The Ratio of Omega-3 to Omega-6 Fatty Acids

As noted above, the changing Western diet has drastically altered the omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acid ratio. In an effort to reduce cholesterol levels and lead healthier lifestyles, many Americans have substituted vegetable oils, which are high in omega-6 fatty acids, in place of saturated fat from animals. This change in diet has led to an enormous increase in omega-6 fatty acid consumption and has elevated the typical omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acid ratio from 2:1 to 25-50:1. The ratio LA:LnA, calculated from food balance sheets, is roughly 10:1 in the UK (Taylor et al., 1979) and other western countries (Budowski and Crawford, 1985). Actual analysis seems to yield a higher ratio (e.g. 14:1) in a French farming community (Renaud et al., 1980). Cordain et al. (2005a) have also concluded that the current Western diet has adversely impacted the ω -3: ω -6 ratio.

In ancient hunter-gatherer societies, the ratio of ω -3: ω -6 was closer to 2:1 or 3:1 (Simopoulos, 2004). Other researchers have reported ω -3: ω -6 values ranging from 2: I to 4:1 in muscle phospholipids of wild animals (Crawford et al., 1969, Crawford et al., 1970b, Crawford et al., 1970a, Crawford and Woodford, 1971). The wild plants and animals which provided food for prehistoric man were not only low in fat, but their lipids

were also rich in PUFA (Crawford and Stevens, 1981). An analytical survey of thirtytwo wild animal species in Africa yielded average ratios of 1:1 in brain ethanolamine phosphoglycerides (EPG), the major phospholipid receptacle for PUFA in brain grey matter, and 1:1 in liver (Crawford et al., 1976a). LnA predominates in the chloroplasts of green, leafy plants, while seeds are richer in LA (Hitchcock and Nichols, 1971). Simopoulos (2002a) suggests that cereal grains have become the predominant food source since the Agricultural Revolution, which contain high levels of carbohydrate and ω -6 but little ω -3. Furthermore, technological innovations and advancement in crop production and processing has changed the ratio of n3 and n6 fatty acids (Budowski, 1984).

The dietary increase in the omega-6 fatty acid ratio can have profound effects on an individual's health since omega-6 fatty acids do not provide the same health benefits as omega-3 fatty acids. Although omega-6 fatty acids are an important part of the cell membrane, replacing phospholipids EPA and DHA (derivatives of omega-3 fatty acids) with arachidonic acid (derivative of omega-6 fatty acids).

The balance between ω -3 and ω -6 is therefore quite important as these two types of unsaturated fatty acids are in direct competition to be metabolized by cyclooxygenase (COX). COX is also the enzyme that catalyses arachidonic acid (AA), which is a ω -6 fatty acid, into the precursor molecule responsible for inflammatory reactions in the body (Lee, 2013). These ω -6 fatty acids create a physiological state which is prothrombotic, proaggregatory, increases blood viscosity, vasospasm, vasoconstriction and decreases bleeding time. This decrease in bleeding time is associated with several aspects of CVD including myocardial infarction, hypercholesterolemia, atherosclerotic disease as well as diabetes (Simopoulos, 2002a, Brox et al., 1983).

Whelan (1996) summarizes some of the most important differences in health effects between omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids as follows:

- 1. Omega-3 fatty acids reduce inflammation; omega-6 fatty acids increase inflammation.
- Omega-3 fatty acids are antithrombotic, omega-6 fatty acids increase blood clotting.
- 3. Omega-3 fatty acids are non-immunoreactive; omega-6 fatty acids are immunoreactive.

These differences have profound implications for heart diseases, cancer, arthritis, allergies and other chronic diseases. The current scientific consensus is that the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids should be less than 5:1 (Sugano, 2001).

1.4.2 Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Brain and Retinal Function

The dry weight of the human brain is composed predominantly of lipids: 22% of the cerebral cortex and 24% of white matter consist of phospholipids. It therefore requires a regular intake of "good fats" such as Omega-3s for normal neurogenesis and synaptogenesis. DHA accounts for 40% of all PUFAs in the brain and is considered to be the most important fatty acid for brain function and development (Singh, 2005, Haag, 2003).

Thus, DHA is essential for normal neurological development. Low DHA levels have been linked to low brain serotonin levels which are connected to an increased tendency to depression, suicide, and violence (Hamazaki et al., 1996, Hibbeln, 1998). DHA concentrated mainly in serine and ethanolamine phosphoglycerides (Svennerholm, 1968) and predominantly found in retina (Benolken et al., 1973) and cerebral cortex (Breckenreidge et al., 1971). Early studies have reported that a low concentration of DHA results in impaired retinal function (Neuringer and Connor, 1986, Neuringer et al., 1984, Weisinger et al., 1999) and altered cognitive function (Neuringer et al., 1994). The majority of DHA studies have focused on its role in the cerebral cortex and only a few have focused on DHA concentrations in the most deep CNS structures, but no studies about DHA concentrations in the basal ganglia has been done so far, even though these complex structures are involved in a wide array of integrative functions such as motor coordination, integration of visual signals, and psychiatric and personality phenomena (Ring and Serra-Mestres, 2002). DHA and AA concentrations in the CNS are highly region-specific and high amount of DHA is found in the deep CNS regions embedded in white matter of much lower DHA and AA concentration (Diau et al., 2005).

Furthermore, deficiency of this fatty acid is associated with a loss of discriminative learning ability, while intake of DHA may restore lost learning ability (Yamamoto et al., 1987). Consistent with these findings, it was demonstrated that chronic administration of DHA enhances long-term memory in both the young and old (Gamoh et al., 1999). Daily oral supplementation of 100-600 mg DHA improves the neurological condition in Zellweger's syndrome, in which there is serious mental

retardation and damage to the protective covering (myelin) around the nerves (Martinez et al., 1993).

Disorders such as ADHD and Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) have both been associated with reduced blood levels of PUFAs (Vancassel et al., 2001, Sinn and Bryan, 2007). Some researchers have suggested that both behavioural and learning problems associated with ADHD can be reduced by supplementing ω -3 fatty acid (Richardson and Puri, 2002, Sinn and Bryan, 2007). In their systematic review of the effects of omega-3 on ADHD, Bloch and Qawasmi (2011) found that omega-3 fatty acids, but specifically EPA, was comparable to pharmacological treatment of ADHD. Richardson and Puri (2002) found that children with symptoms of ADHD secondary to learning disabilities (primarily dyslexia) scored much higher for attention, anxiety and disruptive behaviour (than the control group) after receiving ω -3/ ω -6 supplements.

As already noted, DHA represents a small percentage of the fatty acids in most tissues of the human body, it reaches levels of 30-40% of total fatty acids in rod photoreceptor outer segments of the retina (Menon and Dhopeshwarkar, 1982). DHA influences retinal photoreceptor structural development and function, thereby increasing retinal light sensitivity. A deficiency in DHA can result in decreased visual acuity and an abnormal electroretinogram (Rotstein et al., 1998). In one study, researchers found that more frequent consumption of fish (which contain DHA) appeared to protect against late age-related macular degeneration. Only a moderate intake of fish was necessary for this protective effect (Levine, 1997).

In rhesus monkeys, diets deficient in omega-3 fatty acid induced profound functional changes such as reduced vision, abnormal electroretinograms, impaired visual evoked potential, more stereotypic behaviour (e.g., pacing) and probable disturbances of cognition (Neuringer et al., 1986).

1.4.3 Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Foetal Development

Two essential fatty acids, lenoleic acid (C18:2, n- 6) and lenolenic acids (C18:3, n- 3), derived from plants, do not present in brain tissues. After elongation and desaturation in the liver, they form long chain fatty acids including arechidonic acid (AA, C20:4, n- 6) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA, C22:4, n-3). These two fatty acids are essential, structural and functional constituents of cell membranes (Crawford et al., 1976b) and are required for the growth and function of the brain and vascular systems which are the primary biofocus of human foetal growth. The foetal brain can accumulate

AA and DHA during cell division. It is observed that very preterm babies are born with minimal fat stores and suboptimal circulating levels of these nutrients. Postnatally, they lose the biomagnification of the proportions of AA and DHA provided by the placenta for the foetus. No current nutritional management repairs these deficits. The resultant foetal FA profile closely resembles that of the vascular endothelium and not the brain. Without this nourishment, cell membrane abnormalities would be predicted (Crawford et al., 2003).

Omega-3 fatty acids (DHA and EPA) from fish oils are of major importance for proper nutrition during pregnancy, not only for foetal development, but for the mother's health, as well. There are 2 critical periods for the acquisition of these essential omega-3 fatty acids: during foetal development itself and then after birth until the biochemical development of the brain and retina is completed. A deficiency or excess of any number of nutrients can lead to birth defects or complications for the mother (Allen and Harris, 2001).

DHA is brain food for a developing baby. It constitutes more than half of a newborn's brain mass, and during the first three months of life, the DHA content of the infant's brain increases threefold (Barrett et al., 2014). The fatty acid accretion increases as gestation progresses, reaching a maximum rate of accretion toward the end of gestation. DHA as a percentage of total fatty acids increases, whereas AA decreases in both the cerebrum and liver during the last trimester of gestation. The higher concentration of brain DHA is consistent with the rapid formation of synapses and dendritic spines taking place during this period (Martinez and Ballabriga, 1978, Pupura, 1975). An increase in the percentage of DHA can be due to the rapid development of the photoreceptor cells during the last half of gestation. Furthermore, n-3 fatty acids do not stop increasing after birth. The very rapid prenatal increase becomes more moderate but is still quite significant until at least 2 years of age (Martinez, 1992).

Since developing foetuses cannot make their own omega-3 fatty acids, they depend upon their mothers to meet their nutritional needs. Therefore, DHA and other essential nutrients should be obtained by the mother through her diet or supplementation, which can then be passed along to the foetus (Carlson, 1999). This vital nutrient is particularly important during the third trimester, as this is when much of the foetus' neurological, visual and nervous system development occurs (Carlson, 1999, Valenzuela and Nieto, 2001).

Human milk is the best and only time-proven source of DHA in the infant's diet. In well-nourished mothers, approximately 6% of total calories in human milk take the form of essential fatty acids and their metabolites. The conversion efficiency of dietary EFA into milk fatty acids is not clear; however, an additional 1 to 2% of calories in the form of EFA is recommended during the first 3 months of a mother's lactation. Another 2 to 4% of calories above the basic requirement is recommended thereafter (Makrides and Gibson, 2000).

Studies show that breast-fed babies have IQ advantages over babies fed formula without DHA. Unfortunately, DHA levels in the breast milk of U.S. women are among the lowest in the world. In addition, the United States is the only country in the world where infant formula is generally not fortified with DHA despite a 1995 WHO recommendation that all baby formulas should provide 40 mg of DHA per kilogram of infant body weight. Scientists believe that postpartum depression, attention deficit disorder (ADD), and low IQs are all linked to the low DHA intake commonly found in the U.S. Furthermore, several studies have shown that infants with an adequate supply of DHA developed better visual acuity and retinal response to light and scored higher when evaluated for mental development (Cunnane et al., 2000, Birch, 1999, Birch et al., 1998).

The constant drain on a mother's DHA reserves can easily lead to a deficiency. Some researchers believe that pre-eclampsia (pregnancy-related high blood pressure) and postpartum depression could be linked to such DHA deficiency (Chiu et al., 2004). Deficiency of DHA in the foetus has also been linked to premature births and abnormally low birth weights (Olsen et al., 2003).

Fish and fish oil consumption during pregnancy has been shown to affect the mental development of the child. Maternal ω -3 at delivery predicted better attention in infants during the first 2 years of life and better hand-eye coordination at 2.5 years (Dunstan et al., 2008, Colombo et al., 2004). Infants with higher DHA at birth and at 4 months also demonstrated better visual development (Malcolm et al., 2003, Lauritzen et al., 2004). At 4 years of age, children born to mothers who took cod liver oil during pregnancy and lactation had a higher score on the Mental Processing Scale for the Kaufmann ABC test, although this effect was not present at 7 years of age (Helland et al., 2003).

Researchers have also identified other benefits associated with omega-3 fatty acids:

- Omega-3 fatty acids may promote an easier birth, and prevent preterm delivery.
- Omega-3 intake is associated with more mature neonatal sleep-state patterning (the baby sleeps longer through the night in early life).
- Omega-3 fatty acid supplemented infants show higher levels of cognitive function.
- Omega-3 intake can reduce the chances of a child developing allergies.
- Omega-3 intake is associated with increased foetal development, specifically as it relates to the brain and vision.
- Children are less likely to have behavioural and learning problems (Olsen et al., 2003, Cheruku et al., 2002, Prescott and Calder, 2004, Birch et al., 2000).

1.4.4 Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Cardiac Disease

There has been significant promotion of fish intake in recent years since it is a good source of high-quality protein, low fat, vitamins and minerals, but particularly omega-3 fatty acids which have been associated with cardiovascular health benefits. Nowadays, nutritionists recommend at least two servings of fish per week to achieve cardio-protective effects (Chan and Egeland, 2004, Nordoy et al., 2001).

For the last two decades, many studies have reported the beneficial effects of seafood consumption for reducing the risk of coronary heart disease mortality (Kromhout et al., 1985, Daviglus et al., 1997, He et al., 2004, Whelton et al., 2004). Intake of fish and fish oil is also thought to decrease the risk of other cardiovascular diseases, such as hypertension, stroke and cardiac arrhythmias (Sidhu, 2003).

The protective effects of omega-3 fatty acids on coronary heart disease have been demonstrated in hundreds of experiments in animals, humans, tissue culture studies, and clinical trials. Omega-3 fatty acids from fish have been shown to be protective of heart disease and are also capable of preventing deaths from coronary disease, particularly cardiac arrest (Paganelli et al., 2001, Shekell et al., 1985, De Caterina and Madonna, 2002, Norell et al., 1986, Kromhout et al., 1985, He et al., 2004, GISSI-Prevenzione Investigators, 2000, Kris-Etherton et al., 2003).

The unique properties of these fatty acids in coronary heart disease first became apparent in investigations into the health of Greenland Eskimos who consumed diets very high in fat content, and yet had a low rate of coronary heart disease. Further studies clarified this paradox: the fat consumed by the Eskimos contained large quantities of the very-long-chain and highly polyunsaturated fatty acids of EPA and DHA, which are naturally abundant in fish, shellfish, and sea mammals but which are quite scarce or absent in land animals and plants. EPA and DHA are synthesized by phytoplankton, aquatic plants at the base of the food chain for marine life (Bang et al., 1976).

The American Heart Association identifies the cardiovascular benefits of DHA as follows:

- Prevents arrhythmias (ventricular tachycardia and fibrillation).
- Serves as a prostaglandin and leukotriene precursor.
- Has an anti-inflammatory property.
- Inhibits synthesis of cytokines and mitogens.
- Stimulates endothelial-derived nitric oxide.
- Has an antithrombotic role.
- Inhibits atherosclerosis.
- Protects against plaque fat ruptures leading to strokes and heart attacks.
- Relaxes blood vessels (vasodilatation).
- Lowers blood pressure, and lessens heart stress (Kris-Etherton et al., 2003).

 ω -3 fatty acids are crucial in the development of a CVD. Firstly, ω -3 is involved in decreasing the body's inflammatory response by increasing the production of antiinflammatory molecules and decreasing the production of inflammatory molecules (Calder, 2006). This anti-inflammatory effect is implicated in stabilizing arterial plaques, thereby decreasing the risk of CVD events (Thies et al., 2003).

Blood pressure has also been found to be reduced by ingesting only 3.7 g/d of fish oil (Geleijnse et al., 2002), and serum triglycerides, a risk factor for the development of CVDs, have been reduced by up to 30% by the use of ω -3 fatty acids supplements (Austin, 1991, Harris, 1997). Atherosclerotic plaque formation may also be lessened by the reduction in growth factors after fish-oil consumption (Wijendran and Hayes, 2004).

Dietary studies in which the effects of a diet rich in salmon oil were compared with those of a vegetable oil and a diet high in saturated fat. Fish oil in particular was shown to lower plasma cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations (Connor, 2000).

Based on the findings of two large scale reviews, the American Heart Association has recommended that adult patients without documented CHD eat a variety of (preferably oily) fish at least twice a week and include oils and foods rich in alphalinolenic acid (flaxseed, canola and soybean oils, flaxseeds and walnuts). This is equivalent to 0.3 to 0.5 g/d of EPA and DHA which is essential for healthy individuals to reap specific heart health benefits. For those with documented CHD, the AHA recommends consuming 1 g/d of EPA and DHA, preferably from oily fish, although supplements may be considered advisable upon consulting a physician. The AHA reports that consumption of one fatty fish meal (85 g portion) per day (or the equivalent fish oil supplement) could result in EPA and DHA intakes of approximately 0.9g/d, which researchers have shown to reduce CHD mortality rates in patients with coronary disease (Nigel et al., 2007). Similarly, König et al. (2005) has found that even a small quantity of fish consumed regularly was associated with a 17% reduction in CVD mortality and each additional serving of fish increased the reduction in CVD mortality by 3.9%.

On the other hand, some researchers have cautioned against overstating the benefits of omega-3 fatty acids. For example, Kwak et al. (2012) did not observe any effect of omega-3 supplements on the prevention of CVD events or mortality in those who already had a history of CVD. Similarly, the meta-analysis by Hooper et al. (2006) found no effect of omega-3 on total mortality, strokes or CVD events.

1.4.5 Omega-3 Fatty Acids and Other Diseases

1.4.5.1 Cancer

Researchers have not yet reached any concrete conclusions about the effects of ω -3 fatty acids for the prevention and treatment of cancer. Recent studies have not found any positive effect of ω -3 fatty acids in reducing cancer mortality (MacLean et al., 2006, Hooper et al., 2006). However, low levels of any type of fatty acid can promote cell growth in the prostate while high levels of EPA inhibits this growth (Pandalai et al., 1995). In another study, men who consumed higher levels of EPA and DHA through dietary ω -3 consumption had a lower risk of prostate cancer (Norrish et al., 1999), while Kimura et al. (2007) found a non-significant but inverse relationship between dietary ω -3 and colorectal cancer, especially distal colon cancer.

On the other hand, Cave (1986) has suggested that fish oil consumption can delay or reduce tumour development in breast cancer Studies have also shown that a high blood level of omega-3 fatty acids, when combined with a low level of omega-6 acids, reduces the risk of developing this disease (Simonsen et al., 1998). In a similar vein, daily supplementation with as little as 2.5 grams of fish oils has been found effective in preventing the progression from benign polyps to colon cancer (Yang et al., 1999). Gonzalez and Riboli (2006) suggest that fish consumption may decrease the risk of colorectal cancer. Other researchers have found that fish oil supplementation improves survival and quality of life in terminally ill cancer patients.

1.4.5.2 Overweight and Obesity

Omega-3 fatty acids have a profound effect on obesity. It has been found that obese individuals have lower concentration of ω -3 fatty acids in their blood when compared to healthy, non-obese controls (Micallef et al., 2009). Couet et al. (1997) found that a fish oil diet corresponded to a 0.88 kg reduction of body fat when compared a control diet. Kabir et al. (2007) found that postmenopausal overweight and obese female subjects with type 2 diabetes also experienced a reduction in their total body fat after adding 3 g/d of fish oil (1.08 g EPA + 0.72 g DHA) for two months.

In a similar study, Thorsdottir et al. (2007) placed men and women on one of four types of energy restricted diets: a control diet with no fish, with lean fish, with fatty fish or with fish oil. They found that after four weeks, men had lost approximately 1 kg more after eating lean or fatty fish or taking fish oil supplements.

Epidemiological studies have also shown that fish consumption within a healthy eating pattern is associated with lower body weight (Shubair et al., 2005, Schulze et al., 2006). However, less is known about the health impact of fish consumption and fish oil supplementation, when paired with physical activity, on the nutritional status of school children, body composition, blood biochemistry and mental and physical abilities. Dietary intervention studies which included fish and fish oil in a weight loss diet are also limited (Thorsdottir et al., 2009, Mori et al., 1999).

The recently conducted randomized dietary intervention study SEAFOOD plus YOUNG showed promising results: lean and fatty fish consumption three times a week for eight weeks was associated with significantly lower body weight in humans compared to an isocaloric control diet without seafood.

1.4.5.3 Diabetes

Fish intake might also increase insulin sensitivity (Ramel et al., 2008) and decrease the risk of non-insulin-dependent (type II) diabetes (Kromann and Green, 1980, Nkondjock and Receveur, 2003).

Some data are available in the literate that show a positive impact of ω -3 fatty acids on diabetes. Norris et al. (2007) found an inverse relationship between higher

intake of ω -3 fatty acids and the risk of developing islet autoimmunity, the destruction of insulin-producing beta cells in the islets of the pancreas. Similarly, in another study, children who ingested cod liver oil were found to be at a significantly lower risk of developing type 1 diabetes (Stene and Joner, 2003). It has also been demonstrated that ω -3 is effective in decreasing the level of triglycerides in Type 2 diabetes, although no comparable effect on the fasting glucose level or glycaemia was found (Montori et al., 2000).

1.4.6 Omega-3 Fatty Acids: Sources and Dosage

The best source of DHA is seafood, especially coldwater fish. Omega-3 fatty acids are nature's antifreeze: in general, the colder the fish's natural environment, the higher the omega-3 content in the fish oil. Popular sources of DHA are wild salmon (not farm raised), sardines, tuna (especially blue fin tuna), mackerel, shellfish, herring, black cod and anchovies. The fish meats with the highest ω -3 content that fulfil the ω -3 criteria of the American Heart Association are salmon, mackerel, red mullet and, to a lesser extent, squid and hake (Domingo et al., 2007). Eggs and some organ meats (liver and brain) have a small amount of DHA, but the healthiest source of dietary DHA is seafood (Holub, 2001).

Despite the known benefits of regular fish consumption, the risks must be considered, as well. Fish are known to contain chemical pollutants which may be dangerous to consume regularly or at the frequency suggested by the AHA (Kris-Etherton et al., 2002a). Domingo et al. (2007) analysed the ω -3 content and the chemical pollutants present in 14 types of fish, and found that, when consumed according to the AHA guidelines, most marine specifies did not pose a risk. On the other hand, swordfish and tuna contained high levels of methylmercury; clam, mussels and shrimp contained high levels of the carcinogen polycyclic aromatic hydrograms (PAB); and red mullet contained high levels of polychlorinated dibenzodioxins and furans (PCDD/F). On this basis, it would appear that the safest fish to consume at the level suggested by the AHA – with the most ω -3 – would be salmon and mackerel.

Besides fish oils, vegetable oils (primarily flaxseed, soy, walnuts and canola) are also rich sources of omega 3 fatty acids, with flaxseed oil being the best. The main component of flaxseed and walnut oils is alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) while the predominant fatty acids found in fatty fish and fish oils are eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). The most beneficial and active of these fatty acids are EPA and DHA. Alpha-linolenic acid (ALA) can be converted to EPA and DHA in the body, but the conversion process is inefficient, especially in older people. The two F's – fish and flax – are the top brain-building foods for growing children, and adults (Holub, 2001, Conquer and Holub, 1996). Certain microalgae also contain DHA and are used as a vegetarian source of this nutrient in some supplements. For infants, breast milk contains significant amounts of DHA, while infant formula often has none (Cunnane et al., 2000).

People without a CHD should eat fatty, oily fish twice a week and include oil and foods that have a high amount of alpha linoleic acid (Kris-Etherton et al., 2003), whereas people with CHD should ingest 1.0g of EPA+DHA every day from oily fish. In patients who need to lower their triglyceride levels, they recommend 2-4 grams of EPA+DHA per day, taken in capsule form (Kris-Etherton et al., 2003).

1.5 Genesis and Prevention of NCDs in Childhood

1.5.1 Children and Adolescents are Heavily Impacted by NCDs

Childhood NCDs are on the rise globally. The following identify some of the most significant ways children and adolescents are affected:

- 1.2 million children and youth under the age 20 died of NCDs in 2002 (Mathers, 2009).
- More than 25% of obese adolescents have signs of diabetes by age 15 (Goran et al., 2003). According to Mathers (2009), this accounts for approximately 486,000 children under 15 years of age.
- Despite improvements in the survival rate for some childhood cancers, this rate is much lower in resource-poor countries (Proimos and Klein, 2012).
- Approximately 90% of the 1 million children born each year with congenital heart disease live in areas without adequate medical care (Cancer Research UK, 2002).
- Tobacco smoke causes asthma, otitis, and respiratory infections in children (Tchervenkov et al., 2008).

• Mental health disorders (Cancer Research UK, 2002) motor vehicle trauma, homicide, and suicide (Gore et al., 2011) cause significant morbidity and mortality in children and youth.

It has been suggested that when risk behaviours begin in childhood and continue into adulthood, there is an increased risk of developing disease (Law, 2000), and the risks increase as the individual ages (World Health Organization, 2013a).

In one longitudinal study, Porkka et al. (1994) tracked children between 3-18 years of age for 12 years, and found that serum lipids (such as HDL, LDL and total cholesterol) tracked into adulthood and that 50% of those in the extreme ranges for these measures remained unchanged. They also found that men tracked these factors into adulthood more consistently than women. Similar results were found in a study following children in Louisiana, finding that the same pattern held at the other extreme: 42% of those in the lower range for HDL cholesterol remained in the lower range (Webber et al., 1991).

Blood pressure and BMI have also been found to track into adulthood from childhood, and that these measures are related to adult blood pressure, fasting insulin and lipid levels (Juhola et al., 2011, Sinaiko et al., 1999). McGill et al. (2008b) suggest that a high risk of developing advanced coronary artery lesions continues to increase with age. It has also been found that risk factors for cardiovascular disease in childhood predicts cardiovascular pathologies in adulthood, probably due to the changes in the cardiovascular system caused by the presence of risk factors in childhood (Raitakari et al., 2003).

The PDAY risk score in young people has been found to predict coronary artery calcium and carotid intima-media thickness into later adulthood (Gidding et al., 2006, McMahan et al., 2007), just as coronary artery calcium has been shown to be a reliable predictor of adult coronary heart disease (Pletcher et al., 2004). Jenkins et al. (1981) examined 35 people post-mortem who died at the average age of 18 and found that fatty streaks were related to total and LDL cholesterol, that coronary artery fatty streaks were correlated with very LDL cholesterol, and that fatty streaks were inversely related to the ratio of HDL to LDL and VLDL cholesterol. McGill et al. (2008) suggest that the prevention of risk factors will likely yield the maximum benefit in terms of cardiovascular disease prevention.

Not surprisingly, obese adolescents are at an increased risk of developing an NCD later in life (Reilly and Kelly, 2010). This is particularly problematic since 43 million children globally are obese and 92 million are at risk of being overweight. Furthermore, the rate of childhood obesity has increased from 4.2% in 1990 to 6.7% in 2010 (De Onis et al., 2010).

The Middle East is one of the regions with the highest prevalence of obesity in the world (James, 2004, Han et al., 2010). These overweight or obese children and adolescents are susceptible to becoming overweight or obese adults. This is especially true if the child has a higher BMI or if the child had an obese parent (Guo and Chumlea, 1999, Whitaker et al., 1997). The increase in weight among children and adolescents may be due to increased snack and fast food consumption (McConahy et al., 2004, Bowman et al., 2004).

It has been suggested that the dietary behaviours of children are shaped by food preferences that are developed prenatally and post-natally, where both taste and olfaction are important determining factors. (Bradley and Stern, 1967) found that taste cells are developed before twenty weeks of gestation and fully functional by 13-15 weeks, while olfactory function has been found to be developed in utero (Schaal et al., 1998), responding to the foods eaten by the pregnant mother (Birch, 1999). Studies have demonstrated that premature infants have already acquired clearly defined taste preferences (Tatzer et al., 1985, Ventura and Worobey, 2013a).

Children's food preferences can also be modulated by parental restriction or coercion. It has been found that children who are offered contingencies for eating foods (reward or punishment based) may send the message to the child that a food is not desirable, which may actually result in a decreased preference (Birch et al., 1982). Food restriction in an experimental setting has also been shown to result in higher intakes and selection of the restricted food despite calorically equivalent free access alternatives (Fisher and Birch, 1999). It has also been suggested that the foods made available by parents, and parental intake predicts the types of foods children consume (Wardle et al., 2005, Hanson et al., 2005, Young et al., 2004).

An important influence on the programming phenomena is foetal nutrition, which is a consequence of maternal nutrition during pregnancy. An imbalance of macronutrients, specifically protein and carbohydrates, have been found to be associated with a low birth-weight and higher blood pressure in children (Shiell et al., 2001). A positive association has also been found between a maternal diet that includes green vegetables and fruits, and higher birth-weight and better glucose tolerance in the child. Belizan et al. (1997), Yajnik (2004), and Rao et al. (2001) have similarly found an association between a maternal diet that includes higher calcium intake with lower blood pressure in the child. Children of mothers with diabetes have also been found to be at an increased risk of glucose intolerance and type 2 diabetes. These are all physiological conditions that may occur due to maternal nutrition and/or low birth-weight which are known risk factors for NCDs later in life.

This pattern has been explained by the thrifty gene hypothesis, which suggests that the child's physiology will adapt to the undernourished environment in the womb. The result of the child's adaptation is a physiology unsuited to the over-nourished postnatal environment, thereby increasing the child's susceptibility to obesity and other NCDs. In the case of diabetes, it has been suggested that the foetus will direct glucose supply to vital organs when confronted with a glucose deficiency in the womb. As a result, the body adapts to low glucose environments and these children become more susceptible to glucose intolerance and type 2 diabetes later in life (Hales and Barker, 2013).

1.5.2 Nutritional Intervention at Childhood as a Method to Tackle Behavioural Abnormalities

Numerous studies have shown an association between nutrition and lifestyle factors to cognitive functioning and mental health in children. Sjöberg et al. (2005), for example, found that overweight children between 15 and 18 years old had depressive symptoms, while children in the higher BMI groups had major depressive symptoms, as defined by the DSM-IV. Luppino et al. (2010) also found a relationship between depression and obesity in their systematic review and meta-analysis.

Dreyfus (1993) examined the mental health issues in obese children and found that 15% of obese children had a personality disorder and 2% had psychotic features while 58% showed no severe personality disorder. Adolescents with obesity or weight gain displayed more psychopathology or psychiatric morbidity and higher levels of depression than those with a normal weight, although the sample only included those who were seeking treatment for weight related issues (Hammar et al., 1972, Buddeberg-Fischer et al., 1999). Vila et al. (2004) examined obese children who were patients at a nutrition outpatient centre in Paris and found that 58% had a DSM-IV psychiatric diagnosis, 32% had a DSM-IV anxiety disorder, 12% had affective disorders, 16% had disruptive behaviour disorders; in some cases, a single individual had multiple diagnoses. Despite these pervasive associations, it has been demonstrated that mental health issues such as depression and schizophrenia in children improved with treatment of ω -3 fatty acids (EPA) (Nemets et al., 2006, Emsley et al., 2003).

Cognitive functioning has also been shown to be affected by poor dietary habits. The main metabolic factor involved in brain function is glucose and thus the effect of glucose on uninterrupted brain function cannot be understated. It has been also been suggested that poor nutrition can affect the brain function (Bellisle, 2004). (The important role of fatty-acids has already been discussed above.)

The effect of glucose ingestion on memory and cognition has been investigated by several researchers. It has been found that the ingestion of glucose in children produced beneficial effects on short-term memory, rapid information processing, focussed and sustained attention, arithmetic ability, long-term free and cued recall tasks. The rise in blood glucose after ingesting a glucose drink resulted in faster information processing, word recall and improvement on cognitive conflict and reaction time tasks. It has also been suggested that the latter phases of long and difficult mental tasks are improved with the ingestion of glucose, although this effect does not apply to the earlier phases of long and difficult mental tasks or shorter duration that are less demanding (Benton et al., 1987, Benton and Owens, 1993, Foster et al., 1998). This demonstrates the brain's sensitivity to short-term fluctuations in glucose levels (Bellisle, 2004).

Benton et al. (2003) found that low-glycaemic index food facilitated mental performance hours after being ingested, since they do not severely disrupt blood glucose levels. Schoenthaler and Bier (1998) found that low-dose vitamin mineral supplements improved performance on tests of intelligence in children with poor diets; the same result was not found in children with adequate diets.

1.6 The Sultanate of Oman, NCDs, Risk Factors & Epidemiology

The Arab World, identified in the literature as the Eastern Mediterranean, Western Asia, North Africa and the Northern Gulf are certainly not immune to the effects of NCDs. In 2004, the WHO Mediterranean Region had a 47% disease burden due to NCDs and this number is predicted to rise to 60% by 2020 (Khatib, 2004). WHO also predicts that the mortality rate due to NCDs in the region will increase by 25% (Alwan, 2008). In some of these countries, the number of deaths below the age of 60 due

to NCDs is at 40% (Alwan, 2014) with more than 1.2 million Arabs dying from NCDs in 2008, which accounted for 60% of total deaths in the region (Rahim et al., 2014b).

The Sultanate of Oman is a WHO member state situated in the Eastern Mediterranean region. This developing, high-income country has a population of 3.3 million people. Similar to other countries in the region, Oman's population also suffers from NCDs and the resulting burden of disease placed on the national healthcare system (World Health Organization, 2014a). In 2008, NCDs accounted for 83% of deaths in Oman, with the under 60 mortality rate at 44.5% for men and 32.6% for women (World Health Organization, 2011b). In 2012, 70% of the YLL in Oman was due to NCDs or injuries. In Oman, the rates of death by each NCD are listed as follows:

- CVD, 49% of total mortality
- Diabetes, 7%
- All Cancers, 11% and
- CRD, 3%.

These proportions are particularly worrying, since only 3% of the Omani population in 2004 was aged 60 or older (World Health Organization, 2011b).

The prevalence of overweight or obese and physically inactive is high in Arab region. Kim et al. (2011) found that in, in the Arabian Gulf, 66-75% of the adult population (above age 18) and 25-40% of children (below age 18) were either overweight or obese. In Oman, 30% of the population is overweight and 20%-21.5% are obese (Al-Lawati et al., 2008). Al-Lawati and Jousilahti (2004) found that this trend appears to be shifting, with more men and fewer women are becoming overweight and obese.

Rahim et al. (2014b) found that the Arab region, but particularly high-income GCC countries, had the highest level of physical inactivity in the world. It has been suggested that this is due to urbanization and its impact on recreational and lifestyle activities, as well as a shift to more sedentary occupations. Additionally, extreme climatic conditions and lack of public transport in many of these countries has created a reliance on personal automobiles, and people are also becoming more dependent on mechanization to complete household chores as well as technology for leisure activities (Rahim et al., 2014b).

Between 1961 and 2007, the Arab Region experienced an increase in sugars and sweeteners, meats, milks and dairy products, changes that are characteristic of the

nutrition transition associated with an increased burden of NCDs (Golzarand et al., 2012). The nutrition transition taking place in Oman is at stage 2, 'Degenerative Diseases,' where the intake of food has shifted to a Western diet. This usually occurs in societies where there is an accompanying shift in technology, especially in both work and leisure activities (Popkin, 1993). The other two diet types, as characterized by Jacka et al. (2010), are 'Traditional' and 'Modern' diets. The 'Traditional' dietary pattern is defined as consisting of vegetables and fruits, whole-grains, meats and fish. The 'Modern' pattern consists of fruits, salad, and more beans, yogurt, nuts, fish and tofu. Rahim et al. (2014b) suggest that the Arab Region is moving away from the traditional diet towards the westernised diet, while the developed world is moving away from the western diet.

The unhealthy dietary habits resultant from rapid urbanization in the region has produced a largely 'Western diet' that is characterized by high-fat, calorie dense foods, refined sugars and salt, as well as high intakes of fast foods and carbonated drinks (Musaiger et al., 2011b, Mahmood et al., 2008). Undoubtedly, this shift partly accounts for the fact that, in GCC countries, 25–40% of children below 18 years of age are overweight or obese (Kim et al., 2011). When examining overweight and obesity in children aged 0–5 years old, De Onis et al. (2010) found that 14.7% of preschool children were overweight or obese in the Western Asia region (the Arabian Peninsula). Using the data trends, the researchers suggested that this rate could increase to 21.5% by 2015 and predicted that 29.1% of children would be overweight or obese in 2020.

Similarly, Osman et al. (2004) tracked a cohort of 550 Omani students, both male and female, and found that the incidence of overweight and obesity was 7.3% at 6–7 years, and increased to 16% at 12–13 years and increased yet again to 23.3% at 15–16 years. The authors concluded that Omani school children tend to become increasingly overweight and obese as they age, may be largely due to the more sedentary activities and socialized more by eating energy-dense nutrient poor foods as they grew older.

1.7 Aim and Objective of the Study

Like many other developed countries, Oman is facing a rapidly escalating burden of non-communicable diseases (NCDs), i.e., obesity, diabetes, high blood pressure, heart disease, strokes, cancers and some chronic respiratory disease .The NCD rates are high and markedly amplified because many, if not most, adults 30–60 years ago were born to relatively poorly fed mothers and frequently experience mild to moderate malnutrition in childhood. It is now recognised that malnourished children are highly susceptible to NCDs when confronted with a high fat, sugar and salty diet in later life. As a result, the adult Omani population already displays greater rates of abdominal obesity and its associated NCDs, particularly diabetes, than adults in Western Europe. Therefore, a much more incisive and radical public health approach is needed to produce a better environment conducive to routine physical activity and higher quality food choices, and it is especially important to target earlier stages of school-aged children.

In addition, behavioural disorders including attention deficit hyperactivity disorders (ADHD) are also on the rise. In a cross-sectional study of Omani school children, hyperactivity was found in 7.8% of boys (Al-Sharbati et al., 2008) and 5.1% girls (Al-Sharbati et al., 2004). Furthermore, a study on 5,409 Omani adolescents found 17% (boys 14.7%, girls 19.4%) of them suffer from some sort of mild depressive symptoms (Afifi, 2006). The link between omega-3 fatty acids, mainly DHA and psychiatric disorder was proposed from several studies (Antalis et al., 2006, Burgess et al., 2000, Colquhoun and Bunday, 1981, Colter et al., 2008, Mitchell et al., 1987, Stevens et al., 1996); a similar link has been found with depression (Pottala et al., 2012).

It has been suggested that increased long-chain omega-3 fatty acids intake might help pupils to study more effectively and potentially help to tackle ADHD and depression. In 2008, Aberg et al. (2009) reported a positive association between the number of times having fish meals per week at age 15 and cognitive performance measured 3 years later. Fish consumption of more than once per week compared to less than once per week was associated with higher Stanine scores in combined intelligence (0.58 units; 95% C.I. 0.39, 0.76), verbal (0.45; 0.27, 0.63) and visuospatial performance (0.50; C.I. 0.31, 0.69). The association between fish consumption and the three intelligence scores was the same in lowly and highly educated groups.

Despite growing interest in role of omega-3 fatty acid in human health and development worldwide, very little research has been carried out in Oman. Oman is a marine nation and fish has been a part of the traditional diet. Yet, more people are adapting a so-called "Western style diet" (high in sugar and fat) and fast food, making them vulnerable to chronic diseases such as obesity, diabetes and cardio-vascular disease. However, these are preventable diseases - through changes in diet and lifestyle and this can be achieved by educating people. In order to establish guidelines and policy, it is important to carry out scientifically sound basic research which will provide informative data. Since no data is currently available on the omega-3 fatty acids status of Omani school children, the current study, the first of its type to be conducted in Oman, was planned to fill this gap.

A lot of studies have been conducted on the beneficial effects of omega-3 fatty acids in complicated and uncomplicated pregnancy, preterm and term babies (Martinez et al., 1993, Crawford et al., 2003), children with behavioural abnormalities acid (Richardson and Puri, 2002, Sinn and Bryan, 2007, Bloch and Qawasmi, 2011), adults with symptoms of mental health disorders (Gamoh et al., 1999, Hashimoto et al., 2002), adults with non-communicable chronic disorders (type 2 diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease) (Shubair et al., 2005, Schulze et al., 2006, Norris et al., 2007, He and Daviglus, 2005). In contrast, there is a paucity of studies on the beneficial impact of omega-3 fatty acids in healthy school children. Indeed, because of the scarcity of data in this age group, the International Society for the Study of Lipids and Fatty Acids in its 9th Congress which was held in Maastricht (The Netherlands) in 2010 has called for more research in healthy children. The proposed investigation, which we believe is the first of its kind in the Middle East, will contribute significantly to knowledge because it is well-powered, involves homogenous groups of children and compares efficacy of fish and capsule-derived omega-3 fatty acids.

There is very limited published data on the nutritional status, body composition, blood lipids, fat-soluble vitamins, red blood cell fatty acid profile and behavioural status of Omani school children. Moreover, the effect of regular fish consumption or fish oil supplementation on red blood cell omega 3 fatty acid index have never been investigated for this population. Therefore, the current study was necessary to generate original data which could be vital for nutritional and health policy and management in Oman.

There is little knowledge - and certain discrepancies - in the literature regarding the possible impact of fish consumption on health, especially as it is applicable to Oman. There has been no research designed to investigate the effect of the fatty acid profile of local Omani fish, nor the effect of Omani marine foods on local population health. Thus, this study aims to examine local fish consumption and fatty acids supplementation impact on school children's nutritional status and biochemical parameters. The results of this study will contribute to the promotion of healthy school feeding and a reconsideration of the relevance of Omani Fish products.

In the short term, this intervention will establish whether the consumption of fish has a beneficial effect on the health of school children. If positive effects of fish on the children's health parameters are found, then guidelines may be developed in conjunction with the Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education to encourage increased consumption of fish and/or fish oils in the population's diet.

1.7.1 Hypotheses

- Healthy Oman school children do not have nutritional deficiency, blood lipid disorder or abnormal body composition.
- Healthy Omani school children display no behavioural abnormalities in the classroom that would be classified as evidence of ADHD
- Healthy Omani school children have normal plasma vitamin A, D, E, and Bcarotene concentrations, and these levels are not influenced by omega 3 fatty acid supplementation
- Healthy Omani school children have an optimal level of red blood cell omega 3 fatty acid, and this level does not change by increased oily fish consumption or with fish oil supplementation.

The genesis of NCDs starts from the uterine stage if the pregnant mother is underfed: undernutrition at early life determines disease in later life (Barker, 1995b). Numerous animal experiments have shown that undernutrition *in utero* leads to persisting changes in blood pressure, cholesterol metabolism, insulin response to glucose, and a range of other metabolic, endocrine and immune functions (Barker, 1998, Lucas, 1994). An undernourished foetus consumes its own substrates to provide energy (Harding and Johnston, 1995), whereas prolonged undernutrition slows growth, resulting in disproportionate organ size since organs and tissues grow rapidly at this stage. Undernutrition in late gestation may reduce the growth of the kidney which develops rapidly at that time (Hinchliffe et al., 1992, Widdowson et al., 1974). Likewise, foetal insulin, IGF and glucose concentrations fall, probably the effect of decreased maternal IGF in an under nourished mother. This leads to reduced transfer of amino acids and glucose from mother to foetus, and eventually reduced rates of foetal growth (Oliver et al., 1993). Foetal insulin and the insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) are thought to have a central role in the regulation of growth and respond rapidly to changes in foetal nutrition (Fowden, 1989), which leads to a rise in cortisol, which affects cell differentiation (Fowden, 1995).

Great progress has been made in preventing and managing communicable diseases worldwide. Risk factors such as high blood pressure, raised cholesterol, tobacco use, alcohol consumption, and overweight, coupled with poor economic and social conditions, create the perfect storm for many of the world's chronic diseases. If left unchecked, NCDs will continue to reduce global productivity, threaten quality of life, and cost trillions of dollars. Thankfully, systematic efforts to prevent NCDs, and ameliorate their burden, have now become part of a global health strategy (World Health Organization, 2008).

The development of atherosclerosis, which is an important risk factor in the development of cardiovascular disease, has also been found to begin in childhood and adolescence (McGill et al., 2000b), as do fatty streaks, although this progression is affected by several local mechanical forces on the blood vessel wall (Stary et al., 1994). As noted previously, these fatty streaks can become fibrous plaque as lipids accumulate into the streak. The fibrous plaque can then rupture, which causes thrombosis and cardiovascular disease or mortality. It has been found that all children have aortic fatty streaks, although fatty streaks themselves are not a clinical event (Holman et al., 1958b). McGill et al. (2008b) have argued that no level of risk factor control in adults will contribute to a 90% overall eradication of coronary heart disease, and this may be possible only by managing risk factors from childhood. Tejada et al. (1968) showed that the fatty streaks that developed in childhood became fibrous plaques and complicated lesions during the third and fourth decades of life. Another issue that is of particular importance to NCD risk factors in childhood is low birth weight. The Barker Hypothesis posits that children born with low birth-weight are at a greater risk for developing CHD (Barker and Osmond, 1986). More recent research has found that low birth-weight is a risk factor not only for CHD, but also for hypertension, increased insulin resistance, high fasting insulin levels and type 2 diabetes (Curhan et al., 1996a, Curhan et al., 1996b, Barker and Osmond, 1986). Researchers suggest this is due to 'programming' whereby a stimulus that occurs at critical developmental periods has permanent effects on the foetus throughout its postnatal life (De Boo and Harding, 2006).

1.7.2 Aim of the study

• To assess at baseline the omega-3 fatty acid, blood biochemistry and nutritional status of Omani school children and, whether supplementation of either fish or fish

oil capsules improves the omega-3 fatty acid status of children and their blood biochemistry.

1.7.3 Specific objectives

To test the above stated hypotheses:

- a) Macro- and micro-nutrient intake, body weight, height, body mass index, fat and muscle mass, fat-free mass, plasma triglycerides, plasma total cholesterol, LDL Cholesterol, HDL Cholesterol, blood pressure will be assessed.
- b) Behavioural abnormalities, specifically attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and its subtypes (predominantly inattentive, predominantly hyperactive/impulsive and/or ADHD combined inattention/hyperactivity) and associated risk factors such as birth weight, gestational age, parental consanguinity, age, educational level, occupation, income and will be examined.
- c) Plasma vitamin A, E and D and B- carotene concentrations will be determined before and after intervention with oily fish or docosahexaenoic acid enriched fish oil capsules for 12 weeks.
- d) Levels of red blood fatty acids, particularly omega-3 fatty acid index (docosahexaenoic and eicopentaenoic acids), will be analysed before and after intervention with oily fish or docosahexaenoic acid enriched fish oil capsules for 12 weeks.

CHAPTER 2: Methods

2.1 Subjects and Recruitment

2.1.1 Subjects and Sampling Strategy

Study area: The study was carried out in Muscat Governorate, Sultanate of Oman. The data were collected in the period from December 2012 till May 2013.

Target population: Male and female children aged 9-10 years in Grade 4.

Sampling frame: Following consultation with a statistician, a three stage sampling procedure was used to ensure representative samples of 9 and 10 year old children in Muscat Governorate. In the first stage, three (n=3) schools were randomly selected from the 39 schools in the Governorate. Next, the three schools were then randomly assigned to 'Fish Meal', 'Omega-3 capsule' or control group. Finally, in each of the selected schools, three classes of 9 and 10 year old children were randomly selected to receive the assigned intervention.

The three schools randomly selected for participation in this study were Waha School, Mashareq School and Ula School, which were randomly assigned interventions as follows:

- Students from Waha School were randomly assigned to receive the fish meal.
- Students from Mashareq School received the omega-3 fish oil capsule.
- The Ula School children did not receive fish meal or omega-3 fish oil capsule.

Of the population of 6,855 children aged 9 and 10 enrolled in the 39 schools in the Muscat Governorate, 354 (5.2%) were included in the study.



Figure 2-1: Subjects and Methodological Framework

2.1.2 Sample Size Calculation

Since there is no established data on the blood (red cell or plasma) fatty acids of Omani children, our calculation uses the red cell DHA of UK children which is 2.0 ± 0.70 (Matsudaira, 2010, Gow, 2012). We anticipate that:

- The consumption of fish or the provision of omega-3 fatty acid capsules four times a week for 12 weeks will enhance the DHA status of the children.
- The increase will vary due to absorption and metabolic differences between individual children.
- The mean DHA values of both groups (omega-3 supplement and fish meals) to increase to 2.4±0.70.

Based on these expectations, the sample size required to detect the increase with 80% power and a 95% (two-sided) confidence interval is forty-nine (n=49). However, since there is an indication that boys and girls metabolise fatty acids differently, it was necessary to enrol 49 boys and 49 girls. This raised the total number of children required to assess the effect of fish feeding on DHA status to ninety-eight (n=98). Similarly, another 49 boys and 49 girls (n=98) was required to test the efficacy of the omega-3 fatty acid capsules on the DHA status of the school children. With the addition of another 49 boys and 49 girls for the control group, the total required sample size was 294.

The research literature indicates that the rate of compliance of school children in nutritional studies is low. There is also evidence that some children may develop a strong aversion to fish after a few weeks of exposure to fishy foods. To compensate for these possibilities, we increased the number of subjects by 20% (n=60). Hence, the total number of children needed for the study was raised to three hundred and fifty four (n=354).

- *Inclusion criteria*: Male and female children aged 9-10 years who do not have any known hereditary or chronic medical conditions.
- *Exclusion criteria*: Children with a known hereditary or chronic medical condition that requires medication or who suffer from a fish or shell fish allergy.

2.2 Ethical Approval and Consent

Ethical approval was obtained from the Ministry of Health of Oman (Ref. MH/DGP/R&S/Proposal_Approved/8/2012) (Appendix 4), UK National Health Service Ethics Committee and London Metropolitan University Ethics Committee.

A written informed consent was obtained from the parents or guardians of all the children who participated in the study. Participating children and their parents were also assured that withdrawal at any stage of the study was permissible and would not carry any negative consequence. The consent forms explained the details of the study, as directed by the Ethical Committee of the Ministry of Health in Oman (see Annex 3). Each eligible and willing child was then invited by the author and school nurse to the school's clinic – to be accompanied by at least one parent – where the author explained the study in more detail, including the mode and duration of the intervention. A thorough history and clinical examination, for the collection of baseline measurements, were also made at this time (see Annex 4).

2.3 Intervention

Fish or fish oil capsule was given to the children at lunch time in school.

- Fish lunch: Fish were selected from the local markets depending upon their availability and popularity among Omanis, such as Emperor, Grouper, King Fish, Red Snapper and Yellowfin Tuna. Fish meals were prepared by various methods, either grilled or steamed to enhance compliance and were provided to the pupils at school once daily (mid-day break) four days a week for 3 months (12 weeks). Food was prepared by one of the selected caterers in Muscat and in accordance with the Muscat Municipality or Consumer Protection Agency regulations and HACCP standards. Each serving consisted of 100-150g of fish. This amount was estimated to provide 200-250 mg omega-3 fatty acids, depending on the species of fish.
- Omega-3 oil capsule: One omega-3 oil capsule containing 200-250mg omega-3 fatty acid (docosahexaenoic acid) was given to the school children once daily, four days a week for 12 weeks.

2.3.1 Determination of DHA Content in the Fish

Fish were selected from the local markets depending upon their availability and popularity among Omanis. The quantity of DHA in the fish was then determined in order to select fish best suited for the study. These were Emperor, Red Sea Bream, Striped Bonito, Grouper, Mackerel, Sardine, King Fish and Long Tail Tuna, which are all commonly found in local markets and consumed in Oman.



Figure 2-2: Quantity of DHA (mg) in 100 gram of uncooked fish with and without skin

The concentration of DHA ranged between 135 mg and 572 mg per 100 grams of uncooked fish without skin (Figure 2-3). Of the eight fish analysed, the varieties found to contain the most significant levels of DHA were Striped Bonito, Mackerel, Long Tail Tuna and particularly King Fish. The amount of DHA in skinned fish (raw) was slightly higher than in un-skinned fish (raw), which suggests that eating fish with skin would provide more DHA.

Similarly, 100 gram of grilled fish would provide 200–1200 mg of DHA depending on the type of fish, due to the loss of water (Figure 2-3).



Figure 2-3: Quantity of DHA (mg) in 100 gram of grilled fish with and without skin

2.3.2 Preparation of the Fish Meals

The fish were filleted and grilled with a minimal use of salt, cooking oil and other condiments. 100 mg of grilled fish fillet was used in each meal. Trial recipes were tested by fifty children from the three schools.



Figure 2-4: Fish used in the study

2.3.3 Omega-3 Fish Oil Capsule

The omega-3 fish oil capsules used for study were provided by Efamol Limited (14 The Mole Business Park, Leatherhead, Surrey KT22 7BA, UK). One capsule contained 403 mg of DHA and 53 mg of EPA.



Company website: www.efamol.com

2.4 Assessment of Habitual Diet, Blood Profile, Anthropometric and Body Composition, and Cognitive Function

Before the intervention, baseline measures were assessed for dietary intake, body composition, cognitive, and behavioural function of the participating children. In addition, fasting blood samples were obtained for various biochemical analyses.

2.4.1 Habitual Diet

A food frequency questionnaire and a 24-hour dietary recall was developed in close coordination with the Ministry of Health and London Metropolitan University to measure fish consumption and other food items commonly used in the Omani diet. Children or their parents were asked to recall detailed information about everything they had to eat and drink over the past 24-hour period. Quantities consumed were estimated using calibrated cups and other standard units of weight or volume (e.g., 1 apple, a packet of biscuits, a can of soda). Questionnaires were completed during work days to avoid including data from the weekends. The Food Processor software version 10.2 (ESHA Research, Salem, OR, USA) was used to calculate the means of daily nutrient intakes (carbohydrates, protein, fats and total energy intake).

2.4.2 Anthropometric and Body Composition

Measurements of weight, height, waist circumference and percentage body fat were taken by the author and two dieticians from the Ministry of Health. The standard operating procedure of the Ministry of Health was followed for all measurements.

Weight was measured to the nearest 100g using a UNISCALE, with the subject in light clothing without shoes. Height was measured using Shorr measuring boards (C.M.S. Weighing Equipments Ltd. London). The subject was measured with socks and shoes removed, standing upright with feet together in the centre of the base plate.
Height (m) was measured to the nearest 0.1 cm. Values of weight and height were then used to calculate BMI (Kg/m²) values. BMI z-scores were extracted using BMI, decimal age, and gender, allowing for a comparison of BMI with WHO's 2007 standard (overweight: z score >1 SD, and obesity : z-score >2 SD) (de Onis et al., 2007).

Waist circumference was measured using a flexible, inelastic tape measure on the horizontal plane 4 cm above the umbilicus with the abdominal muscle relaxed and the subject breathing shallowly (Rudolf et al., 2007). Waist circumference is a measurement of central fat mass which contributes to the development of impaired lipid profile, high blood pressure, and metabolic complications (Reilly et al., 2010, Reilly and Kelly, 2010, McCarthy et al., 2005).

Skin-fold thickness was measured in triplicate at the left side of the body to the nearest 0.1 mm with Harpenden skin-fold calliper.

Body composition (fat-, muscle-, and bone-mass) was measured by using a Body Composition Analyser (Tanita, SC-331S) with subjects in light clothing without shoes.

2.4.3 Socio-Demographic Characteristics

Socio-demographic characteristics including age, gender, residential status, medical family history, vitamins or nutritional supplements, monthly income, parental occupation, and parental educational level were collected during personal interviews with the children's parent. In addition, birth weight, length, gestational age and medical history for all enrolled children were compiled from their health cards.

2.5 Collection of Biological Samples

For each school, the nearest Primary Health Centre or Polyclinic was identified as responsible for sample processing.

2.5.1 Blood sampling

The author was responsible for collecting all blood samples, and also responsible for ensuring their proper transport to the processing laboratory within 2-3 hours. The supplies needed for field collection of biological specimens were assembled and prepared in advance. For each field day, a total of 23-25 kits were prepared in advance.

School children of 9-10 years of age (grade 4) were asked to come after fasting overnight (about 10 hours).

A paediatric tourniquet was applied and a vacutainer device was used to collect about 17 ml blood from each student: 5 ml on a 5ml red capped plain gel-separating tube, and 12 ml whole anti-coagulated blood divided in 3 EDTA tubes (purple-capped) each having 4 ml blood. The EDTA blood was immediately mixed by repeated inversion to prevent clotting by mixture with the anticoagulant; blood in the plain tube was left to clot for about 10 minutes, then centrifuged for 5 min at a speed of 3,000 rpm until the gel separated the serum (above) from the clotted blood (below).

The data for each student was entered into the computer system including Full name, age, date of birth, sex, nationality, and any relevant past medical history. Blood samples of each student were labelled with a sticker that included all relevant personal data and then put into a single collection bag.

All collection bags for blood were then placed in an envelope which was then put in a cool box with an ice pack and immediately delivered to Royal Hospital Lab for further processing.

The blood collection took place on a clean absorbent pad, and standard laboratory safety and hygiene procedures were followed. The blood was collected and transferred into vacutainer tubes and immediately labelled.

2.5.2 Transport and Storage of Samples

To ensure the proper transport of human biological products, the following cold chain was maintained (Table 2-1):

		Venues	in the Cold	Chain	
	Polyclinic/ Health Centre	Vehicle	Royal Hospital	Laboratories	Shipment via DHL
Procedures	Blood drawing; centrifuge to separate serum Storage until shipped to Lab	Transport to Royal Hospital		Analyses	Some samples sent to London Metropolitan University Laboratory
Packaging	Cool boxes or Styrofoam, with frozen cool packs	Styrofoam boxes with frozen cool packs	Freezer	Freezers	Cool boxes and dry ice
Temp.	Less or equal to 10°C	Less than or equal to 10°C	-20°C to- 40°C	-20 to -40°C	Less than or equal to -20°C
Duration	2-3 hours	20 minutes	3 months	Until all analyses completed	24-48 hours

Table 2-1: Cold Chain to ensure the proper transport of human biological products

2.5.3 The Royal Hospital Laboratories

The blood samples were processed at the Royal Hospital laboratories as follows (Table 2-2) by the author who was supervised by a specialised lab technician :

Table 2-2: Procedure for Blood Sample Processing

	Procedure for Separating <u>Red Blood Cells</u> and <u>Plasma</u>
Step 1	Spin whole blood as follows;• Speed:1500 g• Duration:10 min• Temp.:4°C
Step 2	Transfer 1.0 ml supernatant (Plasma) into 1.5 ml (or 2 ml) Eppendorf tubes (labelled). Prepare as many aliquots as possible without discarding any sample.
Step 3	Add equal volume of normal saline (0.9%) into the remaining red blood cells and repeat STEP 1.
Step 4	Discard supernatant and repeat STEP 3.
Step 5	Discard supernatant and then transfer 1.0ml of red blood cells into 1.5 ml (or 2 ml) Eppendorf tubes (labelled). Prepare as many aliquots as possible without discarding any sample.
Step 6	Store the samples at -20°C freezer until transport to London Metropolitan University (UK).

2.5.4 Blood Lipid Profile and Vitamins

A validated method approved by the Ministry of Health was used to determine triacylglycerol, total-, HDL, LDL and VLDL-cholesterol, and vitamin D. The analysis was carried out at the Royal Hospital.

Plasma vitamin A and vitamin E and beta carotene analyses – An aliquot of 200 µL of plasma in duplicate was used for analysis. The plasma was deproteinised with 4 ml of absolute ethanol and vortexing thoroughly for three minutes. Subsequently, 10 ml of hexane was added to the plasma-ethanol mixture, vortexed for three minutes and then centrifuged at 1200 g, 4°C, for ten minutes. The top organic layer containing the required analytes was carefully transferred to another tube, dried at 30° C under a gentle stream of nitrogen, suspended in 1000 µL of methanol containing 0.01% butylated hydroxytoluene. An aliquot of 50 µL was then taken for analysis. The target analytes (retinol, alpha-tocopherol and beta-carotene) were separated by an Agilent 1100 high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) system (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany) with the use of a 5 micron C18 reverse-phase column, 150 X 4.6 mm (HiChrom Limited UK). The analytes were eluted with 100% HPLC grade methanol at a flow rate of 2 ml/min and detected with a diode array UV/Vis detector (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany). Vitamin A, vitamin E and beta-carotene were detected at 325 nm (1.5 min), 292 nm (4.8 min) and 453 nm (30 min). Concentrations were determined from a standard curve computed with the use of ChemStation (Agilent Technologies, Waldbronn, Germany).

Plasma triglycerides – Concentration of plasma triglycerides was determined enzymatically (Glycerol phosphate oxidase assay) based on the method described by Fossati and Prencipe (1982) and McGowan et al. (1983) with the use of a reagent kit supplied by Abbot Laboratories (Ref: 7D74-21, 304350/R1, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany).

Plasma cholesterol – The enzymatic method (cholesterol esterase-cholesterol oxidase-eroxidase) described by Roeschlau and Allain (Roeschlau et al., 1974, Allain et al., 1974) with a reagent kit obtained from Abbott Laboratories (Ref: 7D62-21, 304342/R1, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany) was used to analyse total cholesterol.

Vitamin D (25-hydroxy vitamin D) - Plasma total vitamin D, 25-hydroxylated cholecalciferol (vitamin D3) and ergocalciferol (vitamin D2) was determined with a

competitive electrochemiluminescence (ecl) protein binding assay (Abdel-Wareth et al., 2013) using the Cobas e 601 immunoassay auto-analyser and reagents obtained from Roche Diagnostics (Sandhoferstrasse, Mannheim, Germany).

Parathyroid Hormone (PTH) – Intact plasma PTH was quantified by Architect Intact PTH assay, a two-step chemiluminescent microparticle immunoassay (cmia) using the automatic immunoassay analyser ARCHITECT i2000SR (Abbott, Abbott Park, IL, USA) and reagents from Abbott Diagnostics (Ref: 8K25, 84-6434/R5, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany).

Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) – ALP was measured on an Architect c8000 analyser (Abbot Diagnostics, Abbot Park, II, USA) with a reagent kit supplied by Abbott Diagnostics (Ref: 7D61-20, 30-3979/RS, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany).

Calcium - Plasma total calcium was determined with the use of an Architect c8000 analyser (Abbot Diagnostics, Abbot Park, Il, USA) with the Arsenazo III dye binding method and a reagent kit from Abbott Diagnostics (Ref: 7D61-20, 30-3979/RS, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany).

Phosphate – Plasma inorganic phosphate was analysed based on the Molybdenum blue colorimetric method with a reagent kit obtained from Abbott Laboratories (Ref: 7D71-20 and 7D71-30, 30-3926//R5, Abbott, Max-Planck-Ring 2, 65205 Wiesbaden, Germany) using the ARCHITECT c8000 auto-analyser (Abbott, Abbot Park, IL. USA).

2.5.5 Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid

Blood samples were separated into plasma and red blood cells by cold (4°C) centrifugation at 1500g for 10 min. After removing supernatant (plasma) to a 1.5 ml eppendorf tube, the remaining red cells were washed with saline (0.9%) twice and transferred to another tube. This initial stage of sample preparation was carried out at the Royal Hospital, Oman. The prepared plasma and red blood cells were then transported to the LNRC laboratory and kept in a -70°C freezer until analysis.

For the analysis at LNRC, the total red cell lipid was extracted by the method of Folch et al. (1957a) and fatty acid methyl esters were separated using a gas-liquid chromatograph (HRGC MEGA 2 Series; Fisons Instruments, Milan, Italy) fitted with a BP20 capillary column (25m x 0.32 mm i.d., 0.25µm film). Hydrogen was used as a

carrier gas and the injector, oven, and detector temperatures were maintained at 250, 200, and 280°C, respectively. The fatty acid methyl esters were identified by comparing retention time with authentic standards. Peak areas were quantified by a computer chromatography data system (EZChrom Chromatography Data System; Scientific Software, Inc., San Ramon, CA).

2.6 Cognitive, Emotional, and Behavioural Assessment Methods

2.6.1 The Vanderbilt Test

An Arabic version of the National Initiative for Children's Health Quality Vanderbilt Assessment Scales-Teacher Assessment Scale (NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales) was used (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2008, Pliszka and AACAP Work Group on Quality Issues, 2007). The Teacher Assessment Scale of the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales has 55 questions divided into two sections soliciting information about 'symptoms' and 'performance'. The SYMPTOMS section contains 47 items divided into various sub-sections: items 1-18 tap into the symptoms of ADHD, items 19-26 tap into symptoms of oppositional defiant disorder, items 27-40 quantify the presence of Oppositional-Defiant/Conduct disorders and items 41-47 solicit the presence of Anxiety/Depression. Symptoms scales are rated as follows: never = 0, occasionally = 1, often = 2, very often = 3. The teacher is instructed to circle only one of the numbers on the scale.

The PERFORMANCE section measures the level of impairment regarding Academic Performance (reading, mathematics and written expression) and Classroom Behavioural Performance (relationships with peers, following directions/rules, disrupting class, assignment completion and organizational skills). Performance scales are rated as: excellent = 1, above average = 2, average = 3, somewhat of a problem = 4, problematic = 5. The formula for scoring NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales has been detailed elsewhere (Wamithi et al., 2015).

The following symptoms were the focus of the present study: the predominantly inattentive subtype of ADHD (PIS), Predominantly Hyperactive/Impulsive subtype (PHIS), ADHD Combined Inattention/Hyperactivity (ADHDCIH), Oppositional-Defiant/Conduct Disorders and Anxiety/Depression. The research team explained to teachers how to complete the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales, and were explicitly instructed to base their answers in reference to the child's behaviour over a six month period (see Appendix 2).

2.7 Quality Assurance Methods and Procedures

To ensure the quality of the data and resulting analysis, the data were checked during the process of data collection; during the data entry phase, a double entry verification process was followed; and once entered, the data were managed and cleaned by the author. The questionnaires were validated during the pilot phase of this research.

2.7.1 Quality Assurance and Data Management after the data analysis

To ensure the quality of data collection, team members were provided with the field manual, and were advised to follow it strictly. The field supervisor of each team was responsible for reviewing the questionnaires immediately after the interview in the school. All questionnaires were checked for consistency and accuracy by the author.

Data entry files that included consistency checks were prepared on EPI6, and the data of all questionnaires were entered twice by two separate data entry personnel. The duplicate files were run on the validate module of EPI6 software and the errors as well as the missing values were corrected by referring back to the hardcopy questionnaires.

The frequencies and cross tabulations of all relevant variables were then run, in order to detect any inconsistencies and corrected from the initial interview questionnaires.

2.8 Data Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed using SPSSS version 21 by the author with assistance of a statistician. Data were checked for normality, and all data were expressed as "mean and standard deviation" or "median and range".

Continuous variable data collected at baseline and at the end of the intervention period (for all three groups: Fish meal, Omega 3 and Control) were evaluated using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post hoc analysis. Chi-square (χ^2) tests was used for comparing categorical variables, while non-parametric variables was assessed with the Kruskal-Wallis test or Fisher's exact test. *P* < 0.05 was used as a measure of statistical significance.

Intervention effects was investigated with the Analysis of Covariance Model (ANCOVA). Associations between red blood cell DHA and the other assessed (measured) variables including cognitive function and learning scores will be evaluated using Pearson or Spearman correlations, depending on the normality of the variables.

Variable that are not normally distributed was transformed before statistical analysis is undertaken, and corrections will be made for multiple testing except when it is inappropriate to do so. The analyses was conducted on intention-to-treat basis and multiple imputation was used to correct for missing data.

The data are expressed as mean and standard deviation (S.D.). Independent (unpaired) and paired t-tests, respectively, were used to determine statistical significance between the genders at baseline and between pre- and post-intervention within gender. Group comparison was performed with a one-way ANOVA, and Boneferroni post hoc test when a significant difference is indicated. Differences were considered significant if the p value was less than 0.05. All analyses were carried out with SPSS version 21 (IBM SPSS, IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA).

CHAPTER 3: Dietary Intake and Body Composition of Preadolescent Children in Oman

3.1 Introduction

Over the last four decades, the Gulf Countries have undergone a drastic socioeconomic transformation. In Oman, the per-capita GDP rose 30-fold between 1970 and 2005, from 158 Omani Rials (OMR) to 4,712 OMR, bringing with it all the promises of modern civilization. This 35-year span marked a period of remarkable growth and changes in Omani society accompanied by transitions in demography, epidemiology, and nutrition.

The demographic changes have been profound. The population more than quadrupled, increasing from 732,000 in 1970 to 3.2 million in 2013. During the same period, the Total Fertility Rate (by UN Estimates) dropped from 7.41 to 2.52, while life expectancy at birth rose from 51 years in 1970 to 73 years in 2011. These massive changes were due in large part to a significant reduction in the mortality rates of under five year old children (U5MR) from 48 deaths of under-five year olds per 1000 live births in 1990, to 22 in 2000, and 9 in 2011. Predictably, with this change in life expectancy, the demographic profile of Oman has changed, as well: in 1970, 46.4% of the population was under the age of 15 years; in 2010 only 27.2% was in this young age group.

This dramatic shift has led to the emergence of a double burden of disease: diarrheal disease, maternal complications, and several communicable diseases still remain a problem, but cardiovascular disease, hypertension, diabetes, cancers and chronic kidney disease are all on the rise. The burden of non-communicable diseases has now become quite substantial as shown in Figure 3-1: among the most affluent Arab Countries, Oman has the second highest disease burden and a significant problem with diabetes. Infectious diseases are no longer dominant. Increasingly, chronic NCDs characterize Oman's major health problems as the population now lives long enough to contract them (Rahim et al., 2014a).

The double burden of disease that characterizes this epidemiological transition is mirrored in the double burden of malnutrition that is key to the nutritional transition: during this period of development, evidence of undernutrition (in the form of stunting, underweight, wasting or micronutrient deficiency) now coexists with measures of overnutrition (in the form of overweight or obesity).



Figure 3-1: Death Rates from NCDs in Arab Countries

In other words, the drastic socio-economic changes, accompanied by rapid urbanization, have also witnessed an increase in a sedentary lifestyle and the adoption of a Western diet. Regrettably, this pattern of physical inactivity and the adoption of a Western diet, and perhaps genetic susceptibility, is in large part responsible for the exponential increase in the prevalence of non-communicable diseases (NCDs), such as coronary heart disease, stroke and type-2 diabetes in adults, as well as obesity in children, adolescents and adults (Rahim et al., 2014a, Kilpi et al., 2014, Al-Lawati et al., 2012). Consistent with the aforementioned reports, a comprehensive Oman-wide community household survey conducted in 2008 (Al Riyami et al., 2012) found a prevalence of 40.3% hypertension, 12.3% diabetes, 21.4% obesity and 33.6% elevated blood cholesterol.

The factors behind the rapid globalisation of the Western diet are diverse and complex (Pingali, 2007). However, in the case of Oman, the liberalisation of food imports from developed countries to meet the rising demand associated with the spectacular increase in income and wealth, the proliferation of hypermarkets and fast food restaurants, creative food product marketing and promotional strategies, and a general lack of awareness of the health problems associated with a high calorie density with elevated levels of saturated fats and refined sugars seems to have contributed significantly to the widespread consumption of Western foods. Although a comprehensive study has not yet been conducted to evaluate the frequency of fast food consumption by Omani children and adolescents, anecdotal evidence and casual observations and consistent with the reports from other parts of the Arab world and other countries (Musaiger, 1987a, Chakar and Salameh, 2006, Al-Hazzaa et al., 2011, Musaiger et al., 2011a, Allafi et al., 2014, Al-Haifi et al., 2013). Pingali (2007) suggests that fast food meals are more popular among younger age groups than in adults, and there is evidence that childhood dietary habits persist into adult life (Mikkilä et al., 2004, Ventura and Worobey, 2013b); furthermore, non-communicable chronic diseases have also been demonstrated to originate in early life (Holman, 1961, McNamara et al., 1971, Newman et al., 1986, Barker, 1995a, McGill et al., 2009a).

The typical Western diet is composed of calorie dense foods that are high in glycaemic index carbohydrates, total fat and saturated, trans- and omega-6 fatty acids, and low in omega-3 fatty acids and essential vitamins and trace elements (Cordain et al., 2005a, Hintze et al., 2012, Myles, 2014, USDA, 2002). Hence, the propensity of Omani children to develop Western food habits should be of concern due to the potential negative impact of such habits should be of concern due to the potential negative impact of such habits should be of concern due to the potential negative impact of such habits should be of concern due to the potential negative impact of such foods on growth and development, cognitive ability and behavioural competence (Nyaradi et al., 2013, Nyaradi et al., 2014) and the manifestation of NCDs in later life (Popkin, 2006, Cordain et al., 2005a, Moghaddam et al., 2007, Misra et al., 2010, Carrera-Bastos et al., 2011b). Numerous studies have also assessed the relationship between energy and nutrient intake and adiposity in children (Jennings et al., 2012, Kovalskys et al., 2013, Campbell et al., 2006, Walton et al., 2015, Tsiountsioura et al., 2014, Maffeis et al., 2009, Musaiger et al., 2011a, Washi and Ageib, 2010).

Until recently, the focus of nutritional research in Oman has been the prevention of maternal and infant undernutrition, malnutrition and the deficiency of nutrients - such as protein, calcium, iron vitamin A, iodine and folate - which were once prevalent in the Country. As such, there are no comprehensive published data pertaining to the critical role of a balanced diet for optimal cognitive, emotional and physical growth of children and the prevention of NCDs in adults. Also, there is no comprehensive data assessed the dietary habits and intake of the pre-school children. As such, the current study was conducted to assess the dietary intake, body composition and blood lipid profile of preadolescent children.

3.2 The Current Nutritional Situation in Oman

Oman has experienced remarkable improvements in health and nutrition indicators, especially for women and children, such that WHO ranked it among the top 10 member countries in its 2000 World Health Report (WHO, 2000). UNICEF has also reported on the significance of Oman's progress, noting that the under-five mortality rate (U5MR) has decreased from 48 (1990), to 22 (2000) and 9 (2011), representing a reduction of 82% since 1990 and 60% since 2000. The progress marked by these indicators are matched by a rise in life expectancy rates from 51 years (1970) to 76 years (2012) (Ministry of Health, 2012). Despite these signs of remarkable progress, however, there are other markers that suggest that these improvements are far from uniform or complete. Rates of anaemia illustrate this, although reportedly only in a mild form: 42.7% in pregnant women, 34% in non-pregnant women, and 50.5% in preschool children (DoN-DGHA, 2009).

In light of the radical and abrupt demographic and nutritional transitions in Oman during the past thirty-five years, and these measures of uneven progress, it is especially important to maintain an up-to-date and comprehensive portrait of the population's current nutritional status, particularly as it relates to the increased disease burden associated with NCDs. The following provides an overview of the most important features of such a portrait.

Monitoring of malnutrition among Omani school children was first initiated in 2002 (Abdou et al., 2010). Since then, students in Grades 1, 7 and 10 have been screened as part of the annual school health examination. The proportion of underweight children in grade 1 has shown a steady decline from 16.5% in 2002 to 10.8% in 2007, which is consistent with data from health centres for younger children (ages 0-5 years old). The proportion of underweight children in grade 7 follows the same pattern. Adolescents in grade 10 seem to have less underweight children, although there was also a counter-trend towards an increasing proportion of students who are overweight or obese (Abdou et al., 2010).

3.2.1 Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs)

The same conditions of an improved socio-economic status, and accompanying changes in lifestyle to a more sedentary existence, the importation of high caloric density processed foods, an urban environment with poor access to parks or other areas for exercise that contribute to a lack of physical activity, etc., are conditions found in many of the Arab countries, particularly member states of the Gulf Cooperation Council (UNICEF, 2010). The recent *Lancet* series on the health of Arab countries places Oman as second only to the United Arab Emirates in deaths from non-communicable diseases.

The planning section of the Ministry of Health has produced evidence which confirms that Oman now has one of the highest rates of death from cardiac disease among the more affluent Middle East countries, and indeed the world. This problem is predicted to escalate along with an increase in diabetes and other co-morbidities of the metabolic syndrome (Mokdad et al., 2014). Cancer rates are also predicted to increase, as highlighted by the International Agency in their report for World Cancer Day (Falkner et al., 1994). In addition, the societal burden associated with NCDs will continue to grow as the demographic transition continues, and as life expectancy increases. Other countries facing similar trends have experienced a decline in work efficiency from absenteeism due to disease, while premature deaths from coronary heart disease and diabetes contribute to greater DALYs. This increasing trend is a major concern in Oman where cardiovascular diseases and cancer are the two leading causes of hospital deaths, totalling 32.5% and 9.9%, respectively. The prevalence of diabetes among adults has increased by nearly 50% since 1991 and now stands at 12.3% (World Health Organization, 2011b).

3.2.2 Physical Activity and Dietary Behaviours

A large portion of NCDs are preventable through the reduction of four key behavioural risk factors, namely: unhealthy diet, physical inactivity, tobacco use, and alcohol abuse. The prevalence of the first three of these key risks is of primary concern. Nearly 70% (69.8%) of Omani adults eat less than 5 servings of fruit and vegetables per day and 40% are physically inactive; in addition, 14.7% of men smoke. Low daily fruit and vegetable intake and physical inactivity are also a concern for younger populations: 75.3% and 84.3%, respectively, among 13-15 year-old students and 87.6% and 50%, respectively, among college students. In addition, tobacco use among male college students is higher than among men in general; 17.3% smoke cigarettes and 13.2% use shisha.

The Oman Global School Based Student Health Survey (2010) showed that 41.6% of the sample usually ate fruit two or more times per day, while 17.9% usually ate vegetables three or more times per day. Nearly half of the sample ate breakfast most of the time, while nearly one half of students consumed carbonated soft drinks one or more times per day. Almost one quarter of surveyed students (24.1%) ate fast food. As for physical activity, 22.7% of the students in the sample were physically active five or more days per week for a total of 60 minutes. This behaviour was more predominant in males than females (Abdou et al., 2010).

Along similar lines, a health survey of adolescents, conducted by the government in 2004, found that only 45% of 13-15 year olds had breakfast on a regular basis. Furthermore, the Global Health Survey (2004) identified a number of additional behaviours among this age group that could lead to overweight and obesity: the consumption of fast foods, sugary drinks, high consumption of crisps and carbonated drinks. The 2010 Global School-Health Student Survey reported similar findings: of the students included in the sample, 45.1% ate breakfast most of the time, with a significant difference between boys (55.8%) and girls (35.8%). The survey also found that 18.2% ate vegetables three or more times a day (boys 19.6%; girls 16.5%), and 42% ate fruit two or more times a day (boys 46.6%, girls 38.5%) (Abdou et al., 2010).

The Global School-Health Student Survey, in both 2005 and 2010, identified the importance of physical activity throughout the lifespan to maintain normal weight and to prevent the onset of chronic disease, also noting that habits formed in youth continue through to adulthood. In 2010, however, only 22.7% of all students were physically active for a total of at least 60 minutes per day on five or more days in a week. This represented a significant decrease from the survey's 2005 results, where that measure was 75.5%. According to the same survey, girls (15.9%) were half as active as boys (29.0%). The survey also found that two-thirds of the students did not walk or ride a bicycle to school the previous week (Abdou et al., 2010).

Preliminary results of a 2009 Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices (KAP) study conducted among students in Universities, College and Higher Institutes showed a noticeable gap between knowledge and behaviour related to diet: knowledge about the importance of breakfast, and about increasing the proportion of vegetables and fruits in the diet, was quite high, while behaviour consistent with that knowledge was very low. Furthermore, 45% of the sample mentioned eating fast food 3 or more days during the previous week and 66% ate fast food 1-2 times per day (MOH, 2009). The reasons underlying this gap between knowledge and healthy dietary behaviour were as follows: lack of time (44%); unavailability of healthy food (32%); insufficient knowledge (31%); social pressure (27.6%); insufficient skills to buy and prepare healthy foods (24%); do not enjoy healthy food (19.2%) and high cost of health foods (17.8%).

The same gap between knowledge and practice was found in regard to the importance of physical activity, with the percentage of females who demonstrated adequate levels of physical activity being half of that found in males. On the other hand, it was found that the percentage of students who walk was high (83.5%) when compared with the proportion that is sedentary for more than two hours a day (28.7%). The main challenges and difficulties for not practicing physical activity were: lack of time (53.5%), accessibility of places to practice (48.7%), weather conditions (46.8%) and social network support (34.2%).

3.3 Methods and Analysis

Sample: A total of 354 school children aged 9 and 10 in the Muscat Governorate were included in the study's sample using a three-stage sampling procedure, and only 222 of them were completed their dietary intake data.

Measurements: baseline measures were assessed for dietary intake, body composition, and cognitive/behavioural function of the participating children. In addition, fasting blood samples were obtained for various biochemical analyses. Dietary intake was assessed using a food frequency and a 24-hour dietary recall questionnaire. Both the instrument and procedure is described in Chapter 2 section 2.4.1. The procedures used to assess and analyse the blood profile, anthropometric and body composition of students is described in Chapter 2 sections 2.4.2 - 2.7.1.

Analysis: Continuous variable data collected at baseline and at the end of the intervention period (for all three groups) were evaluated using analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a post hoc analysis. Chi-square (χ^2) tests were used for categorical variables, while non-parametric variables were assessed with the Kruskal-Wallis test or Fisher's exact test. Statistical significance was established using *P* < 0.05. The procedures used are described more fully in Chapter 2 section 2.8.

3.4 Research Findings

3.4.1 Birth Characteristics of Children and their Families

The foetal birth measures of the children and the socio-demographic characteristics of their parents are presented in Table 3-1. Of the total sample of children, 11% were delivered by caesarean section and 3% and 1% of them were low birth weight and pre-term delivery children, respectively. Among these measures, there is no appreciable difference by gender, either clinically or epidemiologically. With respect to antenatal history of the mothers, 11% were diagnosed with gestational diabetes while 0.6%, 7% and 5% were diagnosed with Type 2 Diabetes, hypertension and iron deficiency anaemia, respectively. In all, 70% of the mothers were absent of any illness during their antenatal period.

On average, the children's birth weight was $3.1 (\pm 0.5)$ kg and their birth length was $50 (\pm 5)$ cm. Of all the children, 58% had parents who were unrelated, 28% were of first degree consanguineous marriage, while the rest (15%) were of second degree consanguineous marriage. In terms of education, 42% of the mothers were high school graduates while 23% studied up to primary school; among the fathers, 55% were high school graduates and 16% studied up to primary school. In terms of employment, 55% of the mothers were housewives, while 29% and 10% worked in the public and private sectors, respectively. Among the fathers, 34% and 31% worked in the public and private sectors, respectively. Overall, 40% of the children were from low income families while 20% were from high income families.

3.4.2 Macronutrients

Table 3-2 presents the mean (sd) of baseline daily macronutrient intake as compared to the daily recommended intake (DRI) (Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, 2005). In terms of daily caloric intake, both boys and girls fall below the DRI, although their intake levels remain within one standard deviation of the mean. The daily consumption of calories from fat, however, falls well below the recommended range of 25-35% of total recommended calories (550-750 Kcal), with a sample average of 389.5 \pm 157.9. Daily Recommended Intake levels for unsaturated and saturated fats, trans fatty acid and other fats were not available for purposes of comparison.

In contrast, data for the intake of protein and carbohydrates indicate that students in the sample consumed more than the minimal daily recommended levels. For protein, the DRI is 136 Kcals, which is significantly lower than found in our study sample (231.0 \pm 68.5). Similarly, the DRI for carbohydrates is 520 Kcals, which is also significantly lower than the level of daily carbohydrate intake found in our sample (790.4 \pm 327.4). Total sugar intake was much lower than the recommended maximum, which should be no more than 25% of the total recommended number of calories consumed per day (540 Kcal). In our sample, the mean intake of sugar was measured at 313.5 \pm 197.0 Kcal.

The most important measures for this study, however, relate to the intake of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids. The DRI for omega-3 fatty acids is between 108-207 Kcal or 5-10% of total recommended calories consumed per day. In our study's sample, the average daily intake of omega-3 fatty acids was 4.2 ± 0.2 Kcal. The DRI for omega-6 fatty acids, on the other hand, is between 13-26 Kcal, or 0.6-1.2% of total calories, significantly lower than the recommended level. In our study's sample, the average daily intake of omega-6 fatty acids was 27.0 ± 1.4 Kcal. In other words, the consumption of fatty acids by the students in our sample was more adequate for omega-6 than for omega-3 fatty acids.

		Male (86)	Female (136)	Total (222)
Natal history (%)	Caesarean Section	13	9	11
	Low Birth Weight	5	2	3
	Preterm Baby	0.00	2	1
	Normal	78	85	82
Antenatal history (%)	Gestational Diabetes	10	12	11
	Diabetes type 2	0.00	1.00	0.60
	Hypertension	12	4	7
	Iron Defeciency Anemia	5	5	5
	Other	5	8	7
	Normal	67	71	70
Birth weight (kg)		3.1±0.5	3.1±0.5	3.1±0.5
Birth length (cm)		50±5	50±5	50±5
Consanguinity (%)	First degree	33	25	28
	Second degree	15	14	15
	No relationship	52	61	58
Mother Education(%)	Primary	27	20	23
	Secondary	29	39	35
	Graduate	44	41	42
Father Education(%)	Primary	16	16	16
	Secondary	34	26	29
	Graduate	50	58	55
Mother Occupation (%)	Public sector	31	27	29
	Private sector	12	8	10
	Military sector	1	4	3
	Freelancers	1	0.70	0.90
	Retired	0.00	4	3
	Housewife	55	55	55
Father Occupation (%)	Public sector	30	36	34
	Private sector	37	27	31
	Military sector	17	19	18
	Freelancers	2	5	4
	Retired	11	11	11
	Do not work	2	3	3
Family Income(%)	Low Income	39	40	40
	Medium Income	44	38	40
	High Income	17	22	20

Table 3-1: Foetal birth dimension and parental socioeconomic characteristics

Variables	Mean ± SD	DRI (9- 13 Years)
Calories (kcal)	1761.4 ± 401.5 (B)	2279 (B*)
	1709.0 ± 380.4 (G)	2071 (G*)
Calories from Fat (kcal)	389.5 ± 157.9	550-750 Kcal (25- 35% of total)
Fat (Kcal)	315.3 ± 131.2	ND
Saturated Fat (kcal)	129.0 ± 62.5	As low as possible while consuming a nutritionally adequate diet
Unsaturated Fat (Kcal)	184.6 ± 87.5	-
Trans Fatty Acid (kcal)	1.8 ± 2.8	As low as possible
Other Fat (Kcal)	4.3 ± 3.9	-
Protein (kcal)	231.0 ± 68.5	136
Carbohydrates (Kcal)	790.4 ± 327.4	520
Total Sugars (Kcal)	313.5 ± 197.0	< 540 Kcal (no more than 25% of total)
Monosaccharides (Kcal)	20.5 ± 65.6	-
Disaccharides (Kcal)	36.3 ± 34.2	-
Other Carbs (Kcal)	420.1 ± 201.0	-
Dietary Fiber (g)	19.6 ± 9.4	31(B), 26 (G)
Soluble Fiber (g)	1.4 ± 1.3	-
Cholesterol kcal	11.9 ± 0.6	As low as possible
Poly fat kcal	78.3 ± 2.8	
Omega-3 Fatty Acid (Kcal)	4.2 ± 0.2	108 - 217 Kcal) (5- 10% of total Kcal)
Omega-6 Fatty Acid (Kcal)	27.0 ± 1.4	13 - 26 Kcal (0.6- 1.2 % of total Kcal)

Table 3-2: Sample Mean (sd) of Macronutrient Int	ake
and Recommended Daily Intake (DRI)	

Table 3-3 presents the mean (sd) of macronutrients by gender. For all macronutrients except Omega-3 fatty acid and Omega-6 fatty acid, the means are nearly identical for boys and girls. However, the mean (sd) of saturated fat (kcal) intake was 134.5 (65.7) in girls, which was higher than the mean (sd) in boys 120.2 (56.3); the difference was tending towards significance (p=.085). The mean (sd) of Omega-3 fatty acid intake was 4.8 (2.9) for boys, significantly higher than for girls 3.9 (2.0) (p=.012). Similarly, the mean (sd) of Omega-6 fatty acid was significantly higher in boys as compared to girls (p=.044).

Variables	Boys n= 86 mean ± SD	Girls n=136 mean ± SD	Total N=222 mean ± SD	P value
Calories (kcal)	1761.4 ± 401.5	1709.0 ± 380.4	1729.3 ± 388.7	0.335
Calories from Fat (kcal)	391.2 ± 156.5	388.4 ± 159.3	389.5 ± 157.9	0.897
Fat (Kcal)	309.6 ± 129.1	318.9 ± 132.9	315.3 ± 131.2	0.605
Saturated Fat (kcal)	120.2 ± 56.3	134.5 ± 65.7	129.0 ± 62.5	0.012
Unsaturated Fat (Kcal)	187.5 ± 88.0	182.7 ± 87.4	184.6 ± 87.5	0.691
Trans Fatty Acid (kcal)	1.9 ± 3.8	1.7 ± 1.9	1.8 ± 2.8	0.651
Other Fat (Kcal)	4.6 ± 4.3	4.1 ± 3.5	4.3 ± 3.9	0.366
Protein (kcal)	235.2 ± 70.0	228.3 ± 67.7	231.0 ± 68.5	0.469
Carbohydrates (Kcal)	811.0 ± 356.2	777.3 ± 308.5	790.4 ± 327.4	0.471
Total Sugars (Kcal)	333.4 ± 215.1	300.9 ± 184.4	313.5 ± 197.0	0.248
Monosaccharides (Kcal)	21.7 ± 74.6	19.8 ± 59.4	20.5 ± 65.6	0.842
Disaccharides (Kcal)	31.9 ± 30.5	39.0 ± 36.2	36.3 ± 34.2	0.118
Other Carbs (Kcal)	424.0 ± 210.9	417.7 ± 195.2	420.1 ± 201.0	0.823
Dietary Fibre (g)	20.3 ± 9.3	19.2 ± 9.5	19.6 ± 9.4	0.395
Soluble Fibre (g)	1.5 ± 1.3	1.4 ± 1.2	1.4 ± 1.3	0.566
Cholesterol kcal	12.6 ± 10.2	11.6 ± 8.3	11.9 ± 0.6	0.446
Poly fat kcal	78.9 ± 40.9	77.7 ± 42.1	78.3 ± 2.8	0.833
Omega-3 Fatty Acid Kcal	4.8 ± 2.9	3.9 ± 2.0	4.2 ± 0.2	0.012
Omega-6 Fatty Acid Kcal	30.3 ± 21.6	24.6 ± 18.4	27.0 ± 1.4	0.044

Table 3-3: Sample Mean of Macronutrient Intake by Gender

Table 3-4 presents the observed distribution of nutrient intake according to Omani recommended intake levels for various nutrients by gender (Department of Nutrition, 2007). The Omani Ministry of Health, specifically, its Nutrition Department, developed the Omani Guide to Healthy Eating in 2009 (Department of Nutrition, 2009). The guidelines target the general population above the age of 2 years and focus on adequate nutrition (see Appendix 5); and the prevention of obesity and chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, and hyper-lipidemia through diet and physical activity. Patients with special dietary requirements and complicated cases are advised to consult professional dietitians. Emerging issues were taken into consideration in the development of these guidelines; the most important among these were issues related to trans fats and omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids.

The recommended cut-offs vary by nutrient, presented as a range, such as the total energy (Kcal) intake for boys (2000-2300) and girls (1900-2200). In our sample, the mean intake of total energy for both boys (1761) and girls (1709) fell below the recommended range. In terms of percentages, 65.1% of boys and 64.7% of girls fell below the Omani DRI for total energy consumption. The mean daily intake of carbohydrates for both boys (202.8g) and girls (194.3g) also fell below the recommended levels (for boys, 275-175g; for girls, 261-356g). In terms of our sample, 88.4% of boys and 83.8% of girls fell below the DRI for daily carbohydrate consumption.

	DRIs (9-13 y)		Boys	Girls
Nutrients	Boys (n=86)	Girls (n=136)	% (n)	% (n)
Energy (Kcal)	<2000 2000-2300 >2300	<1900 1900-2200 >2200	65.1% (56) 20.9% (18) 14.0% (12) [m = 1761]	64.7% (88) 25.0% (34) 10.3% (14) [m = 1709]
Protein (g)	<40 40-50 >50	<38 38-47.5 >47.5	15.1% (13) 18.6% (16) 66.3% (57) [m = 58.8]	$ \begin{array}{c} 12.5\% (17) \\ 19.9\% (27) \\ 67.6\% (92) \\ [m = 57.1] \end{array} $
CHO (g)	<275 275-375 >375	<261 261-356 >356	88.4% (76) 8.1% (7) 3.5% (3) [m = 202.8]	83.8% (114) 11.8% (16) 4.4% (6) [m = 194.3]
Fat (g)	<33.3 33.3-66.7 >66.7	<31.7 31.7-63.3 >63.3	52.3% (45) 45.3% (39) 2.3% (2) [m = 34.4]	41.2% (56) 54.4% (74) 4.4% (6) [m = 35.4]
Saturated Fat (g)	<22 ≥22	<20.9 ≥20.9	93.0% (80) 7.0% (6) [m = 13.4]	80.9% (110) 19.1% (26) [m = 14.9]
Trans Fatty Acid (g)	<0.04 ≥0.04	<0.04 ≥0.04	40.7% (35) 59.3% (51) [m = 0.21]	36.0% (36) 64.0% (87) [m = 0.19]
Fibre (g)	< 16 16-40 >40	<15 15-38 >38	34.9% (30) 65.1% (56) 0% (0) [m = 20.3]	37.5% (51) 59.6% (81) 2.9% (4) [m = 19.2]

Table 3-4: Distribution of Sample Macronutrient intake versus Omani RecommendedDaily Intake (DRI) by gender

On the other hand, as already noted above, the sample's average daily intake of protein exceeded the daily recommended level. For boys, the DRI is 40-50g, while the mean intake of protein for the boys in the sample was 58.8g; for girls, the DRI is 38-47.5g, while the mean actual intake for the girls in the sample was 57.1g. In terms of the study's sample, 66.3% of boys and 67.6% of girls exceeded the DRI, while 15.1% of boys and 12.5% of girls fell below the DRI level.

With regard to dietary fibre, both boys (20.3g) and girls (19.2g) in the sample fell within the DRI range defined by the Department of Nutrition, but only marginally so, since both means fell at the lower end of range (16-40g, for boys; 15-38g, for girls). More than a third of students fell below the recommended range (34.9% for boys, 37.5% for girls). The average daily intake of fat was also at the lower end of the DRI range for both boys and girls, with 52.3% of boys and 41.2% of girls falling below the lower cut-off for the daily intake of fat.

The average intake of saturated fat also fell below the recommended range, with 93% of boys and 80.9% of girls falling below the lower cut-off point. On the other hand, the level of consumption of trans fatty acids in the sample far exceeded the recommended levels of 0.04g per day: while the average intake of trans fatty acids for boys was 0.21g and for girls was 0.19g.

Figure 3-3 depicts the distribution of macronutrient consumption across and between meals; complete summary measures are provided in Table 3-5. The overall distribution indicates that the two largest sources of calories comes from the morning snack (m=501.93) and from dinner (m=486.18). In terms of total energy, breakfast and lunch are next, each providing approximately 300 Kcal intake, with the afternoon snack coming next (246.17), and finally the evening snack (173.46). In general, the distribution of energy, protein, carbohydrate and fat intake for boys and girls was not significantly different, except for the following:

The mean (sd) intake of energy at the morning snack was significantly higher in boys 542.9 (251.2) as compared to girls 475.8 (212.7) (p=.036). The mean (sd) intake of energy for dinner, on the other hand, was not significantly different between boys and girls. The difference in the consumption of carbohydrates was significant, however: the boys consumed significantly more carbohydrate 53.61 (60.88) when compared to girls 38.95 (38.79). For the morning snack, carbohydrate intake was significantly higher in boys 55.65 as compared to girls 47.74 (p=.057).

Similarly, the mean (sd) consumption of fat during the evening snack was significantly higher in boys than girls (p=.068). In sum, the boys consumed significantly more carbohydrate and fat when compared to girls.



Figure 3-2: Distribution of Macronutrient Consumption between Meals

	Total (n=222)	Males (n=86) (38.7%)	Females (n=136) (61.3%)	P-value ^b
		Mean ± SD		
Breakfast				
Energy	305.71±210.60	291.97±222.18	314.27±203.52	0.47
Fat	7.26±5.90	7.61±7.32	7.05±4.85	0.524
Carbohydrate	37.3±30.55	34.39±23.60	39.11±34.14	0.291
Protein	10.63±8.00	10.78±9.54	10.55±6.94	0.845
Morning Snack				
Energy	501.93±230.27	542.97±251.25	475.82±212.75	0.036*
Fat	10.92±8.82	11.51±9.61	10.54±8.29	0.429
Carbohydrate	50.74±28.58	55.65±33.81	47.74±24.50	0.057
Protein	16.19±10.11	17.31±10.15	15.48±10.05	0.196
Lunch				
Energy	304.51±202.69	297.62±191.73	308.87±209.95	0.693
Fat	5.38±6.32	5.16±6.38	5.52±6.30	0.685
Carbohydrate	45.27±38.12	44.39±27.88	45.82±43.47	0.789
Protein	12.12±7.33	11.72±7.80	12.38±7.04	0.527
Afternoon snack				
Energy	246.17±168.57	241.51±159.97	248.83±173.94	0.782
Fat	7.18±6.80	6.91±6.74	7.34±6.87	0.691
Carbohydrate	41.26±31.46	39.35±28.70	42.37±33.03	0.543
Protein	4.45±4.39	4.09±4.26	4.68±4.46	0.399
Dinner				
Energy	486.18±311.43	516.52±322.30	467.50±304.30	0.269
Fat	11.36±10.33	11.08±9.84	11.53±10.66	0.76
Carbohydrate	44.54±48.79	53.61±60.88	38.95±38.79	0.038*
Protein	18.11±12.86	19.24±13.99	17.42±12.13	0.323
Evening snack				
Energy	173.46±131.64	181.80±129.80	167.04±137.95	0.797
Fat	7.01±5.13	9.60±6.20	5.42±3.78	0.068
Carbohydrate	20.46±17.18	24.08±17.05	17.95±17.50	0.424
Protein	5.81±3.53	5.78±2.86	5.82±3.99	0.979

Table 3-5: Distribution of Energy between Meals by Gender

^a Selected population: Energy: 1000-2500 Kcal

3.4.3 Micronutrients

Table 3-6 presents the mean (m±sd) of daily micronutrient intake as compared to the daily recommended intake (DRI) (Institute of Medicine of the National Academies, 2005), from which it becomes clear that the students in our sample fall far short of recommended levels for a number of micronutrients. For calcium, the DRI for children in this age group is 1300mg, while the mean for our sample was only 465.4mg (sd=263.3). Similarly, the DRI for potassium for this age group is 4500 mg, while the mean intake in our sample was only 2068mg (sd=634.3).

The daily intake levels of other micronutrients also fell short of the DRI, but not to the same extreme. Among these was phosphorous, with a DRI of 1250mg, compared with the sample mean daily intake of 845.2mg (sd=316.7). Also in this category was Vitamin A, with a DRI of 600 μ g, as compared with the mean daily intake in our sample of 348.8 μ g (sd=232.7). Also notable is the level of intake for Vitamin D, with a DRI of 15 μ g, compared with the intake level in our sample at 4.9 μ g; a standard deviation of 23.1 suggests a large variability among students for this measure. The daily intake of the remaining micronutrients in the study sample all appear to conform to the DRI levels recommended for this age group.

Table 3-7 presents the observed distribution of micronutrient intake and the Omani recommended intake levels for various nutrients by gender (Department of Nutrition, 2007). The recommended cut-offs vary by nutrient and, for the most part, are presented as a range rather than a single number. Thus, the recommended daily intake of Calcium is 500-800mg for boys and 475-760mg for girls. In our sample, however, 64% of boys and 56% of girls fell below this recommended range, while 36.1% of boys and 44.1% girls met or exceeded it. Similarly, 52.3% of boys and 76.5% of girls fell below the recommended intake level for Folate, while only 22.1% of boys and 22.8% of girls exceeded the recommended range. A similar pattern was found in terms of the intake of Iodine, where 80.2% of boys and 76.5% of girls failed to meet the minimal daily intake level recommended by the Omani Department of Nutrition.

Nutrients	Total (N=222) Mean ± SD	DRI (9-13 years)
Calcium (mg)	465.4 ± 263.3	1300
Copper (mg)	0.8 ± 0.3	0.7
Folate (mcg)	297.7 ± 151.1	250
Iodine (mcg)	97.3 ± 65.1	73
Iron (mg)	12.0 ± 6.6	8
Magnesium (mg)	206.6 ± 89.7	240
Manganese (mg)	3.9 ± 2.5	1.9 (B) 1.6 (G)
Phosphorus (mg)	845.2 ± 316.7	1250
Potassium (mg)	2068. ± 634.3	4500
Selenium (mcg)	51.9 ± 26.1	40
Sodium (mg)	$1532. \pm 638.7$	1500
Vitamin A (µg RE)	348.8±232.7	600
Vitamin D (µg)	4.9±23.1	15
Zinc (mg)	6.7 ± 2.9	8

 Table 3-6: Sample Mean of Micronutrient Intake and Recommended Daily Intake (DRI)

A more extreme pattern is evident with Sodium and Zinc, where 100% of both boys and girls consumed less than the recommended daily amount: for sodium, 5g for boys and 4.8g for girls; for zinc, 20mg for boys and 19mg for girls. The daily intake levels of Vitamins A and D were also deficient: in the case of Vitamin A, 89.5% of boys and 83.1% of girls did not consume sufficient quantities to meet the minimal daily requirement; in the case of Vitamin D, 91.9% of boys and 89.7% of girls consumed less than the lower end of the recommended range.

In the case of Iron, approximately half of the sample fell below the recommended daily intake (11mg for boys, 10.5mg for girls), while the other half of the sample met or exceeded the minimum requirement.

	DRIs ((9-13 y)	Boys	Girls	
Nutrients	Boys (n=86)	Girls (n=136)	% (n)	% (n)	P value
Ca (mg)	<500 500-800 >800	<475 475-760 >760	64.0% (55) 29.1% (25) 7.0 % (6)	55.9% (76) 30.9% (42) 13.2% (18)	0.28
Folate (µg)	<300 300-400 >400	<285 285-380 >380	52.3% (45) 25.6% (22) 22.1% (19)	76.5% (104) 0.7% (1) 22.8% (31)	0.000
Iodine (mcg)	<150 ≥150	<142 ≥142	80.2% (69) 19.8% (17)	76.5% (104) 23.5% (32)	0.51
Iron (mg)	<11 ≥11	<10.5 ≥10.5	53.5% (46) 46.5% (40)	50.7% (69) 49.3% (67)	0.0689
Sodium (g)	<5.0 ≥5.0	<4.8 ≥4.8	100% (86) 0.0%	100% (136) 0.0%	NA
Vitamin A (µg RE)	<700 700-1000 >1000	<665 665-950 >950	89.5% (77) 10.5% (9) 0% (0)	83.1% (113) 11.8% (16) 5.1% (7)	0.092
Vitamin D (µg)	<5 5.0-10.0 >10	<4.8 4.8-9.5 >9.5	91.9% (79) 7.0% (6) 1.2% (1)	89.7% (122) 9.6% (13) 0.7% (1)	0.762
Zinc (mg)	<20 ≥20	<19 ≥19	100% (86) 0.0%	100% (136) 0.0%	NA

 Table 3-7: Distribution of Micronutrient Intake versus Omani Recommended Daily

 Intake (DRI) by gender

Table 3-7 also provides evidence of the gender differences in the intake of these micronutrients which, overall, point to the significance of folate, iron and vitamin A. As for the gender differences, for Vitamin A intake, 89.5% of the boys consumed less than the recommended level compared to girls (83.1%), although the difference was marginally significant (p=.09). Iron intake was significantly higher for boys (53.5%) as compared with girls (50.7%) (p<0.068), although both fell short of the recommended daily level. In contrast, Folate intake was significantly higher in girls (76.5%) when compared to boys (52.3%) (p<.001), although both were also lower than the

recommended level. The rates of consumption of the other remaining nutrients did not vary by gender.

The following Table 3-8 presents the mean (sd) intake of micronutrients by gender. Overall, the mean (sd) level of micronutrient intake was nearly identical by gender; there was no statistically significant difference between boys and girls on these measures.

Nutrients	Total (N=222) Mean ± SD	Boys (n= 86) Mean ± SD	Girls (n=136) Mean ± SD	P value
Calcium (mg)	465.4 ± 263.3	450.1 ± 252.1	475.1 ± 270.7	0.485
Copper (mg)	0.8 ± 0.3	0.8 ± 0.3	0.8 ± 0.3	1.000
Folate (mcg)	297.7 ± 151.1	300.4 ± 138.3	296.0 ± 159.1	0.827
Iodine (mcg)	97.3 ± 65.1	93.0 ± 66.3	99.9 ± 64.4	0.446
Iron (mg)	12.0 ± 6.6	11.9 ± 5.6	12.0 ± 7.1	0.907
Magnesium (mg)	206.6 ± 89.7	208.8 ± 86.5	205.2 ± 92.0	0.768
Manganese (mg)	3.9 ± 2.5	3.9 ± 2.5	3.9 ± 2.4	1.000
Phosphorus (mg)	845.2 ± 316.7	844.2 ± 325.8	845.8 ± 312.1	0.971
Potassium (mg)	$2068. \pm 634.3$	2072.0 ± 619.2	$2065. \pm 645.9$	0.935
Selenium (mcg)	51.9 ± 26.1	53.8 ± 27.6	50.6 ± 25.2	0.385
Sodium (mg)	1532. ± 638.7	1538.2 ± 667.6	1528.9 ± 622.2	0.917
Vitamin A (µg RE)	348.8±232.7	382.3±278.1	369.3±261.4	0.334
Vitamin D (µg)	4.9±23.1	2.4±2.1	3.4±14.3	0.319
Zinc (mg)	6.7 ± 2.9	6.8 ± 3.0	6.7 ± 2.9	0.806

Table 3-8: Mean (sd) Micronutrient Intake by gender

3.4.4 Anthropometric, Body Composition, Blood Pressure & Blood Sugar Profile

Table 3-9 presents the anthropometric, body composition, blood pressure and blood sugar levels of the children included in the study by gender.

The mean weight of the students in the sample was 30.2kg (sd=8.0), with girls weighing slightly more (30.2 ± 8.0) than boys (30.1 ± 7.6). The mean height was 133.6cm, with girls measuring slightly taller (133.7 ± 6.6) than boys (133.6 ± 5.0). The differential for waist circumference was slightly larger, with boys measuring at 60.9cm (sd=8.8) and girls at 60.2 (sd=8.8). The measures for mean body mass index, on the other hand, were virtually identical (m= 16.8 ± 3.4), with boys at 16.8 (sd=3.3) and girls at 16.8 (sd=3.4). No statistically significant difference was obtained for any of these measures.

However, the mean (sd) body fat (%) for girls was significantly higher at 19.5 (7.8) when compared to the boys' measure at 17.3 (7.8) (p=.048), although there was no significant difference in body fat (Kg), with boys average (5.9 ± 4.6) slightly lower than girls (6.4 ± 4.6). Inversely, the mean (sd) of muscle mass (kg) was significantly higher for boys than girls: 23.6 (3.9) versus 22.5 (3.7) (p=0.038). The difference in muscle mass (%) was marginally significant (p=0.061), with the boys' average slightly higher (78.2\pm7.3) than the average for girls (76.3 ± 7.4). The mean (sd) of impedance for boys was 598.99 (67.1), significantly lower when compared to the mean impedance for girls 649.8 (72.7) (p<.001).

The fasting glucose was higher in boys 5.1 (0.4) as compared to girls 5.0 (0.4) (p=.071), as was the mean (sd) of HbA1, which was also significantly higher in boys 5.2 (0.6) than girls 4.98 (0.6) (p=.008). Measures of systolic (m=109, sd=10) and diastolic (m=65, sd=10) were not significantly different between boys and girls.

Variables	Male N=86	Female N=136	Total N=222	p- value
	Mean ± sd	Mean ± sd	$Mean \pm sd$	value
Weight (kg)	30.1 ± 7.6	30.2 ± 8	30.2 ± 8	0.925
Height (cm)	133.6 ± 5	133.7 ± 6.6	133.6 ± 6.0	0.893
Waist circumference (cm)	60.9 ± 8.8	60.2 ± 8.8	60.5 ± 8.7	0.564
Mean Body Mass Index (Wt/Ht2)	16.8 ± 3.3	16.8 ± 3.4	16.8 ± 3.4	1.000
Body Fat (%)*	17.3 ± 7.8	19.5 ± 7.8	18.60 ± 7.9	0.042
Body Fat (Kg)	5.9 ± 4.6	6.4 ± 4.6	6.20 ± 4.6	0.431
Muscular Mass (%)	78.2 ± 7.3	76.3 ± 7.4	77.0 ± 7.4	0.061
Muscle Mass (Kg)	23.6 ± 3.9	22.5 ± 3.7	22.90 ± 3.8	0.038
Impedance*	598.99 ± 67.1	649.8 ± 72.7	630.1 ± 74.6	< 0.001
Systolic (mmhg)	109 ± 10	108 ± 11	109 ± 10	0.486
Diastolic (mmhg)	65.5 ± 10	65 ± 11	65 ± 10	0.727
HB (g/dl)	12.7 ± 1.1	12.8 ± 0.96	$12.8 \pm 1{,}00$	0.489
Fasting glucose *(mmol/L)	5.1 ± 0.4	5.00 ± 0.4	5.04 ± 0.4	0.071
HbA1*(mmol/L)	5.2 ± 0.6	4.98 ± 0.6	5.1 ± 0.6	0.008

Table 3-9: Anthropometric, Body composition, Blood Pressure and
Blood Sugar Profile by Gender

Using BMI-for-age z-scores, the prevalence of overweight or obesity in our study was 28.2% for boys and 22.6% for girls; obesity and overweight for the entire sample was 24.3% (see Figure 3-4). At the other extreme, while nearly one fourth of the adolescent school going children in Oman are overweight or obese, the prevalence of underweight from our study was about 12% and 8% in the males and females of our sample. In terms of sample distribution, 9.0% of the sample was thin, 7.7% of the sample was moderately thin, and 1.4% of the sample was severely thin.

These data have seldom been reported from other studies.



Figure 3-3: Prevalence of Thinness, Overweight and Obesity among Omani Children

3.4.5 Blood Lipids

Table 3-10 summarizes the mean (sd) blood lipids levels (mmml/L) of boys and girls in our sample. The average HDL for the sample was 1.4 (0.33), with the boys' average slightly higher 1.41 (0.36) than the girls' 1.4 (0.30). This difference was not found to be significant. The mean LDL for the sample was 2.72 (0.62), with the girls' average higher 2.78 (0.61) than the boys' 2.63 (0.62). This was found to be significant at the 0.078 level.

More significant than this was the difference in TGS between boys and girls. While the sample average was 0.63 (0.30), the average measure for girls was found to be higher 0.7 (0.30) than for boys 0.6 (0.30) (p=0.016). The difference in CHOL measures was not statistically significant: the average sample measure was 4.4 (0.7), with girls averaging slightly higher 4.45 (0.7) when compared to the boys 4.3 (0.8).

Variables	Male N=86	Female N=136	Total N=222	p-
	Mean ± sd	$Mean \pm sd$	$Mean \pm sd$	value
HDL(mmol/L)	1.41 ± 0.36	1.4 ± 0.30	1.4 ± 0.33	0.830
LDL(mmol/L)	2.63 ± 0.62	2.78 ± 0.61	2.72 ± 0.62	0.078
TGS*(mmol/L)	0.6 ± 0.30	0.7 ± 0.30	0.63 ± 0.30	0.016
CHOL(mmol/L)	4.3 ± 0.8	4.45 ± 0.7	4.4 ± 0.7	0.155

Table 3-10: Blood Lipids by Gender

3.5 Summary and Discussion

The sample of children included in this study were identified using a two-stage random sampling procedure from schools in the Muscat Governorate; it is believed that these children and their dietary behaviour would represent the population of similarly aged school children in Oman. Moreover, the instruments used to measure anthropometry were well calibrated. It seems reasonable to conclude, then, that the results from this study could be generalisable to children's dietary behaviour in other Gulf countries, at the minimum. This is the first study in the region to incorporate microand macro-nutrient levels, in addition to extensive anthropometry, such as body fat and muscular mass, etc. in school-going children. The study's main aim was to assess at the micro- and macro-nutrients intakes, anthropometry, body composition and lipid profiles for Omani school children.

Compared to the Daily Recommended Intake levels, the students in our sample fell below established standards when it came to total calories, fat, sugar, and omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids (Table 3-2). Both boys and girls fell below the DRI for total calories, although the average level of consumption remained within one standard deviation of the recommended norm. The recommended intake of fat, on the other hand, was even lower with a sample average of 389.5kcal, compared to the recommended range (25-35% of total calories) of 550-750kcals. The average consumption of sugar in our sample (313kcal) also fell below the recommended level (540kcal). In terms of fatty acids, it was found that the students' normal diet provided adequate levels of omega-6 fatty acids while, in sharp contrast, the consumption of omega-3 fatty acids (4.2kcal) was woefully inadequate to meet the recommended level (108-207kcal). In terms of the

intake of protein and carbohydrates, the students in our sample exceeded the DRI levels: the DRI for protein is 136kcal, compared to the sample average of 231kcal, while the DRI for carbohydrates is 520kcal, compared to the sample average of 790kcal.

Similar but slightly different patterns were found when comparing intake levels in our sample with the Omani DRI levels (Table 3-4). Here, too, both boys (1761kcal) and girls (1709kcal) fell below the DRI for total energy consumption. The mean level of calories from fat also fell below the Omani DRI, with 93% of boys and 80.9% of girls falling below the lower end of the recommended range. The same pattern was found for carbohydrates, where 88.4% of boys and 83.8% of girls fell below the recommended levels. In contrast, students exceeded the recommended levels of calories from protein and trans fatty acids: regarding the former, 66.3% of boys and 67.6% of girls exceeded the recommended range; with regards to calories from trans fatty acids, both boys (0.21g) and girls (0.19g) far exceeded the established DRI of 0.04g/day.

There were also a number of significant differences in levels of macronutrient intake by gender (Table 3-3). On average, the girls in the sample were found to consume more calories from saturated fat (134.5kcal) as compared to boys (120.2kcal), while boys were found to consume more calories from omega-3 fatty acids (4.8kcal) when compared to girls (3.9kcal). The same pattern was found for calories from omega-6 fatty acids.

In terms of micronutrient consumption (Table 3-6), the students' diets were found to be most deficient in calcium and potassium: whereas the DRI for calcium was 1300mg, the mean for the students in our sample was only 465mg; and compared to the DRI for potassium (4500mg), the mean for the students was only 2068mg. The students' level of consumption of phosphorus, Vitamin A and Vitamin D were also found to fall short of the DRI levels, although not to the same degree as calcium and potassium. Consumption levels for all other micronutrients were found to fall within the recommended DRI range.

Similar, but slightly different, patterns were found in relation to the Omani DRIs (Table 3-7). For both sodium and zinc, 100 per cent of boys and girls fell below the recommended levels. For Vitamin A, 89.5% of boys and 83.1% of girls fell below the Omani DRI levels, whereas for Vitamin D, 91.9% of boys and 89.7% of girls consumed less than the lower end of the range recommended by the Omani Department of Nutrition. Less severe shortfalls in micronutrient intake were found for Calcium, Folate, and Iodine.

In terms of gender, no significant differences were found in the levels of micronutrients consumed by boys and girls. However, when compared with the genderdifferentiated DRI levels set by the Omani government, significant gender differences were found for Folate, Iron and Vitamin A. In terms of blood lipids, the only significant difference was found for TGS. While the sample average was 0.63, the girls were found to have a significantly higher level (0.7) when compared to boys (0.6) (p=0.016).

The mean (sd) body fat (%) and TSG measures were significantly higher among girls as compared to boys, while muscle mass, omega-3 and omega-6, and fasting glucose levels were significantly higher in boys. The prevalence of overweight or obesity was 28.2% and 22.6% in boys and girls, respectively. Data such as these, and on the above mentioned micro- and macro-nutrients, blood pressure and lipid profiles are scanty for Gulf countries.

However, it has been reported that the rate of obesity among adolescents in Bahrain is between 12%-25% (Musaiger, 2004). Over time, the study participants generally showed a higher rate of obesity, ranging from 15% to 45%; and in adulthood, women showed a higher prevalence (35%-75%) when compared with men (30%-60%). The common risk factors, such as change in dietary habits, socioeconomic factors, inactivity and multiparity (among women) were all shown to be significantly associated with these trends in Bahrain. Similarly, in Saudi Arabia, the prevalence of obesity was reported to be 46% amongst adolescents in Jeddah (Washi and Ageib, 2010). Increased weight status of 13- to 18-year-old Saudi adolescents was also demonstrated to be related to their dietary habits.

Thus, while the prevalence of overweight or obesity was lower in Oman compared to these other countries in Gulf, nearly one-fourth of the adolescent school-going children in Oman can be said to be overweight or obese. In contrast, the prevalence of underweight from our study was about 12% and 8% in males and females adolescent children, respectively. These data have seldom been reported in other similar studies.

In addition, our study found that higher calorie and protein intake was significantly associated with overweight or obesity. In the same vein, it has also been reported that changes in dietary habits and inactivity were associated with obesity in Bahrain (Musaiger, 2004); just as obesity in Jeddah has been reported to be associated with higher intake of carbohydrates, proteins and fat.
In 2010, an extensive school-based study covering 1606 8th to 10th standard Omani students from 49 schools was conducted in collaboration with WHO and the CDC, USA (Joshi et al., 2006, Abdou and Al-Murzahmi, 2012). According to that study, one in five students (18.7%) described themselves as slightly overweight or overweight, in contrast to our study which reported the actual prevalence of obesity as 28% and 23% in males and females, respectively. Thus, our study highlights an important discrepancy between these figures, signalling the potential inaccuracy of self-reported measures; there may have also been a significant increase in the prevalence of obesity among older Omani school children since the GSHS study was conducted. This (apparent) increase is of great concern.

The authors of the Omani GSHS report also reported that nearly one third (35.6%) of students were trying to lose weight while only one in five students (18.7%)described themselves as slightly overweight or overweight. About 41.6% of students usually ate fruit two or more times per day while 17.9% of students usually ate vegetables three or more times per day during the past 30 days. About 45.1% of students ate breakfast most of the time or always during the past 30 days. Consistent with this study, many Omani students actually skip breakfast, which leaves dinner and other snacks as the main sources for their daily caloric intake. Traces of this pattern were apparent in our study, as well, since the two main sources of calories during the day were dinner (m=486kcal) and their morning snack (m=501kcal) (Table 3-5), and during the course of a single day, total snacks almost contributed the same number of calories (m=922kcal) as total meals (1096kcal). It was also found that there were significant gender differences: for morning snacks, the meaning intake of energy and carbohydrates was significantly higher for boys when compared to girls; the mean consumption of fat during the evening snack was significantly higher for boys than girls; and for the evening dinner, the consumption of carbohydrates was similarly higher for boys when compared to girls.

Kovalskys et al. (2013) report that the mean calorie intake of 5th grade students in Buenos Aires (average age, 10.9 years) was 2316 kcal/day, where the most frequently consumed high calorie density foods were soft drinks, juices, candies, sweet cookies and high fat seasonings and dressings. In contrast, the average calorie intake from our study was 1729 (kcal)/day.

In Buenos Aires, the prevalence of overweight and obesity was 21.3% and 14.3%, respectively. According to our study, the prevalence of overweight or obesity in

Oman was 28% and 23% for boys and girls, respectively. Thus, Omani children showed a significantly higher prevalence of overweight and obesity as compared to school children in Buenos Aires (Kovalskys et al., 2013). Drawing upon the Ireland National Children's Food Survey, Walton et al. (2015) reported that 16% of the total energy consumed in one day was provided from food eaten 'before school', 33% was provided from food eaten 'at school', and 53% was provided from food eaten 'after school'. Relative to the overall school-day, food eaten 'before school' was lower in saturated fat and sodium, and higher in DF and many micronutrients; food eaten 'at school' was relatively high in added sugars and sodium, lower in DF and micronutrients, and similar in saturated fat compared to the overall school-day; food eaten 'after school' was relatively high in DF and vitamin A, similar in saturated fat, magnesium and sodium, and lower in added sugars and other micronutrients compared to the overall school-day. Though we do not have similar data from Oman, it would be useful to conduct such a study to identify the main sources of energy for Omani school children.

Maffeis et al. (2000) reported the relationship between Italian children's adiposity and their parents' body mass index (BMI). The correlation between children's adiposity and their mother's and father's BMI was 0.12 and 0.13 (p<.01), respectively (Samadi et al., 2014). The correlation (however small) becomes significant when the size is small. Clinically or epidemiologically, the minimum should be above 4. Because the sample size in this study was 503, the small correlation was considered significant, which is not very useful.

3.6 Conclusion

Our study has established standards for most micro- and macro-level nutrients by gender for school-going children in Oman. In terms of macronutrients, the students fell below established standards when it came to total calories, fat, sugar, and omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids; their intake of protein and carbohydrates, on the other hand, exceeded DRI levels. In terms of micronutrients, students in the sample were most deficient in calcium and potassium; their intakes of Vitamin A and Vitamin D were also found to fall short of the DRI levels. No significant gender differences were found, except in the case of calories from saturated fat (girls > boys) and calories from omega-3 fatty acids (boys > girls).

This data will provide a crucial reference for future studies but also an important estimate of the prevalence of micro- and macro-nutrient deficiencies in Oman. As such, it provides a benchmark for the country and a roadmap for future planning for school health programs. In summary, the prevalence of overweight or obesity is comparable to other countries in the Gulf region and significantly lower than in more developed countries. Nevertheless, the prevalence rate of approximately 25% overweight and obesity for boys and girls is still too high. Therefore, health education that focuses on nutrients should start at the school level.

CHAPTER 4: ADHD and Parental Factors in Omani School Children

4.1 Introduction

The global prevalence of Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) is estimated to be approximately 5% to 13% (Faraone et al., 2003). The condition is defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) and also by the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1992) as including two distinct behavioural dimensions - inattentive and hyperactive-impulsive - which have been recognized to exist across cultures and in a variety of ethnic groups (Barkley, 2003).

Children who suffer from ADHD tend to have difficulties in following instructions or abiding by the rules (Taylor et al., 2004). They are also more likely to generally misbehave and more frequently interrupt and/or intrude on others' conversations and activities (de Boo and Prins, 2007). In addition, these children are more prone to risk-taking and rule-violating behavior. As a consequence, they are also more prone to offend norms of social modesty by their disruptive behavior. The net outcome of such conduct are negative responses from peers, teachers and parents (McQuade and Hoza, 2008, Solanto et al., 2009).

Symptoms of ADHD have been linked to higher risks of substance misuse, comorbid neurobehavioral disorders as well as becoming 'social misfits' with all the consequences this may entail, including a decreased quality of life (Frick and Dickens, 2006, Tapert et al., 2002, Tercyak et al., 2002). As the bulk of literature on ADHD has emerged from Euro-American populations, initial studies led to the view that ADHD might be a 'culture-bound syndrome' (Canino and Alegria, 2008). Although a systematic review of studies from different populations and ethnicities identified drastic variations in the magnitude of the disorder (Polanczyk et al., 2007), it cannot be denied that ADHD is a global challenge.

There is a dearth of studies from Arabian Gulf populations such as those of Oman, a country that lies at the tip of the Arabian Peninsula, adjacent to the continent of Africa and Asia. Oman has a pyramidal population structure with the bulk of the population consisting of children and adolescents (United Nations, 2010). Anecdotal evidence indicated that different regions are not immune to the vagaries of neuro-developmental disorders such as ADHD. In the instance of Qatar (Bener et al., 2006), teachers using the Conner's scale found that 16.7% males and 7.3% female students had a propensity to having ADHD. In the principality of Sharjah of the United Arab Emirates

(Bu-Haroon et al., 1999), 18.3%, of male and 11.4% of female students were also identified by their teachers as having symptoms of typical of ADHD. In Saudi Arabia, clinical notes at a tertiary care hospital indicated that 10.5% of attendees were marked by symptoms of ADHD (Al-Haidar, 2002). In Oman, Al-Sharbati et al. (2004) reported that 7.8% males and 5.1% females showed characteristic symptoms of ADHD.

Although these studies should be welcomed as useful beginnings in an emergent field of research, they have failed to include the risk factors or familiar aggregates for children with ADHD. Charting out socio-demographic factors has a potential to lay the groundwork for devising preventive measures and for designing relevant health educational programs. Furthermore, quantifying the risk factors for children with ADHD can help construct a theoretical model to discern whether ADHD is a global phenomenon or an artifact of socio-cultural factors. Thus, while genetic and neurological determinants have been shown to be critically associated with the development of ADHD in western countries, the range of social and economic indicators are seen to play an important role in the development of ADHD, as well (Russell et al., 2014, Pastor and Reuben, 2008, Akinbami et al., 2011, Froehlich et al., 2007, St Sauver et al., 2004, Ford et al., 2007, Boe et al., 2012, Hjern et al., 2010, Paananen et al., 2013, Hobcraft, 2004, Sciberras et al., 2011).

Within this context, the present study aims to achieve the following goals: first, to estimate the current rate of ADHD in school children aged 9-10 years in Oman, second, to examine the role of parental factors such as sex, educational level, occupation, income and consanguinity in the cognitive functioning and symptomatology of ADHD and, third, to identify the role of each subtype of ADHD (predominantly inattentive, predominantly hyperactive/impulsive and/or ADHD combined inattention/hyperactivity) in the expression of cognitive functioning.

4.2 Methods

4.2.1 Participants

The study was conducted between August 2012 and February 2013 in the Muscat Governorate, a region in Oman including the coterminous capital city of Muscat. It lies in the most populated part of the country and has a population reaching slightly above one million (National Centre for Statistics and Information, 2014). The Governorate is divided into 6 administrative divisions or *wilayats*: Al Amerat, Bawshar, Muscat,

Mutrah, Qurayyat and As Seeb. All participants from the selected schools were invited to participate in the study during the academic year.

4.2.2 Sampling

According to statistics available from the Ministry of Education, in the 2012–2013 academic year there were 101,597 pupils in the Muscat Governorate enrolled in public schools (run by the state under the direction of the Ministry of Education). In total, there were 49,783 (49%) male and 51,814 (51%) female students. For the purpose of this study, all participating pupils were children who were enrolled for the second stage sampling of the 4th grade (aged 9-10).

There is some debate whether children younger than 9-10 years can be said to manifest the symptoms of ADHD as outlined in International Classification of Disease (ICD-10) (World Health Organization, 1992) or the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). In these and other manuals, the diagnosis symptoms such as those associated with ADHD are often attached to a specific age and must endure for a specific period of time. If the relevant symptomatology has appeared by the age of 9 years, however, it would appear that the condition has been firmly consolidated (Treyvaud et al., 2013). In the existing research literature, this age group has been identified as suitable for testing with the cognitive measures used in this study (Goodman et al., 2016). This age group was also deemed appropriate in light of the dietary intervention at the heart of this study since, at this age, the children will have developed independent food preferences and their eating habits (healthy, or otherwise) will have been established.

The participants were selected using stratified random selection. In the first stage, three schools in the catchment area of 39 schools were randomly selected with an equal representation of both genders. In the second stage, three Grade 4 classes from five were randomly selected, and inviting all students in those classes to participate in the study. All students were given letters of invitation addressed to their parents/guardians describing the rationale for the study. The parents/guardians were asked to sign consent forms indicating their consent to the study. In addition to this, the students themselves were also required to give consent before taking part in the study. The invitation was sent to 354 students, of whom 327 responded giving a response rate of 85.9%. After excluding those cases with missing socio-demographic data or incomplete questionnaires, a total of 304 students were included in the final sample, among whom

female students constituted 55%. These students account for 4.6% of the school children between 9 and 10 from the Muscat Governorate.

4.2.3 Sample Size

The objective of the current study is to estimate the prevalence of ADHD in school children and their risk factors. The prevalence of ADHD is reported in the literature to be about 9%. In order to estimate this with the precision of 3% with a 95% CI, nearly 350 children would need to be included in the study. Thus, the baseline data of the main study should provide enough precision to estimate the prevalence of ADHD.

4.2.4 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Criteria of Inclusion: Male and female children aged 9-10 years without any hereditary or chronic medical condition or cognitive impairment that would warrant diagnosis of developmental disorder. Since the present cohort was derived from schools designed to serve the educational mainstream, the students were deemed likely to have adequate intellectual functioning since children with special needs, talents, learning disorders and mental disability do not attend 'mainstream' schools (Al-Lamki, 2012).

Criteria of Exclusion: Children receiving pharmacotherapy for behavioural, cognitive or emotional disorders, or with hearing or visual impairments.

4.2.5 Participant Consent

Informed and signed consent to participate was obtained from the parents/ guardians of the children.

4.2.6 Ethical Approval

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Ministry of Health, Sultanate of Oman (Ref. MH/DGP/R&S/Proposal_Approved/8/2012), and the National Research Ethics Committee North West – Haydock, UK (REC reference no. 12/NW/0760).

4.3 Study Variables

4.3.1 Socio-Demographic Characteristics

Socio-demographic characteristics including age, gender, monthly income for socio-economic status, educational level of parents, occupational status of parents and the consanguinity status of parents were collected by a trained researcher during faceface interviews.

4.3.2 Outcome Measures

An Arabic version of the National Initiative for Children's Health Quality Vanderbilt Assessment Scales-Teacher Assessment Scale (NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales) was used (American Academy of Pediatrics, 2008, Pliszka and AACAP Work Group on Quality Issues, 2007). The NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales has 55 questions divided into two sections: 'symptoms' and 'performance'. The SYMPTOMS section contains 47 items that are divided into various sub-sections: items 1-18 tap into the symptoms of ADHD, items 19-26 tap into oppositional defiant disorder symptoms, items 27-40 quantify the presence of Oppositional-Defiant/Conduct disorders and items 41-47 solicit the presence of Anxiety/Depression. Items are rated: never = 0, occasionally = 1, often = 2, very often = 3. The teacher is instructed to circle only one of the numbers on the scale.

The PERFORMANCE section taps into the level of impairment in Academic Performance (reading, mathematics and written expression) and Classroom Behavioral Performance (relationships with peers, following directions/rules, disrupting class, assignment completion and organizational skills). Performance scales are rated as: excellent = 1, above average = 2, average = 3, somewhat of a problem = 4, problematic = 5. The formula used for scoring the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales has been detailed elsewhere (Wamithi et al., 2015).

The following symptoms were the focus of the present study: the predominantly inattentive subtype of ADHD (PIS), Predominantly Hyperactive/Impulsive subtype (PHIS), ADHD Combined Inattention/Hyperactivity (ADHDCIH), Oppositional-Defiant/Conduct Disorders and Anxiety/Depression. The research team explained to teachers how to fill out NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales. The teachers were then explicitly informed to base their answers in reference to the child's behaviour over a six month period.

4.4 Statistical Methods

The prevalence of PIS, PHIS and ADHD was measured using a 95% CI. In the unadjusted (bivariate) analysis, a chi-square test was used to measure the association between risk variables and the outcome variables: PIS, PHIS and ADHD (yes/no).

Logistic regression analysis was done as adjusted analysis to control for the effect of confounders and other risk variables. The odds ratio was presented with a 95% CI along with P value, where a P value < 0.05 was considered significant. The goodness of fit of the logistic regression analyses (model) was done using Hosmer-Lemeshow statistics. The assumptions were validated using Deviance chi-square statistics versus predicted probabilities graphs. Data was analysed using SPSS 21.0 software.

4.5 Results

A total of 328 children participated in the study. The prevalence of PIS, PHIS and ADHDCIH was 7.3% (95%CI: 4.5%, 10.1 %), 3% (1.2%, 4.8%) and 8.8% (5.7%, 11.8%), respectively. The prevalence of Opposition-Defiant/Conduct disorder and Anxiety/ Depression was 1.5% (0.2%, 2.8%) and 1.8% (0.4%, 3.2%), respectively. Male children had significantly higher prevalence of PIS, PHIS and ADHD as compared to female children (p<0.05).

4.5.1 Predominantly Inattentive Subtype (PIS)

The unadjusted (bivariate) and adjusted (multivariate) analyses results for the scale PIS according to the socio-demographic characteristics of parents and gender of children is presented in Table 4-1. Though the child's gender was statistically significant at the unadjusted (bivariate) analyses, after adjusting for parental characteristics it was no longer significant in the adjusted (multivariable) analyses. Children who had mothers that could not read or write had significantly higher odds for PIS as compared to children whose mothers were graduates (p=0.06). Similarly, fathers with occupations other than in public or military sectors had higher odds of their children having PIS 2.8 (0.9, 8.3) (p=0.07), although both of these relationships were only marginally significant.

4.5.2 Predominantly Hyperactive/Impulsive Subtype (PHIS)

The unadjusted and adjusted analyses results for the scale PHIS according to socio-demographic variables of the parents and gender of the children is presented in Table 4-2. The male children were 6.2 (0.9, 42.7) times more likely to have PHIS as compared to female children, although this relationship was only marginally significant (p=0.06). The children whose fathers studied up to the preparatory or secondary diplomas were 83% less likely to have PHIS as compared to the children of fathers who graduated with a degree; this relationship was also marginally significant (p=0.08). On the other hand, the mothers of children whose occupation was other than housewife, had

7.1 (1.1, 50) times higher odds for PHIS as compared to housewives (p=03). Similarly, the children who came from low income families had 24 (1.7, 341) times higher odds for PHIS as compared to children from medium or high income families (p=0.01). Thus, it appears that mother's occupation and family income were more powerful predictors of PHIS than father's education or gender of the child.

4.5.3 ADHD Combined Inattention/Hyperactivity (ADHDCIH)

The unadjusted and adjusted analyses results for the scale ADHDCIH according to socio-demographic variables of parents and the gender of children is presented in Table 4-3. The children of mothers who were non-literate, who could not write or who studied up to primary school were 9.5 (0.7, 125) times more likely to have ADHDCIH compared to children whose mothers who were degree holders, but this relationship was only marginally significant (p=0.08). The children of fathers who were employed in areas other than the public sector or the military had 4.2 (1.5, 12.5) times higher odds for ADHDCIH as compared to children of fathers who worked in those sectors; this relationship was highly significant (p=0.01). On the other hand, children from low income families had nearly 3 (0.9, 10) times higher odds for ADHDCIH as compared to children income families, but this relationship was only marginally significant (p=0.08).

Table 4-1: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for Predominantly Inattentive subtype (PIS)
with Socio demographic variables

	Unadjusted Analysis of PIS				Unadjusted Analysis of PIS Adjusted Analys		sted Analysis o	of PIS
Variables	Total n (%)	Yes n (%)	No n (%)	P value	OR	95%CI	P value	
Sex Male Female	142(43.3) 186(56.7)	17(70.8) 7(29.2)	125(41.1) 179(58.9)	0.005	1.65 1.00	0.60-4.58	0.334	
<i>Mother Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	49(15.4) 196(61.6) 73(23.0)	7(29.2) 16(66.7) 1(4.2)	42(14.3) 180(61.2) 72(24.5)	0.017	11.4 3.49 1.00	0.87–150.70 0.36–34.29	0.064 0.283	
<i>Father Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	22(6.9) 177(55.8) 118(37.2)	2(8.3) 14(58.3) 8(33.3)	20(6.8) 163(55.6) 110(37.5)	0.791	0.59 0.69 1.00	0.08– 4.18 0.19 – 2.43	0.596 0.568	
<i>Mother Occupation</i> House-wife Others	180(56.6) 138(43.4)	15(62.5) 9(37.5)	165(56.1) 129(43.9)	0.544	0.75 1.00	0.20 - 2.83	0.672	
<i>Father Occupation</i> Public/Military Sector Others	169(53.3) 148(46.7)	9(37.5) 15(62.5)	160(54.6) 133(45.4)	0.106	1.00 2.80	0.9 - 8.3	0.076	
<i>Family Income</i> Low Income Medium/High Income	137(54.4) 115(45.6)	14(73.7) 5(26.3)	123(52.8) 110(47.2)	0.079	2.04 1.00	0.60 - 6.96	0.252	
<i>Consanguinity:</i> Yes No	128(40.5) 188(59.5)	8(33.3) 16(66.7)	120(41.1) 172(58.9)	0.456	0.65 1.00	0.23 – 1.86	0.422	

	Unadjusted Analysis of PHIS			S Adjusted Analysis of PHI		f PHIS	
Variables	Total n (%)	Yes n (%)	No n (%)	P value	OR	95%CI	P value
<i>Sex</i> Male Female	142(43.3) 186(56.7)	8(80.0) 2(20.0)	134(42.1) 184(57.9)	0.023	6.24 1.00	0.91-42.76	0.062
<i>Mother Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	49(15.4) 196(61.6) 73(23.0)	2(20.0) 7(70.0) 1(10.0)	47(15.3) 189(61.4) 72(23.4)	0.722	6.89 1.74 1.00	0.25– 193.48 0.14 – 22.47	0.257 0.669
<i>Father Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	22(6.9) 177(55.8) 118(37.2)	1(10.0) 5(50.0) 4(40.0)	21(6.8) 172(56.0) 114(37.1)	0.675	0.29 0.17 1.00	0.01– 5.94 0.02 – 1.27	0.421 0.084
<i>Mother Occupation</i> House-wife Others	180(56.6) 138(43.4)	5(50.0) 5(50.0)	175(56.8) 133(43.2)	0.751	1.00 7.1	1.1 - 50.0	0.038
<i>Father Occupation</i> Public/Military Sector Others	169(53.3) 148(46.7)	1(10.0) 9(90.0)	168(54.7) 139(45.3)	0.007	-	-	-
<i>Family Income</i> Low Income Medium/High Income	137(54.4) 115(45.6)	7(87.5) 1(12.5)	130(53.3) 114(46.7)	0.074	24.09 1.00	1.70 - 340.83	0.019
Consanguinity: Yes No	128(40.5) 188(59.5)	2(20.0) 8(80.0)	126(41.2) 180(58.8)	0.211	0.35 1.00	0.06 - 2.06	0.246

Table 4-2: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for Predominantly Hyperactive Impulsive subtype (PHIS) with Socio demographic variables

Variables	Unadjusted Analysis of ADHD				A	djusted Analysi ADHD	s of
variables	Total n (%)	Yes n (%)	No n (%)	P value	OR	95%CI	P value
<i>Sex</i> Male Female	142(43.3) 186(56.7)	21(72.4) 8(27.6)	121(40.5) 178(59.5)	0.001	2.27 1.00	0.85 - 6.06	0.101
<i>Mother Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	49(15.4) 196(61.6) 73(23.0)	7(24.1) 21(72.4) 1(3.4)	42(14.5) 175(60.6) 72(24.9)	0.009	9.49 3.61 1.00	0.72 – 124.61 0.36 – 35.94	0.087 0.273
<i>Father Education</i> Unread/Unwrite/Primary Preparatory/Secondary/Diploma Ealorois/Graduate	22(6.9) 177(55.8) 118(37.2)	2(6.9) 15(51.7) 12(41.4)	20(6.9) 162(56.2) 106(36.8)	0.864	0.28 0.39 1.00	0.04 – 1.92 0.13 – 1.19	0.197 0.098
<i>Mother Occupation</i> House-wife Others	180(56.6) 138(43.4)	19(65.5) 10(34.5)	161(55.7) 128(44.3)	0.310	0.98 1.00	0.27 – 3.55	0.971
<i>Father Occupation</i> Public/Military Sector Others	169(53.3) 148(46.7)	10(34.5) 19(65.5)	159(55.2) 129(44.8)	0.033	1.00 4.2	1.4 - 12.5	0.012
<i>Family Income</i> Low Income Medium/High Income	137(54.4) 115(45.6)	18(78.3) 5(21.7)	119(52.0) 110(48.0)	0.016	2.96 1.00	0.86 - 10.15	0.084
<i>Consanguinity:</i> Yes No	128(40.5) 188(59.5)	13(44.8) 16(55.2)	115(40.1) 172(59.9)	0.619	1.06 1.00	0.42 - 2.71	0.899

Table 4-3: Unadjusted and Adjusted analysis for ADHD CombinedInattention Hyperactivity with Socio demographic variables

4.6 Discussion

To our knowledge, this is the first study with robust methodology to highlight the prevalence rate of ADHD among school children in Oman. The study indicates that 8.8% of the cohort exhibited symptoms of ADHD as solicited by the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales. In previous studies, most reports were based on the Conner's Scale (Bener et al., 2006, Bu-Haroon et al., 1999, Al-Haidar, 2002, Al-Sharbati et al., 2004). Unlike Conner's Scale, the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales used in this study are more protracted, and appear to reflect the nomenclature as depicted in the DSM (Wamithi et al., 2015, Collett et al., 2003). Furthermore, the NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales are better equipped to detect a spectrum of ADHD including inattentive symptoms and hyperactivity/impulsivity, as well as a combination of these. The NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scales are also equipped to tap into the core symptoms of ADHD, but also impairment as well as comorbidity, such as Oppositional-Defiant/Conduct Disorders and Anxiety/Depression (Wamithi et al., 2015).

The present study has therefore identified a different and, perhaps, more complete spectrum of ADHD. The study results indicate that 7.3% of children in the sample were identified by the teacher as having inattentive symptoms while 3% were identified as exhibiting predominately hyperactivity/impulsivity symptoms. On the whole, the present rate of 8.8% appears to echo the international range noted in the research literature (Faraone et al., 2003), although it appears in the lower range more typical when using questionnaires or a symptoms checklist (Faraone et al., 2003). On the other hand, when studies are conducted in the community using the 'gold standard' of semi-structured interview, the rate has been estimated to range between 6-7% of the targeted group (Faraone et al., 2003). The available literature also indicates that Arab populations generally show a lower rate of ADHD, as compared to Euro-American populations (Polanczyk et al., 2007).

On the whole, this study indicates that ADHD is relatively common among school-going children in Oman. As the present cohort is derived from school children residing in the area coterminous with the capital city of Muscat which, in essence, the urban region of the country where the bulk of the population in Oman is located (National Centre for Statistics and Information, 2013). Further studies are needed to render the study findings generalization to the rest of the population beyond the Muscat Governorate.

The second interrelated aim of this study was to highlight the risk factors, or specifically parental factors, associated with ADHD. Previous studies in the regions have focused only on establishing the rate of prevalence (Bener et al., 2006, Bu-Haroon et al., 1999, Al-Haidar, 2002, Al-Sharbati et al., 2004). Establishing the risk factors would lay the groundwork for developing preventative measures as well as for contemplating the most effective remedial services. This results of this study suggest that socio-economic status has a direct bearing on whether the children exhibit symptoms of ADHD or otherwise. Specifically, this study indicates that the higher income of the parent, the more likely that the children will be shielded from exhibiting ADHD, especially PHIS (Russell et al., 2014, Larsson et al., 2014).

This study also indicates that the parent's place of work has strong links to whether a child has ADHD or not. Parents working in the government sectors, particularly fathers, have children with less risk for exhibiting symptoms of ADHDCIH compared to those working in private sectors. In Oman, government jobs tend to provide more holidays as well as higher salaries. In fact, studies have indicated that the most preferred jobs among the Omani labour force are in the government sector. Indeed, one study has indicated that those working in the private sector are more likely to have a lower level of education and are more like to suffer from an emotional disorder (Al-Salmani et al., 2015).

Finally, and somewhat surprisingly, the results of this study indicate that children of mothers who are not housewives have a significantly higher risk of showing symptoms of PHIS, even though the mother's level of education had no predictive value for this subtype of ADHD. This suggests that the operative factor relates to the mother's presence inside the home. This is consistent with socio-cultural teaching where mothers tend to play dominant role in socializing children (Frick and Dickens, 2006, Tercyak et al., 2002, Tapert et al., 2002). On the other hand, it seems to challenge previous findings that suggest that low parental education is predictive of ADHD (St Sauver et al., 2004).

It should be kept in mind, however, that the variables in question demonstrate different predictive patterns across the different types and measures of ADHD used in this study (PIS, PHIS, ADHDCIH). Thus, it provides a more nuanced portrait of the possible contributing factors for the development of ADHD symptomatology. On the other hand, the possible causative or contributory role of these variables cannot be divorced from the specific forms of impairment captured by these measures.

4.6.1 Study Limitations

The current study's objective to establish the prevalence of ADHD in Oman and identify the associated risk factors were addressed using a cross-sectional study design. The study's findings, therefore, rely upon a single measurement in time which is subject to change as the children become older. Therefore, the ideal design would be a longitudinal cohort study using 6 month intervals to measure ADHD. This would provide a more accurate measure of the incidence of ADHD as well.

The sample children in this study were from Muscat region alone, which is not necessarily representative of the national population. Therefore, the generalisability of these findings to children in other areas of the country may be limited. Consequently, a multicentre study using more than a single region would be appropriate to address this limitation.

In previous studies, familiar measures of ADHD have been strongly linked to IQ as well as parental factors. IQ levels were not explored in this study. Thus, based on the findings of this study, we are unable to explore the association between IQ and the spectrum of ADHD.

4.7 Conclusion

This study has measured the prevalence rate of PIS, PHIS and ADHD among Omani school children as 7.3% (95% CI: 4.5%, 10.1 %), 3% (1.2, 4.8%) and 8.8% (5.7%, 11.8%), respectively. Statistical analyses indicates that reduced family income, and non-government jobs were most strongly associated with an increased risk for ADHD: specifically, family income for PHIS (p=.019) and father's employment sector for ADHDCIH (p=.012). Childhood symptoms of PHIS were also significantly correlated with mother's occupations outside the home (p=.038). These associations remain the same even after controlling for other factors.

CHAPTER 5:

Vitamin D Deficiency Is Prevalent in Healthy Omani School Children: Omega-3 Fatty Acids Have a Mitigating Effect

5.1 Introduction

Oman has made a remarkable progress in socio-economic development in the last four decades (Musaiger, 1998, IBPUS, 2013). This advancement is reflected in dramatic reductions in maternal, child and infant mortality rates, common infectious diseases, extreme poverty, and a significant increase in life expectancy (UNICEF, 2009, Al-Lamki, 2010, UNDP, 2010). Conversely, the prevalence of obesity in adults and children, and non-communicable diseases, such as vascular and respiratory diseases, diabetes and cancer has reached epidemic proportions (Musaiger, 2002, Badran and Laher, 2011, Rahim et al., 2014a). The Oman World Health Survey, a country-wide community-based household survey involving about 5000 subjects conducted in 2008, revealed that 40.3% of those surveyed had hypertension, 12.3% diabetes, 21.4% obesity and 33.6% elevated blood cholesterol (Al Riyami et al., 2012).

It is plausible that genetic predisposition may be a factor for the rise in noncommunicable diseases in Oman and the other Gulf countries. However, the fact that the rise occurred in a short time and coincided with a period of economic prosperity suggests that modifiable lifestyle factors, such as physical inactivity, smoking and unhealthy diets could be the main culprits. Indeed, it has been reported that the traditional diet of the Gulf Countries which comprises primarily of dates, milk, rice, brown bread, fish and vegetables (Musaiger, 1998, Galal, 2002) has changed to resemble a more Western diet which is high in vegetable oils and animal fat (~30% daily calorie), refined sugar (~51% daily calorie) and low fibre cereals (mainly highly extracted wheat flour and polished rice, 35-42% of daily energy) (Musaiger, 1998, Badran and Laher, 2011). The Western diet is high in calorie, high glycaemic index carbohydrates, total fat and saturated, trans and omega-6 fatty acids, and low in omega-3 fatty acids and essential vitamins and trace elements.

Childhood dietary habits tend to track to adult life (Mikkilä et al., 2004, Ventura and Worobey, 2013b) and some of the non-communicable chronic diseases are thought to begin in early life and progress to become clinical diseases in adulthood (Holman et al., 1958a, Holman, 1961, McNamara et al., 1971, Newman et al., 1986, Barker, 1995a, McGill et al., 2000a, McGill et al., 2008a, McGill et al., 2009a). Moreover, perhaps because of the impact of marketing strategy (Robinson et al., 2007, Andreyeva et al., 2011), fast food meals have become very popular among children and adolescents in the Arab countries (Musaiger, 1987b, Chakar and Salameh, 2006) and elsewhere. Therefore, children and young adults must be an integral part of programmes for prevention and control of non-communicable diseases.

Recently, we conducted a comprehensive study designed to define health, physical fitness and cognitive ability of school children within the context of the rapid nutrition transition in Oman. This communication reports plasma fat-soluble micronutrient status at baseline and after intervention with fish-based menu or docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) enriched fish oil supplement.

It should be noted that there is conflicting evidence about the bioavailability of EPA and DHA from various forms of fish oil (el Boustani et al., 1987, Lawson and Hughes, 1988, Luley et al., 1990, Nordoy et al., 1991, Krokan et al., 1993, Hansen et al., 1993). El Boustani et al. (el Boustani et al., 1987) have reported a delayed and reduced incorporation of EPA into plasma triglycerides when administered as an ethyl ester, compared to the incorporation of EPA administered as natural triglycerides or as a free fatty acid. When Lawson and Hughes (Lawson and Hughes, 1988) compared the time course for the increase in concentration of EPA in plasma triglycerides relative to the maximal rise in a-linolenic acid, they found a nearly 100% absorption of EPA and DHA as free fatty acids, in contrast to the absorption of EPA as natural triglycerides (68%) or ethyl esters (20%).

Other research suggests an equal absorption of n-3 FA, either as triglycerides or ethyl esters (Luley et al., 1990, Nordoy et al., 1991). In comparing the absorption of EPA and DHA from natural fish oil triglycerides with that from ethyl esters at two different levels of EPA and DHA (54% and 35%), Luley et al. (1990) found no difference in absorption. Nordoy et al. (1991) compared the content of n-3 FA in chylomicron triglycerides and the increase in chylomicron triglycerides after a test meal with a large dose of n-3 FA, either as re-esterified triglycerides or as ethyl esters; they found a similar absorption of n-3 FA irrespective of whether the supplement was re-esterified triglycerides or ethyl esters, despite a lower rate of hydrolyses by intestinal lipase of fatty acids from ethyl esters than from triacylglycerols in vitro. The same pattern was found by Krokan et al. (1993), who demonstrated that the absorption of EPA and DHA from synthetic ethyl esters rich in EPA and DHA were fully comparable to that of natural triacylglycerols containing smaller amounts of these fatty acids.

Hansen et al. (1993) gave volunteers EPA and DHA, either as natural triglycerides or as ethyl esters, of approximately 3.5 g/day for 7 weeks. They found equal

incorporations of EPA and DHA into plasma phospholipids from their two formulations. The incorporation of EPA into plasma cholesterol esters from ethyl esters, on the other hand, was significantly lower than that from natural triglycerides.

5.2 Subjects and Methods

5.2.1 Subjects and Recruitment

Three hundred fourteen children (boys, n=139, girls, n=175) accounting for a 4.6% of the school pupils aged between 9 and 10 years from the Muscat Governorate were recruited using a two stage sampling procedure. In the first stage, three (n=3) of thirty nine (n=39) schools in the Governorate and in the second stage, three Grade 4 classes from five were randomly selected. The three schools were assigned to fish, fish oil or control group and the children were given for lunch a 100 gram lightly grilled fish sandwich with some vegetables (fish group), their habitual food or omega-3 fatty capsule containing 403 mg docosahexaenoic (DHA) and 53 mg eicosapentaenoic (EPA) acids. One hundred gram (100g) of the fish used in the study (Grouper, Sea bream, Kingfish, Emperor and Snapper) provided 150 to 200 mg omega-3 fatty acids and the dishes were prepared tastefully to enhance compliance by professional chefs at the Intercontinental City Hotel, Muscat. Body weight, height and body mass index were assessed baseline and a non-fasting blood sample, about 8 ml, obtained in EDTA at baseline and after 12 weeks of intervention.

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Ministry of Health, Sultanate of Oman (Ref. MH/DGP/R&S/Proposal_Approved/8/2012), and the National Research Ethics Committee North West – Haydock, UK (REC reference no. 12/NW/0760) and registered with ISRCTN Register (Reg. No. ISRCTN93233285). Informed and signed consent was obtained from the parents/guardians of the children and the study was conducted in accordance with the provisions of the ethical approval of the two ethics committees and the principles of Helsinki Declaration.

5.2.2 Methods

Sample processing – Plasma and red blood cells were separated from whole blood specimen by centrifugation at 1200 g, 4°C, for 10 minutes. The plasma was siphoned out carefully and transferred to another tube. The buffy coat was discarded and the red cell pellet washed three times by suspension in physiological saline (0.85%)

NaCl) and cold centrifugation. The plasma and red blood cells were stored at -70°C until analysis.

Anthropometry - Weight in kilogram and height in centimetre were assessed with a Seca Electronic Scale 890 (UNISCALE, Seca, Birmingham B5 5QB, UK) and a measuring board (Schorr, Weight and Measure, LLC, Olney, Maryland, USA) respectively.

The specific procedures used for each micronutrient included in this analysis are described in section 2.4.2 Blood Lipid Profile and Vitamins.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Pre-intervention (baseline) gender comparison

Body weight, height, body max index and plasma vitamin A (all-trans retinol), beta carotene, vitamin E (alpha-tocopherol), total lipid (triglycerides and cholesterol), alpha-tocopherol and total lipid ratio, total vitamin D, parathryroid hormone, alkaline phosphatase, calcium and inorganic phosphate levels of the children are shown in Table 5-1. The male compared with the female students had higher vitamin D (p<0.0001) and lower parathyroid hormone (p<0.0001) and alkaline phosphatase (p<0.01) levels.

5.3.2 Post-intervention group comparison

Compared with the control group, the children (both male and female students) who were given fish oil supplement for twelve weeks had increased concentrations of B-carotene and vitamin D (p<0.001). Similarly, both carotene (p<0.001) and vitamin D (p<0.05) levels were higher in those who received fish meals (Table 5-2).

Variables	Total students (n=314)	Male students (n=139)	Female students (n=175)
Weight (kg)		30.1 ± 7.8	29.9 ± 8.2
Height (cm)		133.1 ± 6.4	133.1 ± 6.6
Body mass index (kg/m ²)		16.8 ± 3.4	16.7 ± 3.5
Retinol (µmol/L)	2.7 ± 0.9	2.7 ± 0.8	2.6 ± 0.9
Beta carotene (µmol/L)	0.7 ± 0.5	0.7 ± 0.5	0.7 ± 0.5
α-tocopherol (µmol/L)	21.1 ± 4.8	20.9 ± 4.9	21.3 ± 4.7
Total lipid (mmol/L)	5.0 ± 0.8	4.9 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol) / total lipid (mmol) ratio	4.3 ± 0.9	4.3 ± 0.9	4.3 ± 0.9
Vitamin D (25-hydroxy vitamin D) (nmol/L)	43.1 ± 17.1	49.3 ± 17.5	38.5 ± 15.3**
Parathyroid hormone (pmol/L)	5.5 ± 1.9	5.0 ± 1.7	5.8 ± 2.1 **
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	237.2 ± 73.5	225.2 ± 66.6	$247.8\pm73.7^{\boldsymbol{*}}$
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	1.6 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 0.2

Table 5-1: Baseline weight, height, body mass index and plasma A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of Omani school children

**p<0.0001, *p<0.01 - Male students vs. Female students

Variables	Control group (n=116)	Fish oil group (n=86)	Fish meal group (n=108)
Retinol (µmol/L)	2.2 ± 0.7	2.3 ± 0.8	2.3 ± 0.8
Beta carotene (μmol/L)	0.9 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.7**	1.2 ± 0.7**
lpha-tocopherol (µmol/L)	20.0 ± 4.8	20.5 ± 4.5	20.5 ± 4.7
Total lipid (mmol/L)	5.1 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 0.8	5.2 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol) / total lipid (mmol) ratio	4.2 ± 0.9	4.6 ± 1.0\$	4.2 ± 0.8
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	42.3 ± 17.5	54.1 ± 17.5**	49.2 ± 17.4*
Parathyroid hormone (pmol/L)	5.8 ± 2.1	5.8 ± 2.1	6.4 ± 2.4
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	250.4 ± 72.8	245.9 ± 65.7	253.6 ± 85.0
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	1.9 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.1	1.6 ± 0.1
	*		

Table 5-2: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of male and female school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks

** P<0.001 Control group vs. Fish oil group; p<0.05 Control group vs. Fish meal group * P<0.001 Fish oil group vs. Fish meal and Control Groups

5.3.3 Gender-stratified post-intervention group comparison

In the male students, beta carotene and vitamin D concentrations in the fish oil (p<0.001) and in the fish (p<0.05) groups were higher than in their counterparts who did not receive fish oil or fish meals (Table 5-4). Likewise, in the female students who were given fish oil and fish meals had elevated level of vitamin D (p<0.001 and p<0.05) compared with the control group students (Table 5-5).

Table 5-3: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of <u>male and female</u> school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks.

Variables	Control group (n=116)	Fish oil group (n=86)	Fish meal group (n=108)
Retinol (µmol/L)	2.2 ± 0.7	2.3 ± 0.8	2.3 ± 0.8
Beta carotene (µmol/L)	0.9 ± 0.4	1.2 ± 0.7 **	1.2 ± 0.7 **
α -tocopherol (µmol/L)	20.0 ± 4.8	20.5 ± 4.5	20.5 ± 4.7
Total lipid (mmol/L)	5.1 ± 0.8	5.1 ± 0.8	5.2 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol) / total lipid (mmol) ratio	4.2 ± 0.9	$4.6 \pm 1.0^{\$}$	4.2 ± 0.8
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	42.3 ± 17.5	54.1 ± 17.5 **	$49.2\pm17.4^{*}$
Parathyroid hormone (pmol/L)	5.8 ± 2.1	5.8 ± 2.1	6.4 ± 2.4
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	250.4 ± 72.8	245.9 ± 65.7	253.6 ± 85.0
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	1.9 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.1	1.6 ± 0.1

** p<0.001 Control group vs. Fish oil group; p<0.05 Control group vs. Fish meal group

^{\$} p<0.001 Fish oil group vs. Fish meal and Control Groups

Variables	Control group (n=51)	Fish oil group (n=37)	Fish meal group (n=48)
Retinol (µmol/L)	2.2 ± 0.7	2.1 ± 0.7	2.4 ± 0.6
Beta carotene (µmol/L)	0.9 ± 0.4	1.4 ± 0.8 **	$1.2 \pm 0.8^{*}$
α-tocopherol (µmol/L)	20.2 ± 5.6	21.1 ± 4.0	20.5 ± 3.6
Total lipid (mmol/L)	5.1 ± 0.8	5.0 ± 0.7	5.3 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol) / total lipid (mmol) ratio	4.2 ± 0.9	$4.6\pm0.8^{\$}$	4.1 ± 0.8
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	50.6 ± 18.9	63.1 ± 17.3 **	$58.0\pm16.5^{\ast}$
Parathyroid hormone (pmol/L)	5.5 ± 1.9	4.9 ± 1.4	5.9 ± 2.1
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	237.2 ± 61.8	226.6 ± 39.2	256.7 ± 82.6
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	2.4 ± 0.4	1.6 ± 0.1	1.6 ± 0.1

Table 5-4: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of the <u>male</u> school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks

**p<0.001 Control group vs. Fish oil group; *p<0.05 Control group vs. Fish meal group +p<0.05 Fish oil group vs. Fish meal and Control groups; *p<0.05 Fish oil group vs. Control and Fish meal groups

Table 5-5: Plasma vitamin A, D and E, beta carotene, total lipid, parathyroid hormone, calcium and phosphate levels of the <u>female</u> school children after intervention with DHA-rich fish oil formulation or fish meal for 12 weeks

Variables	Control group (n=65)	Fish oil group (n=49)	Fish meal group (n=60)
Retinol (µmol/L)	2.2 ± 0.7	2.2 ± 0.9	2.3 ± 0.8
Beta carotene (µmol/L)	0.8 ± 0.5	1.1 ± 0.7	0.9 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol/L)	19.9 ± 4.2	20.1 ± 4.9	20.6 ± 5.5
Total lipid (mmol/L)	5.1 ± 0.8	5.2 ± 0.8	5.2 ± 0.8
α-tocopherol (µmol) / total lipid (mmol) ratio	4.2 ± 0.8	$4.6\pm1.0^{\$}$	4.2 ± 0.8
Vitamin D (nmol/L)	36.1 ± 13.5	47.3 ± 14.6 **	$41.8 \pm 14.6^{\texttt{*}}$
Parathyroid hormone (pmol/L)	6.0 ± 2.2	6.5 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.6
Alkaline phosphatase (U/L)	261.2 ± 79.6	260.8 ± 77.6	251.2 ± 87.5
Calcium (mmol/L)	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1	2.5 ± 0.1
Phosphate (mmol/L)	1.6 ± 0.2	1.7 ± 0.2	1.6 ± 0.1

**p<0.001 Control group vs. Fish oil group; *p<0.05 Control group vs. Fish meal group

p<0.05 Fish oil group vs. Control and Fish meal groups

5.3.4 Pre- and post-intervention comparison

Post-intervention plasma vitamin D (Fig. 5-1) and parathyroid hormone (Fig. 5-2) concentrations compared with pre-intervention (baseline) were higher in the children who received fish oil and fish meals (p<0.0001). There was no difference between the pre- and post-intervention concentrations of the two analytes in the control group.



Figure 5-1: Plasma vitamin D concentrations before (baseline) and after intervention with fish oil and fish meal for 12 weeks



Figure 5-2: Plasma parathyroid hormone levels before (baseline) and after intervention with fish oil and fish meal for 12 weeks

5.4 Discussion

Urbanisation, heavy reliance on imported foods (primarily beef, dairy and poultry products and refined cereals, vegetable oils and sugar) and sweetened beverages and the proliferation of food supermarkets and convenience fast-food restaurants have led to a drastic change in dietary habits in Oman. The impact of the change, which is characterised mainly by intakes of calorie-rich and essential micronutrient-poor foods, on lipid-soluble nutrient (vitamin A, D and E, and beta carotene) status of Omani children has not been fully investigated. Accumulating evidence demonstrates, these micronutrients, in addition to their well-characterised classical functions (Goodman et al., 1966, Bonet et al., 2003, DeLuca, 2004, Black et al., 2008, Sathe and Patel, 2010, Niki and Traber, 2012) play a role in gene expression (Zhang et al., 1992, Azzi et al., 2004, Bastien and Rochette-Egly, 2004, Hossein-nezhad et al., 2013), cognitive function (Grodstein et al., 2007, Olson and Mello, 2010, Soni et al., 2012, Ulatowski et al., 2014) and antioxidant defence (Burton and Ingold, 1984, Lin et al., 2005). Moreover, deficiency/insufficiency of these nutrients is thought to be associated with increased risks of non-communicable diseases.

A biannual supplementation programme with a high dose vitamin A in infants and children aged six to fifty-nine months (UNICEF, 2007, WHO, 2011a) is effective in reducing morbidity, mortality and vision impairment (Beaton et al., 1993, Fawzi et al., 1993, Imdad et al., 2010). Regardless, vitamin A deficiency is still the foremost cause of these preventable problems, particularly in South East Asia and Africa. Based on the prevalence of night blindness and biochemical vitamin A deficiency based estimates, 45 and 122 countries respectively have vitamin A deficiency of public health significance (WHO, 2009). A 0.70 µmol/l serum/plasma vitamin A concentration is the cut-off point of deficiency (WHO, 1996, de Pee and Dary, 2002) which is used as a marker for assessing severity and public health significance in most age groups (WHO, 2011b). A cross-sectional survey (Ministry of Health of the Sultanate of Oman, 2006) on food fortification and micronutrient deficiencies conducted in Oman in 2004 found vitamin A deficiency in children aged 6-59 (5.5%), 6-23 (18%) and 24-59 (3%) months, and in nonpregnant women of reproductive age (0.5%). In the current study, deficiency (≤ 0.70 µmol/l) was not detected in any of the children and only three of them had a marginal status (<1.05 µmol/l). Some of the milk and dairy products in the Omani market are fortified with vitamin A (Alasfoor et al., 2007) and it is mandatory for edible vegetable oils sold in the country to incorporate 60 IU/g of the vitamin. It appears that the children were able to maintain adequate status by consuming foods fortified with preformed vitamin A as well as vegetables containing provitamin A.

There is a wide variability in blood beta carotene concentration among healthy individuals (Winklhofer-Roob et al., 1997). The variations are primarily a reflection of intake, vitamin A status and genetic make-up (Lacher et al., 2005, Tourniaire et al., 2009, Borel, 2012). Gender-related differences in concentration have also been reported (Hercberg et al., 1994, Olmedilla et al., 1994). Nevertheless, depending on the amount of fruits and vegetables consumed, blood beta carotene levels generally fall between 0.2 and 1.5 μ mol/l (Burri, 1997). The present study did not detect gender-related effect on plasma beta carotene, and the values were within the aforementioned range in 87% (0.63±0.31 μ mol/l), below in 7% (0.16±0.04 μ mol/l) and above in 6% (1.87±0.28 μ mol/l) of the children. Fresh fruits, which are an important component of the Omani foods, are eaten three or more times a week (Opara et al., 2007). This Omani dietary habit may provide and an explanation for the 'adequate' beta carotene status in most of the children in the current study.

In contrast to vitamin A, the concentration of plasma beta carotene increased significantly in the fish diet and fish oil groups after intervention for 12 weeks (P<0.001) (Table 5-2). This finding, which is consistent with the report that fish oil supplementation enhances the absorption of beta carotene in human (Nair et al., 1993) and rats (Blakely et al., 1992), is rather intriguing since dietary fat is thought to facilitate fat-soluble vitamin uptake and transport.

As is the case with the other fat-soluble vitamins, the blood level of vitamin E (alph-tocopherol) varies considerably between individuals and population groups (Winklhofer-Roob et al., 1997, Valtuena et al., 2011, Peter et al., 2013, Traber, 2014). Nevertheless, a concentration of less than 12 μ mol/l in plasma is defined as the cut-off point of vitamin E inadequacy (Institute of Medicine et al., 2000), and the minimum concentration required to help prevent cardiovascular diseases and cancer is thought to be 30 μ mol/l (Gey, 1995). 96.6% of the children in this study had concentrations higher and 3.4% lower than the cut-off point (12 μ mol/l). Two children had levels (7.38 and 7.89 μ mol/l) less than 8 μ mol/l, a value which is associated with neurological disease. Since vitamin E is intimately associated with circulating lipids, the ratio of the two nutrients was used to evaluate vitamin E status. All of the children had vitamin E/total lipid ratio higher than the cut-off point 1.11 μ mol/mmol suggesting that the 'deficiency'

in the 3.4% of the children indicated by plasma vitamin E concentration may not be related to a low intake.

There was no difference in the post-intervention plasma vitamin E concentration between the three groups (Table 5-2, 5-3 and 5-4). In contrast, the post-intervention vitamin E/total lipid ratio was significantly higher in the children who received the fish oil supplement compared with the fish diet and control groups. This difference was most likely due to the combined effect of omega-3 fatty acids which reduces blood lipid content and the vitamin E incorporated in the supplement to prevent lipid peroxidation.

Consistent with the previous reports of Omani non-pregnant (Al-Kindi, 2011) and pregnant (Al Kalbani et al., 2011) women, school children aged 9 to 12 years (Kilani et al., 2013) and adults aged 18 to 55 (Abiaka et al., 2013), most of the children in the current study were severely deficient (<27.5 nmol/L; 10.5% boys and 28.5% girls), deficient (27.5-44.9 nmol/L; 47.6% boys and 49.4% girls) or insufficient (50 – 74.9 nmol/L; 34.6% boys and 21.5% girls) in vitamin D. Only 7.3% boys and 0.6% girls had a sufficient level (\geq 75 nmol/L) level. As it is borne out by the elevated levels of parathyroid hormone and alkaline phosphatase (Table 5-1) the insufficiency was more pronounced in the female children. The high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the children should be a major public health concern because childhood is a period of skeletal mineral acquisition and bone modelling and there is evidence that vitamin D plays a critical role in muscle growth and development, cognitive function and modulation of innate and adaptive immunity.

Omega-3 fatty acids have been shown to enhance bone mineralisation in human and experimental animals but their effect on blood vitamin D has not been investigated. The children who were given oily fishes, which are thought to contain variable amounts of vitamin D, and DHA-enriched fish oil supplement, which was stripped out of vitamin D, had elevated plasma 25-hydroxy vitamin D concentration compared with the control group (Tables 5-2, 5-3, 5-4). It is not obvious how fish oil increases plasma vitamin D. However, since it did not have any effect on PTH or alkaline phosphatase the action may be mediated by the facilitation of vitamin D transport across the intestinal mucosa. Indeed, there is evidence that dietary fat promotes vitamin D absorption (Dawson-Hughes et al., 2015).

Bone mineral density of the children and vitamin D status of rural children with limited access to school transport were not assessed. These limitations will be addressed in future investigations. This study demonstrates that vitamin D insufficiency is highly prevalent in Omani young school children and it could be mitigated with omega-3 fatty acid supplementation. Various studies have reported vitamin D deficiency/insufficiency in non-pregnant and pregnant Omani women. It is conceivable that Omani children may be at risk of developmental and health problems caused by prenatal and postnatal vitamin D deficiency. Vitamin D plays a crucial role in skeletal and extra-skeletal systems. Therefore, there is an urgent need for a well-thought-out programme which incorporates a fortification of foods and drinks favoured by children and outdoor activities to help tackle this major public health problem.

CHAPTER 6: Red Blood Cell Fatty Acid Profile of Healthy Omani School Children Before and After Intervention with Omega 3 Fish Fatty Acids

6.1 Introduction

The traditional Omani economy was based on subsistence farming, herding, fishing and trading (The Bank Group, 1972, College of Agriculture, 1995, Al-Mashakhi and Koll, 2007) and the diet of the population consisted mainly of whole grain, legumes, fruits, vegetables and fish (UNICEF, 1973, Musaiger, 1998). However, following the discovery and exploitation of oil five decades ago, the country has undergone a major economic transformation (Musaiger, 1998) and registered a significant progress in health and social care, education and reduction in poverty and mal-nutrition (Al-Lamki, 2010). In the same period of time, the prevalence of non-communicable chronic diseases, such as obesity, diabetes, cancer, high blood pressure and cardiovascular disease (Al Riyami et al., 2012, Rahim et al., 2014a) and the consumption of imported energy-dense foods, vegetable oils, milled and polished grains and carbonated beverages (Musaiger, 1998, US Commercial Service, 2005, Mohammed, 2009) have increased considerably. The numerous fast food outlets and restaurants dotted across towns and the supermarket ready meals have and are contributing to the transformation of the traditional dietary pattern. This change in food culture is likely to be enduring as there is evidence that children and adolescents in Oman and other Arab countries have adopted readily Western eating habits (Chakar and Salameh, 2006, Braithwaite et al., 2014).

Injudicious consumption of contemporary Western pattern diets - high protein and fat of intensively reared land animals, refined sugar, vegetable fat and oils (mainly sunflower, safflower and corn) and low fresh fruits and vegetables and marine foods (Cordain et al., 2005a, Patterson et al., 2012, Misra et al., 2010, Carrera-Bastos et al., 2011a) – have played a critical role in the rise of non-communicable chronic diseases (Carrera-Bastos et al., 2011a, Meyerhardt et al., 2007, Torfadottir et al., 2012) in the last six decades. This deleterious effect is attributed primarily to an excessive amount of saturated, trans and omega 6 fatty acid and an insufficient omega 3 fatty acid and essential micro-nutrient content of the consumed diet (Cordain et al., 2005a, Litin and Sacks, 1993, Simopoulos, 2011).

Cell line, experimental animal and human epidemiological and intervention studies demonstrate that the long chain omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids directly, or indirectly via their metabolites, play a pivotal role in neuro-visual development, function and rehabilitation (Martinez, 2001, Helland et al., 2008a, Ryan et al., 2010, Pu et al., 2013), cardioprotection (Nestel et al., 2015, Costanzo et al., 2013), modulation of inflammatory and immune responses (Calder, 2013, Maskrey et al., 2013, Fritsche, 2015)

signal transduction and gene expression (Gdula-Argasinska et al., 2015, Nakamoto et al., 2015, Zaree et al., 2015).

In light of the rapidly shifting nutrition transition in Oman, this study investigated fatty acid status of preadolescence school children before and after intervention with fish oil or oily fish.

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Subjects and recruitment

Female (n=160) and Male (n=125) healthy school children aged 9 and 10 years were recruited from three schools in Muscat, Sultanate of Oman. Subsequently, the schools were assigned at random to one to three groups and the children given a 100 gram oily fish sandwich, lightly grilled (Fish Group), fish oil capsule, 403 mg DHA and 53 mg EPA (Fish Oil Group) or their habitual diet (Control Group) during lunch time, on schools days, for twelve weeks. The fish used for the sandwich, which were grouper, sea bream, kingfish, emperor and snapper, supplied between 150 and 200 mg omega-3 fatty acids (EPA, DPA and DHA). To help improve consistency, taste and flavour and consequently compliance the sandwich was prepared by professional chefs of the Intercontinental City Hotel, Muscat. About 8 ml of non-fasting blood specimen was collected from each child before and at the end of the intervention period and stored in a freezer at - 80° C and subsequently transported in dry ice to London for analysis. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Committee of the Ministry of Health, Sultanate of Oman (Ref. MH/DGP/R&S/8/2012), and the National Research Ethics Committee North West - Haydock, UK (REC reference no. 12/NW/0760). Informed and signed consent was obtained from the parents/guardians of the children. Study registration ISRCTN93233285.

6.2.2 Analysis of red blood cell fatty acids

Red blood cell lipids were extracted based on the method of Folch et al. (1957b) by homogenising 0.5 ml of sample in chloroform/methanol (2:1 v/v) containing the antioxidant butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT, 0.01% w/v) under nitrogen. Fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were prepared by acid-catalysed transesterfication reaction by heating the extracted lipids in 4 ml methanolic acetyl chloride (15% v/v) in a tightly sealed vial at 70C° for 3 hours after degassing with nitrogen. The FAMEs were extracted with petroleum spirit, dried and then re-dissolved in heptane for separation by a gas

chromatograph (HRGC MEGA 2 series, Fisons Instruments, Italy) fitted with a BPX 70 capillary column (60m x 0.25mm ID, 0.25µ film). Hydrogen was used as carrier gas at a flow rate of 2.3 ml/min and the injector and detector temperatures were set at 250 and 280°C, respectively. The initial oven temperature which was 60°C increased at 5°C/min to 160°C, maintained for 5 min, and then increased at 3°C/min to 205°C and kept constant for 12 minutes. The eluted peaks were identified with fatty acid methyl ester standard mixture certified for quality (Supelco® 37 Component FAME Mix. U47885-U, Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK), GC-MS authenticated fatty acid methyl esters prepared from lipid extract of vegetable seed oils containing alpha-linolenic, gamma-linolenic and stearidonic acids, and bovine brain L-A-phosphatidylethanolamine Type 1 (Sigma-Aldrich, Dorset, UK). Peak areas were computed with EZChrom Ellite, version 3.2 (Scientific software, Pleasant, CA, USA).

6.3 Data Analyses

The continuous variables are expressed as mean and standard deviation (mean± sd). Statistical differences between the data of the female and male students at baseline, and between the three groups at post-intervention were evaluated with an independent (unpaired) t-test and a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), respectively. The Bonferroni pairwise multiple comparison post-hoc test was performed when the ANOVA F-test indicated significance. A univariate regression analysis was used to assess relationships between the major fatty acids. P values of less than 0.05 were deemed statistically significant. Analyses were conducted with IBM SPSS statistics, version 22 (IBM Corporation, New Orchard Road, Armonk, New York 10504-1722, USA)

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Demographics and baseline blood pressure and lipids

Age, height, weight, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, plasma triglycerides and HDL, LDL and total cholesterol levels of the children prior to the intervention are presented in Table 6-1. There was no difference in any of the aforementioned variables between the genders (p>0.05).

Characteristics	Boys & Girls (n=285)	Boys (n=125)	Girls (n=160)
Age (year)	9/10	9/10	9/10
Weight (kg)	29.6±7.5	29.3±6.6	29.9±8.2
Height (cm)	133.3±6.6	133.3±6.3	133.3±6.8
Systolic BP (mmHg)	107.2±10.4	107.5±9.5	106.9±10.6
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	63.8±10.3	63.8±9.9	63.8±10.6
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	0.61±0.3	0.59±0.30	0.63±0.26
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.32±0.68	4.28±0.71	4.35±0.65
HDL- Cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.38±0.32	1.41±0.34	1.36±0.31
LDL-Cholesterol (mmol/L)	2.66±0.55	2.61±0.58	2.71±0.53

Table 6-1: Baseline characteristics of the children

6.4.2 Baseline red blood cell fatty acids

The male students had a higher level of myristic (C14:0), palmetic (C16:0) (p<0.05) and oleic (C18:1n-9, p<0.01) and lower adrenic (22:4n-6, p<0.05) acids compared with their female counterparts. The percentages of the other saturated, mono-unsaturated, n-6 and n-3 fatty acids and DHA sufficiency index (DHA/N-6 DPA) were not different between the two groups (p>0.05, Table 6-2). The n-3 index correlated positively with arachidonic (r=0.258, p=0.004) and total n-6 (r=0.504, p=0.0001) and inversely with total saturated (r= - 0.765, p=0.0001) and mono-unsaturated (r= - 0.684, p=0.0001) fatty acids in the male children. Similarly, in the girls, arachidonic (r= 0.169, p=0.030), total n-6 (r=0.340, p=0.0001), total saturated (r= - 0.677, p=0.0001) and mono-unsaturated (r= - 0.224, p=0.005) were associated with n-3 index.
Fatty acids	Boys & Girls (n=290)	Boys (n=126)	Girls (n=164)
14:0	0.17±0.10	0.18±0.10*	0.16±0.09
16:0	23.5±4.3	24.2±4.5*	22.9±4.1
18:0	15.9±1.4	15.9±1.5	15.9±1.3
20:0	0.36 ± 0.11	0.35 ± 0.11	0.36 ± 0.10
22:0	1.58 ± 0.49	1.56 ± 0.52	1.59 ± 0.48
24:0	$3.42 \pm .1.1$	3.44±1.1	3.40±0.99
\sum Saturates	44.9±5.9	45.6±6.5	44.3±5.3
16:1n-7	0.17 ± 0.07	0.17 ± 0.07	0.17 ± 0.07
18:1n-7	0.63 ± 0.10	0.62 ± 0.11	0.64 ± 0.10
18:1n-9	11.6 ± 1.5	11.9±1.6**	11.4±1.3
20:1n-9	0.16 ± 0.05	0.15 ± 0.06	0.16 ± 0.05
24:1n-9	2.39 ± 0.72	2.33±0.69	2.44 ± 0.74
∑ Monoenes	15.0±1.9	15.2±2.1	14.8±1.7
18:2n-6	9.31±1.5	9.23±1.5	9.36±1.5
18:3n-6	0.10 ± 0.03	0.10 ± 0.03	0.09 ± 0.03
20:2n-6	0.18 ± 0.06	0.18 ± 0.06	0.19 ± 0.05
20:3n-6	1.33 ± 0.37	1.33 ± 0.41	1.34 ± 0.33
20:4n-6	14.7±1.8	14.6±1.9	14.9±1.8
22:4n-6	2.84 ± 0.87	2.71±0.90*	2.94±0.83
22:5n-6	0.67 ± 0.24	0.66 ± 0.25	0.68 ± 0.22
N-6 Metabolites	19.9±2.7	19.5 ± 2.70	20.1±2.7
∑ N-6	29.2±3.5	28.8±3.8	29.5±3.3
18:3n-3	0.05 ± 0.07	0.05±0.06	0.05 ± 0.08
20:5n-3	0.36 ± 0.14	0.39 ± 0.13	0.35 ± 0.14
22:5n-3	0.99±0.33	0.97 ± 0.37	1.00 ± 0.30
22:6n-3	3.63±1.45	3.50 ± 1.57	3.78±1.35
N-3 Index	4.10±1.32	3.89 ± 1.65	4.20±1.41
N-3 Metabolites	4.98±1.79	4.86±1.95	5.07 ± 1.64
∑ N-3	5.00 ± 1.80	4.84±1.96	5.12±1.67
16:0 DMA	2.45±0.49	2.49±0.52	2.41±0.47
18:0 DMA	3.33 ± 0.56	3.26 ± 0.56	3.38 ± 0.55
18:1 DMA	0.43 ± 0.11	0.42 ± 0.12	0.44 ± 0.10

Table 6-2: Baseline percent red blood cell lipid acid composition ofOmani preadolescent school children aged 9 and 10 years

Male vs. Female * p<0.05, **p<0.01

6.4.3 Post-intervention red blood cell fatty acids, blood pressure and plasma lipids

Red blood cell total lipid fatty acid composition of the children after intervention with fish oil or oily fish for twelve weeks is shown in Table 6-3. The control group compared with those who received oily fish and fish oil capsules had higher levels of lignoceric (24:0), nervonic (24:1n-9), docosapentaenoic (DPA, 22:5n-6) (p<0.05) and lower eicosapentaenoic (EPA, 20:5n-3), decosapentaenoic (DPA, 22:5n-3), docosahexaenoic (DHA, 22:6n-3) and total n-3 fatty acids, n-3 metabolites, n-3 index and 18:1 dimethyl acetals (p= 0.0001). Palmitic and total saturated fatty acids, DHA, DHA sufficiency index and n-3 index were lower (p<0.05) and AA, n-6 metabolites and n-3 DPA higher (p=0.0001) in the oily fish group than in the children supplemented with fish oil capsules.

In the fish oil group, n-3 index correlated positively with arachidonic (r=0.394, p=0.0001), adrenic (r=0.394, p=0.0001), n-6 DPA (r=0.562, p=0.0001) and total n-6 (r=0.414, p=0.0001) and negatively with palmitic (r= -0.762, p=0.0001), total saturated (r= -0.816, p=0.0001), palmitoleic (r= -0.384, p=0.001), oleic (r= -0.347, p=0.002) and total mono-unsaturated (r= - 0.431, p= 0.0001) fatty acids. Similarly, there was a correlation between n-3 index and arachidonic (r=0.231, p=0.038), oleic (r= -0.271, p=0.008) and total saturated (r= -0.439, p= 0.0001) and mono-unsaturated (r= -0.213, p=0.037) fatty acids in the children who received oily fish.

Post-intervention blood pressure, plasma triglycerides and LDL, HDL and total cholesterol values of the children are presented in Table 6-4. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure (p=0.0001) and plasma triglycerides (p<0.05) but not HDL, LDL and total cholesterol (p>0.05) were lower in the children supplemented with fish oil compared with those who were fed oily fish. There was no gender-related difference in any of the aforementioned variables between the control and oily fish children (p>0.05). The boys in the fish oil group had lower triglyceride and higher HDL cholesterol levels than their female counterparts (p<0.05).

Fatty acids	Control (n=102)	Oily Fish (n=77)	Fish oil (n=96)
14:0	0.10±0.07	0.11±0.10	0.12±0.08
16:0	21.1±3.6	19.8 ± 3.6^{a}	21.5±3.8
18:0	16.2±0.99	16.2±1.1	16.4±1.1
20:0	0.32 ± 0.09	0.33±0.07	0.32 ± 0.06
22:0	1.57 ± 0.24	1.53±0.27	1.53±0.29
24:0	3.71 ± 0.54^{g}	3.45 ± 0.58	3.46±0.73
\sum Saturates	42.9±3.4	41.4±2.9 ^a	43.3±4.0
16:1n-7	0.13±0.06	0.13±0.08	0.12±0.05
18:1n-7	0.63±0.11	0.61 ± 0.09	$0.59{\pm}0.09$
18:1n-9	11.5 ± 1.1	11.3±1.2	$11.4{\pm}1.2$
20:1n-9	0.14 ± 0.09	0.15±0.04	$0.14{\pm}0.04$
24:1n-9	2.65 ± 0.47^{g}	2.53±0.51	2.46±0.51
∑ Monoenes	15.0±1.3	14.7 ± 1.4	14.8±1.4
18:2n-6	9.77±1.3	9.64±1.3	10.0±1.2
18:3n-6	0.04 ± 0.03	0.04 ± 0.02	0.03 ± 0.02
20:2n-6	0.15 ± 0.05	$0.17 {\pm} 0.05^{b}$	0.16 ± 0.04
20:3n-6	1.44 ± 0.27	1.45 ± 0.31	1.35 ± 0.25
20:4n-6	14.8 ± 2.1	15.2±1.8 °	13.7±2.0 ^e
22:4n-6	3.00 ± 0.57	2.87±0.59	2.42 ± 0.53^{f}
22:5n-6 (N-6 DPA)	0.74 ± 0.19^{g}	0.67 ± 0.17	0.65 ± 0.14
N-6 Metabolites	20.1±2.7	20.3±2.4	18.3 ± 2.5^{f}
∑ N-6	29.9±3.1	30.0±2.7 °	28.3±3.0 ^e
18:3n-3	0.03±0.02	0.04 ± 0.02	0.03±0.02
20:5n-3	0.25 ± 0.13^{h}	0.41±0.19	0.36±0.12
22:5n-3	1.17 ± 0.29^{h}	1.40±0.27 °	1.07 ± 0.22
22:6n-3	$4.49{\pm}1.43^{\rm h}$	5.63 ± 1.24^{d}	6.25 ± 1.53
N-3 Index	$4.74{\pm}1.53^{ m h}$	6.03 ± 1.39^{d}	$6.60{\pm}1.63$
N-3 Metabolites	$5.91{\pm}1.69^{h}$	7.42 ± 1.57	7.59 ± 1.82
∑ N-3	$5.95{\pm}1.70^{h}$	7.46±1.58	7.62 ± 1.82
16:0 DMA	1.97±0.31	2.00±0.31	1.90±0.29
18:0 DMA	3.26±0.41	3.46±0.46 ^b	3.37±0.49
18:1 DMA	0.41 ± 0.09^{h}	0.48 ± 0.09	$0.48{\pm}0.08$
DHA/N-6 DPA	6.49 ± 2.71	8.77 ± 2.79^{b}	9.86 ± 2.12^{f}

Table 6-3: Percent red blood cell lipid acid composition of Omani preadolescent school children aged 9 and 10 years after intervention with oily fish or fish capsule for 12 weeks

Oily Fish vs. Control & Fish oil ($^{a}p < 0.05$), vs. Control ($^{b}p < 0.05$) and vs. Fish Oil ($^{c}p < 0.0001$, $^{d}p < 0.05$)

Fish Oil vs. Control (${}^{e}p<0.001$) and vs. Oily Fish & Control (${}^{f}p<0.0001$) Control vs. Oily Fish & Fish Oil (${}^{g}p<0.05$, ${}^{h}p<0.0001$)

	Control			Oily Fish Fish Oil					
Characteristics	All	Male	Female	All	Male	Female	All	Male	Female
	(n=102)	(n=46)	(n=56)	(n=95)	(n=42)	(n=50)	(n=78)	(n=34)	(n=44)
Systolic BP (mmHg)	_	_	_	111.9 ±9.6	111.9 ±9.1	111.8 ±10.0	101.7 ±7.5**	102.1 ±6.7	101.4 ±7.9
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	_	_	_	67.0 ±11.7	66.6 ±11.6	67.0 ±11.9	60.1 ±7.9**	60. 0±5.5	60.0 ±7.3
Triglycerides	0.64	0.59	0.67	0.65	0.64	0.65	0.55	0.48	0.60
(mmol/L)	±0.35	±0.37	±0.33	±0.23	±0.24	±0.22	±0.28*	±0.27 ^{\$}	±0.28
Total Cholesterol (mmol/L)	4.47 ±0.65	4.52 ±0.65	4.44 ±0.65	4.49 ±0.71	4.57 ±0.80	4.43 ±0.63	4.50 ±0.64	4.49 ±0.57	4.52 ±0.70
HDL	1.39	1.41	1.38	1.41	1.46	1.37	1.44	1.55	1.36
(mmol/L)	±0.29	±0.28	±0.31	±0.33	±0.33	±0.32	±0.32	±0.35\$	±0.28
LDL	2.80	2.83	2.75	2.79	2.81	2.76	2.81	2.71	2.89
(mmol/L)	±0.54	±0.56	±0.52	±0.54	±0.66	±0.44	±0.55	±0.49	±0.59

Table 6-4: Blood pressure, plasma triglycerides and HDL, LDL and total cholesterol of the children after intervention for 12 weeks with fish oil or oily fish

* p<0.05 Fish oil vs. Fish and vs. Control (All), ** p< 0.0001 Fish oil vs. Fish (All); \$ p<0.05 Male vs. Female (Fish oil group)

6.5 Discussion

The primary focus of this study was the n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids which are thought to be limiting nutrients in Westernised dietary patterns. The sum of red blood cell DHA and EPA percentages, n-3 fatty acid index, was used to assess status.

Previous studies have reported higher levels n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in women than in men (Lohner et al., 2013) this distinction is attributed to hormonal effect (Childs et al., 2008) the current study, although the female children had slightly elevated levels of DHA, n-3 metabolites (EPA, n-3 DPA and DHA) and n-3 fatty acid index compared with their male counterparts, the differences were not statistically significant. This was predicable since the children were prepubescent aged 9 and 10 years and the gender-related variation in oestrogen concentration would not be high enough to have a measurable influence on the activity of delta 6 and 5 desaturases.

Consistent with the country's long maritime history and coastline fish is an integral part of the Omani traditional diet. Therefore, the low mean baseline red cell n-3 fatty acid index of the children, which is broadly comparable to those of healthy Guatemalan (Solomons et al., 2015) Danish (Damsgaard et al., 2013) and American (Harris et al., 2013) children of a similar age group, suggests the consumption of fish might have declined among the preadolescent Omani perhaps in favour of the widely available subsidised processed foods (Mohammed, 2009) which are high in saturated and n-6 fatty acids.. The most striking and indeed puzzling finding was the very low n-3 fatty acid index (<2%), which was unrelated to improper specimen collection and processing, in a small number of seemingly healthy children with no history of mental or neurological disorders (Figure 5-1). The short and long-term implications of this finding is not apparent; nevertheless, it is of concern because of the critical role of n-3 long chain fatty acids, particularly in visual and neuronal development, function and brain protection (Ryan et al., 2010, Martinez et al., 2000, Baumgartner, 2016, Farooqui and Farooqui, 2016, Bauer et al., 2014). In addition, in adults, there is evidence that patients with psychiatric conditions and individuals at a higher risk of unexpected death from a heart disease have red blood cell n-3 fatty acid index of less than 4% (Messamore and McNamara, 2016). These observations are pertinent for children since early life is thought to be the genesis of a number of non-communicable chronic diseases (psychiatric and cardiovascular) (Stein, 2003, Abbott et al., 1998, Brown and Susser, 2008, Hollis, 2000, Holman, 1961, McGill et al., 2009b). Indeed, O'Sullivan and colleagues have reported that n-3 fatty acid index correlates with reduced cardiovascular disease risk factors in adolescent boys (O'Sullivan et al., 2011).



Figure 6-1: Baseline Percent N-3 Fatty Acid Index Distribution

After 12 weeks supplementation, compared with the controls, red blood cell n-3 fatty acid index increased by 27.2% and 39.2% in the oily fish and fish oil groups, respectively. The observed differential increase was a reflection of intake which was 150 to 200 mg/day n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in the oily fish and 456 mg/day in the fish oil children. A pilot test conducted on a small number of children prior to the start of supplementation revealed the maximum amount of oily fish that they can consume in a single meal was 100 grams containing the aforementioned amount of n-3 long chain pufa. Although red blood cell n-3 fatty acid index of the children increased with both oily fish $(6.03\pm1.39\%)$ and fish oil $(6.60\pm1.63\%)$ supplementation it did not reach the cardioprotective high value target ($\geq 8\%$) for adults proposed by Harris and von Schacky (2004). The reason for this is not evident; however, it could be the 12 week supplementation period was short, the 456 mg/day given to the children was insufficient or both. Consistent with our findings, Block and colleagues (2008) have reported 2/3 servings of oily fish a week, 2/3 standard fish oil capsules a day or 2 or more servings of oily fish a week plus standard fish oil capsules did not raise the level of red blood cell n-3 fatty acid index to \geq 8%. The American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines have suggested adults need to consume 500 to 1000 mg of docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acids from oily fish to help reduce the risk of coronary heart disease (Harris and Von Schacky, 2004, Kris-Etherton

et al., 2002b). It is plausible children and adults may respond differently to n-3 fatty acid supplementation; however, from the current study, it appears the lower intake, 500 mg/day, suggested by AHA is unlikely to increase n-3 fatty acid index to the proposed optimal target (Harris and Von Schacky, 2004) in adults.

The fish oil group compared with their counterparts who received oily fish and with baseline had significantly lower levels of systolic (-9.1% and -5.1%) and diastolic (-10.3% and -5.8%) blood pressure and plasma triglycerides (-15.4% and -8.3%). Conversely, in contrast to previous findings (Julian-Almarcegui et al., 2016, Dallongeville et al., 2003), oily fish did not seem to have beneficial effects on any of the above blood parameters in the current study. A plausible explanation for the discrepancy might be that the dose of omega 3 fatty acids, 150 to 200 mg/day, given to the group was too low to have a discernible impact. There is a strong association between childhood and adulthood blood pressure (Chen and Wang, 2008, Magnussen and Smith, 2016); therefore, early supplementation of children with n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids might help to reduce the risk of development of essential hypertension later in life.

With the exception of palmitolic acid which was lower in the children who were given oily fish there was no difference in any of the other saturated and mono-unsaturated fatty acids between the three groups. This finding was not unexpected as the oily fish and fish oil supplement used in the study contained saturated and unsaturated fatty acids. N-3 fatty acid index correlated inversely with total saturated (Figure 6-2) and mono-unsaturated (Figure 6-3) fatty acids in the oily fish and fish oil groups. This perhaps to be expected since these fatty acids are displaced from membrane by both eiocosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids (Walker et al., 2015, Ye et al., 2010).



Figure 6-2: Post-intervention Relationship between Total Saturated Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish oil group r = - 0.816, p<0.0001; Fish group r = - 0.439, p<0.0001)



Figure 6-3: Post-intervention Relationship between Total Monounsaturated Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group r = - 0.431, p<0.0001; Fish Group r = - 0.231, p <0.05)

In agreement with previous studies fish oil supplementation increased n-3 metabolites and n-3 fatty acid index and concomitantly reduced arachidonic (Walker et al., 2015, Simopoulos, 2002b, Metcalf et al., 2007, Rajamoorthi et al., 2005), dihomo gamma linolenic and n-6 docosatetraenoic acids. In contrast, oily fish did not decrease the level of the aforementioned n-6 fatty acids. Fish species from the warm-water of Gulf of Oman and Indian Ocean contain appreciable amounts of linoleic, dihomo gamma linolenic and arachidonic acids and this may have counterbalanced the n-6-reducing effect of docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acids. Paradoxically, although arachidonic, dihomo gamma linolenic acid and n-6 docosatetraenoic acids were displaced by fish oil supplementation, n-3 fatty acid index correlated positively with total n-6 fatty acids (Figure 6-4) and arachidonic acid (Figure 6-5). This finding corresponds with the result of our previous study which indicated significant direct relationships between docosahexaenoic and arachidonic acids in red cell phosphoglycerides of British and Korean pregnant women and their offspring at birth, cord blood (Ghebremeskel et al., 2000). Similarly, Payet and others have reported that the consumption of docosahexaenoic acid acid-enriched egg induces accretion of arachidonic acid in erythrocytes of elderly patients (Payet et al., 2004). Luxwolda et al. (2011) have found a bell curve relationship between erythrocyte n-3 fatty acid index and arachidonic acid level. It appears the incorporation of n-3 and n-5 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids into cell membrane is highly regulated and the balance between the two fatty acid families is critical for orderly structural organisation and function of cellular and subcellular membranes. Indeed, there is evidence that the relative composition of the major fatty acid classes (SFA, MUFA and PUFA) in membrane lipids of all tissues is strongly regulated over very large variation in diet composition (Abbott et al., 2012).

Ethnic homogeneity, narrow age range and compliance monitoring by teachers were some of the strengths of the study. Learning ability and health-related behaviour of the children with the very low n-3 fatty acid index, and dietary fatty acid intake of the whole group because of the incompleteness of the food composition database were not assessed. In addition, in a sub-group of children, it would have been important to assess if a longer period of supplementation increases the level of n-3 fatty acid index. These limitations must be taken in account in future research.

This study provides evidence that Omani pre-adolescents have a low level n-3 fatty acid index that can be ameliorated by fish oil supplementation or consumption of oily fish. Epidemiological and intervention studies indicate these fatty acids are critical for visual and

neurological development and function, reduction of cardiovascular and inflammatory disease risk factors and healthy ageing. There is a need to tackle this problem through school feeding programme, targeted intervention with n-3 fatty acid enriched food products and/or family nutrition education programme.



Figure 6-4: Post-intervention Relationship between Total N-6 Fatty Acids and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group r = 0.414, p<0.0001; Fish Group r = - 0.032, p>0.05)



Figure 6-5: Post-intervention Relationship between Arachidonic Acid and N-3 Fatty Acid Index (Fish Oil Group r = 0.394, p<0.0001; Fish Group r = 0.213, p<0.05)

CHAPTER 7: Overview and Future Research

7.1 Overview

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs) – cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, cancer and respiratory diseases – account for more than 60% of the global disease burden and mortality rate. In the Arabian countries, including Oman, over 50% of annual deaths are due to NCDs. Moreover, obesity, an antecedent of NCDs, has reached epidemic proportions in the region. Childhood NCDs are also on the rise globally: 1.2 million children and youth under the age 20 died of NCDs in 2002 (Mathers, 2009); more than 25% of obese adolescents have signs of diabetes by age 15 (Goran et al., 2003), which accounts for approximately 486,000 children under 15 years of age (Mathers (2009); and of the 497,100 children between 0-14 years found with Type 1 diabetes globally, approximately 64,000 of these are from the Middle East/North Africa region alone, with an additional 10,700 new cases each year.

In light of recent studies identifying the childhood antecedents of adult disease, various national and international committees on NCDs have recommended that children and young adults be the primary focus of any action plan aimed at preventing and controlling non-communicable diseases. Overweight and obesity is a key risk factor to be considered since it is related to other metabolic risk factors for the development of a CVD, such as raised blood pressure, raised blood sugar, raised blood lipids (cholesterol and triglycerides) and dyslipidaemia (National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, 2002, Grundy, 2004). As an individual's BMI increases, so does the risk for coronary heart disease, stroke and diabetes (World Health Organization, 2000).

There is growing evidence on the efficacy of omega-3 fatty acids in the fight against obesity, although in some ways the research is still limited. It has been found that obese individuals have lower ω -3 in their blood when compared to healthy, non-obese controls (Micallef et al., 2009), while Couet et al. (1997) have found that a fish oil diet corresponded to a 0.88 kg reduction of body fat when compared to a control diet. Epidemiological studies have also shown that fish consumption within a healthy eating pattern is associated with lower body weight (Shubair et al., 2005, Schulze et al., 2006). However, less is known about the health impact of fish consumption and fish oil supplementation, when paired with physical activity, on the nutritional status of school children, body composition, blood biochemistry and mental and physical abilities. Dietary intervention studies which that include fish and fish oil in a weight loss diet are also limited (Mori et al., 1999, Thorsdottir et al., 2009).

This research study sought to assess:

- 1. The nutritional status, body composition, blood biochemistry, mental ability and cognitive function in Omani children aged 9 and 10 years, and
- 2. The effect of fish consumption, and supplementation with fish oil, on body composition, blood biochemistry, mental ability and cognitive function of these children.

7.2 Conclusion

7.2.1 Study 1 (Chapter 3: dietary analysis)

Both boys and girls in the study sample fell below the DRI for total calories, fat, sugar, and omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids, while exceeding the DRI for proteins and carbohydrates. The most severe deficiency was found in relation to omega-3 fatty acids: compared to the DRI of 208-207 kcal/day, the students' average consumption level was only 4.2 kcal/day. There was also a significant difference between boys and girls on this measure, with boys consuming 4.8 kcal/day as compared to girls consuming 3.9 kcal.day (p=0.012).

In terms of micronutrients, the students' diets were found to be most deficient in calcium and potassium, their daily consumption levels on these micronutrients less than half of the daily recommended intake. While the mean DRI for calcium was 1300 mg/day, the student average was only 465 mg/day; and while the mean DRI for potassium 4500 mg/day, the student average was only 2068 mg/day. The students' consumption of phosphorus, Vitamin A and Vitamin D were also found to fall short of the DRI levels, although to a lesser degree.

The mean body fat and TGS measures were significantly higher among girls as compared to boys, while muscle mass, omega-3 and omega-6, and fasting glucose levels were significantly higher in boys. Our study also found that higher calorie and protein intake was significantly associated with overweight or obesity, which was 28.2% and 22.6% in boys and girls, respectively. These rates are comparable to other countries in the Gulf region and significantly lower than in more developed countries, although there is evidence that these rates are on the rise.

7.2.2 Study 2 (Chapter 4: cognitive assessment)

While the global prevalence of ADHD is estimated to be between 5% to 13% (Faraone et al., 2003), there are few studies that involve Arabian Gulf populations. Anecdotal evidence

suggests that children in the region are not immune, which is confirms by our study which identifies the prevalence rate of PIS, PHIS and ADHD among Omani school children as 7.3% (95% CI: 4.5%, 10.1%), 3% (1.2, 4.8%) and 8.8% (5.7%, 11.8%), respectively. To our knowledge, this is the first study with a robust methodology to identify the prevalence rate of ADHD among school children in Oman. Compared to other studies, the inclusion of the different ADHD subtypes provides a more complete spectrum of the relevant symptomatology associated with ADHD.

The second goal of this study was to examine the possible role of parental factors (such as sex, educational level, occupation, income and consanguinity) in the development of ADHD, which would provide a vital foundation for devising preventive measures and relevant health educational programs. Statistical analyses indicate that the most significant factors were: reduced family income and non-government jobs were most strongly associated with an increased risk: specifically, family income for PHIS (p=.019) and father's employment sector for ADHDCIH (p=.012). Childhood symptoms of PHIS were also significantly correlated with mother's occupations outside the home (p=.038).

7.2.3 Study 3 (Chapter 5: fat soluble vitamins)

This study demonstrated that vitamin D insufficiency is highly prevalent among Omani school children, they were severely deficient (<27.5 nmol/L; 10.5% boys and 28.5% girls), deficient (27.5 - 44.9 nmol/L; 47.6% boys and 49.4% girls) or insufficient (50 - 74.9 nmol/L; 34.6% boys and 21.5% girls) in vitamin , and the effectiveness of omega-3 fatty acid supplementation in counteracting this. The high prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in the children should be a major public health concern because childhood is a period of skeletal mineral acquisition and bone modelling and there is evidence that vitamin D plays a critical role in muscle growth and development, cognitive function and modulation of innate and adaptive immunity.

Compared with the control group, both boys and girls who were given fish meals or fish oil supplement for twelve weeks had increased concentrations of beta carotene and vitamin D (p<0.001). Post-intervention plasma vitamin D and parathyroid hormone concentrations compared with pre-intervention (baseline) were higher in the children who received fish oil and fish meals (p<0.0001). The concentration of plasma beta carotene also increased significantly in the fish diet and fish oil groups after intervention for 12 weeks.

If the prevalence rates reported here reflect trends in the larger population, Omani children may be at risk of developmental and health problems caused by vitamin D deficiency. As such, there is an urgent need for a fortification programme that targets the foods and drinks favoured by children and outdoor activities to help tackle this public health problem.

7.2.4 Study 4 (Chapter 6: red blood fatty acids status)

The spread of contemporary Western pattern diets during the past four decades have played a critical role in the rise of non-communicable chronic diseases. Such diets are typically high in the protein and fat of intensively reared land animals, refined sugar, vegetable fat and oils, and low fresh fruits and vegetables and marine foods. The negative health effects of this dietary pattern is associated with an excessive amount of saturated, trans and omega 6 fatty acids, paired with an insufficient omega 3 fatty acid and essential micro-nutrient content. This study investigated fatty acid status of preadolescence school children before and after intervention with fish oil or oily fish to assess the efficacy of such a diet in counteracting nutritional deficiencies. The primary focus was the n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids which are thought to limit nutrient assimilation in Westernised dietary patterns.

The mean baseline red cell n-3 fatty acid index of the children was low, comparable to other populations of similarly aged and healthy children reared on a Westernized diet. This suggests that traditional dietary patterns - including the consumption of fish - may have declined in favour of the more widely available processed foods which are high in saturated and n-6 fatty acids. Most surprising was the very low n-3 fatty acid index (<2%).

After 12 weeks supplementation, compared with the controls, the red blood cell n-3 fatty acid index increased by 27.2% and 39.2% in the oily fish and fish oil groups, respectively. The fish oil group compared with their counterparts who received oily fish and with baseline had significantly lower levels of systolic and diastolic blood pressure and plasma triglycerides. In contrast, oily fish did not seem to have beneficial effects on any of the above blood parameters in the current study.

7.3 Limitations of the study

This study has provided valuable information about the effect of a DHA-rich fish diet and oil supplements on plasma fatty acid and fat soluble vitamins in healthy school children. While this study has yielded previously unavailable data, there are a number of limitations that need to be taken into account, particularly for the design and interpretation of studies that seek to extend the research undertaken here. The intervention period, 12 weeks, was relatively short, and the amount of DHA was not equalised across treatment groups (fish diet vs. fish oil supplementation). Students were recruited only from the capital area of Oman, limiting the generalisability of the study findings. In addition, we were unable to collect important information about the students' nutritional intake, despite efforts to gather these data about the children's habitual diet using 24-hour recall. This was due, in large part, to the study's reliance of parental reports, and the tendency to either over- or under-estimate the intake of certain foods by their children.

Additionally, this study's reliance the Vanderbilt Scales for measuring the cognitive and behavioural functioning of students is another area that could be improved, particularly since they have not been standardised for use with an Omani population. The development of a reliable and valid version of these Scales that is translated into Arabic would greatly improve our confidence in the measure, particularly if this process of standardisation is carried out with an eye toward the cultural specificities relevant to the Omani school population.

7.4 Future investigations

The original data generated from the current investigation has provided valuable insights into the dietary habits and nutritional status of pre-adolescent children from the greater metropolitan area of Muscat. However, these findings cannot be legitimately extrapolated to adolescents and young adults, pregnant women or even to preadolescent children who reside in small towns and rural regions of the country where fast food outlets, convenience stores and supermarkets are fewer and less accessible. Therefore, further studies are required to identify the extent of the westernisation of Omani dietary habits and its impact on the nutritional status of the aforementioned population groups with a particular focus on essential nutrients such as n-3 (omega 3) fatty acids and the fat-soluble vitamins A, D and E.

Thus, one line of extending the current study would address this issue of sampling (with an eye towards generalisability), while others would broaden the population in question (beyond a focus only on pre-adolescent children):

- Dietary intake, body composition, circulating blood lipids and red blood cell fatty acid profile of preadolescent and adolescent children and young adults living in the fishing towns of Sur and Quriyat, Sultanate of Oman.
- Dietary intake, body composition, circulating blood lipids and red blood cell fatty acid profile of adolescents and young adults who reside in the greater metropolitan area of Muscat, Sultanate of Oman.

Additional attention can be given to the role of maternal nutrition and health for the questions investigated in this study:

- Red blood cell omega 3 fatty acid index of Omani pregnant women and their neonates at birth, and their implications for maternal health and foetal neuro-visual development and health.
- Comparative study of breast milk fatty acid composition of Omani mothers from the fishing towns of Sur and Quriyat, and the greater metropolitan area of Muscat.

Finally, the pencil-and-paper measures of cognitive and behavioural functioning, can be supplemented by other, objective measures of physical functioning:

• Combine the current use of cognitive and behavioural measures (the Vanderbilt Scales) in conjunction with functional brain scan imaging, such as PET, fMRI, and related in-vivo neuro-imaging data.

APPENDIX 1: Published Abstracts

Low dose omega 3 fatty acids reduce fat mass and systolic blood pressure in school children

Al-Ghannami SS^{1, 3}, Sedlak E¹, Hussein IS¹, Min Y¹, Al-Shmmkhi SM³, Al-Oufi HS², Al Al-Mazroui A², Ghebremeskel K¹

¹ Lipidomics and Nutrition Research Centre, Faculty of Life Sciences and Computing, London Metropolitan University, London, UK

² Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries Wealth, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

³ Ministry of Health, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

BACKGROUND: Several investigations provide evidence that high and moderate intakes of long chain omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (LCPUFA) reduce systolic and diastolic blood pressure, particularly in hypertensive adults. However, it is not fully elucidated whether or not these fatty acids have such effects in healthy children.

OBJECTIVE: To investigate the effect of a low dose omega 3 LCPUFA on body composition and systolic and diastolic blood pressure in school children.

METHOD: Eighty six Omani School children, aged 9 and 10 years, were given one omega 3 fatty acid capsule containing 403 mg DHA and 53 mg EPA, four days a week, for twelve weeks. Red blood cell fatty acids, body composition and blood pressure were measured at baseline and at the end of the supplementation period.

RESULTS: The children had higher DHA (6.2 ± 1.5 vs. 3.8 ± 1.5 , p<0.0001), body weight and fat-free mass (p<0.001) and lower body mass index (16.4 ± 3.1 vs. 16.6 ± 3.2 , p<0.01), body fat (p<0.05) and systolic blood pressure (p<0.001) after twelve weeks of intervention with omega 3 fatty acids compared with baseline. There was no difference in diastolic blood pressure between the two time points (p>0.05).

CONCLUSION: The findings of this small study suggest that omega 3 LCPUFA might play a role in reducing fat mass and latent high blood pressure in obese children.

Declaration of Interest: the authors have no relevant interest to declare

The effect of omega 3 fatty acid supplementation on plasma vitamin D status of school children

Al-Ghannami $SS^{1,3}$, Sedlak E^1 , Hussein IS^1 , Min Y^1 , Al-Shammakhi SM^3 , Al-Oufi HS^2 , Al-Mazroui A^2 , Ghebremeskel K^1

¹ Lipidomics and Nutrition Research Centre, Faculty of Life Sciences and Computing, London Metropolitan University, London, UK

² Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries Wealth, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

³ Ministry of Health, Muscat, Sultanate of Oman

Background: Cell culture, animal and human studies suggest that omega 3 fatty acids, particularly docosahexaenoic, have beneficial effects on bone metabolism. However, although there are several postulations, the mechanisms through which these fatty acids influence bone structure and composition are yet to be fully elucidated.

Objective: To investigate the effect of long-chain omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid (omega 3 LCPUFA) supplementation on plasma 25 hydroxy vitamin D (25(OH)D) level of children.

Procedure: Omani children, aged 9 and 10 years, from two randomly selected schools in Muscat were assigned to either omega 3 LCPUFA (n=86) or control (n=120) group. The former group received one omega 3 fatty acid capsule containing

403 mg DHA and 53 mg EPA four days a week for twelve weeks. The control group, who continued on their habitual diet, did not receive any supplement. Red blood cell fatty acid, plasma 25(OH)D, parathyroid hormone and calcium levels were assessed at the end of the intervention period.

Results: The omega 3 LCPUFA group compared with their control counterparts had higher levels of red cell EPA (0.34 ± 0.12 vs. $0.25\pm0.14\%$, p<0.0001), DHA (6.2 ± 1.5 vs. $4.4\pm1.5\%$, p<0.0001), 25(OH)D (54.1 ± 17.5 vs. 42.4 ± 17.3 nmol/L, p<0.0001). There was no difference in parathyroid hormone (5.79 ± 2.1 vs 5.78 ± 2.0 pmol/L, p>0.05) and calcium (2.46 ± 0.09 vs. 2.52 ± 0.07 mmol/L, p>0.05) concentrations.

Conclusion: DHA-rich omegas 3 LCPUFA enhance plasma vitamin D level in children. This may be one of the mechanisms by which these fatty acids influence bone mineralisation and structure.

Acknowledgements: Sincere thanks are due to the children, parents and their teachers, the Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries Wealth, Sultanate of Oman, for financial support and Efamol Ltd. UK for providing the omega 3 fatty acid supplements.

Declaration of Interest: the authors have no relevant interest to declare

Short term supplementation of fish and fish oil improves cognitive ability in children attending school in Muscat Oman

BACKGROUND: Consumption of fish in the regular diet is highly recommended globally for its benefit for all and especially for children. Current study was aimed at assessing the effect of short term consumption (4 months) of fish meals feeding on cognitive ability among children attending the schools in Muscat governorate, Sultanate of Oman

METHODS: 66 Omani School children, aged 9 and 10 years, from Muscat, were given a 150-200 g fish meal in four times a week for 16 weeks. The fish species were Grouper, Sea bream, Kingfish, Emperor, and Snapper. We have analysed the body composition and mental ability (trial making test and verbal fluency) before and after supplementation of fish. Data (Mean \pm S.D) were analyzed using the SPSS version 15 and p \leq 0.05 was considered as significant.

RESULTS: Verbal fluency was significantly increased ($p \le 0.001$). Girls showed better performance than boys in number of words generated per minute. The performance of both boys and girls were significantly improved in trail making test and when compared with boys, girls performed.

CONCLUSION: Our study results suggest that supplementation of fish for four months enhanced the children's cognitive ability of those are attending schools in Muscat, Sultanate of Oman. Further studies are warranted to find out the effect of fish in biochemical parameters on these children.

Acknowledgements: Support provided by Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries Wealth, Ministry of Education, Ministry of Health, Sultan Qaboos University Oman and London Metropolitan University, UK were gratefully acknowledged.

Key words: Fish, Fish oil, Verbal fluency test, trail making test, Oman

The effect of fish consumption, fish oil supplementation on iodine, vitamin A and D deficiency

BACKGROUND: It has long been recognized that fish, seafood and marine products are valuable foods. Fish and seafood are low in saturated fat and a good source of protein, iodine, iron, vitamin D, selenium and other trace elements as well as long-chain omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids.

OBJECTIVES: To examine the impact of fish and fish oil intake on iodine, vitamin D, and A we have studied a total of three hundred fifty four (n=354) school children of 9-10 years old (4 grade) from three schools in Muscat Governorate in Oman. The children were randomly divided in to fish, fish oil capsule and control groups. The fish group (n=118) received fish menu lunch 4 times a week. The fish oil capsule group (n=118) were given fish oil capsules the third group (n=118) will not receive fish or fish oil capsules. The intervention period was sixteen weeks (four months). The study aimed to assess urinary iodine concentration: a significant number of the children had low levels of vitamin D, iodine and omega 3 fatty acids.

RESULTS: The study revealed that a significant number of the children had low levels of vitamin D, iodine and omega 3 fatty acids. The low levels of vitamin D, iodine and omega-3 fatty acids were ameliorated to a variable degree by fish consumption as well as supplementation with fish oil.

Authors:

Presenter poster : Izzeldin Hussein

Dr Samia Al Ghnamia , Dr Izzeldin Hussein, Dr Kebreab Ghebremeskel

MOH OMAN- London metropolitan

APPENDIX 2: Methods Materials

NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scale—TEACHER Informant

ïeacher's Name:	Class Time:	Class Name/Period:
-----------------	-------------	--------------------

Today's Date: _____ Child's Name: _____ Grade Level: _

<u>Directions:</u> Each rating should be considered in the context of what is appropriate for the age of the child you are rating and should reflect that child's behavior since the beginning of the school year. Please indicate the number of weeks or months you have been able to evaluate the behaviors: ______.

Is this evaluation based on a time when the child 🛛 🗌 was on medication 🗌 was not on medication 🗌 not sure?

Sy	ymptoms		Occasionally	Often	Very Often
1.	Fails to give attention to details or makes careless mistakes in schoolwork	0	1	2	3
2.	Has difficulty sustaining attention to tasks or activities	0	1	2	3
3.	Does not seem to listen when spoken to directly	0	1	2	3
4.	Does not follow through on instructions and fails to finish schoolwork (not due to oppositional behavior or failure to understand)	0	1	2	3
5.	Has difficulty organizing tasks and activities	0	1	2	3
6.	Avoids, dislikes, or is reluctant to engage in tasks that require sustained mental effort	0	1	2	3
7.	Loses things necessary for tasks or activities (school assignments, pencils, or books)	0	1	2	3
8.	Is easily distracted by extraneous stimuli	0	1	2	3
9.	Is forgetful in daily activities	0	1	2	3
10	. Fidgets with hands or feet or squirms in seat	0	1	2	3
11	. Leaves seat in classroom or in other situations in which remaining seated is expected	0	1	2	3
12	. Runs about or climbs excessively in situations in which remaining seated is expected	0	1	2	3
13	. Has difficulty playing or engaging in leisure activities quietly	0	1	2	3
14	. Is "on the go" or often acts as if "driven by a motor"	0	1	2	3
15	. Talks excessively	0	1	2	3
16	. Blurts out answers before questions have been completed	0	1	2	3
17	. Has difficulty waiting in line	0	1	2	3
18	. Interrupts or intrudes on others (eg, butts into conversations/games)	0	1	2	3
19	. Loses temper	0	1	2	3
20	. Actively defies or refuses to comply with adult's requests or rules	0	1	2	3
21	. Is angry or resentful	0	1	2	3
22	. Is spiteful and vindictive	0	1	2	3
23	. Bullies, threatens, or intimidates others	0	1	2	3
24	. Initiates physical fights	0	1	2	3
25	. Lies to obtain goods for favors or to avoid obligations (eg, "cons" others)	0	1	2	3
26	. Is physically cruel to people	0	1	2	3
27	. Has stolen items of nontrivial value	0	1	2	3
28	. Deliberately destroys others' property	0	1	2	3
29	. Is fearful, anxious, or worried	0	1	2	3
30	. Is self-conscious or easily embarrassed	0	1	2	3
31	. Is afraid to try new things for fear of making mistakes	0	1	2	3

The recommendations in this publication do not indicate an exclusive course of treatment or serve as a standard of medical care. Variations, taking into account individual circumstances, may be appropriate.





Copyright ©2002 American Academy of Pediatrics and National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality

Adapted from the Vanderbilt Rating Scales developed by Mark L. Wolraich, MD. Revised - 1102





DEDICATED TO THE HEALT'H OF ALL CHILDREN*

National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality

NICHQ Vanderbilt Assessment Scale—TEACHER Informant

Teacher's Name:		Class Time:	Class Name/Period:	
Today's Date:	Child's Name:		Grade Level:	

Symptoms (continued)	Never	Occasionally	Often	Very Often
32. Feels worthless or inferior	0	1	2	3
33. Blames self for problems; feels guilty	0	1	2	3
34. Feels lonely, unwanted, or unloved; complains that "no one loves him or her	<i>"</i> 0	1	2	3
35. Is sad, unhappy, or depressed	0	1	2	3

				Somewhat	t
Performance			Above	of a	
Academic Performance	Excellent	Average	Average	Problem	Problematic
36. Reading	1	2	3	4	5
37. Mathematics	1	2	3	4	5
38. Written expression	1	2	3	4	5
				Somewhat	t

		Above		of a	
Classroom Behavioral Performance	Excellent	Average	Average	Problem	Problematic
39. Relationship with peers	1	2	3	4	5
40. Following directions	1	2	3	4	5
41. Disrupting class	1	2	3	4	5
42. Assignment completion	1	2	3	4	5
43. Organizational skills	1	2	3	4	5

Comments:

Please return this form to:	
Fax number:	

For Office Use Only
Total number of questions scored 2 or 3 in questions 1-9:
Total number of questions scored 2 or 3 in questions 10-18:
Total Symptom Score for questions 1-18:
Total number of questions scored 2 or 3 in questions 19-28:
Total number of questions scored 2 or 3 in questions 29-35:
Total number of questions scored 4 or 5 in questions 36-43:
Average Performance Score:





DEDICATED TO THE HEALTH OF ALL CHILDREN"

National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality

NICH ()



مقياس فانديربت للتقييم- معلومات المعلمين

اسم المعلم:	
رقت الحصبة :	
اسم الفصل الدر اسي / مدته:	
تاريخ اليوم :	
اسم الطفل :	
الصف :	

تعليمات : عند التقييم ، يجب مراعاة ما يناسب عمر الطفل الذي سيُشخص عند كل عبارة من العبارات التالية ، و كذلك يجب أن يعكس سلوك الطفل من آخر استمارة تقييم تم تعبنتها. يرجى ذكر عند الأسابيع أو الشهور التي تمكنت فيها من تقييم السلوكيات : ______ ضع دائرة حول رقم واحد فقط من الأرقام الموجودة بجانب كل عبارة ، و الذي تراه يناسب التلميذ ، مع ملاحظة أنه يجب الإجابة على كل العبارات بلختيار <u>رقم واحد فقط</u>

				ي هذا التقييم في وقت كان فيه الطفل	_ هل أجر
	ت متاكد(لمت		اول جرعات دوانيه الايتناول جرعات دوانيه	
طوال الوقت	معظم الأحيان	أحيانا	أيدأ	نن	الأعراه
3	2	1	0	لا ينتبه لتفاصيل الأمور ويرتكب أخطاء ناتجة عن الإهمال، مثل الواجبات المدرسية.	.1
3	2	1	0	يجد صعوبة في التركيز المستمر على المهام والأنشطة.	.2
3	2	1	0	ييدو وكأنه لا يصغى حين يوجه له الكلام مباشرة .	.3
3	2	1	0	لا يتبع التعليمات و يفشل في إتمام الأعمال المدرسية، (ليس بسبب الرفض أو عدم الفهم).	.4
3	2	1	0	يصعب عليه ترتيب المهام والأنشطة، مثل ترتيب دُرجه و طاولته في الفصل.	.5
3	2	1	0	يتجنب ، يكره أو لا يرغب في بدء الأنشطة التي تتطلب منه التركيز الذهني المستمر مثل حل مسالة حسابية في الفصل.	.6
3	2	1	0	يفقد الأدوات و الأشياء اللازمة لإنجاز المهام أو الأنشطة مثل الواجبات المدرسية ، الأقلام ، أو الكتب).	.7
				يتشتت انتباهه بسهوله مع المثيرات الخارجية	.8
3	2	1	0	ينسى نشاطاته اليومية ، مثل إحضار الواجب معه إلى المدرسة.	.9
3	2	1	0	يُعبَّر عن ملله بيديه أو قدميه أو يتحرك كثيرا على الكرسي.	.10
3	2	1	0	يغادر مقعده في الصنف أو في أي مكان يستلزم منه البقاء فيه.	.11
3	2	1	0	يركض أو يتسلق كثيراً عندما يتطلب منه الجلوس في مقعده.	.12
3	2	1	0	لديه صعوبة في المشاركة في الألعاب التي تتطلب الهدوء.	.13
3	2	1	0	دائم الحركة و كأنه يعمل بمحرك.	.14
3	2	1	0	يتكلم بكثرة.	.15
3	2	1	0	يتسرع بالإجابة قبل إتمام المعلم للسؤال.	.16
3	2	1	0	یصنعب علیه ان ینتظر دوره.	.17
3	2	1	0	يقطع محادثات الأخرين أو يتطفل على أنشطتهم .	.18
3	2	1	0	يفقد أعصابه (يصبح عصبي لأسباب ثافهة).	.19
3	2	1	0	يرفض الانصباع لطلبات أو قوانين الكبار.	.20

NICHQ:

Always means always Never means does not occur at all Sometimes = 1.2 times per day

Sometimes = 1-2 times per day Often = 4 times and above

Copyright @ 2005 American Academy of Pediatrics, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill for its North Carolina Center for Children's Healthcare Improvement, and National Initiative for Children's Healthcare Quality

Adapted from the Vanderbilt Rating Scales developed by Mark L. Wolraich, MD. Revised - 1102



The recommendations in this publication do not indicate an exclusive course of treatment or serve as a standard of medical care. Variations, taking into account individual circumstances, may be appropriate.

individual circumstances, may be appropriate.

American Academy of Pediatrics

DEDICATED TO THE HEALTH OF ALL CHILDREN*



D4

مقياس فانديربت للتقييم- معلومات المعلمين، تابع

طوال الوقت	معظم الأحيان	أحيانا	أيدآ		عراض	تابع الأد
3	2	1	0		دائماً غاضب أو مستاء.	.21
3	2	1	0		حقود و يميل إلى الانتقام.	.22
3	2	1	0		يقسو ، يهدد ، أو يخيف الأخرين.	.23
3	2	1	0		يبدأ المشاجرات الجسدية .	.24
3	2	1	0		يكذب ليحصل على مكافأة أو ليتجنب أي عقوبات، مثلاً يحتال على الأخرين.	.25
3	2	1	0		عنيف جسدياً مع الآخرين.	.26
3	2	1	0		سبق له أن سرق أشياء قيِّمة.	.27
3	2	1	0		يتعمد تخريب ممتلكات الغير .	.28
3	2	1	0		يشعر بالخوف و الاضطراب و القلق.	.29
3	2	1	0		خجول و يسهل إحراجه.	.30
3	2	1	0		يخاف من تجربة أشياء جديدة خشية ارتكاب الأخطاء.	.31
3	2	1	0		يشعر بعدم (دنو) قيمته أو أنه أقل منزلة من الأخرين	.32
3	2	1	0		يلوم نفسه على المشاكل و دائماً يشعر بالذنب.	.33
3	2	1	0		يشعر بالوحدة وبأنه غير مرغوب أو غير محبوب و يشكو من "أن لا أحد يحبه".	.34
3	2	1	0		يشعر بالحزن و التعاسة أو الإحباط.	.35
يعاني من صعوبة شديدة	يعاتي من بعض الصعوبة	متوسط	جيد جداً	ممتاز	إكاديمى	الأداء الا
5	4	3	2	1	القراءة	.36
5	4	3	2	1	الرياضيات	.37
5	4	3	2	1	التعبير كتابة	.38
يعاني من صعوبة شديدة	يعاتى من بعض الصعوبة	متوسط	جيد جداً	ممتاز	سلوكي في الفصل	الأداء ال
5	4	3	2	1	علاقته بأقرانه	.39
5	4	3	2	1	اتباع التعليمات	.40
5	4	3	2	1	عرقلة الحصبة	.41
5	4	3	2	1	انجاز المهام	.42
5	4	3	2	1	مهارات التنظيم	.43

لاستخدام المكتبي فقط :	
دد الأسئلة من [- 9 التي احرزت 2 أو 3:	
دد الأسنلة من 10- 18 التي أحرزت 2 أو 3:	
جمالي النقاط التي أُحرزت في أسئلة الأعراض من [-8]:	
بدد الأسنلة من 19- 26 التي أحرزت 2 أو 3:	
دد الأسنلة من 27- 40 التي أحرزت 2 أو 3:	
ىدد الأسنلة من 41- 47 التي أحرزت 2 أو 3:	
بدد الأسنلة من 48۔ 55 التي أحرزت 2 أو 3:	
توسط نتيجة الأداء:	



173

D4

APPENDIX 3:

Consent Forms & Questionnaires

(FORM 5.3) Sultanate of Oman <u>(Fish Group)</u> Ministry of Health- /Department of Studies & Research Research and Ethical Review & Approve Committee

Certificate of Informed Consent

Consent form of participating in the project: The impact of eating fish and fish oil on fatty acids (Omega-3), and perception of school students in the governorate of Muscat

Project goal:

Researchers have suggested that there is a close relationship between eating fish, especially rich in Omega-3 fatty acids and health in general. There is little knowledge about the potential impact of eating fish and health in the Sultanate of Oman. the goal of this project was to study the effect of local Omani fish consumption and seafood on the health and also on the level of perception, especially among school children.

The study will be conducted on 354 students in the age group 9-10 years (Grade 4) in three schools in Muscat governorate. Students will be distributed randomly into three groups, where one of them will consume fish and the other fish oil capsules while the third group remains neutral. Your son or daughter has been selected randomly to be in fish group and will be providing a fish meal for them 4 times a week for 4 months. Their body composition, food intake will be evaluated by food frequency questionnaires, complete blood picture, blood lipids and iodine concentration in the urine through the use of established protocols. The school performance and attention will also be evaluating to both male / female student. All evaluations will be conducted at the beginning of the intervention and when it is completed.

How you can help?

Assent to join us where research will include:

Interview: We would like to ask some questions that will help us to fill the questionnaire; 24 hour reall questionnaire will be used to assess your child dietary intake.

Cognitive assessment: a questionnaire will be given to you about your child cognitive behavior, and another one will be filled by the class teacher. **Physical measurements:** such as height, weight and measure the body fat percentage.

Thysical measurements, such as height, weight and measure the body fat percenta

Physical fitness: a team from London will assess your child physical activity

All of this will be done at school

Other clinical tests will be taken at the health centre:

Laboratory tests: such as a blood test, urine test, sample will be taken by taking into account safety and hygiene measures.

We will send part of a sample of blood to the London Metropolitan University in Britain for analysis of fatty acids and antioxidant vitamins under the approval of the Research Ethics Committee, which were obtained from a national committee in the UK health service.

Personal data will be dealing in the strictest confidence and will not be used for any other purpose and not be transferred to others without the written consent of the parents of the students. All the data collected from this study will store in a password-protected computer and access will be limited to researchers.

Please note this study will be conducted under full compliance with the principles of data protection law. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason.

Is there any benefit derived for others?

This study will help us to assess the relationship between dietary sources of fatty acids and its potential health and the level of awareness among school students.

What if you do not want to share my son / daughter in the project?

This would not constitute any difference in our dealings with you; you will always get the best deal possible.

Recognition

I certify that I have read and understood the information pertaining to study above. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I have absolute freedom to withdraw at any time without affecting me or my son / daughter.

I agree to participate in the study

Participant's name	Date	Signature	
Researcher's name	Date	Signature	

(FORM 5.3) Sultanate of Oman <u>(Omega-3 capsules_Group)</u> Ministry of Health- / Department of Studies & Research <u>Research and Ethical Review & Approve Committee</u>

Certificate of Informed Consent

Consent form of participating in the project: The impact of eating fish and fish oil on fatty acids (Omega-3), and perception of school students in the governorate of Muscat

Project goal:

Researchers have suggested that there is a close relationship between eating fish, especially rich in Omega-3 fatty acids and health in general. There is little knowledge about the potential impact of eating fish and health in the Sultanate of Oman. the goal of this project was to study the effect of local Omani fish consumption and seafood on the health and also on the level of perception, especially among school children.

The study will be conducted on 354 students in the age group 9-10 years (Grade 4) in three schools in Muscat governorate. Students will be distributed randomly into three groups, where one of them will consume fish and the other fish oil capsules while the third group remains neutral. Your son or daughter has been selected randomly to be in a fish oil capsule group which containing 200 g of DHA 4 times a week for a period of 4 months. Their body composition, food intake will be evaluated by food frequency questionnaires, complete blood picture, blood lipids and iodine concentration in the urine through the use of established protocols. The school performance and attention will also be evaluating to both male / female student. All evaluations will be conducted at the beginning of the intervention and when it is completed.

How you can help?

Assent to join us where research will include:

Interview: We would like to ask some questions that will help us to fill the questionnaire: 24 hour reall questionnaire will be used to assess your child dietary intake.

<u>Cognitive assessment</u>: a questionnaire will be given to you about your child cognitive behavior, and another one will be filled by the class teacher.

Physical measurements: such as height, weight and measure the body fat percentage.

Physical fitness: a team from London will assess your child physical activity

All of this will be done at school

Other clinical tests will be taken at the health centre: <u>Laboratory tests</u>: such as a blood test, urine test, sample will be taken by taking into account safety and hygiene measures.

We will send part of a sample of blood to the London Metropolitan University in Britain for analysis of fatty acids and antioxidant vitamins under the approval of the Research Ethics Committee, which were obtained from a national committee in the UK health service.

Personal data will be dealing in the strictest confidence and will not be used for any other purpose and not be transferred to others without the written consent of the parents of the students. All the data collected from this study will store in a password-protected computer and access will be limited to researchers.

Please note this study will be conducted under full compliance with the principles of data protection law. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason.

Is there any benefit derived for others?

This study will help us to assess the relationship between dietary sources of fatty acids and its potential health and the level of awareness among school students.

What if you do not want to share my son / daughter in the project?

This would not constitute any difference in our dealings with you; you will always get the best deal possible.

Recognition

I certify that I have read and understood the information pertaining to study above. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I have absolute freedom to withdraw at any time without affecting me or my son / daughter.

I agree to participate in the study

Participant's name	Date	Signature	
Researcher's name	Date	Signature	
(FORM 5.3)
Sultanate of Oman
(<u>Control Group</u>)
<u>Ministry of Health- / Department of Studies & Research</u>
Research and Ethical Review & Approve Committee

Certificate of Informed Consent

Consent form of participating in the project: The impact of eating fish and fish oil on fatty acids (Omega-3), and perception of school students in the governorate of Muscat

Project goal:

Researchers have suggested that there is a close relationship between eating fish, especially rich in Omega-3 fatty acids and health in general. There is little knowledge about the potential impact of eating fish and health in the Sultanate of Oman. the goal of this project was to study the effect of local Omani fish consumption and seafood on the health and also on the level of perception, especially among school children.

The study will be conducted on 354 students in the age group 9-10 years (Grade 4) in three schools in Muscat governorate. Students will be distributed randomly into three groups, where one of them will consume fish and the other fish oil capsules while the third group remains neutral. Your son or daughter has been selected randomly to be in the neutral group so he/she will not receive fish meal or fish oil capsules. Their body composition, food intake will be evaluated by food frequency questionnaires, complete blood picture, blood lipids and iodine concentration in the urine through the use of established protocols. The school performance and attention will also be evaluating to both male / female student. All evaluations will be conducted at the beginning of the intervention and when it is completed.

How you can help?

Assent to join us where research will include: **Interview:** We would like to ask some questions that will help us to fill the questionnaire

24 hour reall questionnaire will be used to assess your child dietary intake.

<u>Cognitive assessment</u>: a questionnaire will be given to you about your child cognitive behavior, and another one will be filled by the class teacher.

Physical measurements: such as height, weight and measure the body fat percentage.

Physical fitness: a team from London will assess your child physical activity

All of this will be done at school

Other clinical tests will be taken at the health centre:

Laboratory tests: such as a blood test, urine test, sample will be taken by taking into account safety and hygiene measures.

We will send part of a sample of blood to the London Metropolitan University in Britain for analysis of fatty acids and antioxidant vitamins under the approval of the Research Ethics Committee, which were obtained from a national committee in the UK health service.

Personal data will be dealing in the strictest confidence and will not be used for any other purpose and not be transferred to others without the written consent of the parents of the students. All the data collected from this study will store in a password-protected computer and access will be limited to researchers.

Please note this study will be conducted under full compliance with the principles of data protection law. You are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason.

Is there any benefit derived for others?

This study will help us to assess the relationship between dietary sources of fatty acids and its potential health and the level of awareness among school students.

What if you do not want to share my son / daughter in the project?

This would not constitute any difference in our dealings with you; you will always get the best deal possible.

Recognition

I certify that I have read and understood the information pertaining to study above. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I have absolute freedom to withdraw at any time without affecting me or my son / daughter.

I agree to participate in the study

Participant's name	Date	Signature	
Researcher's name	Date	Signature	

Form Number	DEPARTMENT OF HUTRITION	Sultanate of Oman Ministry of Health Dept of Nutrition
The impact of fir Health and cog	sh and fish oil capsule intake on omeg gnitive function of Omani school child 2012	ga-3 fatty acid status, lren Age 9/10 years
	Parent Questionnaire	
Part I. General In	formation	
I1- Student Number in	medical register:	I
I2 - Name of the School I3 - Group allocation	ol 10 - Al Olaa 20 - Al Mashariq 30 - Al Waha 1 - Control 2 - Supplement 3 - Fish Supplement	
I4 - Name of Student:		
I5 - Date of interview	/ day /Month	Year I
I6 - Observer Number	1 - First 2 - Second	I
I8 - Marital status	1- Married 2- Widowed 3- Divorced 4- Death Parents	
Parent Questionnaire	<u></u>	Page 1



I 14

114 - What is the monthly income for the household?

- 1- (Lowest 100) O.R 2- (100-500) O.R
- 3- (500-1000) O.R
- 4- (1000-3000) O.R
- 5- (3000-5000) O.R
- 6- (Largest 5000) O.R

Part II: Lifestyle and Dietary Habits

II1- What is the type of activity practiced by the student during free time?

			Α		В		с	
	Activity	Yes	No	Code	How many time in week	Code	Duration in minutes	Code
1	Ride bicycle			A1.1		B1.1		C1.1
2	Football			A1.2		B1.2		C1.2
3	Basketball			A1.3		B1.3		C1.3
4	Tennis			A1.4		B1.4		C1.4
5	Swimming			A1.5		B1.5		C1.5
6	Jump rope			A1.6		B1.6		C1.6
7	Ruing			A1.7		B1.7		C1.7
8	Other			A1.8		B1.8		C1.8

II2- What is the kind of activity that spent by the student sitting during free time?

		Α		A B		В		c	
	Activity	Yes	No	Code	How many time in week	Code	Duration in minutes	Code	
1	TV \ video			A2.1		B2.1		C2.1	
2	Electronic Games			A2.2		B2.2		C2.2	
3	Computer \ Internet			A2.3		B2.3		C2.3	
4	Homework			A2.4		B2.4		C2.4	
5	Playing inside the house			A2.5		B2.5		C2.5	
6	Reading			A2.6		B2.6		C2.6	
7	Drawing			A2.7		B2.7		C2.7	
8	Other			A2.8		B2.8		C2.8	

Parent Questionnaire

II3- Does your child sleep at afternoon 1- Yes 2- No 3- Sometime	?						113
II4- How often does your child eat fisl 1- Daily 2- Weekly 3- Monthly 4- Yearly 5- Don't Know	1?						114
II5- Does the student have a sensitivity 1- Yes 2- No 3- Sometime	y of fish	? other fam	ilv membe	rc?			115
1- Yes 2- No 3- Sometime	e dish as	other fam	illy membe	18?			H6
II7- How often does your child eat the	followi	ng foods?					
Food Groups	1 Daily	2 Weekly	3 Monthly	4 Occasions	5 Never eat	Ansv	wer
A- Whole grains (wheat, brown rice, pasta, potatoes, barley)							II 7A
B- Other cereals (white wheat flour, white rice, breakfast cereal, corn flakes, potatoes without skin)							II 7B
C- Vegetables rich in vitamin C (peppers, tomato, broccoli, beetroot, radish, etc)							II 7C
D- Vegetables rich in vitamin A (lettuce, cabbage, carrot, squash, green peas)							II 7D
E-Vegetables rich in iron (spinach, parsley)							II 7E
F-Other vegetables (onions, okra, cucumber, eggplant, garlic) G- Fruits rich in vitamin C (citrus fruits,							II 7F II 7G
pineapple, guava, cherry, raspberry) H- Fruits rich in vitamin A (mango, avocado,							II 7H
apricol, plum)							

I-Fruits rich in potassium (raisons, dried figs,						II 7I
dates, bananas, melons)						
J- Other fruits (coconut, grapes, apples,						11 71
pears, figs, dates, dried fruits, fresh fruit						
Juice)						
K- Meat						II 7K
I Fich				 		
L- FISH						" "
M- Chicken						II 7M
N- Eggs						II 7N
O- Nuts and seeds						II 70
P- Ready-made products (canned meat,						II 7P
shawarma, kebab, fish fingers, fried chicken)						
Q- Legumes (lentils, beans, chickpeas, dried						II 7Q
peas)						
R- Milk and milk products (pasteurised &						II 7R
powdered milk, yogurt, cheese, paneer)						
S- Added Oil (Vegetable oils, margarine)						II 7S
T- Add ghee, butter						II 7T
						II 7U
U- Desserts						
II8- Do you often use the iodize salt?						
I-Yes						II8
2- NO 2. Dop't Know						
5- Doll (Kilow						
II9- What is the name of salt currently	use in v	our house	?			119
iis what is the hand of suit currently	use in j	our nouse	·	_		
Parant Questionnaire					Dogo F	
i arent Questionnan e					rage 5	

	Table	of six meals in	one day				
	Name of dish / drink intake	A Code of dish/drink	Code	B Amount intake in pieces	Code	C Amount of dish / drink intake in mille	Code
			A 10.1.1		B 10.1.1		C 10.1.1
			A 10.1.2		B 10.1.2		C 10.1.2
			A 10.1.3		B 10.1.3		C 10.1.3
kfas			A 10.1.4		B 10.1.4		C 10.1.4
Brea			A 10.1.5		B 10.1.5		C 10.1.5
			A 10.1.6		B 10.1.6		C 10.1.6
			A 10.1.7		B 10.1.7		C 10.1.7
			A 10.2.1		B 10.2.1		C 10.2.1
			A 10.2.2		B 10.2.2		C 10.2.2
5			A 10.2.3		B 10.2.3		C 10.2.3
lack			A 10.2.4		B 10.2.4		C 10.2.4
S.			A 10.2.5		B 10.2.5		C 10.2.5
			A 10.2.6		B 10.2.6		C 10.2.6
			A 10.2.7		B 10.2.7		C 10.2.7
			A 10.3.1		B 10.3.1		C 10.3.1
			A 10.3.2		B 10.3.2		C 10.3.2
ି ଇ ∟			A 10.3.3		B 10.3.3		C 10.3.3
Inch			A 10.3.4		B 10.3.4		C 10.3.4
╞╧┝			A 10.3.5		B 10.3.5		C 10.3.5
			A 10.3.6		B 10.3.6		C 10.3.6
			A 10.3.7		B 10.3.7		C 10.3.7
]	Parent Questionnaire					Page	6

II10- Information on foods that addressed during the twenty-four hours prior

Suack (4)	ne of dish / drink intake	A Code of dish/drink	Code A 10.4.1 A 10.4.2 A 10.4.3 A 10.4.4 A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6	B Amount intake in pieces	Code B 10.4.1 B 10.4.2 B 10.4.3 B 10.4.4 B 10.4.5	C Amount of dish / drink intake in mille	Cod C 10.4 C 10.4 C 10.4 C 10.4
r (5) Snack (4)			A 10.4.1 A 10.4.2 A 10.4.3 A 10.4.4 A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6		B 10.4.1 B 10.4.2 B 10.4.3 B 10.4.4 B 10.4.5		C 10.4 C 10.4 C 10.4 C 10.4
sr (5) Snack (4)			A 10.4.2 A 10.4.3 A 10.4.4 A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6		B 10.4.2 B 10.4.3 B 10.4.4 B 10.4.5		C 10.4 C 10.4 C 10.4
r (5) Snack (4)			A 10.4.3 A 10.4.4 A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6		B 10.4.3 B 10.4.4 B 10.4.5		C 10.4
sr (5) Snack (A 10.4.4 A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6		B 10.4.4 B 10.4.5		C 10.4
sr (5)			A 10.4.5 A 10.4.6		B 10.4.5		<u> </u>
r (5)			A 10.4.6				C 10.4
ar (5)					B 10.4.6		C 10.4
ar (5)			A 10.4.7		B 10.4.7		C 10.4
r (5)			A 10.5.1		B 10.5.1		C 10.
r (5)			A 10.5.2		B 10.5.2		C 10.
ž –			A 10.5.3		B 10.5.3		C 10.
ŭ			A 10.5.4		B 10.5.4		C 10.
Din			A 10.5.5		B 10.5.5		C 10.
			A 10.5.6		B 10.5.6		C 10.
			A 10.5.7		B 10.5.7		C 10.
			A 10.6.1		B 10.6.1		C 10.
			A 10.6.2		B 10.6.2		C 10.
6			A 10.6.3		B 10.6.3		C 10.
ick (A 10.6.4		B 10.6.4		C 10.
Sni			A 10.6.5		B 10.6.5		C 10.6
			A 10.6.6		B 10.6.6		C 10.6
			A 10.6.7		B 10.6.7		C 10.

Parent Questionnaire

Form Number	DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION	Sultanate of Oman Ministry of Health Dept of Nutrition
The impact of fish a Health and cogniti	nd fish oil capsule intake on omeg ve function of Omani school child 2012	a-3 fatty acid status, ren Age 9/10 years
	Student Questionnaire	
Part A. General Infor	mation	
A1- Student Number in med	lical register:	A
A2 - Name of the School 10 - A 20 - A 30 - A A3 - Group allocation 1 - C 2 - Su 3 - Fi	Al Olaa Al Mashariq Al Waha ontrol upplement sh Supplement	
A4 – Class number forth: 1	2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	A
A5 – Name of Student: A6 - Observer code		
A7 - Sex 1 - M 2 - Fe	ale emale	
A8 - Date of interview	/ day //Month	Year A
A9 - Date of interview	∟/ day ∟/Month	

A10- Weight of the student at birth?	. Kg	A12
A11- Length of the student at birth?	Cm	A11
A12- What is the problem suffered at birth? 1 - Cesarean section 2 - Low birth weight 3 - Preterm baby 4 - Oxygen deficiency 5 - Nothing 6 - Other	у	A12
A13 - Number of Visit 1 - First 2 - Second		A13

Part B. Medical History of the student

Does the student have any of the following conditions? (Please fill the table from Child healthy Card)

В	Conditions	1 Yes	2 No	Code
1	Diabetes			B1
2	hypertension			B2
3	Obesity			B3
4	Heart condition			B4
5	High blood lipid			B5
6	High cholesterol			B6
7	Anemia 1 Hereditary 2 Non hereditary			B7
8	Goiter due to iodine deficiency			B8
9	Mental disability			B9
10	learning difficulties			B10
•				••••••

Student Questionnaire

Part C: Anthropometric measurement

0	21 First observer code								C 1
Code	Anthropometric measurement		First Measurement		Se	cond 1	Measu	remei	ıt
A	Weight KG	C1.A1		C1.A2					
в	Height CM	C1.B1		C1.B2					
С	Waist circumference CM	C1.C1		C1.C2					
D	Mid arm circumference CM	C1.D1		C1.D2					
E	Triceps' skin fold CM	C1.E1		C1.E2					
F	Sub scapular skin fold CM	C1.F1		C1.F2					
G	Height at sitting position CM	C1.G1		C1.G2					

Cada	Anthropometric measurement		Elect Management						
Code	-		First Measurement		5	econd	Meas	ireme	nt
A	Weight KG	C2.A1		C2.A2					
в	Height CM	C2.B1		C2.B2					
С	Waist circumference CM	C2.C1		C2.C2					
D	Mid arm circumference CM	C2.D1		C2.D2					
E	Triceps' skin fold Mm	C2.E1		C2.E2					
F	Sub scapular skin fold Mm	C2.F1		C2.F2					
G	Height at sitting position CM	C2.G1		C2.G2					

Code	Rate		Measurement
н	Fat Mass Rate %	СН	
I	Water Mass Rate %	СІ	
J	Muscular Mass Rate %	CJ	
к	Bone Minerals Mass Rate %	СК	
L	Vascular Fats Rate %	CL	

Student Questionnaire

Part D: Medical Examination

Code	Test		Measurement
1	WBC k/ul	DA.1	
2	RBC /ul	DA.2	
3	HGB G/DI	DA.3	
4	HCT %	DA.4	
5	MCV Fl	DA.5	
6	MCH PG	DA.6	
7	MCHC G/DL	DA.7	
8	PLT /ul	DA.8	
9	LYM %	DA.9	
10	MONO %	DA.10	
11	NEU %	DA.11	
12	RDW %CV	DA.12	
13	MPV FI	DA.13	

A- Complete Blood control (CBC)

B- Serum Lipids

Code	Test		Measurement
1	Cholesterol mmol/L	DB.1	
2	Triglycerides mmol/L	DB.2	
3	HDL cholesterol mmol/L	DB.3	
4	LDL cholesterol mmol/L	DB.4	

Student Questionnaire

Code	Test		Measurement	
С	Fasting blood sugar (FBS) mg/dl	DC		
D	urinary iodine mg/dl	DD		
E	Glycosylated HB1	DE		
F	Parathyrold Hormone	DF		
G	Thyroid Function Test	DG		
н	Bone Profile	DH		
I	Vitamin D	DI		

Student Questionnaire

APPENDIX 4: Ethical Approval

Sultanate of Oman Ministry of Health Directorate General of Planning		ينت لطنت ممت ال وَزَلْدَةَ لَالِتَهِ التَّحْدَةُ مُسْتَاتَ لِلْمَا يَرْتَبْهُمَ لَاحْتُ إِمَّهُ لِلْبَخْطِيْطُ
Ref. : Date :		الرقم و ص م ع ت / ۲۹ ۲۹ الفاری ۲۹ رجب / ۱۹۳ هـ الطوافي ۱۹ / يونو / ۲۰۱۲م
المتسرم	ون التخطيط	، الفاضل / مدير مكتب الوكيل لشئر
		تحية طيبة وبعد
ينيو / ۲۰۱۲م بخصوص مقارح مشروع	۲۰۱۱م) بتاريخ : ۱۳ / يو باط وصحة الطلاب.	بالاشارة الى خطابكم رقم : (٢/١٥٠٥ دراسة تاثير استهلاك الاسماك على نش
المشار إليه أعلاه من قبل لجنة مراجعة اب الموافقة.	إفقة على مقارّح البحث الاخلاقية - (مرفق خط 4 للتفضل بالتوجيه.	عليــه نود إفادتكم بأنه قد تمت الم وإجازة البحوث من الناحيتين العلمية و برجاء التكرم بعرض الموضوع لسعادة
and the second s	-	وتفضلوا بقبول تحياتنا ،،، ا
ـد بن محمد القاسمي	د / احم	
المدير العام المعة ما مانة المعدد من	3141	
مراجعه وزجارة البطوت من در العلمية والاخلاقية	راسيس اسبسه ه	
P.O. Box : 393, Postal Code : 100, Muscat - Fax : 2	4696533 11141077	ص.ب : ٣٩٣ ، الرمز البريدي : ١٠٠ ، مــــقط - فاكس :

Sultanate of Oman Ministry of Health Directorate General of Planning وارقمه Ref. : MH/DGP/R&S/PROPOSAL_APPROVED/8/2012 ولخاريخ. Date : 19.6.2012 ولمولق، Professor Kebreab Ghebremeskel Head of Lipidomics and Nutrition Research Centre; London Metropolitan University **Principal Investigator** Study Title: " The impact of fish and fish oil capsule intake on omega-3 fatty acid status, health and cognitive function of Omani school children " After compliments. We are pleased to inform you that your research proposal " The impact of fish and fish oil capsule intake on omega-3 fatty acid status, health and cognitive function of Omani school children " has been approved by Research and Ethical Review and Approve Committee, Ministry of Health. Regards, Dr. Ahmed Al Qasmi Director General of Planning, Chairman, Research and Ethical Review and Approve Committee Ministry of Health, Sultanate of Oman. Cc Day file

BO Box - 393. Postal Code : 100, Muscat - Fax : 24696533

ص.ب : ٣٩٣ ،الرمز البريدي : ١٠٠ ، مسقط - فاكس : ٢٤٦٩٦٥٣٣

APPENDIX 5: Omani Ministry of Health Recommended Nutrient Intake Tables

Calcium (mg)	250-400	350-560		500-800	750-1200	475-760	096-009		525-840	096-009	550-880	450-720	500-800	500-800	450-720	400-640	525-1100	600-1160
Zinc (mg)	10	14		20	30	19	24		21	24	22	18	20	20	18	16	21-27	24-29
Folate (µg)	150-200	210-280		300-400	450-600	285-380	360-480		315-420	360-480	330-440	270-360	300-400	300-400	270-360	240-320	315-540	360-580
Iron (mg)	5.5	7.7		11.0	16.5	10.5	13.2		11.6	13.2	12.1	9.9	5	÷	9.9	8.8	11-15	13-16
Vitamin D (µg)	2.5-5.0	3.5-7		5-10	7.5-15	4.8-9.5	6-12		5.3-10.5	6-12	5.5-11	4.5-9	5-10	5-10	4.5-9	4-8	5.3-13.5	6-15
Vitamin A (µg RE)	350-500	490-700		700-1000	1050-1500	665-950	840-1200		735-1050	840-1200	770-1100	630-900	700-1000	700-1000	630-900	560-800	735-1300	840-1450
Fiber (g)	8-20	11-28		16-40	24-60	15-38	19-48		17-42	19-48	18-44	14.5-36	16-40	16-40	14.5-36	13-32	17-52	19-58
Carbohydrates (g)	137.5-187.5	192.5-262.5		275-375	412.5-562.5	261.3-356.3	330-450		288.8-393.8	330-450	302.5-412.5	247.5-337.5	275-375	275-375	247.5-337.5	220-300	290-500	330-540
Protein (g)	20-25	28-35		40-50	60-75	38-47.5	48-60		42-52.5	48-60	44-55	36-45	40-50	40-50	36-45	32-40	42-67.5	48-72.5
Energy (kcal)	1000	1400		2000	3000	1900	2400		2100	2400	2200	1800	2000	2000	1800	1600	2100-2700	2400-2900
Age- group (years)	1-3	4-8		9-13	14-18	9-13	14-18		19-30	31-50	51-70	>70	19-30	31-50	51-70	>70	All	All
Population category	Young children	Children	Adolescent	Males		Females		Adults	Males				Females				Pregnant	Lactating

Table 1 Recommended nutrient intakes for protein; carbohydrates; and vitamins of public health importance for various population groups of Oman

Population category	(years) Age-group	(kcsi) Energy	∃ nimstiV (∃T ၷ ฤ៣)	Vitamin K (µg)	Vitamin C (mg)	ənimsinT (pm)	Riboflavin (pm)	Miacin (mg)	Vitamin B6 (mg)	Vitamin B12 (µg)	(mg) Fluoride	(bd) (bd)	muibo2 (g)
Young children	1-3	1000	3.5-5.0	20-40	25-30	0.5-0.8	-9.0 0.9	6-10	0.5-1	0.5-1	0.5-1	75	2.5
Children	4-8	1400	4.9-7.0	28-56	35-42	07-1.12	0.8-1.3	8.4-14	0.7-1.4	0.7-1.4	0.7-1.4	105	3.5
Adolescent													
Males	9-13	2000	7.0-10.0	40-80	50-60	1-1.6	1.2-1.8	12-20	1-2	1-2	1-2	150	5.0
	14-18	3000	10.5-15.0	60-120	75-90	1.5-2.4	1.8-2.7	18-30	1.5-3	1.5-3	1.5-3	225	7.5
Females	9-13	1900	6.7-9.5	38-76	47.5-57	0.9-1.6	1.1-1.7	11.4-19	0.9-1.9	0.9-1.9	0.9-1.9	142	4.8
	14-18	2400	8.4-12.0	48-96	60-72	1.2-1.9	1.4-2.1	14.4-24	1.2-2.4	1.2-2.4	1.2-2.4	180	6.0
Adults													
Males	19-30	2100	7.3.10.5	42-84	52.5-63	1.1-1.7	1.3-1.9	12.6-21	1.1-2.1	1.1-2.1	1.1-2.1	158	5.3
	31-50	2400	8.4-12.0	48-96	60-72	1.2-1.9	1.4-2.2	14.4-24	1.2-2.4	1.2-2.4	1.2-2.4	180	6.0
	51-70	2200	7.7-11.0	44-88	55-66	1.1-1.8	1.3-2.0	13.2-22	1.1-2.2	1.1-2.2	1.1-2.2	165	5.5
	>70	1800	6.3-9.0	36-72	45-54	0.9-1.5	1.1-1.6	10.8-18	0.9-1.8	0.9-1.8	0.9-1.8	135	4.5
Females	19-30	2000	7.0-10.0	40-80	50-60	1-1.6	1.2-1.8	12-20	1-2	1-2	1-2	150	5.0
	31-50	2000	7.0-10.0	40-80	50-60	1-1.6	1.2-1.8	12-20	1-2	1-2	1-2	150	5.0
	51-70	1800	6.3-9.0	36-72	45-54	0.9-1.44	1.1-1.6	10.8-18	0.9-1.8	0.9-1.8	0.9-1.8	135	4.5
	>70	1600	5.6-8.0	32-64	40-48	0.8-1.3	0.9-1.4	9.6-16	0.8-1.6	0.8-1.6	0.8-1.6	120	4.0
Pregnant	AI	2100-2700	7.3-13.5	42-108	52.5-81	1.0-2.2	1.3-2.4	12.6-27	1.0-2.7	1.0-2.7	1.0-2.7	157-202	5.3-6.7
Lactating	AII	2400-2900	8.4-14.5	48-116	60-87	1.2-2.3	1.4-2.6	14.4-29	1.5-2.9	1.5-2.9	1.5-2.9	180-217	5.9-7.2
Tahle 2 Recommen	ded nutrie	ant intakes fr	or protein: cart	ohvdrate	s: and vitan	nins of nubl	ic health i	mortance	for				

Table 2 Recommended nutrient intakes for protein; carbohydrates; and vitamins of public health importance for various population groups of Oman

REFERENCES

- ABBOTT, R. D., WHITE, L. R., ROSS, G. W., PETROVITCH, H., MASAKI, K. H., SNOWDON, D. A. & CURB, J. D. 1998. Height as a marker of childhood development and late-life cognitive function: the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. *Pediatrics*, 102, 602-9.
- ABBOTT, S. K., ELSE, P. L., ATKINS, T. A. & HULBERT, A. J. 2012. Fatty acid composition of membrane bilayers: importance of diet polyunsaturated fat balance. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1818, 1309-17.
- ABDEL-WARETH, L., HAQ, A., TURNER, A., KHAN, S., SALEM, A., MUSTAFA, F., HUSSEIN, N., PALLINALAKAM, F., GRUNDY, L. & PATRAS, G. 2013. Total vitamin d assay comparison of the roche diagnostics "Vitamin D Total" electrochemiluminescence protein binding assay with the chromsystems HPLC method in a population with both D2 and D3 forms of vitamin D. *Nutrients*, 5, 971-980.
- ABDOU, S. A. H. & AL-MURZAHMI, S. N. 2012. Oman Global School-Based Student Health Survey, 2010. World Health Organization.
- ABDOU, S. A. H., AL-MUZAHMI, S. & HILMY, S. A. 2010. Oman Global School-based Student Health Survey. Muscat: Ministry of Health & Ministry of Education.
- ABERG, M. A., ABERG, N., BRISMAN, J., SUNDBERG, R., WINKVIST, A. & TOREN, K. 2009. Fish intake of Swedish male adolescents is a predictor of cognitive performance. *Acta Paediatr*, 98, 555-60.
- ABIAKA, C., DELGHANDI, M., KAUR, M. & AL-SALEH, M. 2013. Vitamin d status and anthropometric indices of an omani study population. *Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J*, 13, 224-31.
- ADAN, Y., SHIBATA, K., SATO, M., IKEDA, I. & IMAIZUMI, K. 1999. Effects of docosahexaenoic and eicosapentaenoic acid on lipid metabolism, eicosanoid production, platelet aggregation and atherosclerosis in hypercholesterolemic rats. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem*, 63, 111-9.
- AFIFI, M. 2006. Positive health practices and depressive symptoms among high school adolescents in Oman. *Singapore Med J*, 47, 960-6.
- AGUIREE, F., BROWN, A., CHO, N. H., DAHLQUIST, G., DODD, S., DUNNING, T., HIRST, M., HWANG, C., MAGLIANO, D. & PATTERSON, C. 2013. IDF Diabetes Atlas.
- AKINBAMI, L. J., LIU, X., PASTOR, P. N. & REUBEN, C. A. 2011. Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder among children aged 5-17 years in the United States, 1998-2009. NCHS Data Brief, 1-8.
- AL-HAIDAR, F. 2002. Mental retardation and associated psychiatric disorders. *Arab Journal of Psychiatry*, 13, 111-117.
- AL-HAIFI, A. R., AL-FAYEZ, M. A., AL-ATHARI, B. I., AL-AJMI, F. A., ALLAFI, A. R., AL-HAZZAA, H. M. & MUSAIGER, A. O. 2013. Relative contribution of physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and dietary habits to the prevalence of obesity among Kuwaiti adolescents. *Food Nutr Bull*, 34, 6-13.
- AL-HAZZAA, H. M., ABAHUSSAIN, N. A., AL-SOBAYEL, H. I., QAHWAJI, D. M. & MUSAIGER, A. O. 2011. Physical activity, sedentary behaviors and dietary habits among Saudi adolescents relative to age, gender and region. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*, 8, 140.

- AL-KINDI, M. K. 2011. Vitamin D Status in Healthy Omani Women of Childbearing Age: Study of female staff at the Royal Hospital, Muscat, Oman. *Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J*, 11, 56-61.
- AL-LAMKI, L. 2010. UN Millennium Development Goals and Oman: Kudos to Oman on its 40th National Day. *Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J*, 10, 301-5.
- AL-LAMKI, L. 2012. Dyslexia: Its impact on the Individual, Parents and Society. *Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J*, 12, 269-72.
- AL-LAWATI, J. A. & JOUSILAHTI, P. J. 2004. Prevalence and 10-year secular trend of obesity in Oman. *Saudi medical journal*, 25, 346-351.
- AL-LAWATI, J. A., M, N. B., AL-ZAKWANI, I., ELSAYED, M. K., AL-MASKARI, M., N, M. A.-L. & MOHAMMED, A. J. 2012. Control of risk factors for cardiovascular disease among adults with previously diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus: a descriptive study from a middle eastern arab population. *Open Cardiovasc Med J*, 6, 133-40.
- AL-LAWATI, J. A., MABRY, R. & MOHAMMED, A. J. 2008. Peer Reviewed: Addressing the Threat of Chronic Diseases in Oman. *Preventing chronic disease*, 5.
- AL-MASHAKHI, M. S. A. & KOLL, E.-H. B. A. 2007. Country Pasture/Forage Resource Profiles OMAN. Rome: Food and Agricultural Organisation of the United Nations.
- AL-SALMANI, A., JUMA, A., AL-NOOBI, A., AL-FARSI, Y., JAAFAR, N., AL-MAMARI, K., ANWAR, H., AL-LAWATI, G., KLEIN, T. & AL-ADAWI, S. 2015. Characterization of depression among patients at urban primary healthcare centers in Oman. *The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 49, 1-18.
- AL-SHARBATI, M., ADAWI, S. A., AL-HUSSAINI, A. A., LAWATI, S. A. & MARTIN, R. 2004. ADHD in Omani schoolgirls. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 43, 132-3.
- AL-SHARBATI, M., AL-ADAWI, S., GANGULY, S., AL-LAWATIYA, S. & AL-MSHEFRI, F. 2008. Hyperactivity in a sample of Omani schoolboys. J Atten Disord, 12, 264-9.
- AL KALBANI, M., ELSHAFIE, O., RAWAHI, M., AL-MAMARI, A., AL-ZAKWANI, A. & WOODHOUSE, N. 2011. Vitamin D Status in Pregnant Omanis: A disturbingly high proportion of patients with low vitamin D stores. *Sultan Qaboos Univ Med J*, 11, 52-5.
- AL RIYAMI, A., ELATY, M. A., MORSI, M., AL KHARUSI, H., AL SHUKAILY, W. & JAJU, S. 2012. Oman world health survey: part 1 methodology, sociodemographic profile and epidemiology of non-communicable diseases in oman. *Oman Med J*, 27, 425-43.
- ALASFOOR, D., RAJAB, H. & AL-RASSASI, B. 2007. Food based dietary guidelines, technical background and description. Muscat: Ministry of Health.
- ALFIN-SLATER, R. B. & AFTERGOOD, L. 1968. Essential fatty acids reinvestigated. *Physiol Rev*, 48, 758-84.
- ALLAFI, A., AL-HAIFI, A. R., AL-FAYEZ, M. A., AL-ATHARI, B. I., AL-AJMI, F. A., AL-HAZZAA, H. M., MUSAIGER, A. O. & AHMED, F. 2014. Physical activity, sedentary behaviours and dietary habits among Kuwaiti adolescents: gender differences. *Public Health Nutr*, 17, 2045-52.
- ALLAIN, C. C., POON, L. S., CHAN, C. S., RICHMOND, W. & FU, P. C. 1974. Enzymatic determination of total serum cholesterol. *Clinical chemistry*, 20, 470-475.
- ALLEN, K. G. & HARRIS, M. A. 2001. The role of n-3 fatty acids in gestation and parturition. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 226, 498-506.
- ALWAN, A. 2008. 2008–2013 Action plan for the global strategy for the prevention and control of non-communicable diseases. Geneva.

- ALWAN, A. 2011. *Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010*, World Health Organization.
- ALWAN, A. 2014. Responding to priority health challenges in the Arab world. *The Lancet*, 383, 284-286.
- ALWAN, A., MACLEAN, D. R., RILEY, L. M., D'ESPAIGNET, E. T., MATHERS, C. D., STEVENS, G. A. & BETTCHER, D. 2010. Monitoring and surveillance of chronic non-communicable diseases: progress and capacity in high-burden countries. *Lancet*, 376, 1861-8.
- ALY, D. G. & SHAHIN, R. S. 2010. Oxidative stress in lichen planus. Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Pannonica Adriat, 19, 3-11.
- AMER, J., GHOTI, H., RACHMILEWITZ, E., KOREN, A., LEVIN, C. & FIBACH, E. 2006. Red blood cells, platelets and polymorphonuclear neutrophils of patients with sickle cell disease exhibit oxidative stress that can be ameliorated by antioxidants. *Br J Haematol*, 132, 108-13.
- AMERICAN ACADEMY OF PEDIATRICS. 2008. Caring for children with ADHD: A resource toolkit for clinicians. Available: <u>http://www.aap.org/pubserv/adhdtoolkit/</u> [Accessed February 16, 2016].
- AMERICAN PSYCHIATRIC ASSOCIATION 2013. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-5*, Washington, DC, American Psychiatric Association.
- ANDERSON, J. W. & AKANJI, A. O. 1991. Dietary fiber—an overview. *Diabetes Care*, 14, 1126-1131.
- ANDREYEVA, T., KELLY, I. R. & HARRIS, J. L. 2011. Exposure to food advertising on television: associations with children's fast food and soft drink consumption and obesity. *Econ Hum Biol*, 9, 221-33.
- ANTALIS, C. J., STEVENS, L. J., CAMPBELL, M., PAZDRO, R., ERICSON, K. & BURGESS, J. R. 2006. Omega-3 fatty acid status in attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 75, 299-308.
- ARICAN, O. & KURUTAS, E. B. 2008. Oxidative stress in the blood of patients with active localized vitiligo. *Acta Dermatovenerol Alp Pannonica Adriat*, 17, 12-6.
- ARTERBURN, L. M., HALL, E. B. & OKEN, H. 2006. Distribution, interconversion, and dose response of n-3 fatty acids in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 83, 1467s-1476s.
- ASP, N.-G. 1994. Nutritional classification and analysis of food carbohydrates. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 59, 679S-681S.
- AUESTAD, N. & INNIS, S. M. 2000. Dietary n-3 fatty acid restriction during gestation in rats: neuronal cell body and growth-cone fatty acids. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 312s-4s.
- AUGUSTIN, L., DAL MASO, L., LA VECCHIA, C., PARPINEL, M., NEGRI, E., VACCARELLA, S., KENDALL, C., JENKINS, D. & FRANCESCHI, S. 2001. Dietary glycemic index and glycemic load, and breast cancer risk: a case-control study. *Annals of Oncology*, 12, 1533-1538.
- AUGUSTIN, L., POLESEL, J., BOSETTI, C., KENDALL, C., LA VECCHIA, C., PARPINEL, M., CONTI, E., MONTELLA, M., FRANCESCHI, S. & JENKINS, D. 2003. Dietary glycemic index, glycemic load and ovarian cancer risk: a case–control study in Italy. *Annals of Oncology*, 14, 78-84.
- AUSTIN, M. A. 1991. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 11, 2-14.
- AZZI, A., GYSIN, R., KEMPNA, P., MUNTEANU, A., NEGIS, Y., VILLACORTA, L., VISARIUS, T. & ZINGG, J. M. 2004. Vitamin E mediates cell signaling and regulation of gene expression. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1031, 86-95.

- BAAN, R., STRAIF, K., GROSSE, Y., SECRETAN, B., EL GHISSASSI, F., BOUVARD, V., ALTIERI, A. & COGLIANO, V. 2007. Carcinogenicity of alcoholic beverages. *The lancet oncology*, 8, 292-293.
- BADID, N., AHMED, F. Z., MERZOUK, H., BELBRAOUET, S., MOKHTARI, N., MERZOUK, S. A., BENHABIB, R., HAMZAOUI, D. & NARCE, M. 2010. Oxidant/antioxidant status, lipids and hormonal profile in overweight women with breast cancer. *Pathol Oncol Res*, 16, 159-67.
- BADRAN, M. & LAHER, I. 2011. Obesity in arabic-speaking countries. J Obes, 2011, 686430.
- BANG, H. O., DYERBERG, J. & HJOORNE, N. 1976. The composition of food consumed by Greenland Eskimos. *Acta Med Scand*, 200, 69-73.
- BARKER, D. J. 1995a. Fetal origins of coronary heart disease. Bmj, 311, 171-4.
- BARKER, D. J. 1995b. Intrauterine programming of adult disease. *Mol Med Today*, 1, 418-23.
- BARKER, D. J. 1998. In utero programming of chronic disease. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 95, 115-28.
- BARKER, D. J. & OSMOND, C. 1986. Infant mortality, childhood nutrition, and ischaemic heart disease in England and Wales. *The Lancet*, 327, 1077-1081.
- BARKLEY, R. A. 2003. Issues in the diagnosis of attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children. *Brain Dev*, 25, 77-83.
- BARREIROS, A. L. & JORGE, M. D. 2006. Estresse oxidativo: Relação entre geração de espécies reativas e defesa do organismo. *Faculdade de Farmácia*. *Quim Nova*, 29, 113-123.
- BARRETT, H. L., DEKKER NITERT, M., MCINTYRE, H. D. & CALLAWAY, L. K. 2014. Normalizing metabolism in diabetic pregnancy: is it time to target lipids? *Diabetes Care*, 37, 1484-93.
- BASTIEN, J. & ROCHETTE-EGLY, C. 2004. Nuclear retinoid receptors and the transcription of retinoid-target genes. *Gene*, 328, 1-16.
- BAUER, I., HUGHES, M., ROWSELL, R., COCKERELL, R., PIPINGAS, A., CREWTHER, S. & CREWTHER, D. 2014. Omega-3 supplementation improves cognition and modifies brain activation in young adults. *Hum Psychopharmacol*, 29, 133-44.
- BAUMGARTNER, J. 2016. Effects of omega 3 fatty acid supplementation on cognition in children. *In:* WATSON, R. R. & MEESTER, F. D. (eds.) *Handbook of Lipids in Human Function*. London: Academic Press and AOCS Press.
- BEATON, G. H., MARTORELL, R. & ARONSON, K. L. 1993. Effectiveness of vitamin A supplementation in the control of young child morbidity and mortality in developing countries. ACC/SCN State-of-the-Art Series policy discussion paper Geneva: World Health Organization.
- BEHRMAN, E. J. & GOPALAN, V. 2005. Cholesterol and plants. *J Chem Educ* 82, 1791-1793.
- BELIZAN, J. M., VILLAR, J., BERGEL, E., DEL PINO, A., DI FULVIO, S., GALLIANO, S. V. & KATTAN, C. 1997. Long-term effect of calcium supplementation during pregnancy on the blood pressure of offspring: follow up of a randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 315, 281-5.
- BELLISLE, F. 2004. Effects of diet on behaviour and cognition in children. *British Journal* of Nutrition, 92, S227-S232.
- BENATTI, P., PELUSO, G., NICOLAI, R. & CALVANI, M. 2004. Polyunsaturated fatty acids: biochemical, nutritional and epigenetic properties. *J Am Coll Nutr*, 23, 281-302.

- BENER, A., QAHTANI, R. A. & ABDELAAL, I. 2006. The prevalence of ADHD among primary school children in an Arabian society. *J Atten Disord*, 10, 77-82.
- BENOLKEN, R. M., ANDERSON, R. E. & WHEELER, T. G. 1973. Membrane fatty acids associated with the electrical response in visual excitation. *Science*, 182, 1253-4.
- BENTON, D., BRETT, V. & BRAIN, P. F. 1987. Glucose improves attention and reaction to frustration in children. *Biological Psychology*, 24, 95-100.
- BENTON, D. & OWENS, D. S. 1993. Blood glucose and human memory. *Psychopharmacology*, 113, 83-88.
- BENTON, D., RUFFIN, M.-P., LASSEL, T., NABB, S., MESSAOUDI, M., VINOY, S., DESOR, D. & LANG, V. 2003. The delivery rate of dietary carbohydrates affects cognitive performance in both rats and humans. *Psychopharmacology*, 166, 86-90.
- BIN ZAAL, A. A., MUSAIGER, A. O. & D'SOUZA, R. 2009. Dietary habits associated with obesity among adolescents in Dubai, United Arab Emirates. *Nutr Hosp*, 24, 437-44.
- BIRCH, E. E., GARFIELD, S., HOFFMAN, D. R., UAUY, R. & BIRCH, D. G. 2000. A randomized controlled trial of early dietary supply of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and mental development in term infants. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 42, 174-181.
- BIRCH, E. E., HOFFMAN, D. R., UAUY, R., BIRCH, D. G. & PRESTIDGE, C. 1998. Visual acuity and the essentiality of docosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid in the diet of term infants. *Pediatr Res*, 44, 201-9.
- BIRCH, L. L. 1999. Development of food preferences. *Annual review of nutrition*, 19, 41-62.
- BIRCH, L. L., BIRCH, D., MARLIN, D. W. & KRAMER, L. 1982. Effects of instrumental consumption on children's food preference. *Appetite*, 3, 125-134.
- BLACK, R. E., ALLEN, L. H., BHUTTA, Z. A., CAULFIELD, L. E., DE ONIS, M., EZZATI, M., MATHERS, C., RIVERA, J., MATERNAL & CHILD UNDERNUTRITION STUDY, G. 2008. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. *Lancet*, 371, 243-60.
- BLAKELY, S. R., DODGE, W. R., MITCHELL, J. V. & JANKINS, M. Y. 1992. Enhanced accumulation of beta carotene and canthaxanthin in rat liver and plasma with moderately and plasma with moderately high corn oil diets. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 200, 277.
- BLOCH, M. H. & QAWASMI, A. 2011. Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation for the treatment of children with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder symptomatology: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50, 991-1000.
- BLOCK, R. C., HARRIS, W. S. & POTTALA, J. V. 2008. Determinants of Blood Cell Omega-3 Fatty Acid Content. *Open Biomark J*, 1, 1-6.
- BOE, T., OVERLAND, S., LUNDERVOLD, A. J. & HYSING, M. 2012. Socioeconomic status and children's mental health: results from the Bergen Child Study. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol, 47, 1557-66.
- BONET, M. L., RIBOT, J., FELIPE, F. & PALOU, A. 2003. Vitamin A and the regulation of fat reserves. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 60, 1311-21.
- BOREL, P. 2012. Genetic variations involved in interindividual variability in carotenoid status. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 56, 228-40.
- BOUTAYEB, A. & BOUTAYEB, S. 2005. The burden of non communicable diseases in developing countries. *Int J Equity Health*, 4, 2.

- BOWMAN, S. A., GORTMAKER, S. L., EBBELING, C. B., PEREIRA, M. A. & LUDWIG, D. S. 2004. Effects of fast-food consumption on energy intake and diet quality among children in a national household survey. *Pediatrics*, 113, 112-118.
- BRADLEY, R. & STERN, I. B. 1967. The development of the human taste bud during the foetal period. *Journal of anatomy*, 101, 743.
- BRAITHWAITE, I., STEWART, A. W., HANCOX, R. J., BEASLEY, R., MURPHY, R., MITCHELL, E. A., GROUP, I. P. T. S. & GROUP, I. P. T. S. 2014. Fast-food consumption and body mass index in children and adolescents: an international cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open*, 4, e005813.
- BRECKENREIDGE, W. C., GOMBOS, G. & MORGAN, I. G. 1971. The docosahexaenoic acid of the phospholipids of synaptic membranes, vesicles and mitochondria. *Brain Res*, 33, 581-3.
- BRENNA, J. T., SALEM, N., JR., SINCLAIR, A. J., CUNNANE, S. C., INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY FOR THE STUDY OF FATTY, A. & LIPIDS, I. 2009. alpha-Linolenic acid supplementation and conversion to n-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in humans. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 80, 85-91.
- BROADHURST, C. L., WANG, Y., CRAWFORD, M. A., CUNNANE, S. C., PARKINGTON, J. E. & SCHMIDT, W. F. 2002. Brain-specific lipids from marine, lacustrine, or terrestrial food resources: potential impact on early African Homo sapiens. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol*, 131, 653-73.
- BROWN, A. S. & SUSSER, E. S. 2008. Prenatal nutritional deficiency and risk of adult schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*, 34, 1054-63.
- BROX, J. H., KILLIE, J. E., ØSTERUD, B., HOLME, S. & NORDØY, A. 1983. Effects of cod liver oil on platelets and coagulation in familial hypercholesterolemia (type IIa). *Acta Medica Scandinavica*, 213, 137-144.
- BU-HAROON, A., EAPEN, V. & ABDULBARI, B. 1999. The prevalence of hyperactivity symptoms in the United Arab Emirates. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 53, 439-442.
- BUDDEBERG-FISCHER, B., KLAGHOFER, R. & REED, V. 1999. Associations between body weight, psychiatric disorders and body image in female adolescents. *Psychotherapy and psychosomatics*, 68, 325-332.
- BUDOWSKI, P. 1984. Dietary linoleic acid should be balanced by alpha-linoleic acid: A discussion of the nutritional implications of the dietary ratio of polyunsaturated fats. *In:* HOROWITZ, C. (ed.) *Advances in Diet and Nutrition: 1st International Congress on Diet and Nutrition, Tel Aviv, February 1983.* London: John Libbey & Co.
- BUDOWSKI, P. & CRAWFORD, M. A. 1985. alpha-Linolenic acid as a regulator of the metabolism of arachidonic acid: dietary implications of the ratio, n-6:n-3 fatty acids. *Proceedings of the nutrition Society*, 44, 221-229.
- BURGESS, J. R., STEVENS, L., ZHANG, W. & PECK, L. 2000. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids in children with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 327S-30S.
- BURR, G. O. & BURR, M. M. 1973. Nutrition classics from The Journal of Biological Chemistry 82:345-67, 1929. A new deficiency disease produced by the rigid exclusion of fat from the diet. *Nutr Rev*, 31, 248-9.
- BURRI, B. J. 1997. Beta-carotene and human health: a review of current research. *Nutr Res* 17, 547-580.
- BURTON, G. W. & INGOLD, K. U. 1984. beta-Carotene: an unusual type of lipid antioxidant. *Science*, 224, 569-73.

- CALDER, P. C. 2003. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammation: from molecular biology to the clinic. *Lipids*, 38, 343-52.
- CALDER, P. C. 2006. n- 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 83, S1505-1519S.
- CALDER, P. C. 2008. Polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammatory processes and inflammatory bowel diseases. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 52, 885-97.
- CALDER, P. C. 2013. n-3 fatty acids, inflammation and immunity: new mechanisms to explain old actions. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 72, 326-36.
- CALDER, P. C. & ZURIER, R. B. 2001. Polyunsaturated fatty acids and rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 4, 115-21.
- CAMPBELL, K. J., CRAWFORD, D. A. & BALL, K. 2006. Family food environment and dietary behaviors likely to promote fatness in 5–6 year-old children. *International journal of obesity*, 30, 1272-1280.
- CANCER RESEARCH UK 2002. Childhood cancer statistics: survival.
- CANINO, G. & ALEGRIA, M. 2008. Psychiatric diagnosis is it universal or relative to culture? *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 49, 237-50.
- CARLSON, S. E. 1999. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and development of human infants. *Acta Paediatr Suppl*, 88, 72-7.
- CARLSON, S. E., WERKMAN, S. H., PEEPLES, J. M., COOKE, R. J. & TOLLEY, E. A. 1993. Arachidonic acid status correlates with first year growth in preterm infants. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 1073-7.
- CARRERA-BASTOS, P., FONTES-VILLALBA, M., O'KEEFE, J. H., LINDEBERG, S. & CORDAIN, L. 2011a. The western diet and lifestyle and diseases of civilization. *Research Reports in Clinical Cardiology*, 2, 15-35.
- CARRERA-BASTOS, P., FONTES, O'KEEFE, LINDEBERG & CORDAIN 2011b. The western diet and lifestyle and diseases of civilization. *Research Reports in Clinical Cardiology*, 15.
- CERIELLO, A., BORTOLOTTI, N., CRESCENTINI, A., MOTZ, E., LIZZIO, S., RUSSO, A., EZSOL, Z., TONUTTI, L. & TABOGA, C. 1998. Antioxidant defences are reduced during the oral glucose tolerance test in normal and non-insulin-dependent diabetic subjects. *European journal of clinical investigation*, 28, 329-333.
- CHAKAR, H. & SALAMEH, P. R. 2006. Adolescent obesity in Lebanese private schools. *Eur J Public Health*, 16, 648-51.
- CHAN, H. M. & EGELAND, G. M. 2004. Fish consumption, mercury exposure, and heart diseases. *Nutr Rev*, 62, 68-72.
- CHANDALIA, M., GARG, A., LUTJOHANN, D., VON BERGMANN, K., GRUNDY, S. M. & BRINKLEY, L. J. 2000. Beneficial effects of high dietary fiber intake in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 342, 1392-1398.
- CHEN, X. & WANG, Y. 2008. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Circulation*, 117, 3171-80.
- CHERUKU, S. R., MONTGOMERY-DOWNS, H. E., FARKAS, S. L., THOMAN, E. B. & LAMMI-KEEFE, C. J. 2002. Higher maternal plasma docosahexaenoic acid during pregnancy is associated with more mature neonatal sleep-state patterning. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 76, 608-13.
- CHILDS, C. E., ROMEU-NADAL, M., BURDGE, G. C. & CALDER, P. C. 2008. Gender differences in the n-3 fatty acid content of tissues. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 67, 19-27.
- CHIU, C. C., HUANG, S. Y. & SU, K. P. 2004. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids for postpartum depression. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*, 190, 582-3; author reply 583.

- COLLEGE OF AGRICULTURE 1995. Traditional Agriculture and Fishing in the Sultanate of Oman. Muscat: Sultan Qaboos University Press.
- COLLETT, B. R., OHAN, J. L. & MYERS, K. M. 2003. Ten-year review of rating scales. V: scales assessing attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 42, 1015-37.
- COLLINS, P. Y., PATEL, V., JOESTL, S. S., MARCH, D., INSEL, T. R., DAAR, A. S., SCIENTIFIC ADVISORY, B., THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE GRAND CHALLENGES ON GLOBAL MENTAL, H., ANDERSON, W., DHANSAY, M. A., PHILLIPS, A., SHURIN, S., WALPORT, M., EWART, W., SAVILL, S. J., BORDIN, I. A., COSTELLO, E. J., DURKIN, M., FAIRBURN, C., GLASS, R. I., HALL, W., HUANG, Y., HYMAN, S. E., JAMISON, K., KAAYA, S., KAPUR, S., KLEINMAN, A., OGUNNIYI, A., OTERO-OJEDA, A., POO, M. M., RAVINDRANATH, V., SAHAKIAN, B. J., SAXENA, S., SINGER, P. A. & STEIN, D. J. 2011. Grand challenges in global mental health. *Nature*, 475, 27-30.
- COLOMBO, J., KANNASS, K. N., JILL SHADDY, D., KUNDURTHI, S., MAIKRANZ, J. M., ANDERSON, C. J., BLAGA, O. M. & CARLSON, S. E. 2004. Maternal DHA and the development of attention in infancy and toddlerhood. *Child development*, 75, 1254-1267.
- COLQUHOUN, I. & BUNDAY, S. 1981. A lack of essential fatty acids as a possible cause of hyperactivity in children. *Med Hypotheses*, 7, 673-9.
- COLTER, A. L., CUTLER, C. & MECKLING, K. A. 2008. Fatty acid status and behavioural symptoms of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in adolescents: a case-control study. *Nutr J*, 7, 8.
- CONNOR, W. E. 2000. Importance of n-3 fatty acids in health and disease. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 171S-5S.
- CONQUER, J. A. & HOLUB, B. J. 1996. Supplementation with an algae source of docosahexaenoic acid increases (n-3) fatty acid status and alters selected risk factors for heart disease in vegetarian subjects. *J Nutr*, 126, 3032-9.
- COOK, J. A. 2005. Eicosanoids. Crit Care Med, 33, S488-91.
- CORDAIN, L. 2002. The nutritional characteristics of a contemporary diet based upon Paleolithic food groups. *J Am Neutraceutical Assoc*, 5, 15-24.
- CORDAIN, L., EATON, S. B., SEBASTIAN, A., MANN, N., LINDEBERG, S., WATKINS, B. A., O'KEEFE, J. H. & BRAND-MILLER, J. 2005a. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 81, 341-54.
- CORDAIN, L., EATON, S. B., SEBASTIAN, A., MANN, N., LINDEBERG, S., WATKINS, B. A., O'KEEFE, J. H. & BRAND-MILLER, J. 2005b. Origins and evolution of the Western diet: health implications for the 21st century. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 81, 341-354.
- COSTANZO, S., DI NIRO, V., DI CASTELNUOVO, A., GIANFAGNA, F., DONATI, M. B., DE GAETANO, G. & IACOVIELLO, L. 2013. Prevention of postoperative atrial fibrillation in open heart surgery patients by preoperative supplementation of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: an updated meta-analysis. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg*, 146, 906-11.
- COTTIN, S. C., SANDERS, T. A. & HALL, W. L. 2011. The differential effects of EPA and DHA on cardiovascular risk factors. *Proc Nutr Soc*, 70, 215-31.
- COUET, C., DELARUE, J., RITZ, P., ANTOINE, J. & LAMISSE, F. 1997. Effect of dietary fish oil on body fat mass and basal fat oxidation in healthy adults. *International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders: journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity*, 21, 637-643.

- CRAWFORD, M. A. 2000. Commentary on the workshop statement. Essentiality of and recommended dietary intakes for Omega-6 and Omega-3 fatty acids. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 63, 131-4.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., BLOOM, M., BROADHURST, C. L., SCHMIDT, W. F., CUNNANE, S. C., GALLI, C., GEHBREMESKEL, K., LINSEISEN, F., LLOYD-SMITH, J. & PARKINGTON, J. 1999. Evidence for the unique function of docosahexaenoic acid during the evolution of the modern hominid brain. *Lipids*, 34 Suppl, S39-47.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., BROADHURST, C. L., GUEST, M., NAGAR, A., WANG, Y., GHEBREMESKEL, K. & SCHMIDT, W. F. 2013. A quantum theory for the irreplaceable role of docosahexaenoic acid in neural cell signalling throughout evolution. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 88, 5-13.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., CASPERD, N. M. & SINCLAIR, A. J. 1976a. The long chain metabolites of linoleic avid linolenic acids in liver and brain in herbivores and carnivores. *Comp Biochem Physiol B*, 54, 395-401.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., DOYLE, W., DRURY, P., LENNON, A., COSTELOE, K. & LEIGHFIELD, M. 1989. n-6 and n-3 fatty acids during early human development. *J Intern Med Suppl*, 731, 159-69.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., GALE, M. M. & WOODFORD, M. H. 1969. Linoleic acid and linolenic acid elongation products in muscle tissue of Syncerus caffer and other ruminant species. *Biochemical Journal*, 115, 25-27.

CRAWFORD, M. A., GALE, M. M. & WOODFORD, M. H. 1970a. Comparative studies on fatty acid composition of wild and domestic meats. *International journal of biochemistry*, 1, 295-305.

- CRAWFORD, M. A., GALE, M. M. & WOODFORD, M. H. 1970b. Muscle and adipose tissue lipids of the warthog, Phacochoerus aethiopicus. *International journal of biochemistry*, 1, 654-658.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., GOLFETTO, I., GHEBREMESKEL, K., MIN, Y., MOODLEY, T., POSTON, L., PHYLACTOS, A., CUNNANE, S. & SCHMIDT, W. 2003. The potential role for arachidonic and docosahexaenoic acids in protection against some central nervous system injuries in preterm infants. *Lipids*, 38, 303-15.
- CRAWFORD, M. A., HASSAM, A. G. & WILLIAMS, G. 1976b. Essential fatty acids and fetal brain growth. *Lancet*, 1, 452-3.

CRAWFORD, M. A. & STEVENS, P. A. 1981. Essential fatty acids, diet and heart disease. *New Trends in Nutrition, Lipid Research, and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 217-228.

CRAWFORD, M. A. & WOODFORD, M. H. 1971. Fatty acid composition in liver, aorta, skeletal and heart muscle of two free-living ruminants. *International journal of biochemistry*, 2, 493-496.

CUNNANE, S. C. 2003. Problems with essential fatty acids: time for a new paradigm? *Prog Lipid Res*, 42, 544-68.

- CUNNANE, S. C., FRANCESCUTTI, V., BRENNA, J. T. & CRAWFORD, M. A. 2000. Breast-fed infants achieve a higher rate of brain and whole body docosahexaenoate accumulation than formula-fed infants not consuming dietary docosahexaenoate. *Lipids*, 35, 105-11.
- CURHAN, G. C., CHERTOW, G. M., WILLETT, W. C., SPIEGELMAN, D., COLDITZ, G. A., MANSON, J. E., SPEIZER, F. E. & STAMPFER, M. J. 1996a. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. *Circulation*, 94, 1310-1315.
- CURHAN, G. C., WILLETT, W. C., RIMM, E. B., SPIEGELMAN, D., ASCHERIO, A. L. & STAMPFER, M. J. 1996b. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. *Circulation*, 94, 3246-3250.

- DALLONGEVILLE, J., YARNELL, J., DUCIMETIERE, P., ARVEILER, D.,
 FERRIERES, J., MONTAYE, M., LUC, G., EVANS, A., BINGHAM, A., HASS,
 B., RUIDAVETS, J. B. & AMOUYEL, P. 2003. Fish consumption is associated with lower heart rates. *Circulation*, 108, 820-5.
- DAMSGAARD, C. T., STARK, K. D., HJORTH, M. F., BILTOFT-JENSEN, A., ASTRUP, A., MICHAELSEN, K. F. & LAURITZEN, L. 2013. n-3 PUFA status in school children is associated with beneficial lipid profile, reduced physical activity and increased blood pressure in boys. *Br J Nutr*, 110, 1304-12.
- DANAEI, G., FINUCANE, M., LU, Y., SINGH, G., COWAN, M., PACIOREK, C., LIN, J., FARZADFAR, F., KHANG, Y. & STEVENS, G. 2011. Global Burden of Metabolic Risk Factors of Chronic Diseases Collaborating Group (Blood Glucose) National, regional, and global trends in fasting plasma glucose and diabetes prevalence since 1980: systematic analysis of health examination surveys and epidemiological studies with 370 country-years and 2.7 million participants. *Lancet*, 378, 31-40.
- DAVIGLUS, M. L., STAMLER, J., GREENLAND, P., DYER, A. R. & LIU, K. 1997. Fish consumption and risk of coronary heart disease. What does the evidence show? *Eur Heart J*, 18, 1841-2.
- DAWSON-HUGHES, B., HARRIS, S. S., LICHTENSTEIN, A. H., DOLNIKOWSKI, G., PALERMO, N. J. & RASMUSSEN, H. 2015. Dietary fat increases vitamin D-3 absorption. J Acad Nutr Diet, 115, 225-30.
- DE BOO, G. M. & PRINS, P. J. 2007. Social incompetence in children with ADHD: possible moderators and mediators in social-skills training. *Clin Psychol Rev*, 27, 78-97.
- DE BOO, H. A. & HARDING, J. E. 2006. The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology*, 46, 4-14.
- DE CATERINA, R. & MADONNA, R. 2002. [Antiarrhythmia effects of omega-3 fatty acids. A review]. *Ital Heart J Suppl*, *3*, 297-308.
- DE DIEGO-OTERO, Y., ROMERO-ZERBO, Y., EL BEKAY, R., DECARA, J., SANCHEZ, L., RODRIGUEZ-DE FONSECA, F. & DEL ARCO-HERRERA, I. 2009. Alpha-tocopherol protects against oxidative stress in the fragile X knockout mouse: an experimental therapeutic approach for the Fmr1 deficiency. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 34, 1011-26.
- DE ONIS, M., BLÖSSNER, M. & BORGHI, E. 2010. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 92, 1257-1264.
- DE ONIS, M., ONYANGO, A. W., BORGHI, E., SIYAM, A., NISHIDA, C. & SIEKMANN, J. 2007. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. *Bull World Health Organ*, 85, 660-7.
- DE PEE, S. & DARY, O. 2002. Biochemical indicators of vitamin A deficiency: serum retinol and serum retinol binding protein. *J Nutr*, 132, 2895S-2901S.
- DEAN, O. M., VAN DEN BUUSE, M., BERK, M., COPOLOV, D. L., MAVROS, C. & BUSH, A. I. 2011. N-acetyl cysteine restores brain glutathione loss in combined 2cyclohexene-1-one and d-amphetamine-treated rats: relevance to schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Neurosci Lett*, 499, 149-53.
- DECODE STUDY GROUP 2003. Is the current definition for diabetes relevant to mortality risk from all causes and cardiovascular and noncardiovascular diseases? *Diabetes Care*, 26, 688-696.

- DELUCA, H. F. 2004. Overview of general physiologic features and functions of vitamin D. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1689S-96S.
- DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION 2007. Food-Based Dietary Guidelines for the Omani Population. Sultanate of Oman: Ministry of Health.
- DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITION 2009. Omani Guide to Healthy Eating. Sultanate of Oman: Ministry of Health.
- DIAU, G. Y., HSIEH, A. T., SARKADI-NAGY, E. A., WIJENDRAN, V., NATHANIELSZ, P. W. & BRENNA, J. T. 2005. The influence of long chain polyunsaturate supplementation on docosahexaenoic acid and arachidonic acid in baboon neonate central nervous system. *BMC Med*, 3, 11.
- DOBRIAN, A. D., LIEB, D. C., COLE, B. K., TAYLOR-FISHWICK, D. A., CHAKRABARTI, S. K. & NADLER, J. L. 2011. Functional and pathological roles of the 12- and 15-lipoxygenases. *Prog Lipid Res*, 50, 115-31.
- DOLL, R., PETO, R., BOREHAM, J. & SUTHERLAND, I. 2004. Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors. *BMJ*, 328, 1519.
- DOMINGO, J. L. 2006. Aluminum and other metals in Alzheimer's disease: a review of potential therapy with chelating agents. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 10, 331-41.
- DOMINGO, J. L., BOCIO, A., FALCO, G. & LLOBET, J. M. 2007. Benefits and risks of fish consumption Part I. A quantitative analysis of the intake of omega-3 fatty acids and chemical contaminants. *Toxicology*, 230, 219-26.
- DON-DGHA 2009. Report 11: Update on the status of micronutrients with relevance to UNICEF Report 2009. Muscat.
- DREYFUS, M. Psychological approach to obesity in children and adolescents in a multidisciplinary consultation. Annales de pédiatrie, 1993. 305.
- DUNSTAN, J., SIMMER, K., DIXON, G. & PRESCOTT, S. 2008. Cognitive assessment of children at age 2¹/₂ years after maternal fish oil supplementation in pregnancy: a randomised controlled trial. *Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition*, 93, F45-F50.
- DYERBERG, J. & BANG, H. O. 1979. Haemostatic function and platelet polyunsaturated fatty acids in Eskimos. *Lancet*, 2, 433-5.
- EBERLY, L. E., COHEN, J. D., PRINEAS, R. & YANG, L. 2003. Impact of incident diabetes and incident nonfatal cardiovascular disease on 18-year mortality the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial experience. *Diabetes Care*, 26, 848-854.
- EKINCI, E. I., CLARKE, S., THOMAS, M. C., MORAN, J. L., CHEONG, K., MACISAAC, R. J. & JERUMS, G. 2011. Dietary salt intake and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes care*, 34, 703-709.
- EL BOUSTANI, S., COLETTE, C., MONNIER, L., DESCOMPS, B., CRASTES DE PAULET, A. & MENDY, F. 1987. Enteral absorption in man of eicosapentaenoic acid in different chemical forms. *Lipids*, 22, 711-4.
- EMSLEY, R., OOSTHUIZEN, P. & VAN RENSBURG, S. J. 2003. Clinical potential of omega-3 fatty acids in the treatment of schizophrenia. *CNS drugs*, 17, 1081-1091.
- ERIKSEN, M., MACKAY, J. & ROSS, H. 2012. The Tobacco Atlas: American Cancer Society. *Atlanta*.
- FALKNER, F., HOLZGREVE, W. & SCHLOO, R. H. 1994. Prenatal influences on postnatal growth: overview and pointers for needed research. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 48 Suppl 1, S15-22; discussion S22-4.
- FARAONE, S. V., SERGEANT, J., GILLBERG, C. & BIEDERMAN, J. 2003. The worldwide prevalence of ADHD: is it an American condition? *World Psychiatry*, 2, 104-13.

- FAROOQUI, A. A. & FAROOQUI, T. 2016. Biochemical aspects of n-6 and n-3 fatty acidderived lipid mediators in the brain. *In:* WATSON, R. R. & MEESTER, F. D. (eds.) *Handbook of Lipids in Human Function.* London: Academic Press and AOCS Press.
- FAWZI, W. W., CHALMERS, T. C., HERRERA, M. G. & MOSTELLER, F. 1993. Vitamin A supplementation and child mortality. A meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 269, 898-903.
- FELETOU, M., HUANG, Y. & VANHOUTTE, P. M. 2011. Endothelium-mediated control of vascular tone: COX-1 and COX-2 products. *Br J Pharmacol*, 164, 894-912.
- FERRUCCI, L., CHERUBINI, A., BANDINELLI, S., BARTALI, B., CORSI, A., LAURETANI, F., MARTIN, A., ANDRES-LACUEVA, C., SENIN, U. & GURALNIK, J. M. 2006. Relationship of plasma polyunsaturated fatty acids to circulating inflammatory markers. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 439-46.
- FISHER, J. O. & BIRCH, L. L. 1999. Restricting access to palatable foods affects children's behavioral response, food selection, and intake. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 69, 1264-1272.
- FOLCH, J., LEES, M. & SLOANE-STANLEY, G. 1957a. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. *J biol chem*, 226, 497-509.
- FOLCH, J., LEES, M. & SLOANE STANLEY, G. H. 1957b. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 226, 497-509.
- FORD, T., COLLISHAW, S., MELTZER, H. & GOODMAN, R. 2007. A prospective study of childhood psychopathology: independent predictors of change over three years. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*, 42, 953-61.
- FOSSATI, P. & PRENCIPE, L. 1982. Serum triglycerides determined colorimetrically with an enzyme that produces hydrogen peroxide. *Clinical chemistry*, 28, 2077-2080.
- FOSTER, J., LIDDER, P. & SÜNRAM, S. 1998. Glucose and memory: fractionation of enhancement effects? *Psychopharmacology*, 137, 259-270.
- FOWDEN, A. L. 1989. The role of insulin in prenatal growth. J Dev Physiol, 12, 173-82.
- FOWDEN, A. L. 1995. Endocrine regulation of fetal growth. Reprod Fertil Dev, 7, 351-63.
- FRANCESCHI, S., DAL MASCO, L., AUGUSTIN, L., NEGRI, E., PARPINEL, M., BOYLE, P., JENKINS, D. & LA VECCHIA, C. 2001. Dietary glycemic load and colorectal cancer risk. *Annals of Oncology*, 12, 173-178.
- FRICK, P. J. & DICKENS, C. 2006. Current perspectives on conduct disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep*, 8, 59-72.
- FRITSCHE, K. L. 2015. The science of fatty acids and inflammation. *Adv Nutr*, 6, 293S-301S.
- FROEHLICH, T. E., LANPHEAR, B. P., EPSTEIN, J. N., BARBARESI, W. J., KATUSIC, S. K. & KAHN, R. S. 2007. Prevalence, recognition, and treatment of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder in a national sample of US children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med*, 161, 857-64.
- GALAL, O. M. 2002. The nutrition transition in Egypt: obesity, undernutrition and the food consumption context. *Public Health Nutr*, 5, 141-8.
- GAMOH, S., HASHIMOTO, M., SUGIOKA, K., SHAHDAT HOSSAIN, M., HATA, N., MISAWA, Y. & MASUMURA, S. 1999. Chronic administration of docosahexaenoic acid improves reference memory-related learning ability in young rats. *Neuroscience*, 93, 237-41.
- GAZIANO, T. A., BITTON, A., ANAND, S., ABRAHAMS-GESSEL, S. & MURPHY, A. 2010. Growing epidemic of coronary heart disease in low- and middle-income countries. *Curr Probl Cardiol*, 35, 72-115.

- GDULA-ARGASINSKA, J., CZEPIEL, J., TOTON-ZURANSKA, J., JURCZYSZYN, A., PERUCKI, W. & WOLKOW, P. 2015. Docosahexaenoic acid regulates gene expression in HUVEC cells treated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. *Toxicol Lett*, 236, 75-81.
- GELEIJNSE, J. M., GILTAY, E. J., GROBBEE, D. E., DONDERS, A. R. & KOK, F. J. 2002. Blood pressure response to fish oil supplementation: metaregression analysis of randomized trials. *Journal of hypertension*, 20, 1493-1499.
- GEY, K. F. 1995. Cardiovascular disease and vitamins. Concurrent correction of 'suboptimal' plasma antioxidant levels may, as important part of 'optimal' nutrition, help to prevent early stages of cardiovascular disease and cancer, respectively. *Bibl Nutr Dieta*, 75-91.
- GHEBREMESKEL, K., CRAWFORD, M. A., LOWY, C., MIN, Y., THOMAS, B., GOLFETTO, I., BITSANIS, D. & COSTELOE, K. 2000. Arachidonic and docosahexaenoic acids are strongly associated in maternal and neonatal blood. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 54, 50-6.
- GIDDING, S. S., MCMAHAN, C. A., MCGILL, H. C., COLANGELO, L. A., SCHREINER, P. J., WILLIAMS, O. D. & LIU, K. 2006. Prediction of coronary artery calcium in young adults using the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) risk score: the CARDIA study. Archives of internal medicine, 166, 2341-2347.
- GISSI-PREVENZIONE INVESTIGATORS 2000. Dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E after myocardial infarction: results of the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. *Journal of Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation and Prevention*, 20, 131.
- GOLZARAND, M., MIRMIRAN, P., JESSRI, M., TOOLABI, K., MOJARRAD, M. & AZIZI, F. 2012. Dietary trends in the Middle East and North Africa: an ecological study (1961 to 2007). *Public health nutrition*, 15, 1835-1844.
- GOMEZ CANDELA, C., BERMEJO LOPEZ, L. M. & LORIA KOHEN, V. 2011. Importance of a balanced omega 6/omega 3 ratio for the maintenance of health: nutritional recommendations. *Nutr Hosp*, 26, 323-9.
- GONZALEZ, C. A. & RIBOLI, E. 2006. Diet and cancer prevention: where we are, where we are going. *Nutr Cancer*, 56, 225-31.
- GOODMAN, D. S., BLOMSTRAND, R., WERNER, B., HUANG, H. S. & SHIRATORI, T. 1966. The intestinal absorption and metabolism of vitamin A and beta-carotene in man. J Clin Invest, 45, 1615-23.
- GOODMAN, D. W., STARR, H. L., MA, Y. W., ROSTAIN, A. L., ASCHER, S. & ARMSTRONG, R. B. 2016. Randomized, 6-Week, Placebo-Controlled Study of Treatment for Adult Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: Individualized Dosing of Osmotic-Release Oral System (OROS) Methylphenidate With a Goal of Symptom Remission. J Clin Psychiatry.
- GORAN, M. I., BALL, G. D. & CRUZ, M. L. 2003. Obesity and risk of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in children and adolescents. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 88, 1417-27.
- GORE, F. M., BLOEM, P. J., PATTON, G. C., FERGUSON, J., JOSEPH, V., COFFEY, C., SAWYER, S. M. & MATHERS, C. D. 2011. Global burden of disease in young people aged 10-24 years: a systematic analysis. *Lancet*, 377, 2093-102.
- GOW, R. 2012. An Investigation into Long-Chain Polyunsaturated Essential Fatty Acids, Event Related Potential Assessments of Brain Function and Behavioural Measures in Children and Adolescents with and without Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder. Ph.D., King's College.

GREENBERG, E. R., BARON, J. A., TOSTESON, T. D., FREEMAN, D. H., JR., BECK,
G. J., BOND, J. H., COLACCHIO, T. A., COLLER, J. A., FRANKL, H. D.,
HAILE, R. W. & ET AL. 1994. A clinical trial of antioxidant vitamins to prevent
colorectal adenoma. Polyp Prevention Study Group. *N Engl J Med*, 331, 141-7.

GRIFFIN, B. A. 2008. How relevant is the ratio of dietary n-6 to n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids to cardiovascular disease risk? Evidence from the OPTILIP study. *Curr Opin Lipidol*, 19, 57-62.

GRODSTEIN, F., KANG, J. H., GLYNN, R. J., COOK, N. R. & GAZIANO, J. M. 2007. A randomized trial of beta carotene supplementation and cognitive function in men: the Physicians' Health Study II. *Arch Intern Med*, 167, 2184-90.

GROSS, L. S., LI, L., FORD, E. S. & LIU, S. 2004. Increased consumption of refined carbohydrates and the epidemic of type 2 diabetes in the United States: an ecologic assessment. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 79, 774-779.

GRUNDY, S. M. 2004. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular disease. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism*, 89, 2595-2600.

- GUNSTONE, F. D. 1999. *Lipid Synthesis and Manufacture*, Sheffield, UK, Sheffield Academic Press.
- GUO, S. S. & CHUMLEA, W. C. 1999. Tracking of body mass index in children in relation to overweight in adulthood. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 70, 145s-148s.
- HAAG, M. 2003. Essential fatty acids and the brain. *Canadian journal of psychiatry. Revue canadienne de psychiatrie*, 48, 195-203.

HABIB, S. H. & SAHA, S. 2010. Burden of non-communicable disease: global overview. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*, 4, 41-47.

- HALES, C. & BARKER, D. 2013. Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: the thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *International journal of epidemiology*, 42, 1215-1222.
- HALLIWELL, B. 2007. Oxidative stress and cancer: have we moved forward? *Biochem J*, 401, 1-11.
- HALLIWELL, B. 2011. Free radicals and antioxidants quo vadis? *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 32, 125-30.
- HAMAZAKI, T., SAWAZAKI, S., ITOMURA, M., ASAOKA, E., NAGAO, Y.,
 NISHIMURA, N., YAZAWA, K., KUWAMORI, T. & KOBAYASHI, M. 1996.
 The effect of docosahexaenoic acid on aggression in young adults. A placebocontrolled double-blind study. *J Clin Invest*, 97, 1129-33.
- HAMMAR, S., CAMPBELL, M., CAMPBELL, V., MOORES, N., SAREEN, C., GAREIS, F. & LUCAS, B. 1972. An interdisciplinary study of adolescent obesity. *The Journal* of pediatrics, 80, 373-383.
- HAN, J. C., LAWLOR, D. A. & KIMM, S. 2010. Childhood obesity. *The Lancet*, 375, 1737-1748.
- HANSEN, A. E., HAGGARD, M. E., BOELSCHE, A. N., ADAM, D. J. & WIESE, H. F. 1958. Essential fatty acids in infant nutrition. III. Clinical manifestations of linoleic acid deficiency. J Nutr, 66, 565-76.
- HANSEN, H. S., JENSEN, B. & VON WETTSTEIN-KNOWLES, P. 1986. Apparent in vivo retroconversion of dietary arachidonic to linoleic acid in essential fatty acid-deficient rats. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 878, 284-7.
- HANSEN, J. B., OLSEN, J. O., WILSGARD, L., LYNGMO, V. & SVENSSON, B. 1993. Comparative effects of prolonged intake of highly purified fish oils as ethyl ester or triglyceride on lipids, haemostasis and platelet function in normolipaemic men. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 47, 497-507.

- HANSON, N. I., NEUMARK-SZTAINER, D., EISENBERG, M. E., STORY, M. & WALL, M. 2005. Associations between parental report of the home food environment and adolescent intakes of fruits, vegetables and dairy foods. *Public health nutrition*, 8, 77-85.
- HARDING, J. E. & JOHNSTON, B. M. 1995. Nutrition and fetal growth. *Reprod Fertil Dev*, 7, 539-47.
- HARRIS, R. C. 2008. An update on cyclooxygenase-2 expression and metabolites in the kidney. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens*, 17, 64-9.
- HARRIS, W. S. 1997. n-3 fatty acids and serum lipoproteins: human studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 65, 1645S-1654S.
- HARRIS, W. S., POTTALA, J. V., VARVEL, S. A., BOROWSKI, J. J., WARD, J. N. & MCCONNELL, J. P. 2013. Erythrocyte omega-3 fatty acids increase and linoleic acid decreases with age: observations from 160,000 patients. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 88, 257-63.
- HARRIS, W. S. & VON SCHACKY, C. 2004. The Omega-3 Index: a new risk factor for death from coronary heart disease? *Prev Med*, 39, 212-20.
- HARVARD SCHOOL OF PUBLIC HEALTH. 2015. Carbohydrates l The Nutrition Source l Harvard School of Public Health [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.hsph.harvard.edu/nutritionsource/carbohydrates/</u> [Accessed 2015-01-08 2015].
- HASHIMOTO, M., HOSSAIN, S., SHIMADA, T., SUGIOKA, K., YAMASAKI, H., FUJII, Y., ISHIBASHI, Y., OKA, J. & SHIDO, O. 2002. Docosahexaenoic acid provides protection from impairment of learning ability in Alzheimer's disease model rats. *J Neurochem*, 81, 1084-91.
- HE, F. J. & DAVIGLUS, M. L. 2005. A few more thoughts about fish and fish oil. *Journal* of the American Dietetic Association, 105, 350-351.
- HE, F. J. & MACGREGOR, G. A. 2010. Reducing population salt intake worldwide: from evidence to implementation. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases*, 52, 363-382.
- HE, K., SONG, Y., DAVIGLUS, M. L., LIU, K., VAN HORN, L., DYER, A. R., GOLDBOURT, U. & GREENLAND, P. 2004. Fish consumption and incidence of stroke: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Stroke*, 35, 1538-42.

HEGSTED, D. M., MCGANDY, R. B., MYERS, M. L. & STARE, F. J. 1965. Quantitative effects of dietary fat on serum cholesterol in man. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 17, 281-95.

- HELLAND, I. B., SMITH, L., BLOMEN, B., SAAREM, K., SAUGSTAD, O. D. & DREVON, C. A. 2008a. Effect of supplementing pregnant and lactating mothers with n-3 very-long-chain fatty acids on children's IQ and body mass index at 7 years of age. *Pediatrics*, 122, e472-9.
- HELLAND, I. B., SMITH, L., BLOMÉN, B., SAAREM, K., SAUGSTAD, O. D. & DREVON, C. A. 2008b. Effect of supplementing pregnant and lactating mothers with n-3 very-long-chain fatty acids on children's IQ and body mass index at 7 years of age. *Pediatrics*, 122, e472-e479.
- HELLAND, I. B., SMITH, L., SAAREM, K., SAUGSTAD, O. D. & DREVON, C. A. 2003. Maternal supplementation with very-long-chain n-3 fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation augments children's IQ at 4 years of age. *Pediatrics*, 111, e39-e44.
- HENNEKENS, C. H., BURING, J. E. & PETO, R. 1994. Antioxidant vitamins--benefits not yet proved. *N Engl J Med*, 330, 1080-1.
- HERCBERG, S., PREZIOSI, P., GALAN, P., DEVANLAY, M., KELLER, H., BOURGEOIS, C., POTIER DE COURCY, G. & CHEROUVRIER, F. 1994.
Vitamin status of a healthy French population: dietary intakes and biochemical markers. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res*, 64, 220-32.

- HIBBELN, J. R. 1998. Fish consumption and major depression. Lancet, 351, 1213.
- HINCHLIFFE, S. A., LYNCH, M. R., SARGENT, P. H., HOWARD, C. V. & VAN VELZEN, D. 1992. The effect of intrauterine growth retardation on the development of renal nephrons. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol*, 99, 296-301.
- HINTZE, K. J., BENNINGHOFF, A. D. & WARD, R. E. 2012. Formulation of the Total Western Diet (TWD) as a basal diet for rodent cancer studies. *J Agric Food Chem*, 60, 6736-42.
- HITCHCOCK, C. & NICHOLS, B. W. 1971. *Plant Lipid Biochemistry*, London, Academic Press.
- HJERN, A., WEITOFT, G. R. & LINDBLAD, F. 2010. Social adversity predicts ADHDmedication in school children--a national cohort study. *Acta Paediatr*, 99, 920-4.
- HOBCRAFT, J. N. 2004. Parental, Childhood and Early Adult Legacies in the Emergence of Adult Social Exclusion: evidence on what matters from a British cohort. *Human Development Across Lives and Generations: The Potential for Change*. Cambridge University Press.
- HOLLIS, C. 2000. Adult outcomes of child- and adolescent-onset schizophrenia: diagnostic stability and predictive validity. *Am J Psychiatry*, 157, 1652-9.
- HOLMAN, R. L. 1961. Atherosclerosis--a pediatric nutrition problem? *Am J Clin Nutr*, 9, 565-9.
- HOLMAN, R. L., MC, G. H., JR., STRONG, J. P. & GEER, J. C. 1958a. The natural history of atherosclerosis: the early aortic lesions as seen in New Orleans in the middle of the of the 20th century. *Am J Pathol*, 34, 209-35.
- HOLMAN, R. L., MCGILL JR, H. C., STRONG, J. P. & GEER, J. C. 1958b. The Natural History of Atherosclerosis: The Early Aortic Lesions as Seen in New Orleans in the Middle of the 20th Century*. *The American journal of pathology*, 34, 209.
- HOLMAN, R. T. 1960. Essential fatty acids in nutrition and metabolism. *Arch Intern Med*, 105, 33-8.
- HOLMAN, R. T., JOHNSON, S. B. & HATCH, T. F. 1982. A case of human linolenic acid deficiency involving neurological abnormalities. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 35, 617-23.
- HOLUB, B. J. 2001. Docosahexaenoic acid in human health. *In:* SHAHIDI F, F. J. (ed.) *Omega-3 fatty acids chemistry, nutrition, and health effects.* Washington, DC: American Chemical Society.
- HOOPER, L., THOMPSON, R. L., HARRISON, R. A., SUMMERBELL, C. D., NESS, A. R., MOORE, H. J., WORTHINGTON, H. V., DURRINGTON, P. N., HIGGINS, J. & CAPPS, N. E. 2006. Risks and benefits of omega 3 fats for mortality, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review. *Bmj*, 332, 752-760.
- HOSSEIN-NEZHAD, A., SPIRA, A. & HOLICK, M. F. 2013. Influence of vitamin D status and vitamin D3 supplementation on genome wide expression of white blood cells: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. *PLoS One*, 8, e58725.
- HU, F. B. & WILLETT, W. C. 2002. Optimal diets for prevention of coronary heart disease. *Jama*, 288, 2569-78.
- HUNTER, D. J. & REDDY, K. S. 2013. Noncommunicable diseases. N Engl J Med, 369, 1336-43.
- IBPUS 2013. Oman Economic and development strategy handbook, volume 1: strategic information and program 2020, Washington, DC, International Business Publications, USA.

- IMDAD, A., HERZER, K., MAYO-WILSON, E., YAKOOB, M. Y. & BHUTTA, Z. A. 2010. Vitamin A supplementation for preventing morbidity and mortality in children from 6 months to 5 years of age. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, CD008524.
- IMIG, J. D. 2006. Eicosanoids and renal vascular function in diseases. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 111, 21-34.
- INNIS, S. M. 1991. Essential fatty acids in growth and development. *Prog Lipid Res*, 30, 39-103.
- INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE, FOOD AND NUTRITION BOARD, STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE SCIENTIFIC EVALUATION OF DIETARY REFERENCE INTAKES & SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERPRETATION AND USES OF DRIS 2000. Vitamin E. *Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES 2005. Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrates, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protetin, and Amino Acids, Washington, DC, The National Academies Press.
- INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER 1988. Alcohol Drinking (IARC Monographs On The Evaluation Of The Carcinogenic Risks To Humans).
- IRVING, H. M., SAMOKHVALOV, A. V. & REHM, J. 2009. Alcohol as a risk factor for pancreatitis. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Jop*, 10, 387.
- ISSFAL 2004. Recommendations for the intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids in healthy adults. *ISSFAL Policy Statement No. 3*.
- JACKA, F. N., PASCO, J. A., MYKLETUN, A., WILLIAMS, L. J., HODGE, A. M., O'REILLY, S. L., NICHOLSON, G. C., KOTOWICZ, M. A. & BERK, M. 2010. Association of Western and traditional diets with depression and anxiety in women. *Am J Psychiatry*, 167, 305-11.
- JAMES, P. T. 2004. Obesity: the worldwide epidemic. Clinics in dermatology, 22, 276-280.
- JAMES, S. J., CUTLER, P., MELNYK, S., JERNIGAN, S., JANAK, L., GAYLOR, D. W. & NEUBRANDER, J. A. 2004. Metabolic biomarkers of increased oxidative stress and impaired methylation capacity in children with autism. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 80, 1611-7.
- JEFFREY, B. G., WEISINGER, H. S., NEURINGER, M. & MITCHELL, D. C. 2001. The role of docosahexaenoic acid in retinal function. *Lipids*, 36, 859-71.
- JENKINS, D., WOLEVER, T., TAYLOR, R. H., BARKER, H., FIELDEN, H., BALDWIN, J. M., BOWLING, A. C., NEWMAN, H. C., JENKINS, A. L. & GOFF, D. V. 1981. Glycemic index of foods: a physiological basis for carbohydrate exchange. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 34, 362-366.
- JENKINS, D. J., KENDALL, C. W., AUGUSTIN, L. S., FRANCESCHI, S., HAMIDI, M., MARCHIE, A., JENKINS, A. L. & AXELSEN, M. 2002. Glycemic index: overview of implications in health and disease. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 76, 266S-273S.
- JENNINGS, A., CASSIDY, A., VAN SLUIJS, E. M., GRIFFIN, S. J. & WELCH, A. A. 2012. Associations between eating frequency, adiposity, diet, and activity in 9-10 year old healthy-weight and centrally obese children. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 20, 1462-8.
- JHA, P. & CHALOUPKA, F. J. 1999. *Curbing the epidemic: governments and the economics of tobacco control*, World Bank Publications.
- JOINT FAO/WHO EXPERT CONSULTATION 2009. Fats and fatty acids in human nutrition. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 55, 5-300.
- JOOSSENS, J. V., HILL, M., ELLIOTT, P., STAMLER, R., STAMLER, J., LESAFFRE, E., DYER, A., NICHOLS, R. & KESTELOOT, H. 1996. Dietary salt, nitrate and

stomach cancer mortality in 24 countries. *International journal of epidemiology*, 25, 494-504.

- JOSHI, R., CARDONA, M., IYENGAR, S., SUKUMAR, A., RAJU, C. R., RAJU, K. R., RAJU, K., REDDY, K. S., LOPEZ, A. & NEAL, B. 2006. Chronic diseases now a leading cause of death in rural India--mortality data from the Andhra Pradesh Rural Health Initiative. *Int J Epidemiol*, 35, 1522-9.
- JUHOLA, J., MAGNUSSEN, C. G., VIIKARI, J. S., KÄHÖNEN, M., HUTRI-KÄHÖNEN, N., JULA, A., LEHTIMÄKI, T., ÅKERBLOM, H. K., PIETIKÄINEN, M. & LAITINEN, T. 2011. Tracking of serum lipid levels, blood pressure, and body mass index from childhood to adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. *The Journal of pediatrics*, 159, 584-590.
- JULIAN-ALMARCEGUI, C., VANDEVIJVERE, S., GOTTRAND, F., BEGHIN, L., DALLONGEVILLE, J., SJOSTROM, M., LECLERCQ, C., MANIOS, Y., WIDHALM, K., FERREIRA DE MORARES, A. C., GONZALEZ-GROSS, M., STEHLE, P., CASTILLO, M. J., MORENO, L. A., KERSTING, M., VYNCKE, K., DE HENAUW, S. & HUYBRECHTS, I. 2016. Association of heart rate and blood pressure among European adolescents with usual food consumption: The HELENA study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis*, 26, 541-8.
- KABIR, M., SKURNIK, G., NAOUR, N., PECHTNER, V., MEUGNIER, E., ROME, S., QUIGNARD-BOULANGÉ, A., VIDAL, H., SLAMA, G. & CLÉMENT, K. 2007. Treatment for 2 mo with n- 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduces adiposity and some atherogenic factors but does not improve insulin sensitivity in women with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 86, 1670-1679.
- KANNEL, W. B. & MCGEE, D. L. 1979. Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: the Framingham study. *Jama*, 241, 2035-2038.
- KAO, W. L., PUDDEY, I. B., BOLAND, L. L., WATSON, R. L. & BRANCATI, F. L. 2001. Alcohol consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 154, 748-757.
- KENCHAIAH, S., EVANS, J. C., LEVY, D., WILSON, P. W., BENJAMIN, E. J., LARSON, M. G., KANNEL, W. B. & VASAN, R. S. 2002. Obesity and the risk of heart failure. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 347, 305-313.
- KENNEDY, G., SPENCE, V. A., MCLAREN, M., HILL, A., UNDERWOOD, C. & BELCH, J. J. 2005. Oxidative stress levels are raised in chronic fatigue syndrome and are associated with clinical symptoms. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 39, 584-9.
- KESSLER, R. C., AGUILAR-GAXIOLA, S., ALONSO, J., CHATTERJI, S., LEE, S., ORMEL, J., USTUN, T. B. & WANG, P. S. 2009. The global burden of mental disorders: an update from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) surveys. *Epidemiol Psichiatr Soc*, 18, 23-33.
- KHATIB, O. 2004. Noncommunicable diseases: risk factors and regional strategies for prevention and care. *East Mediterr Health J*, 10, 778-88.
- KILANI, H., ALYAARUBI, S., ZAYED, K., ALZAKWANI, I., BERERHI, H., SHUKRI, R. & ALRASADI, K. 2013. Physical fitness attributes, vitamin D, depression, and BMD in Omani children. *Eur Sci J* 9, 156-173.
- KILPI, F., WEBBER, L., MUSAIGNER, A., AITSI-SELMI, A., MARSH, T., RTVELADZE, K., MCPHERSON, K. & BROWN, M. 2014. Alarming predictions for obesity and non-communicable diseases in the Middle East. *Public Health Nutr*, 17, 1078-86.

- KIM, H. Y., SPECTOR, A. A. & XIONG, Z. M. 2011. A synaptogenic amide Ndocosahexaenoylethanolamide promotes hippocampal development. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 96, 114-20.
- KIMURA, Y., KONO, S., TOYOMURA, K., NAGANO, J., MIZOUE, T., MOORE, M. A., MIBU, R., TANAKA, M., KAKEJI, Y. & MAEHARA, Y. 2007. Meat, fish and fat intake in relation to subsite-specific risk of colorectal cancer: The Fukuoka Colorectal Cancer Study. *Cancer science*, 98, 590-597.
- KITAJKA, K., SINCLAIR, A. J., WEISINGER, R. S., WEISINGER, H. S., MATHAI, M., JAYASOORIYA, A. P., HALVER, J. E. & PUSKAS, L. G. 2004. Effects of dietary omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on brain gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 10931-6.
- KLATSKY, A. L., ARMSTRONG, M. A., FRIEDMAN, G. D. & HIATT, R. A. 1988. The relations of alcoholic beverage use to colon and rectal cancer. *American journal of epidemiology*, 128, 1007-1015.
- KNEKT, P., REUNANEN, A., JÄVINEN, R., SEPPÄNEN, R., HELIÖVAARA, M. & AROMAA, A. 1994. Antioxidant vitamin intake and coronary mortality in a longitudinal population study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 139, 1180-1189.
- KÖNIG, A., BOUZAN, C., COHEN, J. T., CONNOR, W. E., KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., GRAY, G. M., LAWRENCE, R. S., SAVITZ, D. A. & TEUTSCH, S. M. 2005. A quantitative analysis of fish consumption and coronary heart disease mortality. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 29, 335-346.
- KOVALSKYS, I., INDART ROUGIER, P., AMIGO, M. P., DE GREGORIO, M. J., RAUSCH HERSCOVICI, C. & KARNER, M. 2013. Food intake and anthropometric evaluation in school-aged children of Buenos Aires. Arch Argent Pediatr, 111, 9-14.
- KREZOWSKI, P., NUTTALL, F., GANNON, M. & BARTOSH, N. 1986. The effect of protein ingestion on the metabolic response to oral glucose in normal individuals. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 44, 847-856.
- KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., HARRIS, W. S. & APPEL, L. J. 2002a. Fish consumption, fish oil, omega-3 fatty acids, and cardiovascular disease. *circulation*, 106, 2747-2757.
- KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., HARRIS, W. S. & APPEL, L. J. 2003. Omega-3 fatty acids and cardiovascular disease new recommendations from the American Heart Association. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 23, 151-152.
- KRIS-ETHERTON, P. M., HARRIS, W. S., APPEL, L. J. & AMERICAN HEART ASSOCIATION. NUTRITION, C. 2002b. Fish consumption, fish oil, omega-3 fatty acids, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, 106, 2747-57.
- KROKAN, H. E., BJERVE, K. S. & MORK, E. 1993. The enteral bioavailability of eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid is as good from ethyl esters as from glyceryl esters in spite of lower hydrolytic rates by pancreatic lipase in vitro. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1168, 59-67.
- KROMANN, N. & GREEN, A. 1980. Epidemiological studies in the Upernavik district, Greenland. Incidence of some chronic diseases 1950-1974. *Acta Med Scand*, 208, 401-6.
- KROMHOUT, D., BOSSCHIETER, E. B. & DE LEZENNE COULANDER, C. 1985. The inverse relation between fish consumption and 20-year mortality from coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med*, 312, 1205-9.
- KWAK, S. M., MYUNG, S.-K., LEE, Y. J., SEO, H. G. & KOREAN META-ANALYSIS STUDY GROUP 2012. Efficacy of omega-3 fatty acid supplements (eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid) in the secondary prevention of

cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis of randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trials. *Archives of internal medicine*, 172, 686-694.

- LACHER, D. A., HUGHES, J. P. & CARROLL, M. D. 2005. Estimate of biological variation of laboratory analytes based on the third national health and nutrition examination survey. *Clin Chem*, 51, 450-2.
- LAING, S., SWERDLOW, A., SLATER, S., BURDEN, A., MORRIS, A., WAUGH, N., GATLING, W., BINGLEY, P. & PATTERSON, C. 2003. Mortality from heart disease in a cohort of 23,000 patients with insulin-treated diabetes. *Diabetologia*, 46, 760-765.
- LARSSON, H., SARIASLAN, A., LANGSTROM, N., D'ONOFRIO, B. & LICHTENSTEIN, P. 2014. Family income in early childhood and subsequent attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder: a quasi-experimental study. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 55, 428-35.
- LAURITZEN, L., JØRGENSEN, M. H., MIKKELSEN, T. B., SKOVGAARD, I. M., STRAARUP, E.-M., OLSEN, S. F., HØY, C.-E. & MICHAELSEN, K. F. 2004. Maternal fish oil supplementation in lactation: effect on visual acuity and n- 3 fatty acid content of infant erythrocytes. *Lipids*, 39, 195-206.
- LAW, M. 2000. Dietary fat and adult diseases and the implications for childhood nutrition: an epidemiologic approach. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 72, 1291s-1296s.
- LAWSON, L. D. & HUGHES, B. G. 1988. Human absorption of fish oil fatty acids as triacylglycerols, free acids, or ethyl esters. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 152, 328-35.
- LE, H. D., MEISEL, J. A., DE MEIJER, V. E., GURA, K. M. & PUDER, M. 2009. The essentiality of arachidonic acid and docosahexaenoic acid. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 81, 165-70.
- LEAF, A. A., LEIGHFIELD, M. J., COSTELOE, K. L. & CRAWFORD, M. A. 1992. Long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids and fetal growth. *Early Hum Dev*, 30, 183-91.
- LEE, J.-H. 2013. Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids in Children. *Pediatric gastroenterology, hepatology & nutrition,* 16, 153-161.
- LEEDER, S., RAYMOND, S., GREENBERG, H., LIU, H. & ESSON, K. 2004. A race against time. The Challenge of Cardiovascular Disease in Developing Countries, The Centre for Global Health and Economic Development.
- LEVINE, B. S. 1997. Most frequently asked questions about DHA. *Nutrition Today*, 32, 248-249.
- LIN, A. M., CHEN, K. B. & CHAO, P. L. 2005. Antioxidative effect of vitamin D3 on zincinduced oxidative stress in CNS. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1053, 319-29.
- LITIN, L. & SACKS, F. 1993. Trans-fatty-acid content of common foods. *N Engl J Med*, 329, 1969-70.
- LIU, S. 2002. Intake of Refined Carbohydrates and Whole Grain Foods in Relation to Risk of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Coronary Heart Disease. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition*, 21, 298-306.
- LIU, S., STAMPFER, M. J., HU, F. B., GIOVANNUCCI, E., RIMM, E., MANSON, J. E., HENNEKENS, C. H. & WILLETT, W. C. 1999. Whole-grain consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: results from the Nurses' Health Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 70, 412-419.
- LIU, S. & WILLETT, W. C. 2002. Dietary glycemic load and atherothrombotic risk. *Current Atherosclerosis Reports*, 4, 454-461.

- LOHNER, S., FEKETE, K., MAROSVOLGYI, T. & DECSI, T. 2013. Gender differences in the long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid status: systematic review of 51 publications. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 62, 98-112.
- LUCAS, A. 1994. Role of nutritional programming in determining adult morbidity. *Arch Dis Child*, 71, 288-90.
- LUDWIG, D. S. 2002. The glycemic index: physiological mechanisms relating to obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. *Jama*, 287, 2414-2423.
- LULEY, C., WIELAND, H. & GRUWALD, J. 1990. Bioavailability of omega-3 fatty acids : ethylester preparations are as suitable as triglyceride preparations. *Akt. Ernaehr-Med.*, 15, 122-125.
- LUO, P. & WANG, M. H. 2011. Eicosanoids, beta-cell function, and diabetes. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 95, 1-10.
- LUPPINO, F. S., DE WIT, L. M., BOUVY, P. F., STIJNEN, T., CUIJPERS, P., PENNINX, B. W. & ZITMAN, F. G. 2010. Overweight, obesity, and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Archives of general psychiatry*, 67, 220-229.
- LUXWOLDA, M. F., KUIPERS, R. S., SMIT, E. N., VELZING-AARTS, F. V., DIJCK-BROUWER, D. A. & MUSKIET, F. A. 2011. The relation between the omega-3 index and arachidonic acid is bell shaped: synergistic at low EPA+DHA status and antagonistic at high EPA+DHA status. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 85, 171-8.
- MACLEAN, C. H., NEWBERRY, S. J., MOJICA, W. A., KHANNA, P., ISSA, A. M., SUTTORP, M. J., LIM, Y.-W., TRAINA, S. B., HILTON, L. & GARLAND, R. 2006. Effects of omega-3 fatty acids on cancer risk: a systematic review. *Jama*, 295, 403-415.
- MADANAT, H. N., TROUTMAN, K. P. & AL-MADI, B. 2008. The nutrition transition in Jordan: the political, economic and food consumption contexts. *Promotion & education*, 15, 6-10.
- MAFFEIS, C., PROVERA, S., FILIPPI, L., SIDOTI, G., SCHENA, S., PINELLI, L. & TATO, L. 2000. Distribution of food intake as a risk factor for childhood obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 24, 75-80.
- MAGNUSSEN, C. G. & SMITH, K. J. 2016. Pediatric Blood Pressure and Adult Preclinical Markers of Cardiovascular Disease. *Clin Med Insights Blood Disord*, 9, 1-8.
- MAHMOOD, M., SALEH, A., AL-ALAWI, F. & AHMED, F. 2008. Health effects of soda drinking in adolescent girls in the United Arab Emirates. *Journal of critical care*, 23, 434-440.
- MAKRIDES, M. & GIBSON, R. A. 2000. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid requirements during pregnancy and lactation. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 307S-11S.
- MALCOLM, C. A., HAMILTON, R., MCCULLOCH, D. L., MONTGOMERY, C. & WEAVER, L. T. 2003. Scotopic electroretinogram in term infants born of mothers supplemented with docosahexaenoic acid during pregnancy. *Investigative* ophthalmology & visual science, 44, 3685-3691.
- MANN, J., CUMMINGS, J., ENGLYST, H., KEY, T., LIU, S., RICCARDI, G., SUMMERBELL, C., UAUY, R., VAN DAM, R. & VENN, B. 2007. FAO/WHO scientific update on carbohydrates in human nutrition: conclusions. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 61, S132-S137.
- MARITIM, A. C., SANDERS, R. A. & WATKINS, J. B., 3RD 2003. Diabetes, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: a review. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol*, 17, 24-38.
- MARTINEZ, M. 1992. Tissue levels of polyunsaturated fatty acids during early human development. *J Pediatr*, 120, S129-38.

- MARTINEZ, M. 2001. Restoring the DHA levels in the brains of Zellweger patients. *J Mol Neurosci*, 16, 309-16; discussion 317-21.
- MARTINEZ, M. & BALLABRIGA, A. 1978. A chemical study on the development of the human forebrain and cerebellum during the brain 'growth spurt' period. I. Gangliosides and plasmalogens. *Brain Res*, 159, 351-62.
- MARTINEZ, M., PINEDA, M., VIDAL, R., CONILL, J. & MARTIN, B. 1993. Docosahexaenoic acid--a new therapeutic approach to peroxisomal-disorder patients: experience with two cases. *Neurology*, 43, 1389-97.
- MARTINEZ, M., VAZQUEZ, E., GARCIA-SILVA, M. T., MANZANARES, J., BERTRAN, J. M., CASTELLO, F. & MOUGAN, I. 2000. Therapeutic effects of docosahexaenoic acid ethyl ester in patients with generalized peroxisomal disorders. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 376S-85S.
- MASCIOLI, E. A., LOPES, S. M., CHAMPAGNE, C. & DRISCOLL, D. F. 1996. Essential fatty acid deficiency and home total parenteral nutrition patients. *Nutrition*, 12, 245-9.
- MASKREY, B. H., MEGSON, I. L., ROSSI, A. G. & WHITFIELD, P. D. 2013. Emerging importance of omega-3 fatty acids in the innate immune response: molecular mechanisms and lipidomic strategies for their analysis. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 57, 1390-400.
- MATHERS, C. 2009. Global burden of disease among women, children, and adolescents. *Maternal and Child Health.* Springer.
- MATHERS, C., FAT, D. M. & BOERMA, J. 2008. *The global burden of disease: 2004 update*, World Health Organization.
- MATHERS, C., STEVENS, G., MA FAT, D., HO, J. & MAHANANI, W. R. 2014. WHO methods and data sources for country-level causes of death 2000-2012. WHO/HIS/HSI/GHE/2014.7 ed. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- MATSUDAIRA, T. 2010. Ω-3 PUFA Fatty Acids And Attention-Deficit / Hyperactivity Disorder. Ph.D., Kings College.
- MCCARTHY, H. D., JARRETT, K. V., EMMETT, P. M. & ROGERS, I. 2005. Trends in waist circumferences in young British children: a comparative study. *Int J Obes* (*Lond*), 29, 157-62.
- MCCONAHY, K. L., SMICIKLAS-WRIGHT, H., MITCHELL, D. C. & PICCIANO, M. F. 2004. Portion size of common foods predicts energy intake among preschool-aged children. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 104, 975-979.
- MCGILL, H. C., JR., MCMAHAN, C. A. & GIDDING, S. S. 2008a. Preventing heart disease in the 21st century: implications of the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) study. *Circulation*, 117, 1216-27.
- MCGILL, H. C., JR., MCMAHAN, C. A., HERDERICK, E. E., MALCOM, G. T., TRACY, R. E. & STRONG, J. P. 2000a. Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 72, 1307S-1315S.
- MCGILL, H. C., MCMAHAN, C. A. & GIDDING, S. S. 2008b. Preventing Heart Disease in the 21st Century Implications of the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) Study. *Circulation*, 117, 1216-1227.
- MCGILL, H. C., MCMAHAN, C. A. & GIDDING, S. S. 2009a. Are pediatricians responsible for prevention of adult cardiovascular disease? *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med*, 6, 10-11.
- MCGILL, H. C., MCMAHAN, C. A. & GIDDING, S. S. 2009b. Are pediatricians responsible for prevention of adult cardiovascular disease? *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med*, 6, 10-1.

- MCGILL, H. C., MCMAHAN, C. A., HERDERICK, E. E., MALCOM, G. T., TRACY, R. E. & STRONG, J. P. 2000b. Origin of atherosclerosis in childhood and adolescence. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 72, 1307s-1315s.
- MCGOWAN, M. W., ARTISS, J. D., STRANDBERGH, D. R. & ZAK, B. 1983. A peroxidase-coupled method for the colorimetric determination of serum triglycerides. *Clinical Chemistry*, 29, 538-542.
- MCKEOWN, N. M., MEIGS, J. B., LIU, S., WILSON, P. W. & JACQUES, P. F. 2002. Whole-grain intake is favorably associated with metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 76, 390-398.
- MCMAHAN, C. A., GIDDING, S. S., VIIKARI, J. S., JUONALA, M., KÄHÖNEN, M., HUTRI-KÄHÖNEN, N., JOKINEN, E., TAITTONEN, L., PIETIKÄINEN, M. & MCGILL JR, H. C. 2007. Association of Pathobiologic determinants of atherosclerosis in youth risk score and 15-year change in risk score with carotid artery intima–media thickness in young adults (from the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study). *The American journal of cardiology*, 100, 1124-1129.
- MCNAMARA, J. J., MOLOT, M. A., STREMPLE, J. F. & CUTTING, R. T. 1971. Coronary artery disease in combat casualties in Vietnam. *Jama*, 216, 1185-7.
- MCQUADE, J. D. & HOZA, B. 2008. Peer problems in Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder: current status and future directions. *Dev Disabil Res Rev*, 14, 320-4.
- MELLEN, P. B., WALSH, T. F. & HERRINGTON, D. M. 2008. Whole grain intake and cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 18, 283-290.
- MENDIS, S., PUSKA, P. & NORRVING, B. 2011. *Global atlas on cardiovascular disease* prevention and control, World Health Organization.
- MENON, N. K. & DHOPESHWARKAR, G. A. 1982. Essential fatty acid deficiency and brain development. *Prog Lipid Res*, 21, 309-26.
- MESSAMORE, E. & MCNAMARA, R. K. 2016. Detection and treatment of omega-3 fatty acid deficiency in psychiatric practice: Rationale and implementation. *Lipids Health Dis*, 15, 25.
- METCALF, R. G., JAMES, M. J., GIBSON, R. A., EDWARDS, J. R., STUBBERFIELD, J., STUKLIS, R., ROBERTS-THOMSON, K., YOUNG, G. D. & CLELAND, L. G. 2007. Effects of fish-oil supplementation on myocardial fatty acids in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 85, 1222-8.
- MEYERHARDT, J. A., NIEDZWIECKI, D., HOLLIS, D., SALTZ, L. B., HU, F. B., MAYER, R. J., NELSON, H., WHITTOM, R., HANTEL, A., THOMAS, J. & FUCHS, C. S. 2007. Association of dietary patterns with cancer recurrence and survival in patients with stage III colon cancer. JAMA, 298, 754-64.
- MICALLEF, M., MUNRO, I., PHANG, M. & GARG, M. 2009. Plasma n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids are negatively associated with obesity. *British journal of nutrition*, 102, 1370-1374.
- MICHAUD, D. S., FUCHS, C. S., LIU, S., WILLETT, W. C., COLDITZ, G. A. & GIOVANNUCCI, E. 2005. Dietary glycemic load, carbohydrate, sugar, and colorectal cancer risk in men and women. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 14, 138-147.
- MIKKILÄ, V., RÄSÄNEN, L., RAITAKARI, O., PIETINEN, P. & VIIKARI, J. 2004. Longitudinal changes in diet from childhood into adulthood with respect to risk of cardiovascular diseases: The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 58, 1038-1045.

- MILLER, S. B. 2006. Prostaglandins in health and disease: an overview. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*, 36, 37-49.
- MINISTRY OF HEALTH 2012. Annual Health Report, 2012. Muscat: Ministry of Health, Directorate of General Planning.
- MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE SULTANATE OF OMAN 2006. National micronutrient status and fortified food coverage survey, 2004. Muscat, Oman: Ministry of Health.
- MISRA, A., SINGHAL, N. & KHURANA, L. 2010. Obesity, the metabolic syndrome, and type 2 diabetes in developing countries: role of dietary fats and oils. *J Am Coll Nutr*, 29, 289S-301S.
- MITCHELL, E. A., AMAN, M. G., TURBOTT, S. H. & MANKU, M. 1987. Clinical characteristics and serum essential fatty acid levels in hyperactive children. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*, 26, 406-11.
- MOGHADDAM, A. A., WOODWARD, M. & HUXLEY, R. 2007. Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of 31 studies with 70,000 events. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 16, 2533-47.
- MOH 2009. KAP Survey on lifestyle among students in universities, college and higher institutes. Muscat: Ministry of Health.
- MOHAMMED, A. J. 2009. The Omani guide to healthy eating. Muscat: Department of Nutrition, Ministry of Health.
- MOKDAD, A. H., JABER, S., AZIZ, M. I., ALBUHAIRAN, F., ALGHAITHI, A., ALHAMAD, N. M., AL-HOOTI, S. N., AL-JASARI, A., ALMAZROA, M. A., ALQASMI, A. M., ALSOWAIDI, S., ASAD, M., ATKINSON, C., BADAWI, A., BAKFALOUNI, T., BARKIA, A., BIRYUKOV, S., EL BCHERAOUI, C., DAOUD, F., FOROUZANFAR, M. H., GONZALEZ-MEDINA, D., HAMADEH, R. R., HSAIRI, M., HUSSEIN, S. S., KARAM, N., KHALIFA, S. E., KHOJA, T. A., LAMI, F., LEACH-KEMON, K., MEMISH, Z. A., MOKDAD, A. A., NAGHAVI, M., NASHER, J., QASEM, M. B., SHUAIB, M., AL THANI, A. A., AL THANI, M. H., ZAMAKHSHARY, M., LOPEZ, A. D. & MURRAY, C. J. 2014. The state of health in the Arab world, 1990-2010: an analysis of the burden of diseases, injuries, and risk factors. *Lancet*, 383, 309-20.
- MONTORI, V. M., FARMER, A., WOLLAN, P. C. & DINNEEN, S. F. 2000. Fish oil supplementation in type 2 diabetes: a quantitative systematic review. *Diabetes Care*, 23, 1407-1415.
- MORGAN, E. 1997. The Aquatic Ape Hypothesis, Souvenir Press.
- MORGAN, T., ADAM, W., GILLIES, A., WILSON, M., MORGAN, G. & CARNEY, S. 1978. Hypertension treated by salt restriction. *The Lancet*, 311, 227-230.
- MORI, T. A., BAO, D. Q., BURKE, V., PUDDEY, I. B., WATTS, G. F. & BEILIN, L. J. 1999. Dietary fish as a major component of a weight-loss diet: effect on serum lipids, glucose, and insulin metabolism in overweight hypertensive subjects. Am J Clin Nutr, 70, 817-25.
- MORIGUCHI, T., GREINER, R. S. & SALEM, N., JR. 2000. Behavioral deficits associated with dietary induction of decreased brain docosahexaenoic acid concentration. *J Neurochem*, 75, 2563-73.
- MOZAFFARIAN, D. & RIMM, E. B. 2006. Fish intake, contaminants, and human health: evaluating the risks and the benefits. *Jama*, 296, 1885-99.
- MURRAY, C. J. & LOPEZ, A. D. 1997. Mortality by cause for eight regions of the world: Global Burden of Disease Study. *Lancet*, 349, 1269-76.
- MURRAY, C. J. & LOPEZ, A. D. 2013. Measuring the global burden of disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 369, 448-457.

MUSAIGER, A. O. 1987a. The state of food and nutrition in the Arabian Gulf countries.

- MUSAIGER, A. O. 1987b. The state of food and nutrition in the Arabian Gulf countries. *World Rev Nutr Diet*, 54, 105-73.
- MUSAIGER, A. O. 1998. Change in dietary habits, lifestyle and trend in diseases in GCC countries. *Bahrain Medical Bulletin* 20, 87-90.
- MUSAIGER, A. O. 2002. Diet and prevention of coronary heart disease in the Arab Middle East countries. *Med Princ Pract*, 11 Suppl 2, 9-16.
- MUSAIGER, A. O. 2004. Overweight and obesity in the Eastern Mediterranean Region: can we control it? *East Mediterr Health J*, 10, 789-93.
- MUSAIGER, A. O., BADER, Z., AL-ROOMI, K. & D'SOUZA, R. 2011a. Dietary and lifestyle habits amongst adolescents in Bahrain. *Food Nutr Res*, 55.
- MUSAIGER, A. O., BADER, Z., AL-ROOMI, K. & D'SOUZA, R. 2011b. Dietary and lifestyle habits amongst adolescents in Bahrain. *Food & nutrition research*, 55.
- MYLES, I. A. 2014. Fast food fever: reviewing the impacts of the Western diet on immunity. *Nutr J*, 13, 61.
- NAIR, P. P., JUDD, J. T., BERLIN, E., TAYLOR, P. R., SHAMI, S., SAINZ, E. & BHAGAVAN, H. N. 1993. Dietary fish oil-induced changes in the distribution of alpha-tocopherol, retinol, and beta-carotene in plasma, red blood cells, and platelets: modulation by vitamin E. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 58, 98-102.
- NAKAMOTO, K., NISHINAKA, T., SATO, N., AIZAWA, F., YAMASHITA, T., MANKURA, M., KOYAMA, Y., KASUYA, F. & TOKUYAMA, S. 2015. The activation of supraspinal GPR40/FFA1 receptor signalling regulates the descending pain control system. *Br J Pharmacol*, 172, 1250-62.
- NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. 2014. What is Cancer? National Cancer Institute [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/cancerlibrary/what-is-cancer</u> [Accessed 2015-01-07.
- NATIONAL CENTRE FOR STATISTICS AND INFORMATION 2014. Statistical year book: 2013. Sultanate of Oman.
- NATIONAL HEART LUNG AND BLOOD INSTITUTE 2002. Third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III): final report. *Circulation*, 106, 3143.
- NEMETS, H., NEMETS, B., APTER, A., BRACHA, Z. & BELMAKER, R. 2006. Omega-3 treatment of childhood depression: a controlled, double-blind pilot study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163, 1098-1100.
- NESTEL, P., CLIFTON, P., COLQUHOUN, D., NOAKES, M., MORI, T. A., SULLIVAN, D. & THOMAS, B. 2015. Indications for Omega-3 Long Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid in the Prevention and Treatment of Cardiovascular Disease. *Heart Lung Circ*, 24, 769-79.
- NEURINGER, M. 2000. Infant vision and retinal function in studies of dietary long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids: methods, results, and implications. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 71, 256s-67s.
- NEURINGER, M. & CONNOR, W. E. 1986. n-3 fatty acids in the brain and retina: evidence for their essentiality. *Nutr Rev*, 44, 285-94.
- NEURINGER, M., CONNOR, W. E., LIN, D. S., BARSTAD, L. & LUCK, S. 1986. Biochemical and functional effects of prenatal and postnatal omega 3 fatty acid deficiency on retina and brain in rhesus monkeys. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 83, 4021-5.

- NEURINGER, M., CONNOR, W. E., VAN PETTEN, C. & BARSTAD, L. 1984. Dietary omega-3 fatty acid deficiency and visual loss in infant rhesus monkeys. *J Clin Invest*, 73, 272-6.
- NEURINGER, M., REISBICK, S. & JANOWSKY, J. 1994. The role of n-3 fatty acids in visual and cognitive development: current evidence and methods of assessment. *J Pediatr*, 125, S39-47.
- NEWMAN, W. P., 3RD, FREEDMAN, D. S., VOORS, A. W., GARD, P. D.,
 SRINIVASAN, S. R., CRESANTA, J. L., WILLIAMSON, G. D., WEBBER, L. S.
 & BERENSON, G. S. 1986. Relation of serum lipoprotein levels and systolic blood pressure to early atherosclerosis. The Bogalusa Heart Study. *N Engl J Med*, 314, 138-44.
- NIGEL, I., JOWETT, D. R. & THOMPSON, R. G. 2007. *Comprehensive Coronary Care*, Edinburgh, Elsevier Health Sciences.
- NIKI, E. & TRABER, M. G. 2012. A history of vitamin E. Ann Nutr Metab, 61, 207-12.
- NKONDJOCK, A. & RECEVEUR, O. 2003. Fish-seafood consumption, obesity, and risk of type 2 diabetes: an ecological study. *Diabetes Metab*, 29, 635-42.
- NORDOY, A., BARSTAD, L., CONNOR, W. E. & HATCHER, L. 1991. Absorption of the n-3 eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids as ethyl esters and triglycerides by humans. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 53, 1185-90.
- NORDOY, A., MARCHIOLI, R., ARNESEN, H. & VIDEBAEK, J. 2001. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and cardiovascular diseases. *Lipids*, 36 Suppl, S127-9.
- NORELL, S. E., AHLBOM, A., FEYCHTING, M. & PEDERSEN, N. L. 1986. Fish consumption and mortality from coronary heart disease. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*, 293, 426.
- NORRIS, J. M., YIN, X., LAMB, M. M., BARRIGA, K., SEIFERT, J., HOFFMAN, M., ORTON, H. D., BARÓN, A. E., CLARE-SALZLER, M. & CHASE, H. P. 2007. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid intake and islet autoimmunity in children at increased risk for type 1 diabetes. *Jama*, 298, 1420-1428.
- NORRISH, A., SKEAFF, C., ARRIBAS, G., SHARPE, S. & JACKSON, R. 1999. Prostate cancer risk and consumption of fish oils: a dietary biomarker-based case–control study. *British journal of cancer*, 81, 1238.
- NYARADI, A., FOSTER, J. K., HICKLING, S., LI, J., AMBROSINI, G. L., JACQUES, A. & ODDY, W. H. 2014. Prospective associations between dietary patterns and cognitive performance during adolescence. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 55, 1017-24.
- NYARADI, A., LI, J., HICKLING, S., FOSTER, J. & ODDY, W. H. 2013. The role of nutrition in children's neurocognitive development, from pregnancy through childhood. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7, 97.
- O'SULLIVAN, T. A., AMBROSINI, G. L., MORI, T. A., BEILIN, L. J. & ODDY, W. H. 2011. Omega-3 Index correlates with healthier food consumption in adolescents and with reduced cardiovascular disease risk factors in adolescent boys. *Lipids*, 46, 59-67.
- OKUYAMA, H., ICHIKAWA, Y., SUN, Y., HAMAZAKI, T. & LANDS, W. E. 2007. The cholesterol hypothesis--its basis and its faults. *World Rev Nutr Diet*, 96, 1-17.
- OLIVER, M. H., HARDING, J. E., BREIER, B. H., EVANS, P. C. & GLUCKMAN, P. D. 1993. Glucose but not a mixed amino acid infusion regulates plasma insulin-like growth factor-I concentrations in fetal sheep. *Pediatr Res*, 34, 62-5.
- OLMEDILLA, B., GRANADO, F., BLANCO, I. & ROJAS-HIDALGO, E. 1994. Seasonal and sex-related variations in six serum carotenoids, retinol, and alpha-tocopherol. *Am J Clin Nutr*, 60, 106-10.

- OLSEN, S. F., SECHER, N. J., BJORNSSON, S., WEBER, T. & ATKE, A. 2003. The potential benefits of using fish oil in relation to preterm labor: the case for a randomized controlled trial? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*, 82, 978-82.
- OLSON, C. R. & MELLO, C. V. 2010. Significance of vitamin A to brain function, behavior and learning. *Mol Nutr Food Res*, 54, 489-95.
- OLSON, D. M. & AMMANN, C. 2007. Role of the prostaglandins in labour and prostaglandin receptor inhibitors in the prevention of preterm labour. *Front Biosci*, 12, 1329-43.
- OPARA, L. U., AL-SAID, F. A. & AL-ABRI, A. 2007. Assessment of what the consumer values in fresh fruit quality: Case study of Oman. *NZ J Crop & Hort Sci*, 35, 235-242.
- OSMAN, Y. F., MUSCATI, S. K., GANGULY, S. S., KHAN, M. & AL-SHARJI, B. 2004. Progression of obesity among Seeb school children in Oman. A preliminary study. *Saudi medical journal*, 25, 2038-2040.
- PAANANEN, R., SANTALAHTI, P., MERIKUKKA, M., RAMO, A., WAHLBECK, K. & GISSLER, M. 2013. Socioeconomic and regional aspects in the use of specialized psychiatric care--a Finnish nationwide follow-up study. *Eur J Public Health*, 23, 372-7.
- PAGANELLI, F., MAIXENT, J. M., DURAN, M. J., PARHIZGAR, R., PIERONI, G. & SENNOUNE, S. 2001. Altered erythrocyte n-3 fatty acids in Mediterranean patients with coronary artery disease. *Int J Cardiol*, 78, 27-32.
- PANDALAI, P., PILAT, M., YAMAZAKI, K., NAIK, H. & PIENTA, K. 1995. The effects of omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids on in vitro prostate cancer growth. *Anticancer research*, 16, 815-820.
- PAOLISSO, G., D'AMORE, A., GIUGLIANO, D., CERIELLO, A., VARRICCHIO, M. & D'ONOFRIO, F. 1993. Pharmacologic doses of vitamin E improve insulin action in healthy subjects and non-insulin-dependent diabetic patients. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 57, 650-656.
- PASTOR, P. N. & REUBEN, C. A. 2008. Diagnosed attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and learning disability: United States, 2004-2006. *Vital Health Stat 10*, 1-14.
- PATRA, J., TAYLOR, B., IRVING, H., ROERECKE, M., BALIUNAS, D., MOHAPATRA, S. & REHM, J. 2010. Alcohol consumption and the risk of morbidity and mortality for different stroke types-a systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMC Public Health*, 10, 258.
- PATTERSON, E., WALL, R., FITZGERALD, G. F., ROSS, R. P. & STANTON, C. 2012. Health implications of high dietary omega-6 polyunsaturated Fatty acids. *J Nutr Metab*, 2012, 539426.
- PATTON, G. C., COFFEY, C., CAPPA, C., CURRIE, D., RILEY, L., GORE, F., DEGENHARDT, L., RICHARDSON, D., ASTONE, N. & SANGOWAWA, A. O. 2012. Health of the world's adolescents: a synthesis of internationally comparable data. *The Lancet*, 379, 1665-1675.
- PAYET, M., ESMAIL, M. H., POLICHETTI, E., LE BRUN, G., ADJEMOUT, L., DONNAREL, G., PORTUGAL, H. & PIERONI, G. 2004. Docosahexaenoic acidenriched egg consumption induces accretion of arachidonic acid in erythrocytes of elderly patients. *Br J Nutr*, 91, 789-96.
- PENCKOFER, S., SCHWERTZ, D. & FLORCZAK, K. 2002. Oxidative stress and cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: the role of antioxidants and pro-oxidants. *J Cardiovasc Nurs*, 16, 68-85.

- PEREIRA, M., JACOBS, D., SLATTERY, M., RUTH, K., VAN HORN, L., HILNER, J. & KUSHI, L. 1998. The association of whole grain intake and fasting insulin in a biracial cohort of young adults: the CARDIA study. *CVD Prevention*, 1, 1998.
- PEREIRA, S. L., LEONARD, A. E. & MUKERJI, P. 2003. Recent advances in the study of fatty acid desaturases from animals and lower eukaryotes. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 68, 97-106.
- PERLMUTTER, D. & LOBERG, K. 2013. Grain brain : the surprising truth about wheat, carbs, and sugar--your brain's silent killers.
- PETER, S., MOSER, U., PILZ, S., EGGERSDORFER, M. & WEBER, P. 2013. The challenge of setting appropriate intake recommendations for vitamin E: considerations on status and functionality to define nutrient requirements. *Int J Vitam Nutr Res*, 83, 129-36.
- PINGALI, P. 2007. Agricultural growth and economic development: a view through the globalization lens. *Agricultural Economics*, 37, 1-12.
- PLETCHER, M. J., TICE, J. A., PIGNONE, M. & BROWNER, W. S. 2004. Using the coronary artery calcium score to predict coronary heart disease events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 164, 1285-1292.
- PLISZKA, S. & AACAP WORK GROUP ON QUALITY ISSUES 2007. Practice parameter for the assessment and treatment of children and adolescents with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 46, 894-921.
- POHANKA, M. 2013. Role of oxidative stress in infectious diseases. A review. *Folia Microbiol (Praha)*, 58, 503-13.
- POLANCZYK, G., DE LIMA, M. S., HORTA, B. L., BIEDERMAN, J. & ROHDE, L. A. 2007. The worldwide prevalence of ADHD: a systematic review and metaregression analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*, 164, 942-8.
- POPKIN, B. M. 1993. Nutritional patterns and transitions. *Population and Development Review*, 138-157.
- POPKIN, B. M. 2006. Global nutrition dynamics: the world is shifting rapidly toward a diet linked with noncommunicable diseases. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 84, 289-298.
- POPKIN, B. M. 2009. Global changes in diet and activity patterns as drivers of the nutrition transition.
- PORKKA, K. V., VIIKARI, J. S., TAIMELA, S., DAHL, M. & ÅKERBLOM, H. K. 1994. Tracking and predictiveness of serum lipid and lipoprotein measurements in childhood: a 12-year follow-up the cardiovascular risk in Young Finns Study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 140, 1096-1110.
- POSTON, L., RAIJMAKERS, M. & KELLY, F. 2004. Vitamin E in preeclampsia. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1031, 242-8.
- POTTALA, J. V., TALLEY, J. A., CHURCHILL, S. W., LYNCH, D. A., VON SCHACKY, C. & HARRIS, W. S. 2012. Red blood cell fatty acids are associated with depression in a case-control study of adolescents. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 86, 161-5.
- PRESCOTT, S. L. & CALDER, P. C. 2004. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and allergic disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*, 7, 123-9.
- PROIMOS, J. & KLEIN, J. D. 2012. Noncommunicable diseases in children and adolescents. *Pediatrics*, 130, 379-81.
- PU, H., GUO, Y., ZHANG, W., HUANG, L., WANG, G., LIOU, A. K., ZHANG, J., ZHANG, P., LEAK, R. K., WANG, Y., CHEN, J. & GAO, Y. 2013. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation improves neurologic recovery and

attenuates white matter injury after experimental traumatic brain injury. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 33, 1474-84.

- PUDELKEWICZ, C., SEUFERT, J. & HOLMAN, R. T. 1968. Requirements of the female rat for linoleic and linolenic acids. *J Nutr*, 94, 138-46.
- PUPURA, D. P. 1975. Morphogenesis of the visual cortex in the preterm infant. In: BRAZIER, M. A. B. (ed.) Growth and development of the brain. New York: Raven Press.
- RAHIM, H. F., SIBAI, A., KHADER, Y., HWALLA, N., FADHIL, I., ALSIYABI, H., MATARIA, A., MENDIS, S., MOKDAD, A. H. & HUSSEINI, A. 2014a. Noncommunicable diseases in the Arab world. *Lancet*, 383, 356-67.
- RAHIM, H. F. A., SIBAI, A., KHADER, Y., HWALLA, N., FADHIL, I., ALSIYABI, H., MATARIA, A., MENDIS, S., MOKDAD, A. H. & HUSSEINI, A. 2014b. Noncommunicable diseases in the Arab world. *The Lancet*, 383, 356-367.
- RAITAKARI, O. T., JUONALA, M., KÄHÖNEN, M., TAITTONEN, L., LAITINEN, T., MÄKI-TORKKO, N., JÄRVISALO, M. J., UHARI, M., JOKINEN, E. & RÖNNEMAA, T. 2003. Cardiovascular risk factors in childhood and carotid artery intima-media thickness in adulthood: the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Jama, 290, 2277-2283.
- RAJAMOORTHI, K., PETRACHE, H. I., MCINTOSH, T. J. & BROWN, M. F. 2005. Packing and viscoelasticity of polyunsaturated omega-3 and omega-6 lipid bilayers as seen by (2)H NMR and X-ray diffraction. *J Am Chem Soc*, 127, 1576-88.
- RAMEL, A., MARTINEZ, A., KIELY, M., MORAIS, G., BANDARRA, N. M. & THORSDOTTIR, I. 2008. Beneficial effects of long-chain n-3 fatty acids included in an energy-restricted diet on insulin resistance in overweight and obese European young adults. *Diabetologia*, 51, 1261-8.
- RAMOND, A., GODIN-RIBUOT, D., RIBUOT, C., TOTOSON, P., KORITCHNEVA, I., CACHOT, S., LEVY, P. & JOYEUX-FAURE, M. 2013. Oxidative stress mediates cardiac infarction aggravation induced by intermittent hypoxia. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 27, 252-61.
- RAO, S., YAJNIK, C. S., KANADE, A., FALL, C. H., MARGETTS, B. M., JACKSON, A. A., SHIER, R., JOSHI, S., REGE, S. & LUBREE, H. 2001. Intake of micronutrient-rich foods in rural Indian mothers is associated with the size of their babies at birth: Pune Maternal Nutrition Study. *The Journal of nutrition*, 131, 1217-1224.
- RATNAYAKE, W. M. & GALLI, C. 2009. Fat and fatty acid terminology, methods of analysis and fat digestion and metabolism: a background review paper. *Ann Nutr Metab*, 55, 8-43.
- REHM, J., TAYLOR, B., MOHAPATRA, S., IRVING, H., BALIUNAS, D., PATRA, J. & ROERECKE, M. 2010. Alcohol as a risk factor for liver cirrhosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug and alcohol review*, 29, 437-445.
- REILLY, J. & KELLY, J. 2010. Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: systematic review. *International journal of obesity*, 35, 891-898.
- REILLY, J. J., KELLY, J. & WILSON, D. C. 2010. Accuracy of simple clinical and epidemiological definitions of childhood obesity: systematic review and evidence appraisal. *Obes Rev*, 11, 645-55.
- RENAUD, S., DUMONT, E., GODSEY, F., MORAZAIN, R., THEVENON, C. & ORTCHANIAN, E. 1980. Dietary fats and platelet function in French and Scottish farmers. *Nutr Metab*, 24 Suppl 1, 90-104.

- RIBES, D., COLOMINA, M. T., VICENS, P. & DOMINGO, J. L. 2008. Effects of oral aluminum exposure on behavior and neurogenesis in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol*, 214, 293-300.
- RICHARDSON, A. J. & PURI, B. K. 2002. A randomized double-blind, placebo-controlled study of the effects of supplementation with highly unsaturated fatty acids on ADHD-related symptoms in children with specific learning difficulties. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*, 26, 233-239.
- RING, H. A. & SERRA-MESTRES, J. 2002. Neuropsychiatry of the basal ganglia. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*, 72, 12-21.
- ROBINSON, T. N., BORZEKOWSKI, D. L., MATHESON, D. M. & KRAEMER, H. C. 2007. Effects of fast food branding on young children's taste preferences. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med, 161, 792-7.
- ROESCHLAU, P., BERNT, E. & GRUBER, W. 1974. Enzymatic determination of total cholesterol in serum. Zeitschrift fur klinische Chemie und klinische Biochemie, 12, 226-226.
- ROLDAN, E. R. & SHI, Q. X. 2007. Sperm phospholipases and acrosomal exocytosis. *Front Biosci*, 12, 89-104.
- ROMIEU, I., LAZCANO-PONCE, E., SANCHEZ-ZAMORANO, L. M., WILLETT, W. & HERNANDEZ-AVILA, M. 2004. Carbohydrates and the risk of breast cancer among Mexican women. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention*, 13, 1283-1289.
- ROTSTEIN, N. P., POLITI, L. E. & AVELDANO, M. I. 1998. Docosahexaenoic acid promotes differentiation of developing photoreceptors in culture. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 39, 2750-8.
- RUDOLF, M. C. J., WALKER, J. & COLE, T. J. 2007. What is the best way to measure waist circumference? *International Journal of Pediatric Obesity*, 2, 58-61.
- RUSSELL, G., FORD, T., ROSENBERG, R. & KELLY, S. 2014. The association of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder with socioeconomic disadvantage: alternative explanations and evidence. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 55, 436-45.
- RUSSO, G. L. 2009. Dietary n-6 and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids: from biochemistry to clinical implications in cardiovascular prevention. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 77, 937-46.
- RUSTAN, A. C. & DREVON, C. A. 2005. Fatty Acids: Structures and Properties. Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. John Wiley & Sons.
- RYAN, A. S., ASTWOOD, J. D., GAUTIER, S., KURATKO, C. N., NELSON, E. B. & SALEM, N., JR. 2010. Effects of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation on neurodevelopment in childhood: a review of human studies. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 82, 305-14.
- SALMERÓN, J., ASCHERIO, A., RIMM, E. B., COLDITZ, G. A., SPIEGELMAN, D., JENKINS, D. J., STAMPFER, M. J., WING, A. L. & WILLETT, W. C. 1997. Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of NIDDM in men. *Diabetes care*, 20, 545-550.
- SALMERON, J., MANSON, J. E., STAMPFER, M. J., COLDITZ, G. A., WING, A. L. & WILLETT, W. C. 1997. Dietary fiber, glycemic load, and risk of non—insulindependent diabetes mellitus in women. *Jama*, 277, 472-477.
- SAMADI, S. A., MCCONKEY, R. & BUNTING, B. 2014. Parental wellbeing of Iranian families with children who have developmental disabilities. *Res Dev Disabil*, 35, 1639-47.
- SAMOKHVALOV, A. V., IRVING, H. M. & REHM, J. 2010. Alcohol consumption as a risk factor for atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation*, 17, 706-712.

- SAMPATH, H. & NTAMBI, J. M. 2005. Polyunsaturated fatty acid regulation of genes of lipid metabolism. *Annu Rev Nutr*, 25, 317-40.
- SATHE, M. N. & PATEL, A. S. 2010. Update in pediatrics: focus on fat-soluble vitamins. *Nutr Clin Pract*, 25, 340-6.
- SCHAAL, B., MARLIER, L. & SOUSSIGNAN, R. 1998. Olfactory function in the human fetus: evidence from selective neonatal responsiveness to the odor of amniotic fluid. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 112, 1438.
- SCHOENTHALER, S. J. & BIER, I. D. 1998. Vitamin-mineral intake and intelligence: a macrolevel analysis of randomized controlled trials. *The journal of alternative and complementary medicine*, 5, 125-134.
- SCHULZE, M. B., FUNG, T. T., MANSON, J. E., WILLETT, W. C. & HU, F. B. 2006. Dietary patterns and changes in body weight in women. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*, 14, 1444-53.
- SCIBERRAS, E., UKOUMUNNE, O. C. & EFRON, D. 2011. Predictors of parent-reported attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder in children aged 6-7 years: a national longitudinal study. *J Abnorm Child Psychol*, 39, 1025-34.
- SEGAL, A. W. 2005. How neutrophils kill microbes. Annu Rev Immunol, 23, 197-223.
- SERHAN, C. N. & CHIANG, N. 2008. Endogenous pro-resolving and anti-inflammatory lipid mediators: a new pharmacologic genus. *Br J Pharmacol*, 153 Suppl 1, S200-15.
- SHAMI, N. J. & MOREIRA, E. A. 2004. Licopeno como agente antioxidante. *Rev Nutr.*, 17, 227-236.
- SHANTHA, N. C. & NAPOLITANO, G. E. 1992. Gas chromatography of fatty acids. *J Chromatogr*, 624, 37-51.
- SHEKELL, R. B., MISSELL, R. V. & PAUL, O. 1985. Fish consumption and mortality from coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med*, 313, 820-4.
- SHIELL, A. W., CAMPBELL-BROWN, M., HASELDEN, S., ROBINSON, S., GODFREY, K. M. & BARKER, D. J. 2001. High-meat, low-carbohydrate diet in pregnancy relation to adult blood pressure in the offspring. *Hypertension*, 38, 1282-1288.
- SHIKATA, K., KIYOHARA, Y., KUBO, M., YONEMOTO, K., NINOMIYA, T., SHIROTA, T., TANIZAKI, Y., TANAKA, K., OISHI, Y. & MATSUMOTO, T. 2006. A prospective study of dietary salt intake and gastric cancer incidence in a defined Japanese population: the Hisayama study. *International journal of cancer*, 119, 196-201.
- SHUBAIR, M. M., MCCOLL, R. S. & HANNING, R. M. 2005. Mediterranean dietary components and body mass index in adults: the peel nutrition and heart health survey. *Chronic Dis Can*, 26, 43-51.
- SIDHU, K. S. 2003. Health benefits and potential risks related to consumption of fish or fish oil. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol*, 38, 336-44.
- SIES, H. 1997. Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. Exp Physiol, 82, 291-5.
- SIGUEL, E. N., CHEE, K. M., GONG, J. X. & SCHAEFER, E. J. 1987. Criteria for essential fatty acid deficiency in plasma as assessed by capillary column gas-liquid chromatography. *Clin Chem*, 33, 1869-73.

SIMONSEN, N., VAN'T VEER, P., STRAIN, J. J., MARTIN-MORENO, J. M., HUTTUNEN, J. K., NAVAJAS, J. F., MARTIN, B. C., THAMM, M., KARDINAAL, A. F., KOK, F. J. & KOHLMEIER, L. 1998. Adipose tissue omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid content and breast cancer in the EURAMIC study. European Community Multicenter Study on Antioxidants, Myocardial Infarction, and Breast Cancer. *Am J Epidemiol*, 147, 342-52.

- SIMOPOULOS, A. 2002a. The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 56, 365-379.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2002b. Omega-3 fatty acids in inflammation and autoimmune diseases. *J Am Coll Nutr*, 21, 495-505.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2004. Omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acid ratio and chronic diseases. *Food Reviews International*, 20, 77-90.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2009. Evolutionary aspects of the dietary omega-6:omega-3 fatty acid ratio: medical implications. *World Rev Nutr Diet*, 100, 1-21.
- SIMOPOULOS, A. P. 2011. Evolutionary aspects of diet: the omega-6/omega-3 ratio and the brain. *Mol Neurobiol*, 44, 203-15.
- SINAIKO, A. R., DONAHUE, R. P., JACOBS, D. R. & PRINEAS, R. J. 1999. Relation of Weight and Rate of Increase in Weight During Childhood and Adolescence to Body Size, Blood Pressure, Fasting Insulin, and Lipids in Young Adults The Minneapolis Children's Blood Pressure Study. *Circulation*, 99, 1471-1476.
- SINGH, M. 2005. Essential fatty acids, DHA and human brain. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 72, 239-242.
- SINGH, N., DHALLA, A. K., SENEVIRATNE, C. & SINGAL, P. K. 1995. Oxidative stress and heart failure. *Mol Cell Biochem*, 147, 77-81.
- SINGLETARY, K. W. & GAPSTUR, S. M. 2001. Alcohol and breast cancer: review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence and potential mechanisms. *Jama*, 286, 2143-2151.
- SINN, N. & BRYAN, J. 2007. Effect of supplementation with polyunsaturated fatty acids and micronutrients on learning and behavior problems associated with child ADHD. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 28, 82-91.
- SJÖBERG, R. L., NILSSON, K. W. & LEPPERT, J. 2005. Obesity, shame, and depression in school-aged children: a population-based study. *Pediatrics*, 116, e389-e392.
- SOLANTO, M. V., POPE-BOYD, S. A., TRYON, W. W. & STEPAK, B. 2009. Social functioning in predominantly inattentive and combined subtypes of children with ADHD. *J Atten Disord*, 13, 27-35.
- SOLOMONS, N. W., BAILEY, E., SOTO MENDEZ, M. J., CAMPOS, R., KRAEMER, K. & SALEM, N., JR. 2015. Erythrocyte fatty acid status in a convenience sample of residents of the Guatemalan Pacific coastal plain. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 98, 21-7.
- SONI, M., KOS, K., LANG, I. A., JONES, K., MELZER, D. & LLEWELLYN, D. J. 2012. Vitamin D and cognitive function. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest Suppl*, 243, 79-82.
- SPRECHER, H., LUTHRIA, D. L., MOHAMMED, B. S. & BAYKOUSHEVA, S. P. 1995. Reevaluation of the pathways for the biosynthesis of polyunsaturated fatty acids. J Lipid Res, 36, 2471-7.
- ST SAUVER, J. L., BARBARESI, W. J., KATUSIC, S. K., COLLIGAN, R. C., WEAVER, A. L. & JACOBSEN, S. J. 2004. Early life risk factors for attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder: a population-based cohort study. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 79, 1124-31.
- STAMLER, J., ELLIOTT, P., DENNIS, B., DYER, A., KESTELOOT, H., LIU, K., UESHIMA, H. & ZHOU, B. 2003. INTERMAP: background, aims, design, methods, and descriptive statistics (nondietary). *Journal of human hypertension*, 17, 591-608.
- STARY, H. C., CHANDLER, A. B., GLAGOV, S., GUYTON, J. R., INSULL, W., ROSENFELD, M. E., SCHAFFER, S. A., SCHWARTZ, C. J., WAGNER, W. D. & WISSLER, R. W. 1994. A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council

on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 14, 840-856.

- STEIN, M. B. 2003. Advances in recognition and treatment of social anxiety disorder: a 10year retrospective. *Psychopharmacol Bull*, 37 Suppl 1, 97-107.
- STENE, L. C. & JONER, G. 2003. Use of cod liver oil during the first year of life is associated with lower risk of childhood-onset type 1 diabetes: a large, population-based, case-control study. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 78, 1128-1134.
- STEVENS, L. J., ZENTALL, S. S., ABATE, M. L., KUCZEK, T. & BURGESS, J. R. 1996. Omega-3 fatty acids in boys with behavior, learning, and health problems. *Physiol Behav*, 59, 915-20.
- STEWART, B. W. & WILD, C. 2014. *World cancer report 2014*, World Health Organization.
- STRAZZULLO, P., D'ELIA, L., KANDALA, N.-B. & CAPPUCCIO, F. P. 2009. Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Bmj*, 339.
- SUGANO, M. 2001. Balanced intake of polyunsaturated fatty acids for health benefits. *Journal of Oleo Science* 50, 305-331.
- SVENNERHOLM, L. 1968. Distribution and fatty acid composition of phosphoglycerides in normal human brain. *J Lipid Res*, 9, 570-9.
- TAPERT, S. F., BARATTA, M. V., ABRANTES, A. M. & BROWN, S. A. 2002. Attention dysfunction predicts substance involvement in community youths. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 41, 680-6.
- TATZER, E., SCHUBERT, M. T., TIMISCHL, W. & SIMBRUNER, G. 1985. Discrimination of taste and preference for sweet in premature babies. *Early human development*, 12, 23-30.
- TAYLOR, B., IRVING, H. M., BALIUNAS, D., ROERECKE, M., PATRA, J., MOHAPATRA, S. & REHM, J. 2009. Alcohol and hypertension: gender differences in dose–response relationships determined through systematic review and meta-analysis. *Addiction*, 104, 1981-1990.
- TAYLOR, E., DOPFNER, M., SERGEANT, J., ASHERSON, P., BANASCHEWSKI, T., BUITELAAR, J., COGHILL, D., DANCKAERTS, M., ROTHENBERGER, A., SONUGA-BARKE, E., STEINHAUSEN, H. C. & ZUDDAS, A. 2004. European clinical guidelines for hyperkinetic disorder -- first upgrade. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 13 Suppl 1, I7-30.
- TAYLOR, T. G., GIBNEY, M. J. & MORGAN, J. B. 1979. Haemostatic function and polyunsaturated fatty acids. *Lancet*, 2, 1378.
- TCHERVENKOV, C. I., JACOBS, J. P., BERNIER, P. L., STELLIN, G., KUROSAWA, H., MAVROUDIS, C., JONAS, R. A., CICEK, S. M., AL-HALEES, Z., ELLIOTT, M. J., JATENE, M. B., KINSLEY, R. H., KREUTZER, C., LEON-WYSS, J., LIU, J., MARUSZEWSKI, B., NUNN, G. R., RAMIREZ-MARROQUIN, S., SANDOVAL, N., SANO, S., SARRIS, G. E., SHARMA, R., SHOEB, A., SPRAY, T. L., UNGERLEIDER, R. M., YANGNI-ANGATE, H. & ZIEMER, G. 2008. The improvement of care for paediatric and congenital cardiac disease across the World: a challenge for the World Society for Pediatric and Congenital Heart Surgery. *Cardiol Young*, 18 Suppl 2, 63-9.
- TEJADA, C., STRONG, J., MONTENEGRO, M. R. & SOLBERG, L. 1968. Distribution of coronary and aortic atherosclerosis by geographic location, race, and sex. *Lab Invest*, 18, 509-26.
- TERCYAK, K. P., LERMAN, C. & AUDRAIN, J. 2002. Association of attentiondeficit/hyperactivity disorder symptoms with levels of cigarette smoking in a

community sample of adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry, 41, 799-805.

- THE BANK GROUP 1972. The Economy of Oman. Document of International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and International Development Association. Report No. EMA-55a.
- THIES, F., GARRY, J., YAQOOB, P., RERKASEM, K., WILLIAMS, J., SHEARMAN, C. P., GALLAGHER, P. J., CALDER, P. C. & GRIMBLE, R. F. 2003. Association of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids with stability of atherosclerotic plaques: a randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 361, 477-485.
- THOMASSON, H. J. 1962. Essential fatty acids. Nature, 194, 973.
- THORNE, M. J., THOMPSON, L. & JENKINS, D. 1983. Factors affecting starch digestibility and the glycemic response with special reference to legumes. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 38, 481-488.
- THORSDOTTIR, I., BIRGISDOTTIR, B., KIELY, M., MARTINEZ, J. & BANDARRA, N. 2009. Fish consumption among young overweight European adults and compliance to varying seafood content in four weight loss intervention diets. *Public Health Nutr*, 12, 592-8.
- THORSDOTTIR, I., TOMASSON, H., GUNNARSDOTTIR, I., GISLADOTTIR, E., KIELY, M., PARRA, M. D., BANDARRA, N. M., SCHAAFSMA, G. & MARTINEZ, J. A. 2007. Randomized trial of weight-loss-diets for young adults varying in fish and fish oil content. *International journal of obesity*, 31, 1560-1566.
- TORFADOTTIR, J. E., STEINGRIMSDOTTIR, L., MUCCI, L., ASPELUND, T., KASPERZYK, J. L., OLAFSSON, O., FALL, K., TRYGGVADOTTIR, L., HARRIS, T. B., LAUNER, L., JONSSON, E., TULINIUS, H., STAMPFER, M., ADAMI, H. O., GUDNASON, V. & VALDIMARSDOTTIR, U. A. 2012. Milk intake in early life and risk of advanced prostate cancer. *Am J Epidemiol*, 175, 144-53.
- TOURNIAIRE, F., GOURANTON, E., VON LINTIG, J., KEIJER, J., BONET, M. L., AMENGUAL, J., LIETZ, G. & LANDRIER, J. F. 2009. beta-Carotene conversion products and their effects on adipose tissue. *Genes Nutr*, 4, 179-87.
- TRABER, M. G. 2014. Vitamin E inadequacy in humans: causes and consequences. *Adv Nutr*, 5, 503-14.
- TREYVAUD, K., URE, A., DOYLE, L. W., LEE, K. J., ROGERS, C. E., KIDOKORO, H., INDER, T. E. & ANDERSON, P. J. 2013. Psychiatric outcomes at age seven for very preterm children: rates and predictors. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*, 54, 772-9.
- TRUSWELL, A. S. 2002. Cereal grains and coronary heart disease. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 56, 1-14.
- TSIOUNTSIOURA, M., WONG, J. E., UPTON, J., MCINTYRE, K., DIMAKOU, D., BUCHANAN, E., CARDIGAN, T., FLYNN, D., BISHOP, J., RUSSELL, R. K., BARCLAY, A., MCGROGAN, P., EDWARDS, C. & GERASIMIDIS, K. 2014. Detailed assessment of nutritional status and eating patterns in children with gastrointestinal diseases attending an outpatients clinic and contemporary healthy controls. *Eur J Clin Nutr*, 68, 700-6.
- TSUGANE, S. 2005. Salt, salted food intake, and risk of gastric cancer: epidemiologic evidence. *Cancer Science*, 96, 1-6.
- TUMA, J. & CASEY, C. A. 2003. Dangerous byproducts of alcohol breakdown-focus on adducts. *Alcohol Research and Health*, 27, 285-290.
- ULATOWSKI, L., PARKER, R., WARRIER, G., SULTANA, R., BUTTERFIELD, D. A. & MANOR, D. 2014. Vitamin E is essential for Purkinje neuron integrity. *Neuroscience*, 260, 120-9.

UNDP 2010. Human Development Report, 2010: The Real Wealth of Nations: Pathway to Human Development. New York: United Nations Development Programme.

- UNICEF 1973. Beliefs and practices related to health nutrition and child rearing in two communities of Oman. Muscat: UNICEF Gulf Area Office.
- UNICEF 2007. Vitamin A supplementation: A decade of progress. New York: UNICEF Nutrition Section.
- UNICEF 2009. Situation analysis of children and women in Oman update 2009: fact sheet. UNICEF Oman Country Office.
- UNICEF 2010. The situation of adolescents and youth in the Middle East and North Africa region. Amman: United Nations Development Group.
- UNITED NATIONS 2010. Demographic yearbook, New York, United Nations.
- US COMMERCIAL SERVICE 2005. Doing business in Oman: A country commercial guide for US companies. Washington, D.C.: US Foreign Commercial Service and Department of State, US Government Printing Office.
- USDA 2002. Profiling Food Consumption in America. *Agricultural Factbook 2001-2002*. Washington, DC: U.S> Government Printing Office.
- VALENZUELA, A. & NIETO, M. S. 2001. [Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) in fetal development and in infant nutrition]. *Rev Med Chil*, 129, 1203-11.
- VALKO, M., LEIBFRITZ, D., MONCOL, J., CRONIN, M. T., MAZUR, M. & TELSER, J. 2007. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 39, 44-84.
- VALKO, M., RHODES, C. J., MONCOL, J., IZAKOVIC, M. & MAZUR, M. 2006. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem Biol Interact*, 160, 1-40.
- VALTUENA, J., BREIDENASSEL, C., FOLLE, J. & GONZALEZ-GROSS, M. 2011. Retinol, beta-carotene, alpha-tocopherol and vitamin D status in European adolescents; regional differences an variability: a review. *Nutr Hosp*, 26, 280-8.
- VANCASSEL, S., DURAND, G., BARTHELEMY, C., LEJEUNE, B., MARTINEAU, J., GUILLOTEAU, D., ANDRES, C. & CHALON, S. 2001. Plasma fatty acid levels in autistic children. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes and essential fatty acids,* 65, 1-7.
- VARRASO, R., FUNG, T. T., HU, F. B., WILLETT, W. & CAMARGO, C. A. 2007. Prospective study of dietary patterns and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease among US men. *Thorax*, 62, 786-791.
- VENTURA, A. K. & WOROBEY, J. 2013a. Early influences on the development of food preferences. *Current Biology*, 23, R401-R408.
- VENTURA, A. K. & WOROBEY, J. 2013b. Early influences on the development of food preferences. *Curr Biol*, 23, R401-8.
- VILA, G., ZIPPER, E., DABBAS, M., BERTRAND, C., ROBERT, J. J., RICOUR, C. & MOUREN-SIMÉONI, M. C. 2004. Mental disorders in obese children and adolescents. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 66, 387-394.
- VILBERGSSON, G., WENNERGREN, M., SAMSIOE, G., PERCY, P., PERCY, A., MANSSON, J. E. & SVENNERHOLM, L. 1994. Essential fatty acid status is altered in pregnancies complicated by intrauterine growth retardation. *World Rev Nutr Diet*, 76, 105-9.
- VINER, R. M., OZER, E. M., DENNY, S., MARMOT, M., RESNICK, M., FATUSI, A. & CURRIE, C. 2012. Adolescence and the social determinants of health. *The Lancet*, 379, 1641-1652.
- VINIK, A. I. & JENKINS, D. J. 1988. Dietary fiber in management of diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 11, 160-173.

- VON SCHACKY, C. & HARRIS, W. S. 2007. Cardiovascular benefits of omega-3 fatty acids. *Cardiovasc Res*, 73, 310-5.
- VOSS, A., REINHART, M., SANKARAPPA, S. & SPRECHER, H. 1991. The metabolism of 7,10,13,16,19-docosapentaenoic acid to 4,7,10,13,16,19-docosahexaenoic acid in rat liver is independent of a 4-desaturase. *J Biol Chem*, 266, 19995-20000.
- WAGNER, K.-H. & BRATH, H. 2012. A global view on the development of non communicable diseases. *Preventive medicine*, 54, S38-S41.
- WALKER, C. G., WEST, A. L., BROWNING, L. M., MADDEN, J., GAMBELL, J. M., JEBB, S. A. & CALDER, P. C. 2015. The Pattern of Fatty Acids Displaced by EPA and DHA Following 12 Months Supplementation Varies between Blood Cell and Plasma Fractions. *Nutrients*, 7, 6281-93.
- WALTON, J., HANNON, E. M. & FLYNN, A. 2015. Nutritional quality of the school-day diet in Irish children (5-12 years). *J Hum Nutr Diet*, 28 Suppl 1, 73-82.
- WAMITHI, S., OCHIENG, R., NJENGA, F., AKECH, S. & MACHARIA, W. M. 2015. Cross-sectional survey on prevalence of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms at a tertiary care health facility in Nairobi. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health*, 9, 1.
- WANG, D. & DUBOIS, R. N. 2010. Eicosanoids and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 10, 181-93.
- WANG, Y., BOTOLIN, D., CHRISTIAN, B., BUSIK, J., XU, J. & JUMP, D. B. 2005. Tissue-specific, nutritional, and developmental regulation of rat fatty acid elongases. *J Lipid Res*, 46, 706-15.
- WANG, Y., LEHANE, C., GHEBREMESKEL, K. & CRAWFORD, M. A. 2010. Modern organic and broiler chickens sold for human consumption provide more energy from fat than protein. *Public Health Nutr*, 13, 400-8.
- WANNAMETHEE, S. G., CAMARGO, C. A., MANSON, J. E., WILLETT, W. C. & RIMM, E. B. 2003. Alcohol drinking patterns and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus among younger women. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 163, 1329-1336.
- WARDLE, J., CARNELL, S. & COOKE, L. 2005. Parental control over feeding and children's fruit and vegetable intake: how are they related? *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*, 105, 227-232.
- WASHI, S. A. & AGEIB, M. B. 2010. Poor diet quality and food habits are related to impaired nutritional status in 13- to 18-year-old adolescents in Jeddah. *Nutr Res*, 30, 527-34.
- WEBBER, L. S., SRINIVASAN, S. R., WATTIGNEY, W. A. & BERENSON, G. S. 1991. Tracking of serum lipids and lipoproteins from childhood to adulthood the Bogalusa Heart Study. *American journal of epidemiology*, 133, 884-899.
- WEISINGER, H. S., VINGRYS, A. J., BUI, B. V. & SINCLAIR, A. J. 1999. Effects of dietary n-3 fatty acid deficiency and repletion in the guinea pig retina. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*, 40, 327-38.
- WHELAN, J. 1996. Antagonistic effects of dietary arachidonic acid and n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *J Nutr*, 126, 1086S-91S.
- WHELTON, S. P., HE, J., WHELTON, P. K. & MUNTNER, P. 2004. Meta-analysis of observational studies on fish intake and coronary heart disease. *Am J Cardiol*, 93, 1119-23.
- WHITAKER, R. C., WRIGHT, J. A., PEPE, M. S., SEIDEL, K. D. & DIETZ, W. H. 1997. Predicting obesity in young adulthood from childhood and parental obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 337, 869-873.
- WHO 1996. Indicators for assessing vitamin A deficiency and their application in monitoring and evaluating intervention programmes. Geneca: WHO.

- WHO 2000. World Health Report 2000: Health systems: improving performance. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WHO 2009. Global prevalence of vitamin A deficiency in populations at risk 1995–2005: WHO Global Database on Vitamin A Deficiency. Geneva: WHO.
- WHO 2011a. Guideline: Vitamin A supplementation in infants and children 6–59 months of age. Geneva: WHO.
- WHO 2011b. Serum retinol concentrations for determining the prevalence of vitamin A deficiency in populations Geneva: WHO.
- WIDDOWSON, E. M., ELLIOTT, K. & KNIGHT, J. 1974. Size at Birth, Amsterdam, Elsevier.
- WIJENDRAN, V. & HAYES, K. C. 2004. Dietary n-6 and n-3 fatty acid balance and cardiovascular health. *Annu Rev Nutr*, 24, 597-615.
- WILLETT, W. C. 2007. The role of dietary n-6 fatty acids in the prevention of cardiovascular disease. *J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown)*, 8 Suppl 1, S42-5.
- WINKLHOFER-ROOB, B. M., VAN'T HOF, M. A. & SHMERLING, D. H. 1997. Reference values for plasma concentrations of vitamin E and A and carotenoids in a Swiss population from infancy to adulthood, adjusted for seasonal influences. *Clin Chem*, 43, 146-53.
- WOODMAN, R. J., MORI, T. A., BURKE, V., PUDDEY, I. B., BARDEN, A., WATTS, G. F. & BEILIN, L. J. 2003. Effects of purified eicosapentaenoic acid and docosahexaenoic acid on platelet, fibrinolytic and vascular function in hypertensive type 2 diabetic patients. *Atherosclerosis*, 166, 85-93.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 1992. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems, 10th revision (ICD-10), Geneva, WHO.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2000. *Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic*, World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2003a. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases. *WHO technical report series*, 916.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2003b. Diet, nutrition and the prevention of chronic diseases: report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation, Diamond Pocket Books (P) Ltd.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2004. Risk factor estimates for 2004.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2005. Preventing Chronic Diseases: A Vital Investment. WHO Global Report. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2007. Reducing salt intake in populations: report of a WHO forum and technical meeting, 5-7 October 2006, Paris, France.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2008. Action Plan for the Global Strategy for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. Geneva.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2009. Global health risks: mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks, World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2010. Global recommendations on physical activity for health.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2011a. Global Status Report on Non-Communicable Diseases 2010. Geneva.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2011b. Noncommunicable diseases country profiles 2011. *In:* WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (ed.) *WHO Global Report*.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2013a. Global action plan for the prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2013b. A global brief on hypertension: silent killer, global public health crisis: World Health Day 2013.

- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2013c. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2011.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION 2014a. WHO Country cooperation strategy at a glance Oman, World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 2014b. WHO l Cancer [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/ [Accessed 2015-01-07 2015].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 2014c. *WHO l Diabetes* [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/</u> [Accessed 2015-01-07 2015].
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION & INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF HYPERTENSION WRITING GROUP 2003. 2003 World Health Organization (WHO)/International Society of Hypertension (ISH) statement on management of hypertension. *Journal of hypertension*, 21, 1983-1992.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION & UNAIDS 2007. Prevention of cardiovascular disease, World Health Organization.
- WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION CONSULTATION 1999. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications, Part.
- YAJNIK, C. 2004. Early life origins of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in India and other Asian countries. *The Journal of nutrition*, 134, 205-210.
- YAMAMOTO, N., SAITOH, M., MORIUCHI, A., NOMURA, M. & OKUYAMA, H. 1987. Effect of dietary alpha-linolenate/linoleate balance on brain lipid compositions and learning ability of rats. *J Lipid Res*, 28, 144-51.
- YANG, Y. J., LEE, S. H., HONG, S. J. & CHUNG, B. C. 1999. Comparison of fatty acid profiles in the serum of patients with prostate cancer and benign prostatic hyperplasia. *Clin Biochem*, 32, 405-9.
- YE, S., TAN, L., MA, J., SHI, Q. & LI, J. 2010. Polyunsaturated docosahexaenoic acid suppresses oxidative stress induced endothelial cell calcium influx by altering lipid composition in membrane caveolar rafts. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids*, 83, 37-43.
- YOUNG, E. M., FORS, S. W. & HAYES, D. M. 2004. Associations between perceived parent behaviors and middle school student fruit and vegetable consumption. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*, 36, 2-12.
- ZAREE, M., SHAHNAZI, V., FAYEZI, S., DARABI, M., MEHRZAD-SADAGHIANI, M., DARABI, M., KHANI, S. & NOURI, M. 2015. Expression Levels of PPARgamma and CYP-19 in Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome Primary Granulosa Cells: Influence of omega-3 Fatty Acid. Int J Fertil Steril, 9, 197-204.
- ZHANG, L. X., COONEY, R. V. & BERTRAM, J. S. 1992. Carotenoids up-regulate connexin43 gene expression independent of their provitamin A or antioxidant properties. *Cancer Res*, 52, 5707-12.